
This agenda is subject to revision and may be amended prior to the scheduled meeting.  Pursuant to Government Code 
section 54954.2(a)(1), the agenda for each meeting of the Board shall be posted at the City of Marina Council 
Chambers.  The agenda shall also be posted at the following locations but those locations are not official agenda 
posting locations for purposes of section 54954.2(a)(1):  District offices at 11 Reservation Road, Seaside City Hall, the 
City of Marina Library, and the City of Seaside Library.  A complete Board packet containing all enclosures and staff 
materials will be available for public review on Thursday, January 17, 2019. Copies will also be available at the Board 
meeting.  Information about items on this agenda or persons requesting disability related modifications and/or 
accommodations should contact the Board Clerk 48 hours prior to the meeting at: 831-883-5910.  

MARINA COAST WATER DISTRICT 
11 RESERVATION ROAD, MARINA, CA 93933-2099 

Home Page: www.mcwd.org 

TEL: (831) 384-6131    FAX: (831) 883-5995

Agenda 
Regular Board Meeting, Board of Directors 

Marina Coast Water District 
and 

Regular Board Meeting, Board of Directors 
Marina Coast Water District Groundwater Sustainability Agency 

Marina Council Chambers 
211 Hillcrest Avenue, Marina, California 

Tuesday, January 22, 2019, 6:30 p.m. PST 
(Please note the date) 

This meeting has been noticed according to the Brown Act rules. The Board of Directors meet regularly on 
the third Monday of each month with workshops scheduled for the first Monday of some months.  The 
meetings normally begin at 6:30 p.m. and are held at the City of Marina Council Chambers at 211 Hillcrest 
Avenue, Marina, California. 

Our Mission: We provide our customers with high quality water, wastewater collection and 
conservation services at a reasonable cost, through planning, management and the development 
of water resources in an environmentally sensitive manner. 

1. Call to Order

2. Roll Call

3. Public Comment on Closed Session Items Anyone wishing to address the Board 
on matters appearing on Closed Session may do so at this time.  Please limit your 
comment to four minutes.  The public may comment on any other items listed on the 
agenda at the time they are considered by the Board.

4. Closed Session

A. Pursuant to Government Code 54956.9
Conference with Legal Counsel – Existing Litigation

1) Ag Land Trust v. Marina Coast Water District, Monterey County Superior 
Court Case No. M105019; Sixth Appellate District Court of Appeals Case 
Nos. H038550 and H039559

DIRECTORS 

THOMAS P. MOORE 
President 

JAN SHRINER 
Vice President 

HERBERT CORTEZ 
MATT ZEFFERMAN 

PETER LE 



2) In the Matter of the Application of California-American Water Company 
(U210W) for Approval of the Monterey Peninsula Water Supply Project and 
Authorization to Recover All Present and Future Costs in Rates, California 
Public Utilities Commission No. A.12-04-019 & A.13-05-017 Settlement 
Agreement

3) Marina Coast Water District v. California Public Utilities Commission, 
California Supreme Court Case No. S230728, Writ of Review

4) California-American Water Company vs Marina Coast Water District; 
Monterey County Water Resources Agency; and Does 1 through 10, San 
Francisco Superior Court Case No. CGC-13-528312 (Complaint for 
Declaratory Relief); First Appellate District Court of Appeals Case Nos. 
A145604, A146166, A146405

5) Marina Coast Water District vs California-American Water Company, 
Monterey County Water Resources Agency; and, California-American 
Water Company, Monterey County Water Resources Agency vs Marina 
Coast Water District, San Francisco Superior Court Case Nos. 
CGC-15-547125, CGC-15-546632 (Complaint for Breach of Warranties, 
etc.)

6) Marina Coast Water District v, California Coastal Commission (California-
American Water Company, Real Party in Interest), Santa Cruz County
Superior Court Case No. 15CV00267 

7) Bay View Community DE, LLC; Bryan Taylor; Greg Carter; and Brooke 
Bilyeu vs Marina Coast Water District; Board of Directors of Marina Coast 
Water District; County of Monterey and Does 1-25, inclusive, Monterey 
County Superior Court Case No. 18CV000765 (Petition for Writ of Mandate 
or Administrative Mandate, and Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive 
Relief and Breach of Contract)

8) Marina Coast Water District, and Does 1-100 v, County of Monterey, County 
of Monterey Health Department Environmental Health Bureau, and Does
101-110, Monterey County Superior Court Case No. 18CV000816 (Petition 
for Writ of Mandate and Complaint for Injunctive Relief)

7:00 p.m.  Reconvene Open Session 

5. Reportable Actions Taken During Closed Session  The Board will announce any
reportable action taken during closed session and the vote or abstention on that action of every director
present, and may take additional action in open session as appropriate.  Any closed session items not
completed may be continued to after the end of all open session items.

6. Pledge of Allegiance

7. Oral Communications Anyone wishing to address the Board on matters not appearing on the
Agenda may do so at this time.  Please limit your comment to four minutes.  The public may comment on
any other items listed on the agenda at the time they are considered by the Board.

8. Presentations



A. Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 2019-01 In Recognition and Appreciation 
of Brian West, System Operator II, Upon his Retirement from the Marina Coast 
Water District
Action: The Board will consider adopting Resolution No. 2019-01 recognizing 
Brian West upon his retirement from the Marina Coast Water District.

B. Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 2019-02 in Recognition of Charlie Eskridge, 
Public Member, for his Dedicated Service to the Marina Coast Water District as 
a Member on the Water Conservation Commission
Action: The Board will consider adopting Resolution No. 2019-02 recognizing 
Charlie Eskridge, public member, for his dedicated service to the Marina Coast 
Water District as a member on the Water Conservation Commission.

C. Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 2019-03 in Recognition of Margaret-Anne 
Coppernoll, Public Member, for her Dedicated Service to the Marina Coast Water 
District as a Member on the Water Conservation Commission
Action: The Board will consider adopting Resolution No. 2019-03 recognizing 
Margaret-Anne Coppernoll, public member, for her dedicated service to the 
Marina Coast Water District as a member on the Water Conservation 
Commission.

D. Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 2019-04 in Recognition of Bethany Taylor, 
Public Member, for her Dedicated Service to the Marina Coast Water District as 
a Member on the Water Conservation Commission
Action: The Board will consider adopting Resolution No. 2019-04 recognizing 
Bethany Taylor, public member, for her dedicated service to the Marina Coast 
Water District as a member on the Water Conservation Commission.

E. Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 2019-05 in Recognition of Jim Felton, 
Public Member, for his Dedicated Service to the Marina Coast Water District as 
a Member on the Water Conservation Commission
Action: The Board will consider adopting Resolution No. 2019-05 recognizing 
Jim Felton, public member, for his dedicated service to the Marina Coast Water 
District as a member on the Water Conservation Commission.

F. Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 2019-06 in Recognition of Efrem Valentin, 
Public Member, for his Dedicated Service to the Marina Coast Water District as 
a Member on the Water Conservation Commission
Action: The Board will consider adopting Resolution No. 2019-06 recognizing 
Efrim Valentin, public member, for his dedicated service to the Marina Coast 
Water District as a member on the Water Conservation Commission.



G. Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 2019-07 in Recognition of Jason
Montgomery, Public Member, for his Dedicated Service to the Marina Coast
Water District as a Member on the Water Conservation Commission

Action: The Board will consider adopting Resolution No. 2019-07 recognizing
Jason Montgomery, public member, for his dedicated service to the Marina Coast
Water District as a member on the Water Conservation Commission.

9. Consent Calendar

A. Receive and File the Check Register for the Month of December 2018

B. Receive the Quarterly Financial Statements for July 1, 2018 to September 30, 
2018

C. Approve the Draft Minutes of the Joint Board/GSA Meeting of December 17, 2018

10. Action Items The Board will review and discuss agenda items and take action or direct staff to 
return to the Board for action at a following meeting. The public may address the Board on these 
Items as each item is reviewed by the Board.  Please limit your comment to four minutes.

A. Consider Setting the Term Limits for the Water Conservation Commission 
Members
Action: The Board of Directors will consider setting the term limits for the Water 
Conservation Commission members.  Three of the positions will serve two-year 
terms and two positions will serve three-year terms.

B. Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 2019-08 to Approve Advertising and Hiring 
at Either an Associate Engineer Level or a Senior Civil Engineer Level to Fill the 
Existing Vacancy in the Engineering Department
Action: The Board of Directors will consider revising the Associate Engineer job 
description requirements to allow flexible staffing.

C. Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 2019-09 to Approve the Revisions to the 
District’s Employee Handbook
Action: The Board of Directors will consider approving the revisions to the 
District’s Employee Handbook.

D. Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 2019-10 to Accept the Infrastructure 
Improvements Installed Under a Water, Sewer, and Recycled Water 
Infrastructure Agreement between Marina Coast Water District and Marina 
Community Partners for the Dunes 1B Development Project
Action: The Board of Directors will consider accepting improvements installed 
under Infrastructure Agreement with Marina Community Partners for the Dunes 
on Monterey Bay, Phase 1B.



E. Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 2019-11 Placing a Director in Nomination
as a Member of the Association of Califonia Water Agencies Region 5 Position

Action: The Board of Directors will consider nominating a Director to the ACWA 
Region 5 Board.

11. Staff Report

A. Receive the 4th Quarter 2018 MCWD Water Consumption and Sewer Flow 
Reports

12. Informational Items Informational items are normally provided in the form of a written report or 
verbal update and may not require Board action. The public may address the Board on Informational 
Items as they are considered by the Board.  Please limit your comments to four minutes.

A. General Manager’s Report

B. Counsel’s Report

C. Committee and Board Liaison Reports

1. Water Conservation Commission 7. LAFCO Liaison
2. Joint City-District Committee 8. FORA
3. Executive Committee 9. WWOC Report
4. Community Outreach Committee 10. JPIA Liaison
5. Budget and Personnel Committee 11. Special Districts Association
6. M1W Board Member Liaison 12. SVBGSA Liaison (Steering Committee)

13. Correspondence

14. Board Member Requests for Future Agenda Items

15. Director’s Comments Director reports on meetings with other agencies, organizations and
individuals on behalf of the District and on official District matters.

16. Adjournment Set or Announce Next Meeting(s), date(s), time(s), and location(s):

Regular Meeting: Tuesday, February 19, 2019, 6:30 p.m., 
Marina Council Chambers, 211 Hillcrest Avenue, Marina 



Marina Coast Water District 
Agenda Transmittal 

Agenda Item:  8-A Meeting Date: January 22, 2019 

Prepared By: Derek Cray Approved By:  Keith Van Der Maaten 

Agenda Title: Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 2019-01 in Recognition and Appreciation of 
Brian West, System Operator II, Upon his Retirement from the Marina Coast Water 
District 

Staff Recommendation: Staff recommends the Board of Directors adopt Resolution No. 2019-01 
in recognition of Brian West’s retirement as a System Operator II with 22 years of service with 
MCWD.  

Background: 5-Year Strategic Plan – Our objective is to recruit and retain a highly qualified, 
diverse and inspired workforce that delivers the essential services of our mission statement to the 
public while providing outstanding customer service. Our strategy is to utilize sound policies and 
personnel practices, offer competitive compensation and benefits, and provide opportunities for 
training, development, and professional growth while ensuring a safe and secure workplace. 

Discussion/Analysis:  Brian West started with Marina Coast Water District (District) on June 3rd, 
1996, as an Operator I and was quickly promoted to an Operator II on January 2, 1997.  During 
his time as an Operator II, Brian was responsible for maintaining the District’s water system.  
When the District took over operation of the Fort Ord system, Brian was instrumental in quickly 
learning the system and operating the Fluoride and gas Chlorine systems.   

Brian also had a vast knowledge of plumbing and was always the go to person for special projects 
involving complex plumbing.  Brian also took care of the District’s intricate water distribution 
system’s five different pressure zones by ensuring all Pressure Reducing Valves were working 
properly by performing routine and emergency maintenance on the valves.  

In 2012, the District combined the water and sewer departments and at that time, Brian was 
reclassified as a System Operator II.  Brian then immediately began obtaining his certifications in 
water and cross training to learn both systems.  At the time of Brian’s retirement, he had the 
following certifications: 

• Grade 2 Wastewater Collections through the California Water Environmental Association
(CWEA)

• D3 Water Distribution Operator through the California Waterboards
• T2 Water Treatment Plant Operator through the California Waterboards

Brian’s hard work and dedication to the District is greatly appreciated and it is a pleasure to 
recognize and congratulate Brian’s retirement from the District after 22 years.   

Environmental Review Compliance: None. 

Financial Impact:             Yes       X     No Funding Source/Recap:  None 

Other Considerations: None 



 
 
Material Included for Information/Consideration: Resolution No. 2019-01. 
 
Action Required:      X       Resolution            Motion             Review 
(Roll call vote is required.) 
              

 
Board Action 

 
Motion By                      Seconded By                 No Action Taken    

 
Ayes       Abstained      
 
Noes       Absent                                          
 
 

  



 
January 22, 2019 

 
Resolution No. 2019-01 

Resolution of the Board of Directors 
Marina Coast Water District 

Recognizing Brian West, System Operator II, Upon his Retirement from MCWD 
 

 
 RESOLVED by the Board of Directors (“Directors”) of the Marina Coast Water District 
(“District” or “MCWD”), at a regular meeting duly called and held on January 22, 2019 at 211 
Hillcrest Avenue, Marina, California as follows: 
 
 WHEREAS, Brian West joined the District on June 3, 1996 as a System Operator I; and, 
 

 WHEREAS, Brian’s hard work was quickly recognized, and he was promoted to a System 
Operator II on January 02, 1997; and, 
 

WHEREAS, in 1997, the District began operating the Fort Ord Water and Wastewater 
Systems, and Brian was instrumental in quickly learning, operating and maintaining Fort Ord 
Water system; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, Brian operated and maintained the Fort Ord Fluoride and Gas Chlorine 
systems, and was instrumental in switching the District’s treatment process from gas Chlorine to 
liquid Chlorine; and, 
 

WHEREAS, Brian’s actively sought out certifications and currently holds a Grade 2 
CWEA Collections System Maintenance, D3 Water Distribution Operator, and a T2 Water 
Treatment Plant Operator; and, 
 

WHEREAS, Brian’s hard work and dedication has had a lasting impact on the District, and 
his certification and experience helped ensure safe drinking water and uninterrupted sewer to the 
District’s customers. 
  
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors of the Marina Coast 
Water District does hereby recognize and congratulate Brian West on his retirement after twenty-
two years with Marina Coast Water District, and wishes him continued success in his future 
endeavors. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED on January 22, 2019, by the Board of Directors of the Marina 
Coast Water District by the following roll call vote:  
 

Ayes:  Directors               
 
 Noes:  Directors               
 
 Absent: Directors                
 
 Abstained: Directors                
 
 



 
              
        Thomas P. Moore, President 
 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Keith Van Der Maaten, Secretary 

 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SECRETARY 
 

 The undersigned Secretary of the Board of the Marina Coast Water District hereby certifies 
that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of Resolution No. 2019-01 adopted January 22, 
2019. 
 
 
              
        Keith Van Der Maaten, Secretary 
 
 
 

  



 
Marina Coast Water District 

Agenda Transmittal 
 
 

Agenda Item: 8-B      Meeting Date: January 22, 2019 
 
Prepared By: Paula Riso     Approved By: Keith Van Der Maaten 
 
Agenda Title: Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 2019-02 in Recognition of Charlie Eskridge, 

Public Member, for his Dedicated Service to the Marina Coast Water District as a 
Member on the Water Conservation Commission 

 
Staff Recommendation: The Board of Directors consider adopting a resolution recognizing Mr. 
Charlie Eskridge for his service on the Water Conservation Commission. 
 
Background: 5-Year Strategic Plan, Strategic Element 1.7  – We will review and update our water 
conservation program. 
 
In September 2018, the Board approved the restructure of the Water Conservation Commission, 
thus putting an end to the then current membership.  The District advertised to receive applications 
for the restructured Commission and received ten applications for the five positions.  Five public 
members were appointed in December and took seat on January 10th. 
 
Discussion/Analysis: Mr. Eskridge was appointed as a public member to the Water Conservation 
Commission in August 2014.  In September 2016, he was nominated as Vice Chairperson of the 
Commission, and in September 2017 was re-nominated and served as Vice Chairperson until July 
2018 when the then current Commission was disband. 
 
Mr. Eskridge has provided valuable insight and guidance on many undertakings, and has 
championed staff’s efforts in the area of community outreach and development of new programs 
in the Conservation department.  His expertise and dedication was much appreciated. 
 
Mr. Eskridge’s commitment to public service has been recognized by his fellow Commission 
members and all those who have come into contact with him.  For his unselfish devotion and 
enthusiasm, the Board of Directors wishes to recognize Mr. Charlie Eskridge for his service and 
wishes him well in the future. 
 
Environmental Review Compliance:  None required. 
 
Financial Impact: _____Yes       X      No  Funding Source/Recap: None 
 
Other Considerations: None. 
 
Material Included for Information/Consideration: Resolution No. 2019-02. 
 
Action Required:       X       Resolution               Motion             Review 
(Roll call vote is required.) 
  



 
              

 
Board Action 

 
Motion By______________ Seconded By________________ No Action Taken    
 
Ayes       Abstained      
 
Noes       Absent                                                   



 
January 22, 2019 

 
Resolution No. 2019 - 02 

Resolution of the Board of Directors 
Marina Coast Water District 

Recognition of Charlie Eskridge, Public Member, 
for his Dedicated Service to the Marina Coast Water District as a Member on the  

Water Conservation Commission 
 
 

 RESOLVED by the Board of Directors (“Directors”) of the Marina Coast Water District 
(“District”), at a regular meeting duly called and held on January 22, 2019 at 211 Hillcrest Avenue, 
Marina, California as follows: 
 

WHEREAS, Charlie Eskridge was appointed in August 2014 to serve as a member on the 
Water Conservation Commission of the Marina Coast Water District and served until July 2018 
when the then current Commission was disband; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, during his tenure, Charlie rendered superior service to the District by serving 
from September 2016 through July 2018 as the Vice Chairperson and providing invaluable 
participation and insights, and by contributing significant personal time. 
   
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors of the Marina Coast 
Water District does hereby express its gratitude and commends Charlie Eskridge for outstanding 
and dedicated service to the District and the Committee's of the Board. 
    
 PASSED AND ADOPTED on January 22, 2019, by the Board of Directors of the Marina 
Coast Water District by the following roll call vote:  

 
Ayes:  Directors          

 
 Noes:  Directors           
 
 Absent: Directors            
 
 Abstained: Directors            

 
______________________________ 
Thomas P. Moore, President 

ATTEST: 
 
____________________________ 
Keith Van Der Maaten, Secretary 

 
  



 
CERTIFICATE OF SECRETARY 

 
 The undersigned Secretary of the Board of the Marina Coast Water District hereby certifies 
that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of Resolution No. 2019-02 adopted January 22, 
2019.        
              
           Keith Van Der Maaten, Secretary 



 
Marina Coast Water District 

Agenda Transmittal 
 
 

Agenda Item: 8-C      Meeting Date: January 22, 2019 
 
Prepared By: Paula Riso     Approved By: Keith Van Der Maaten 
 
Agenda Title: Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 2019-03 in Recognition of Margaret-Anne 

Coppernoll, Public Member, for her Dedicated Service to the Marina Coast Water 
District as a Member on the Water Conservation Commission 

 
Staff Recommendation: The Board of Directors consider adopting a resolution recognizing Ms. 
Margaret-Anne Coppernoll for her service on the Water Conservation Commission. 
 
Background: 5-Year Strategic Plan, Strategic Element 1.7  – We will review and update our water 
conservation program. 
 
In September 2018, the Board approved the restructure of the Water Conservation Commission, 
thus putting an end to the then current membership.  The District advertised to receive applications 
for the restructured Commission and received ten applications for the five positions.  Five public 
members were appointed in December and took seat on January 10th. 
 
Discussion/Analysis: Ms. Coppernoll was appointed as a public member to the Water 
Conservation Commission in January 2017 and served until July 2018 when the then current 
Commission was disband.  Ms. Coppernoll has provided valuable insight and guidance on many 
undertakings, and has championed staff’s efforts in the area of community outreach and 
development of new programs in the Conservation department.  Her expertise and dedication was 
much appreciated. 
 
Ms. Coppernoll’s commitment to public service has been recognized by her fellow Commission 
members and all those who have come into contact with her.  For her unselfish devotion and 
enthusiasm, the Board of Directors wishes to recognize Ms. Margaret-Anne Coppernoll for her 
service and wishes her well in the future. 
 
Environmental Review Compliance:  None required. 
 
Financial Impact: _____Yes       X      No  Funding Source/Recap: None 
 
Other Considerations: None. 
 
Material Included for Information/Consideration: Resolution No. 2019-03. 
 
Action Required:       X       Resolution               Motion             Review 
(Roll call vote is required.) 
  



 
              

 
Board Action 

 
Motion By______________ Seconded By________________ No Action Taken    
 
Ayes       Abstained      
 
Noes       Absent                                                   



 
January 22, 2019 

 
Resolution No. 2019 - 03 

Resolution of the Board of Directors 
Marina Coast Water District 

Recognition of Margaret-Anne Coppernoll, Public Member, 
for her Dedicated Service to the Marina Coast Water District as a Member on the  

Water Conservation Commission 
 
 

 RESOLVED by the Board of Directors (“Directors”) of the Marina Coast Water District 
(“District”), at a regular meeting duly called and held on January 22, 2019 at 211 Hillcrest Avenue, 
Marina, California as follows: 
 

WHEREAS, Margaret-Anne Coppernoll was appointed in January 2017 to serve as a 
member on the Water Conservation Commission of the Marina Coast Water District and served 
until July 2018 when the then current Commission was disband; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, during her tenure, Margaret-Anne rendered superior service to the District by 
providing invaluable participation and insights, and by contributing significant personal time. 
   
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors of the Marina Coast 
Water District does hereby express its gratitude and commends Margaret-Anne Coppernoll for 
outstanding and dedicated service to the District and the Committee's of the Board. 
    
 PASSED AND ADOPTED on January 22, 2019, by the Board of Directors of the Marina 
Coast Water District by the following roll call vote:  

 
Ayes:  Directors          

 
 Noes:  Directors           
 
 Absent: Directors            
 
 Abstained: Directors            

 
______________________________ 
Thomas P. Moore, President 

ATTEST: 
 
____________________________ 
Keith Van Der Maaten, Secretary 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SECRETARY 

 
 The undersigned Secretary of the Board of the Marina Coast Water District hereby certifies 
that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of Resolution No. 2019-03 adopted January 22, 
2019.        
              
           Keith Van Der Maaten, Secretary 



 
Marina Coast Water District 

Agenda Transmittal 
 
 

Agenda Item: 8-D      Meeting Date: January 22, 2019 
 
Prepared By: Paula Riso     Approved By: Keith Van Der Maaten 
 
Agenda Title: Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 2019-04 in Recognition of Bethany Taylor, 

Public Member, for her Dedicated Service to the Marina Coast Water District as a 
Member on the Water Conservation Commission 

 
Staff Recommendation: The Board of Directors consider adopting a resolution recognizing Ms. 
Bethany Taylor for her service on the Water Conservation Commission. 
 
Background: 5-Year Strategic Plan, Strategic Element 1.7  – We will review and update our water 
conservation program. 
 
In September 2018, the Board approved the restructure of the Water Conservation Commission, 
thus putting an end to the then current membership.  The District advertised to receive applications 
for the restructured Commission and received ten applications for the five positions.  Five public 
members were appointed in December and took seat on January 10th. 
 
Discussion/Analysis: Ms. Taylor was appointed as a public member to the Water Conservation 
Commission in January 2015 and served until July 2018 when the then current Commission was 
disband.  Ms. Taylor has provided valuable insight and guidance on many undertakings, and has 
championed staff’s efforts in the area of community outreach and development of new programs 
in the Conservation department.  Her expertise and dedication was much appreciated. 
 
Ms. Taylor’s commitment to public service has been recognized by her fellow Commission 
members and all those who have come into contact with her.  For her unselfish devotion and 
enthusiasm, the Board of Directors wishes to recognize Ms. Bethany Taylor for her service and 
wishes her well in the future. 
 
Environmental Review Compliance:  None required. 
 
Financial Impact: _____Yes       X      No  Funding Source/Recap: None 
 
Other Considerations: None. 
 
Material Included for Information/Consideration: Resolution No. 2019-04. 
 
Action Required:       X       Resolution               Motion             Review 
(Roll call vote is required.) 
  



 
              

 
Board Action 

 
Motion By______________ Seconded By________________ No Action Taken    
 
Ayes       Abstained      
 
Noes       Absent                                                   



 
January 22, 2019 

 
Resolution No. 2019 - 04 

Resolution of the Board of Directors 
Marina Coast Water District 

Recognition of Bethany Taylor, Public Member, 
for her Dedicated Service to the Marina Coast Water District as a Member on the  

Water Conservation Commission 
 
 

 RESOLVED by the Board of Directors (“Directors”) of the Marina Coast Water District 
(“District”), at a regular meeting duly called and held on January 22, 2019 at 211 Hillcrest Avenue, 
Marina, California as follows: 
 

WHEREAS, Bethany Taylor was appointed in January 2015 to serve as a member on the 
Water Conservation Commission of the Marina Coast Water District and served until July 2018 
when the then current Commission was disband; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, during her tenure, Bethany rendered superior service to the District by 
providing invaluable participation and insights, and by contributing significant personal time. 
   
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors of the Marina Coast 
Water District does hereby express its gratitude and commends Bethany Taylor for outstanding 
and dedicated service to the District and the Committee's of the Board. 
    
 PASSED AND ADOPTED on January 22, 2019, by the Board of Directors of the Marina 
Coast Water District by the following roll call vote:  

 
Ayes:  Directors          

 
 Noes:  Directors           
 
 Absent: Directors            
 
 Abstained: Directors            

 
______________________________ 
Thomas P. Moore, President 

ATTEST: 
 
____________________________ 
Keith Van Der Maaten, Secretary 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SECRETARY 

 
 The undersigned Secretary of the Board of the Marina Coast Water District hereby certifies 
that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of Resolution No. 2019-04 adopted January 22, 
2019.        
              
           Keith Van Der Maaten, Secretary 



 
Marina Coast Water District 

Agenda Transmittal 
 
 

Agenda Item: 8-E      Meeting Date: January 22, 2019 
 
Prepared By: Paula Riso     Approved By: Keith Van Der Maaten 
 
Agenda Title: Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 2019-05 in Recognition of Jim Felton, Public 

Member, for his Dedicated Service to the Marina Coast Water District as a Member 
on the Water Conservation Commission 

 
Staff Recommendation: The Board of Directors consider adopting a resolution recognizing Mr. 
Jim Felton for his service on the Water Conservation Commission. 
 
Background: 5-Year Strategic Plan, Strategic Element 1.7  – We will review and update our water 
conservation program. 
 
In September 2018, the Board approved the restructure of the Water Conservation Commission, 
thus putting an end to the then current membership.  The District advertised to receive applications 
for the restructured Commission and received ten applications for the five positions.  Five public 
members were appointed in December and took seat on January 10th. 
 
Discussion/Analysis: Mr. Felton was appointed as a public member to the Water Conservation 
Commission in August 2013 and served until July 2018 when the then current Commission was 
disband.  In September 2013, he was nominated as Vice Chairperson of the Commission, and in 
October 2014 was re-nominated and served as Vice Chairperson until October 2015. 
 
Mr. Felton has provided valuable insight and guidance on many undertakings, and has championed 
staff’s efforts in the area of community outreach and development of new programs in the 
Conservation department.  His expertise and dedication was much appreciated. 
 
Mr. Felton’s commitment to public service has been recognized by his fellow Commission 
members and all those who have come into contact with him.  For his unselfish devotion and 
enthusiasm, the Board of Directors wishes to recognize Mr. Jim Felton for his service and wishes 
him well in the future. 
 
Environmental Review Compliance:  None required. 
 
Financial Impact: _____Yes       X      No  Funding Source/Recap: None 
 
Other Considerations: None. 
 
Material Included for Information/Consideration: Resolution No. 2019-05. 
 
Action Required:       X       Resolution               Motion             Review 
(Roll call vote is required.) 
  



 
              

 
Board Action 

 
Motion By______________ Seconded By________________ No Action Taken    
 
Ayes       Abstained      
 
Noes       Absent                                                   



 
January 22, 2019 

 
Resolution No. 2019 - 05 

Resolution of the Board of Directors 
Marina Coast Water District 

Recognition of Jim Felton, Public Member, 
for his Dedicated Service to the Marina Coast Water District as a Member on the  

Water Conservation Commission 
 
 

 RESOLVED by the Board of Directors (“Directors”) of the Marina Coast Water District 
(“District”), at a regular meeting duly called and held on January 22, 2019 at 211 Hillcrest Avenue, 
Marina, California as follows: 
 

WHEREAS, Jim Felton was appointed in August 2013 to serve as a member on the Water 
Conservation Commission of the Marina Coast Water District and served until July 2018 when the 
then current Commission was disband; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, during his tenure, Charlie rendered superior service to the District by serving 
from September 2013 through October 2015 as the Vice Chairperson and providing invaluable 
participation and insights, and by contributing significant personal time. 
   
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors of the Marina Coast 
Water District does hereby express its gratitude and commends Jim Felton for outstanding and 
dedicated service to the District and the Committee's of the Board. 
    
 PASSED AND ADOPTED on January 22, 2019, by the Board of Directors of the Marina 
Coast Water District by the following roll call vote:  

 
Ayes:  Directors          

 
 Noes:  Directors           
 
 Absent: Directors            
 
 Abstained: Directors            

 
______________________________ 
Thomas P. Moore, President 

ATTEST: 
 
____________________________ 
Keith Van Der Maaten, Secretary 

 
  



 
CERTIFICATE OF SECRETARY 

 
 The undersigned Secretary of the Board of the Marina Coast Water District hereby certifies 
that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of Resolution No. 2019-05 adopted January 22, 
2019.        
              
           Keith Van Der Maaten, Secretary 
  



 
Marina Coast Water District 

Agenda Transmittal 
 
 

Agenda Item: 8-F      Meeting Date: January 22, 2019 
 
Prepared By: Paula Riso     Approved By: Keith Van Der Maaten 
 
Agenda Title: Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 2019-06 in Recognition of Efrem Valentin 

Public Member, for his Dedicated Service to the Marina Coast Water District as a 
Member on the Water Conservation Commission 

 
Staff Recommendation: The Board of Directors consider adopting a resolution recognizing Mr. 
Efrem Valentin for his service on the Water Conservation Commission. 
 
Background: 5-Year Strategic Plan, Strategic Element 1.7  – We will review and update our water 
conservation program. 
 
In September 2018, the Board approved the restructure of the Water Conservation Commission, 
thus putting an end to the then current membership.  The District advertised to receive applications 
for the restructured Commission and received ten applications for the five positions.  Five public 
members were appointed in December and took seat on January 10th. 
 
Discussion/Analysis: Mr. Valentin was appointed as a public member to the Water Conservation 
Commission in August 2017 and served until July 2018 when the then current Commission was 
disband.  Mr. Valentin has provided valuable insight and guidance on many undertakings, and has 
championed staff’s efforts in the area of community outreach and development of new programs 
in the Conservation department.  His expertise and dedication was much appreciated. 
 
Mr. Valentin’s commitment to public service has been recognized by his fellow Commission 
members and all those who have come into contact with him.  For his unselfish devotion and 
enthusiasm, the Board of Directors wishes to recognize Mr. Efrem Valentin for his service and 
wishes him well in the future. 
 
Environmental Review Compliance:  None required. 
 
Financial Impact: _____Yes       X      No  Funding Source/Recap: None 
 
Other Considerations: None. 
 
Material Included for Information/Consideration: Resolution No. 2019-06. 
 
Action Required:       X       Resolution               Motion             Review 
(Roll call vote is required.) 
  



 
              

 
Board Action 

 
Motion By______________ Seconded By________________ No Action Taken    
 
Ayes       Abstained      
 
Noes       Absent                                                   



 
January 22, 2019 

 
Resolution No. 2019 - 06 

Resolution of the Board of Directors 
Marina Coast Water District 

Recognition of Efrem Valentin, Public Member, 
for his Dedicated Service to the Marina Coast Water District as a Member on the  

Water Conservation Commission 
 
 

 RESOLVED by the Board of Directors (“Directors”) of the Marina Coast Water District 
(“District”), at a regular meeting duly called and held on January 22, 2019 at 211 Hillcrest Avenue, 
Marina, California as follows: 
 

WHEREAS, Efrem Valentin was appointed in August 2017 to serve as a member on the 
Water Conservation Commission of the Marina Coast Water District and served until July 2018 
when the then current Commission was disband; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, during his tenure, Efrem rendered superior service to the District by providing 
invaluable participation and insights, and by contributing significant personal time. 
   
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors of the Marina Coast 
Water District does hereby express its gratitude and commends Efrem Valentin for outstanding 
and dedicated service to the District and the Committee's of the Board. 
    
 PASSED AND ADOPTED on January 22, 2019, by the Board of Directors of the Marina 
Coast Water District by the following roll call vote:  

 
Ayes:  Directors          

 
 Noes:  Directors           
 
 Absent: Directors            
 
 Abstained: Directors            

 
______________________________ 
Thomas P. Moore, President 

ATTEST: 
 
____________________________ 
Keith Van Der Maaten, Secretary 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SECRETARY 

 
 The undersigned Secretary of the Board of the Marina Coast Water District hereby certifies 
that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of Resolution No. 2019-06 adopted January 22, 
2019.        
              
           Keith Van Der Maaten, Secretary 



 
Marina Coast Water District 

Agenda Transmittal 
 
 

Agenda Item: 8-G      Meeting Date: January 22, 2019 
 
Prepared By: Paula Riso     Approved By: Keith Van Der Maaten 
 
Agenda Title: Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 2019-07 in Recognition of Jason 

Montgomery, Public Member, for his Dedicated Service to the Marina Coast Water 
District as a Member on the Water Conservation Commission 

 
Staff Recommendation: The Board of Directors consider adopting a resolution recognizing Mr. 
Jason Montgomery for his service on the Water Conservation Commission. 
 
Background: 5-Year Strategic Plan, Strategic Element 1.7  – We will review and update our water 
conservation program. 
 
In September 2018, the Board approved the restructure of the Water Conservation Commission, 
thus putting an end to the then current membership.  The District advertised to receive applications 
for the restructured Commission and received ten applications for the five positions.  Five public 
members were appointed in December and took seat on January 10th. 
 
Discussion/Analysis: Mr. Montgomery was appointed as a public member to the Water 
Conservation Commission in March 2017 and served until July 2018 when the then current 
Commission was disband.  Mr. Montgomery has provided valuable insight and guidance on many 
undertakings, and has championed staff’s efforts in the area of community outreach and 
development of new programs in the Conservation department.  His expertise and dedication was 
much appreciated. 
 
Mr. Montgomery’s commitment to public service has been recognized by his fellow Commission 
members and all those who have come into contact with him.  For his unselfish devotion and 
enthusiasm, the Board of Directors wishes to recognize Mr. Jason Montgomery for his service and 
wishes him well in the future. 
 
Environmental Review Compliance:  None required. 
 
Financial Impact: _____Yes       X      No  Funding Source/Recap: None 
 
Other Considerations: None. 
 
Material Included for Information/Consideration: Resolution No. 2019-07. 
 
Action Required:       X       Resolution               Motion             Review 
(Roll call vote is required.) 
  



 
              

 
Board Action 

 
Motion By______________ Seconded By________________ No Action Taken    
 
Ayes       Abstained      
 
Noes       Absent                                                   



 
January 22, 2019 

 
Resolution No. 2019 - 07 

Resolution of the Board of Directors 
Marina Coast Water District 

Recognition of Jason Montgomery, Public Member, 
for his Dedicated Service to the Marina Coast Water District as a Member on the  

Water Conservation Commission 
 
 

 RESOLVED by the Board of Directors (“Directors”) of the Marina Coast Water District 
(“District”), at a regular meeting duly called and held on January 22, 2019 at 211 Hillcrest Avenue, 
Marina, California as follows: 
 

WHEREAS, Jason Montgomery was appointed in March 2017 to serve as a member on 
the Water Conservation Commission of the Marina Coast Water District and served until July 2018 
when the then current Commission was disband; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, during his tenure, Jason rendered superior service to the District by providing 
invaluable participation and insights, and by contributing significant personal time. 
   
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors of the Marina Coast 
Water District does hereby express its gratitude and commends Jason Montgomery for outstanding 
and dedicated service to the District and the Committee's of the Board. 
    
 PASSED AND ADOPTED on January 22, 2019, by the Board of Directors of the Marina 
Coast Water District by the following roll call vote:  

 
Ayes:  Directors          

 
 Noes:  Directors           
 
 Absent: Directors            
 
 Abstained: Directors            

 
______________________________ 
Thomas P. Moore, President 

ATTEST: 
 
____________________________ 
Keith Van Der Maaten, Secretary 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SECRETARY 

 
 The undersigned Secretary of the Board of the Marina Coast Water District hereby certifies 
that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of Resolution No. 2019-07 adopted January 22, 
2019.        
              
           Keith Van Der Maaten, Secretary 



 
Marina Coast Water District 

Agenda Transmittal 
 
 
Agenda Item: 9      Meeting Date: January 22, 2019 
 
Prepared By: Paula Riso     Approved By: Keith Van Der Maaten 
 
Agenda Title: Consent Calendar 
 
Staff Recommendation: The Board of Directors approve the Consent Calendar as presented.  
 
Background: 5-Year Strategic Plan Mission Statement – We provide our customers with high 
quality water, wastewater collection and conservation services at a reasonable cost, through 
planning, management and the development of water resources in an environmentally sensitive 
manner. 
 
Consent calendar consisting of:  
 

A) Receive and File the Check Register for the Month of December 2018 
B) Receive the Quarterly Financial Statements for July 1, 2018 to September 30, 2018 
C) Approve the Draft Minutes of the Joint Board/GSA Meeting of December 17, 2018 

 
Discussion/Analysis:  See individual transmittals. 
 
Environmental Review Compliance:  None required. 
 
Other Considerations: The Board of Directors can approve these items together or they can pull 
them separately for discussion. 
 
Material Included for Information/Consideration: Check Register for December 2018; Quarterly 
Financial Statements; and, draft minutes of December 17, 2018. 
 
Action Required:             Resolution      X     Motion             Review 
(Roll call vote is required.) 
              

 
Board Action 

 
Motion By______________ Seconded By________________ No Action Taken    
 
Ayes       Abstained      
 
Noes       Absent                                                   
  



 
Marina Coast Water District 

Agenda Transmittal  
 
 
Agenda Item: 9-A      Meeting Date: January 22, 2019 
 
Prepared By: Kelly Cadiente    Approved By: Keith Van Der Maaten 
 
Agenda Title: Receive and File the Check Register for the Month of December 2018 
 
Staff Recommendation: The Board of Directors receive and file the December 2018 expenditures 
totaling $1,954,134.39.  
 
Background: 5-Year Strategic Plan, Objective No. 3 – Our objective is to manage public funds to 
assure financial stability, prudent rate management and demonstrate responsible stewardship.  
Our fiscal strategy is to forecast, control and optimize income and expenditures in an open and 
transparent manner. We will efficiently use our financial resources to assure availability to fund 
current and future demands. 
 
Discussion/Analysis: These expenditures were paid in December 2018 and the Board is requested 
to receive and file the check register. 
 
Environmental Review Compliance:  None required. 
 
Financial Impact:          Yes     X     No Funding Source/Recap: Expenditures are 
allocated across the six cost centers; 01-Marina Water, 02-Marina Sewer, 03- Ord Water, 04- Ord 
Sewer, 05-Recycled Water, 06-Regional Water. 
 
Other Consideration: None. 
 
Material Included for Information/Consideration: December 2018 Summary Check Register. 
        
Action Required:             Resolution        X     Motion             Review 
(Roll call vote is required.) 
              
 

Board Action 
 
Motion By______________ Seconded By________________ No Action Taken    
 
Ayes       Abstained      
 
Noes       Absent                                                   

  



DATE CHECK # CHECK DESCRIPTION AMOUNT

12/05/2018 66941 - 67019 Check Register 583,836.29       
12/13/2018 WIRE Mountain Cascade, Inc. 792,990.84       
12/17/2018 67020 - 67044 Check Register 137,550.83       

12/14/2018 500158 - 500163 Payroll Checks and Direct Deposit 102,595.41       
12/14/2018 500164 - 500165 Payroll Withholdings, Period Ended 12/07/18 1,143.23           
12/14/2018 ACH MassMutual Retirement Services, LLC 8,115.36           
12/14/2018 ACH State of California - EDD 8,855.31           
12/14/2018 ACH Internal Revenue Service 37,041.14         
12/14/2018 ACH CalPERS 22,350.56         
12/17/2018 500166 - 500182 Check Register 84,311.12         
12/28/2018 500183 - 500188 Payroll Checks and Direct Deposit 100,388.20       
12/28/2018 500189 Payroll Withholdings, Period Ended 12/21/18 544.23              
12/28/2018 ACH Internal Revenue Service 35,472.76         
12/28/2018 ACH State of California - EDD 8,458.76           
12/28/2018 ACH MassMutual Retirement Services, LLC 8,115.26           
12/28/2018 ACH CalPERS 22,365.09         

TOTAL DISBURSEMENTS     1,954,134.39    

DECEMBER 2018 SUMMARY CHECK REGISTER



Check 
No

Invoice
Date

Check
 Date Vendor Name Description Amount

66941 11/30/2018 12/05/2018 Ace Hardware General Supplies 578.74              
66942 11/29/2018 12/05/2018 Alhambra and Sierra Springs Lab Grade Water 87.14                
66943 11/16/2018 12/05/2018 Quinn Company Boom Rental - Telemetry Antenna Repair at Ord Village LS 362.18              
66944 11/16/2018 12/05/2018 Monterey Pen Unified Sch Dist Conservation Education 10/2018 2,042.76           
66945 11/28/2018 12/05/2018 Insight Planners Web Development/ Maintenance, Hosting 11/2018 705.00              
66946 11/09/2018 12/05/2018 PG&E Gas and Electric Service 10/2018 81,746.45         

66947 11/20/2018 12/05/2018 Grainger
Safety Glasses, Strut Channel - Airport LS MCC Panel Project, Data 
Cable Wire - Wells 10, 11 CL2 System 694.87              

66948 11/20/2018 12/05/2018 Jane's Answering Service Answering Service 11/2018 182.20              

66949 10/31/2018 12/05/2018 Schaaf & Wheeler

Staff Meetings, Water Demand Rates for Commercial, Annexation, Staff 
RFI, Ord Village LS and Force Main Improvements, Developers (East 
Garrison, Main Gate WSA, Junsay Oaks, Estate - Sea Haven, Beach 
Town Apartments) 10/2018 22,097.30         

66950 11/09/2018 12/05/2018 Wilsons Plumbing and Heating, Inc. Heating System Repair - Beach Office 941.67              
66951 10/01/2018 12/05/2018 WateReuse Association 2019 Membership Dues 1,016.50           

66952 11/15/2018 12/05/2018 Water Awareness Comm Mtry
ZunZun Performances - (2) Marina Vista, (2) Crumpton, (1) Marina Child 
Development Center 2,800.00           

66953 11/18/2018 12/05/2018 Verizon Wireless Cell Phones 11/2018 1,064.77           

66954 11/07/2018 12/05/2018 Harris & Associates
Developer Inspection Services (East Garrison, Dunes, CSUMB Academic 
III, Junsay Oaks) 10/2018 25,037.00         

66955 11/05/2018 12/05/2018 Golden Gate Petroleum Clear Diesel - O&M Yard Tank 1,792.02           
66956 11/16/2018 12/05/2018 Orkin Pest Control IOP and BLM Pest Control 11/2018 191.00              
66957 11/27/2018 12/05/2018 Conservation Rebate Program 135 Silverwood Pl - (2) Toilet Rebates 178.20              
66958 11/16/2018 12/05/2018 Federal Express Shipping Charges 440.12              
66959 09/30/2018 12/05/2018 Maggiora Bros Drilling Monitor Well Repair - RUWAP 4,050.00           

66960 11/08/2018 12/05/2018 Core & Main LP
(10) 1 1/2" Top Load Multi-Jet Meter with Dialog 3G Register, (70) 1" 
Multi-Jet Meter with 3G Dialog 25,404.22         

66961 10/31/2018 12/05/2018 CSC of Salinas Parts - Hydraulic Pump 86.74                
66962 11/19/2018 12/05/2018 Conservation Rebate Program 3022 Ellen Ct - Toilet Rebate 125.00              
66963 10/01/2018 12/05/2018 CSDA Membership Renewal 2019 7,252.00           
66964 11/21/2018 12/05/2018 NEC Financial Services, Inc. Phone Equipment Lease 11/2018 335.76              

66965 11/15/2018 12/05/2018 Carollo Engineers, Inc.

RUWAP - Construction Meetings, Submittal, RWQCB NOI, Project 
Administration, USBR WIIN Grant Application Package, Project 
Management, Design Plan/ Specifications 21,447.08         

66966 11/28/2018 12/05/2018 Conservation Rebate Program 3264 Sand Dollar Ct - (3) Toilet Rebates 375.00              
66967 11/05/2018 12/05/2018 Fastenal Industrial & Construction Supplies General Supplies 108.73              
66968 11/28/2018 12/05/2018 O'Reilly Automotive Stores, Inc. Auto/ General Supplies 130.23              
66969 11/26/2018 12/05/2018 Associated Services Company Coffee Supplies 150.83              
66970 11/19/2018 12/05/2018 Integrity Print & Design LLC (1,000) Business Cards - Customer Service 175.55              
66971 11/29/2018 12/05/2018 CCOI Gate & Fence BLM Gate Repair/ Service 813.85              
66972 10/30/2018 12/05/2018 Calcon Systems, Inc. MCC Panel - Airport LS 7,359.56           
66973 11/16/2018 12/05/2018 Power Engineers, Inc. Cityworks/ ESRI Support Services 10/2018 355.00              

2



Check 
No

Invoice
Date

Check
 Date Vendor Name Description Amount

66974 10/31/2018 12/05/2018 Univar USA, Inc. 800 gals Sodium Hypochlorite - Well 11 1,600.06           
66975 11/15/2018 12/05/2018 Water Systems Engineering, Inc. Laboratory Contract Testing 1,400.00           
66976 11/28/2018 12/05/2018 Conservation Rebate Program 4355 Peninsula Point Dr  - (2) Toilet Rebates 250.00              
66977 11/19/2018 12/05/2018 Conservation Rebate Program 4369 Shoreline Ct - Washer Rebate 100.00              
66978 11/19/2018 12/05/2018 Conservation Rebate Program 3063 Zanetta Drive - (2) Toilet Rebates 250.00              
66979 11/26/2018 12/05/2018 Conservation Rebate Program 3273 Cove Way - (3) Toilet Rebates 375.00              
66980 11/26/2018 12/05/2018 Conservation Rebate Program 3271 Cove Way - Landscape Incentive Rebate 786.00              
66981 11/05/2018 12/05/2018 Green Rubber-Kennedy AG, LP Rain Gear and Pants - Lopez 144.51              

66982 11/06/2018 12/05/2018 U.S. Bank Corporate Payment Systems

CalPERS Conference Hotel/ Taxi, 2019 Legislative Update for Public 
Agencies - Gill, Advertisement - System Operator I, Hazardous Materials 
Placards, General Supplies 1,961.46           

66983 11/19/2018 12/05/2018 Marina Tire & Auto Repair Oil Change - Vehicle #1304, (4) Tires - Vehicles #1235, #1306 1,496.80           

66984 11/14/2018 12/05/2018 Friedman & Springwater LLP
CalAm Coastal Water Project, Ag Land Trust CEQA Lawsuit, RDP 
Superior Court Damages Cases, MCWD v CPUC Legal Fees 10/2018 166,004.30       

66985 11/14/2018 12/05/2018 Richards, Watson & Gershon Regional Project Litigation 10/2018 33,735.94         
66986 11/07/2018 12/05/2018 Remy Moose Manley, LLP Well Project, CPUC 10/2018 80,639.50         
66987 12/03/2018 12/05/2018 Monterey Bay Technologies, Inc. IT Support Services 12/2018 3,450.00           

66988 11/20/2018 12/05/2018 Corix Water Products
Parts - Wells 10, 11, Intermediate Reservoir Chlorine System, Marina Dr 
Repairs 300.97              

66989 11/30/2018 12/05/2018 Eurofins Eaton Analytical, Inc. Laboratory Contract Testing 2,815.00           

66990 11/06/2018 12/05/2018 Griffith & Masuda

General Matters, Annexation, Bay View Mobile Home Park, CalAM 
Wheeling Agreement, CEMEX Property, CPUC Proceedings, CSUMB, 
FORA, Groundwater - GSA, Study DWR Basin, GWR Project - Seaside 
Basin, Ag Land Trust Lawsuit, Recycled Water, Shea Homes, Developer 
(Wathens- Castanos Homes, Dunes, East Garrison) 10/2018 21,828.17         

66991 11/21/2018 12/05/2018 GHD, Inc. Professional Services/ Design Phase - Imjin LS 4,957.25           
66992 12/03/2018 12/05/2018 NASSCO, Inc. 2019 Membership Dues 295.00              
66993 11/13/2018 12/05/2018 Aleshire & Wynder, LLP Opinion for Bay View Community vs MCWD 10/2018 4,566.48           
66994 11/30/2018 12/05/2018 Peninsula Messenger LLC Courier Service 12/2018 145.00              
66995 11/26/2018 12/05/2018 Dataflow Business Systems, Inc. Ord Copier Maintenance (5551ci) 11/2018 401.56              
66996 11/25/2018 12/05/2018 TIAA Commercial Finance, Inc. (3) Office Copier Leases (454E, C754E, 5551ci) 11/2018 949.91              

66997 11/28/2018 12/05/2018 AT&T
Modem Line, Main Frame Computer, IOP Fire Alarm, Beach/ Ord Alarm 
11/2018 200.44              

66998 12/01/2018 12/05/2018 Simpler Systems, Inc. UB Datapp Maintenance 12/2018 500.00              
66999 11/15/2018 12/05/2018 Fieldman, Rolapp & Associates, Inc. Review Draft of Moody's Issuer Comment Report 285.00              
67000 12/01/2018 12/05/2018 Pure Janitorial, LLC BLM Janitorial Services 11/2018 1,909.38           
67001 09/13/2018 12/05/2018 Irrigation Association 2019 Membership Dues 390.00              
67002 VOID
67003 11/26/2018 12/05/2018 Conservation Rebate Program LV44 LP  - (14) Toilet Rebates 1,320.72           
67004 11/13/2018 12/05/2018 Akel Engineering Group, Inc. Master Plans/Capacity Fees Study - Water, Sewer, Recycled Water 9,477.50           
67005 09/24/2018 12/05/2018 MWH Constructors Inc. Construction Management Services 27,563.43         
67006 10/30/2018 12/05/2018 Springbrook National User Group 2019 Membership Dues 100.00              

3



Check 
No

Invoice
Date

Check
 Date Vendor Name Description Amount

67007 11/20/2018 12/05/2018 Culligan Water Enterprises Water Softener - F Booster Station 66.28                
67008 11/01/2018 12/05/2018 Greenwaste Recovery, Inc. Garbage Collection & Recycling Services 11/2018 697.75              
67009 11/19/2018 12/05/2018 Customer Service Refund Refund Check - 13137 Chamberlain Ave 27.21                
67010 11/19/2018 12/05/2018 Customer Service Refund Refund Check - 10th St (Irrigation) 468.93              
67011 11/19/2018 12/05/2018 Customer Service Refund Refund Check - 322 Brittany Rd 35.00                
67012 11/19/2018 12/05/2018 Customer Service Refund Refund Check - 16726 Pickett Ln 21.97                
67013 11/19/2018 12/05/2018 Customer Service Refund Refund Check - 142 Petunia 107.69              
67014 11/19/2018 12/05/2018 Customer Service Refund Refund Check - 300 Sirena Del Mar Rd 38.64                
67015 11/19/2018 12/05/2018 Customer Service Refund Refund Check - 79 Dahlia Dr 38.96                
67016 11/19/2018 12/05/2018 Customer Service Refund Refund Check - 224 A Palm Ave 23.55                
67017 11/19/2018 12/05/2018 Customer Service Refund Refund Check - 233 Metz Rd 35.00                
67018 11/26/2018 12/05/2018 Conservation Rebate Program LV44 LP - (17) Toilet Rebates 1,570.62           
67019 11/26/2018 12/05/2018 Conservation Rebate Program LV44 LP - (4) Toilet Rebates 377.84              

WIRE 11/07/2018 12/13/2018 Mountain Cascade, Inc.
RUWAP - Blackhorse Reservoir, Army Property Slurry Seal, Asbestos 
Coating 792,990.84       

67020 12/04/2018 12/17/2018 Carlons Fire Extinguisher Recharge Fire Extinguisher - Ord Booster Station 56.11                

67021 11/28/2018 12/17/2018 Denise Duffy & Associates, Inc.
Hearings/ Meetings, LAFCO Application, CEQA Process,  PM/ 
Meetings/ Coordination - Annexation 5,368.50           

67022 11/30/2018 12/17/2018 Monterey One Water Sewer Treatment Charge 11/2018 - 12/2018 123.50              

67023 12/04/2018 12/17/2018 Harris & Associates
Developer Inspection Services (CSUMB Academic III, Student Union) 
08/2018, 11/2018 990.00              

67024 12/01/2018 12/17/2018 American Messaging Services, LLC Pager Service - O&M 55.66                
67025 12/03/2018 12/17/2018 XC2 Software, LLC XC2 Web Module - Backflow Add-On 2,000.00           
67026 11/01/2018 12/17/2018 American Supply Company Janitorial Supplies 292.57              

67027 11/27/2018 12/17/2018 SWRCB
Desal Plant Brine Discharge, WasteWater Collection Facility Permit Fee 
07/2018 - 06/2019 4,572.00           

67028 11/29/2018 12/17/2018 Val's Plumbing & Heating, Inc. Plumbing Repair  Garbage Disposal Replacement 680.14              
67029 11/30/2018 12/17/2018 Calcon Systems, Inc. Handle - MCC Panel at Airport LS 195.76              
67030 11/28/2018 12/17/2018 Univar USA, Inc. Sodium Hypochlorite - Wells 10, 11, Intermediate Reservoir 2,600.11           
67031 11/21/2018 12/17/2018 Bay Area Coating Consultants, Inc. Tank Inspection Services - Reservoir 2 5,913.04           
67032 12/10/2018 12/17/2018 Conservation Rebate Program 2961 Bluffs Dr - Washer Rebate 50.00                
67033 12/10/2018 12/17/2018 Conservation Rebate Program 2312 5th Cavalry Rd - Washer Rebate 50.00                
67034 11/24/2018 12/17/2018 Voyager Fleet Systems, Inc. Fleet Gasoline 2,683.55           
67035 12/13/2018 12/17/2018 Eurofins Eaton Analytical, Inc. Laboratory Contract Testing 725.00              
67036 12/07/2018 12/17/2018 Access Monterey Peninsula, Inc. Filming and Production 11/2018 460.00              

4



Check 
No

Invoice
Date

Check
 Date Vendor Name Description Amount

67037 12/01/2018 12/17/2018 Aleshire & Wynder, LLP Opinion for Bay View Community vs MCWD  11/2018 12,665.00         
67038 11/30/2018 12/17/2018 Western Exterminator Company Pest Control - Beach Office 11/2018 86.50                
67039 12/06/2018 12/17/2018 TIAA Commercial Finance, Inc. eCopy ScanStation Lease 12/2018 169.98              
67040 11/30/2018 12/17/2018 Marina Coast Water District (BLM) BLM Water, Sewer, Fire Service 11/2018 324.18              
67041 10/31/2018 12/17/2018 Runyon Saltzman Einhorn, Inc. Public Relations 6,624.98           
67042 12/10/2018 12/17/2018 Conservation Rebate Program LV44 LP - (7) Toilet Rebates 672.21              
67043 12/01/2018 12/17/2018 Networkfleet, Inc. GPS Service - (2) Meter Reader Trucks 38.00                
67044 11/08/2018 12/17/2018 MWH Constructors Inc. Construction Management Services/ Labor 10/2018 90,154.04         

500158-
500163 12/14/2018 12/14/2018 Payroll Checks and Direct Deposit Payroll Ending 12/07/18 102,595.41       
500164 12/14/2018 12/14/2018 General Teamsters Union Payroll Ending 12/07/18 599.00              
500165 12/14/2018 12/14/2018 WageWorks, Inc. Payroll Ending 12/07/18 544.23              
ACH 12/14/2018 12/14/2018 MassMutual Retirement Services, LLC Payroll Ending 12/07/18 8,115.36           
ACH 12/14/2018 12/14/2018 State of California - EDD Payroll Ending 12/07/18 8,855.31           
ACH 12/14/2018 12/14/2018 Internal Revenue Service Payroll Ending 12/07/18 37,041.14         
ACH 12/14/2018 12/14/2018 CalPERS Payroll Ending 12/07/18 22,350.56         

500166 11/20/2018 12/17/2018 Becks Shoe Store, Inc. - Salinas Boot Benefit - O&M 173.43              
500167 12/03/2018 12/17/2018 ACWA/ JPIA Medical, Dental, Vision, EAP Insurance 01/2019 65,249.52         
500168 12/04/2018 12/17/2018 CWEA - Monterey Bay Section Membership Renewal - Luongo 188.00              
500169 12/13/2018 12/17/2018 AFLAC Employee Paid Benefits 11/2018 6,756.70           
500170 11/28/2018 12/17/2018 Thomas P. Moore Board Compensation 11/2018 50.00                
500171 12/05/2018 12/17/2018 LegalShield Employee Paid Benefits 12/2018 25.90                
500172 11/27/2018 12/17/2018 Community Hospital of the Monterey Peninsula (13) Health Screenings 550.00              
500173 11/17/2018 12/17/2018 Principal Life Employee Paid Benefits 12/2018 454.00              
500174 11/28/2018 12/17/2018 William Y. Lee Board Compensation 11/2018 50.00                
500175 11/30/2018 12/17/2018 Justifacts Credential Verification, Inc. Background Checks - New Hire 53.75                
500176 11/09/2018 12/17/2018 Lincoln National Life Insurance Company Life, Short/Long Term, AD&D Insurance 12/2018 2,321.67           
500177 11/15/2018 12/17/2018 WageWorks, Inc. FSA Admin Fees 10/2018 110.00              
500178 11/28/2018 12/17/2018 Herbert Cortez Board Compensation 11/2018 50.00                
500179 12/10/2018 12/17/2018 Transamerica Employee Benefits Employee Paid Benefits 11/2018 1,807.95           
500180 11/30/2018 12/17/2018 Cintas Corporation No. 630 Uniforms, Towels, Rugs 11/2018 554.20              
500181 11/28/2018 12/17/2018 Jan Shriner Board Compensation 11/2018 50.00                
500182 10/31/2018 12/17/2018 Liebert Cassidy Whitmore Employee Handbook Review, General Matters 5,866.00           
500183-
500188 12/28/2018 12/28/2018 Payroll Checks and Direct Deposit Payroll Ending 12/21/18 100,388.20       
500189 12/28/2018 12/28/2018 WageWorks, Inc. Payroll Ending 12/21/18 544.23              
ACH 12/28/2018 12/28/2018 Internal Revenue Service Payroll Ending 12/21/18 35,472.76         
ACH 12/28/2018 12/28/2018 State of California - EDD Payroll Ending 12/21/18 8,458.76           
ACH 12/28/2018 12/28/2018 MassMutual Retirement Services, LLC Payroll Ending 12/21/18 8,115.26           
ACH 12/28/2018 12/28/2018 CalPERS Payroll Ending 12/21/18 22,365.09         

Total Disbursements for December 2018 1,954,134.39     

5



 
Marina Coast Water District 

Agenda Transmittal 
 
 
Agenda Item: 9-B      Meeting Date: January 22, 2019 
 
Prepared By: Kelly Cadiente    Approved By: Keith Van Der Maaten 
 
Agenda Title: Receive the Quarterly Financial Statements for July 1, 2018 to September 30, 2018 
 
Staff Recommendation: The Board receives the Quarterly Financial Statements for July 1, 2018 to 
September 30, 2018. 
  
Staff Recommendation: The Board receives the Quarterly Financial Statements for July 1, 2018 to 
September 30, 2018. 
  
Background: 2017 Strategic Plan, Strategic Element No. 3.2 – Regular Financial Updates to 
Policymakers and Managers. 
 
Discussion/Analysis: All figures reported for the quarter are based on accrual basis accounting. 
The District’s consolidated financial statement for the quarter includes operating revenues of 
$4.312 million and expenses of $2.561 million, resulting in a net gain from operations of $1.751 
million.  The District budget projected net gain from operations of $0.834 million for the same 
period.  
 
The difference between the actual net gain from operations for the quarter from the budget gain  
expectation is $0.917 million due to the timing of when revenues are earned and expenses are 
accrued producing different results than those in which the annual budget amounts are divided 
evenly by quarter.   
 
Summary of Cost Centers: 
 

Description Actual Qtr Budget Qtr Actual FYTD Budget FYTD 

          
Marina Water         
     Revenue               1,091,451                1,015,715                1,091,451                1,015,715  
     Expenses                  564,499                   685,063                   564,499                   685,063  
     Net Gain/(Loss)                  526,952                   330,652                   526,952                   330,652  
          
Marina Sewer         
     Revenue                  337,043                   356,468                   337,043                   356,468  
     Expenses                  150,905                   194,538                   150,905                   194,538  
     Net Gain/(Loss)                  186,138                   161,930                   186,138                   161,930  
          
Ord Community Water         
     Revenue               2,180,321                1,848,868                2,180,321                1,848,868  
     Expenses               1,453,115                1,620,598                1,453,115                1,620,598  
     Net Gain/(Loss)                  727,206                   228,270                   727,206                   228,270  
          



 
Ord Community Sewer         
     Revenue                  703,462                   687,798                   703,462                   687,798  
     Expenses                  354,926                   486,153                   354,926                   486,153  
     Net Gain/(Loss)                  348,536                   201,645                   348,536                   201,645  
          
Recycled Water Project         
     Revenue                           -                               9                            -                               9  
     Expenses                    37,833                     88,160                     37,833                     88,160  
     Net Gain/(Loss)                 (37,833)                 (88,151)                 (37,833)                 (88,151) 
          
Regional Project         
     Revenue                           -                              -                              -                              -    
     Expenses                           -                              -                              -                              -    
     Net Gain/(Loss)                           -                              -                              -                              -    
          
Consolidated Cost 

Centers         
     Revenue               4,312,277                3,908,858                4,312,277                3,908,858  

     Expenses               2,561,278                3,074,512                2,561,278                3,074,512  

     Net Gain/(Loss)               1,750,999                   834,346                1,750,999                   834,346  

 
As of September 30, 2018, the District had $18.636 million in liquid investments.  The District 
also had $0.855 million of 2010 refunding bond proceeds for debt reserve purposes in the bank.   
 
The District owed $28.005 million for the 2015 Senior Revenue Refunding Bonds Series A as well 
as $2.585 million for the 2010 Subordinate Revenue Refunding Bonds, $2.682 million to Holman 
Capital Corporation for the conversion of the Rabobank N.A. construction loan for the BLM 
building, and $1.916 million to BVAA Compass Bank Line of Credit for the Regional Urban Water 
Augmentation Project as of September 30, 2018.   
 
Environmental Review Compliance:  None required. 
 
Financial Impact:             Yes       X     No  Funding Source/Recap:  None 
 
Other Considerations:  None 
 
Material Included for Information/Consideration: Quarterly Financial Statements, Investments 
and Debt Summary Statements. 
 
      
Action Required:             Resolution              Motion       X      Review 
             
 

Board Action 
 
Motion By                    Seconded By              No Action Taken   
       
Ayes       Abstained      
 
Noes       Absent       



2018/2019 2017/2018 $ VARIANCE % VARIANCE 2018/2019 2017/2018 $ VARIANCE % VARIANCE

REVENUES

WATER SALES 3,003,720            2,884,598            119,122               4.13% 3,003,720            2,884,598            119,122          4.13%

SEWER SALES 1,013,930            913,488               100,442               11.00% 1,013,930            913,488               100,442          11.00%

INTEREST INCOME 48,380                 25,821                 22,559                 87.37% 48,380                 25,821                 22,559            87.37%

OTHER REVENUE 246,247               290,020               (43,773)                (15.09%) 246,247               290,020               (43,773)           (15.09%)

TOTAL REVENUES 4,312,277            4,113,927            198,350               4.82% 4,312,277            4,113,927            198,350          4.82%

EXPENSES

ADMINISTRATIVE 1,000,468            1,017,485            (17,017)                (1.67%) 1,000,468            1,017,485            (17,017)           (1.67%)

OPERATING & MAINTENANCE 932,054               859,872               72,182                 8.39% 932,054               859,872               72,182            8.39%

LABORATORY 61,608                 70,452                 (8,844)                  (12.55%) 61,608                 70,452                 (8,844)             (12.55%)

CONSERVATION 78,064                 69,164                 8,900                   12.87% 78,064                 69,164                 8,900              12.87%

ENGINEERING 289,965               270,656               19,309                 7.13% 289,965               270,656               19,309            7.13%

WATER RESOURCES 46,386                 -                       46,386                 100.00% 46,386                 -                       46,386            100.00%

INTEREST EXPENSE 46,803                 9,034                   37,769                 418.08% 46,803                 9,034                   37,769            418.08%

FRANCHISE FEE 105,930               154,032               (48,102)                (31.23%) 105,930               154,032               (48,102)           (31.23%)

TOTAL EXPENSES 2,561,278            2,450,695            110,583               4.51% 2,561,278            2,450,695            110,583          4.51%

NET GAIN (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS 1,750,999            1,663,232            87,767                 5.28% 1,750,999            1,663,232            87,767            5.28%

CAPACITY FEE/CAPITAL SURCHARGE 1,167,547            2,010,051            (842,504)              (41.91%) 1,167,547            2,010,051            (842,504)         (41.91%)

CONTRIBUTIONS/ GRANT REVENUE -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                  -                    

NON-OPERATING REVENUE 123,414               131,543               (8,129)                  (6.18%) 123,414               131,543               (8,129)             (6.18%)

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECT 4,194,904            779,058               3,415,846            438.46% 4,194,904            779,058               3,415,846       438.46%

DEVELOPER REVENUE 107,364               107,953               (589)                     (0.55%) 107,364               107,953               (589)                (0.55%)

DEVELOPER EXPENSES 115,823               118,164               (2,341)                  (1.98%) 115,823               118,164               (2,341)             (1.98%)

CURRENT QUARTER YEAR-TO-DATE

MARINA COAST WATER DISTRICT

INCOME STATEMENT

JULY 1, 2018 TO SEPTEMBER 30, 2018

(UNAUDITED)

CONSOLIDATED



ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET

REVENUES

WATER SALES 1,064,322      1,001,002      -                 -                 1,939,398      1,701,668      -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 3,003,720        2,702,670         3,003,720        2,702,670         

SEWER SALES -                 -                 327,845         350,712         -                 -                 686,085         683,164         -                 -                 -                 -                 1,013,930        1,033,876         1,013,930        1,033,876         

INTEREST INCOME 14,301           1,788             8,264             4,406             19,910           6,500             5,905             434                -                 9                    -                 -                 48,380             13,137              48,380             13,137              

OTHER REVENUE 12,828           12,925           934                1,350             221,013         140,700         11,472           4,200             -                 -                 -                 -                 246,247           159,175            246,247           159,175            

TOTAL REVENUES 1,091,451      1,015,715      337,043         356,468         2,180,321      1,848,868      703,462         687,798         -                 9                    -                 -                 4,312,277        3,908,858         4,312,277        3,908,858         

EXPENSES

ADMINISTRATIVE 217,633         228,307         56,544           62,912           591,476         520,359         134,755         140,749         60                  1,000             -                 -                 1,000,468        953,327            1,000,468        953,327            

OPERATING & MAINTENANCE 212,311         253,159         79,069           93,989           487,243         473,850         153,431         202,582         -                 -                 -                 -                 932,054           1,023,580         932,054           1,023,580         

LABORATORY 18,303           28,145           -                 -                 43,305           61,310           -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 61,608             89,455              61,608             89,455              

CONSERVATION 21,931           39,191           -                 -                 56,133           60,476           -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 78,064             99,667              78,064             99,667              

ENGINEERING 77,877           73,658           14,570           16,624           160,118         160,923         37,400           45,819           -                 -                 -                 -                 289,965           297,024            289,965           297,024            

WATER RESOURCES 13,916           22,975           -                 -                 32,470           34,462           -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 46,386             57,437              46,386             57,437              

INTEREST EXPENSE 2,528             39,628           722                21,013           4,515             174,852         1,265             57,229           37,773           87,160           -                 -                 46,803             379,882            46,803             379,882            

FRANCHISE FEE -                 -                 -                 -                 77,855           134,366         28,075           39,774           -                 -                 -                 -                 105,930           174,140            105,930           174,140            

 

TOTAL EXPENSES 564,499         685,063         150,905         194,538         1,453,115      1,620,598      354,926         486,153         37,833           88,160           -                 -                 2,561,278        3,074,512         2,561,278        3,074,512         

NET GAIN (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS 526,952         330,652         186,138         161,930         727,206         228,270         348,536         201,645         (37,833)          (88,151)          -                 -                 1,750,999        834,346            1,750,999        834,346            

CAPACITY FEE/CAPITAL SURCHARGE 15,796           64,722           -                 46,660           821,531         850,585         330,220         298,159         -                 -                 -                 -                 1,167,547        1,260,126         1,167,547        1,260,126         

CONTRIBUTIONS/ GRANT REVENUE -                 61,717           -                 -                 -                 92,576           -                 -                 -                 300,000         -                 -                 -                   454,293            -                   454,293            

NON-OPERATING REVENUE 34,556           36,895           9,873             10,542           61,707           65,884           17,278           18,448           -                 -                 -                 -                 123,414           131,769            123,414           131,769            

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECT 746                -                 -                 -                 15,170           -                 6,827             -                 3,771,427      -                 400,735         -                 4,194,904        -                    4,194,904        -                    

DEVELOPER REVENUE 5,245             -                 2,139             -                 62,660           118,125         37,320           27,500           -                 -                 -                 -                 107,364           145,625            107,364           145,625            

DEVELOPER EXPENSES 6,003             2,500             957                500                80,326           95,000           28,537           22,500           -                 -                 -                 -                 115,823           120,500            115,823           120,500            

CONSOLIDATED (YTD)CONSOLIDATEDRP FUNDMW FUND

MARINA COAST WATER DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

JULY 1, 2018 TO SEPTEMBER 30, 2018

(UNAUDITED)

CONSOLIDATED

RW FUNDMS FUND OW FUND OS FUND



ACTUAL BUDGET $ VARIANCE % VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET $ VARIANCE % VARIANCE

REVENUES

WATER SALES 1,064,322            1,001,002               63,320                 6.33% 1,064,322           1,001,002            63,320                 6.33%

SEWER SALES -                       -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

INTEREST INCOME 14,301                 1,788                      12,513                 699.83% 14,301                1,788                   12,513                 699.83%

OTHER REVENUE 12,828                 12,925                    (97)                       (0.75%) 12,828                12,925                 (97)                       (0.75%)

TOTAL REVENUES 1,091,451            1,015,715               75,736                 7.46% 1,091,451           1,015,715            75,736                 7.46%

EXPENSES

ADMINISTRATIVE 217,633               228,307                  (10,674)                (4.68%) 217,633              228,307               (10,674)                (4.68%)

OPERATING & MAINTENANCE 212,311               253,159                  (40,848)                (16.14%) 212,311              253,159               (40,848)                (16.14%)

LABORATORY 18,303                 28,145                    (9,842)                  (34.97%) 18,303                28,145                 (9,842)                  (34.97%)

CONSERVATION 21,931                 39,191                    (17,260)                (44.04%) 21,931                39,191                 (17,260)                (44.04%)

ENGINEERING 77,877                 73,658                    4,219                   5.73% 77,877                73,658                 4,219                   5.73%

WATER RESOURCES 13,916                 22,975                    (9,059)                  (39.43%) 13,916                22,975                 (9,059)                  (39.43%)

INTEREST EXPENSE 2,528                   39,628                    (37,100)                (93.62%) 2,528                  39,628                 (37,100)                (93.62%)

FRANCHISE/MEMBERSHIP FEES -                       -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

TOTAL EXPENSES 564,499               685,063                  (120,564)              (17.60%) 564,499              685,063               (120,564)              (17.60%)

NET GAIN (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS 526,952               330,652                  196,300               59.37% 526,952              330,652               196,300               59.37%

CAPACITY FEE/CAPITAL SURCHARGE 15,796                 64,722                    (48,926)                (75.59%) 15,796                64,722                 (48,926)                (75.59%)

CONTRIBUTIONS/ GRANT REVENUE -                       61,717                    (61,717)                (100.00%) -                      61,717                 (61,717)                (100.00%)

NON-OPERATING REVENUE 34,556                 36,895                    (2,339)                  (6.34%) 34,556                36,895                 (2,339)                  (6.34%)

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECT 746                      -                          746                      100.00% 746                     -                       746                      100.00%

DEVELOPER REVENUE 5,245                   -                          5,245                   100.00% 5,245                  -                       5,245                   100.00%

DEVELOPER EXPENSES 6,003                   2,500                      3,503                   140.12% 6,003                  2,500                   3,503                   140.12%

CURRENT QUARTER YEAR-TO-DATE

MARINA COAST WATER DISTRICT

INCOME STATEMENT

JULY 1, 2018 TO SEPTEMBER 30, 2018

(UNAUDITED)

MARINA WATER FUND



ACTUAL BUDGET $ VARIANCE % VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET $ VARIANCE % VARIANCE

REVENUES

WATER SALES -                       -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

SEWER SALES 327,845               350,712                  (22,867)                (6.52%) 327,845              350,712               (22,867)                (6.52%)

INTEREST INCOME 8,264                   4,406                      3,858                   87.56% 8,264                  4,406                   3,858                   87.56%

OTHER REVENUE 934                      1,350                      (416)                     (30.81%) 934                     1,350                   (416)                     (30.81%)

TOTAL REVENUES 337,043               356,468                  (19,425)                (5.45%) 337,043              356,468               (19,425)                (5.45%)

EXPENSES

ADMINISTRATIVE 56,544                 62,912                    (6,368)                  (10.12%) 56,544                62,912                 (6,368)                  (10.12%)

OPERATING & MAINTENANCE 79,069                 93,989                    (14,920)                (15.87%) 79,069                93,989                 (14,920)                (15.87%)

LABORATORY -                       -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

CONSERVATION -                       -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

ENGINEERING 14,570                 16,624                    (2,054)                  (12.36%) 14,570                16,624                 (2,054)                  (12.36%)

WATER RESOURCES -                       -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

INTEREST EXPENSE 722                      21,013                    (20,291)                (96.56%) 722                     21,013                 (20,291)                (96.56%)

FRANCHISE/MEMBERSHIP FEES -                       -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

TOTAL EXPENSES 150,905               194,538                  (43,633)                (22.43%) 150,905              194,538               (43,633)                (22.43%)

NET GAIN (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS 186,138               161,930                  24,208                 14.95% 186,138              161,930               24,208                 14.95%

CAPACITY FEE/CAPITAL SURCHARGE -                       46,660                    (46,660)                (100.00%) -                      46,660                 (46,660)                (100.00%)

CONTRIBUTIONS/ GRANT REVENUE -                       -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

NON-OPERATING REVENUE 9,873                   10,542                    (669)                     (6.35%) 9,873                  10,542                 (669)                     (6.35%)

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECT -                       -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

DEVELOPER REVENUE 2,139                   -                          2,139                   100.00% 2,139                  -                       2,139                   100.00%

DEVELOPER EXPENSES 957                      500                         457                      91.40% 957                     500                      457                      91.40%

CURRENT QUARTER YEAR-TO-DATE

MARINA COAST WATER DISTRICT

INCOME STATEMENT

JULY 1, 2018 TO SEPTEMBER 30, 2018

(UNAUDITED)

MARINA SEWER FUND



ACTUAL BUDGET $ VARIANCE % VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET $ VARIANCE % VARIANCE

REVENUES

WATER SALES 1,939,398            1,701,668               237,730               13.97% 1,939,398           1,701,668            237,730               13.97%

SEWER SALES -                       -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

INTEREST INCOME 19,910                 6,500                      13,410                 206.31% 19,910                6,500                   13,410                 206.31%

OTHER REVENUE 221,013               140,700                  80,313                 57.08% 221,013              140,700               80,313                 57.08%

TOTAL REVENUES 2,180,321            1,848,868               331,453               17.93% 2,180,321           1,848,868            331,453               17.93%

EXPENSES

ADMINISTRATIVE 591,476               520,359                  71,117                 13.67% 591,476              520,359               71,117                 13.67%

OPERATING & MAINTENANCE 487,243               473,850                  13,393                 2.83% 487,243              473,850               13,393                 2.83%

LABORATORY 43,305                 61,310                    (18,005)                (29.37%) 43,305                61,310                 (18,005)                (29.37%)

CONSERVATION 56,133                 60,476                    (4,343)                  (7.18%) 56,133                60,476                 (4,343)                  (7.18%)

ENGINEERING 160,118               160,923                  (805)                     (0.50%) 160,118              160,923               (805)                     (0.50%)

WATER RESOURCES 32,470                 34,462                    (1,992)                  (5.78%) 32,470                34,462                 (1,992)                  (5.78%)

INTEREST EXPENSE 4,515                   174,852                  (170,337)              (97.42%) 4,515                  174,852               (170,337)              (97.42%)

FRANCHISE/MEMBERSHIP FEES 77,855                 134,366                  (56,511)                (42.06%) 77,855                134,366               (56,511)                (42.06%)

TOTAL EXPENSES 1,453,115            1,620,598               (167,483)              (10.33%) 1,453,115           1,620,598            (167,483)              (10.33%)

NET GAIN (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS 727,206               228,270                  498,936               218.57% 727,206              228,270               498,936               218.57%

CAPACITY FEE/CAPITAL SURCHARGE 821,531               850,585                  (29,054)                (3.42%) 821,531              850,585               (29,054)                (3.42%)

CONTRIBUTIONS/ GRANT REVENUE -                       92,576                    (92,576)                (100.00%) -                      92,576                 (92,576)                (100.00%)

NON-OPERATING REVENUE 61,707                 65,884                    (4,177)                  (6.34%) 61,707                65,884                 (4,177)                  (6.34%)

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECT 15,170                 -                          15,170                 100.00% 15,170                -                       15,170                 100.00%

DEVELOPER REVENUE 62,660                 118,125                  (55,465)                (46.95%) 62,660                118,125               (55,465)                (46.95%)

DEVELOPER EXPENSES 80,326                 95,000                    (14,674)                (15.45%) 80,326                95,000                 (14,674)                (15.45%)

MARINA COAST WATER DISTRICT

CURRENT QUARTER YEAR-TO-DATE

INCOME STATEMENT

JULY 1, 2018 TO SEPTEMBER 30, 2018

(UNAUDITED)

ORD COMMUNITY WATER FUND



ACTUAL BUDGET $ VARIANCE % VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET $ VARIANCE % VARIANCE

REVENUES

WATER SALES -                          -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

SEWER SALES 686,085                  683,164                  2,921                   0.43% 686,085              683,164               2,921                   0.43%

INTEREST INCOME 5,905                      434                         5,471                   1260.60% 5,905                  434                      5,471                   1260.60%

OTHER REVENUE 11,472                    4,200                      7,272                   173.14% 11,472                4,200                   7,272                   173.14%

TOTAL REVENUES 703,462                  687,798                  15,664                 2.28% 703,462              687,798               15,664                 2.28%

EXPENSES

ADMINISTRATIVE 134,755                  140,749                  (5,994)                  (4.26%) 134,755              140,749               (5,994)                  (4.26%)

OPERATING & MAINTENANCE 153,431                  202,582                  (49,151)                (24.26%) 153,431              202,582               (49,151)                (24.26%)

LABORATORY -                          -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

CONSERVATION -                          -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

ENGINEERING 37,400                    45,819                    (8,419)                  (18.37%) 37,400                45,819                 (8,419)                  (18.37%)

WATER RESOURCES -                          -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

INTEREST EXPENSE 1,265                      57,229                    (55,964)                (97.79%) 1,265                  57,229                 (55,964)                (97.79%)

FRANCHISE/MEMBERSHIP FEES 28,075                    39,774                    (11,699)                (29.41%) 28,075                39,774                 (11,699)                (29.41%)

TOTAL EXPENSES 354,926                  486,153                  (131,227)              (26.99%) 354,926              486,153               (131,227)              (26.99%)

NET GAIN (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS 348,536                  201,645                  146,891               72.85% 348,536              201,645               146,891               72.85%

CAPACITY FEE/CAPITAL SURCHARGE 330,220                  298,159                  32,061                 10.75% 330,220              298,159               32,061                 10.75%

CONTRIBUTIONS/ GRANT REVENUE -                          -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

NON-OPERATING REVENUE 17,278                    18,448                    (1,170)                  (6.34%) 17,278                18,448                 (1,170)                  (6.34%)

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECT 6,827                      -                          6,827                   100.00% 6,827                  -                       6,827                   100.00%

DEVELOPER REVENUE 37,320                    27,500                    9,820                   35.71% 37,320                27,500                 9,820                   35.71%

DEVELOPER EXPENSES 28,537                    22,500                    6,037                   26.83% 28,537                22,500                 6,037                   26.83%

MARINA COAST WATER DISTRICT

CURRENT QUARTER YEAR-TO-DATE

INCOME STATEMENT

JULY 1, 2018 TO SEPTEMBER 30, 2018

(UNAUDITED)

ORD COMMUNITY SEWER FUND



ACTUAL BUDGET $ VARIANCE % VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET $ VARIANCE % VARIANCE

REVENUES

WATER SALES -                         -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

SEWER SALES -                         -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

INTEREST INCOME -                         9                             (9)                         (100.00%) -                      9                          (9)                         (100.00%)

OTHER REVENUE -                         -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

TOTAL REVENUES -                         9                             (9)                         (100.00%) -                      9                          (9)                         (100.00%)

EXPENSES

ADMINISTRATIVE 60                          1,000                      (940)                     (94.00%) 60                       1,000                   (940)                     (94.00%)

OPERATING & MAINTENANCE -                         -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

LABORATORY -                         -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

CONSERVATION -                         -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

ENGINEERING -                         -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

WATER RESOURCES -                         -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

INTEREST EXPENSE 37,773                   87,160                    (49,387)                (56.66%) 37,773                87,160                 (49,387)                (56.66%)

FRANCHISE FEE -                         -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

TOTAL EXPENSES 37,833                   88,160                    (50,327)                (57.09%) 37,833                88,160                 (50,327)                (57.09%)

NET GAIN (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS (37,833)                  (88,151)                   50,318                 (57.08%) (37,833)               (88,151)                50,318                 (57.08%)

CAPACITY FEE/CAPITAL SURCHARGE -                         -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

CONTRIBUTIONS/ GRANT REVENUE -                         300,000                  (300,000)              (100.00%) -                      300,000               (300,000)              (100.00%)

NON-OPERATING REVENUE -                         -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECT 3,771,427              -                          3,771,427            100.00% 3,771,427           -                       3,771,427            100.00%

DEVELOPER REVENUE -                         -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

DEVELOPER EXPENSES -                         -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

MARINA COAST WATER DISTRICT

CURRENT QUARTER YEAR-TO-DATE

INCOME STATEMENT

JULY 1, 2018 TO SEPTEMBER 30, 2018

(UNAUDITED)

RECYCLED WATER FUND



ACTUAL BUDGET $ VARIANCE % VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET $ VARIANCE % VARIANCE

REVENUES

WATER SALES -                       -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

SEWER SALES -                       -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

INTEREST INCOME -                       -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

OTHER REVENUE -                       -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

TOTAL REVENUES -                       -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

EXPENSES

ADMINISTRATIVE -                       -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

OPERATING & MAINTENANCE -                       -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

LABORATORY -                       -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

CONSERVATION -                       -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

ENGINEERING -                       -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

WATER RESOURCES -                       -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

INTEREST EXPENSE -                       -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

FRANCHISE FEE -                       -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

TOTAL EXPENSES -                       -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

NET GAIN (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS -                       -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

CAPACITY FEE/CAPITAL SURCHARGE -                       -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

CONTRIBUTIONS/ GRANT REVENUE -                       -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

NON-OPERATING REVENUE -                       -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECT 400,735               -                          400,735               100.00% 400,735              -                       400,735               100.00%

DEVELOPER REVENUE -                       -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

DEVELOPER EXPENSES -                       -                          -                       -                       -                      -                       -                       -                       

MARINA COAST WATER DISTRICT

CURRENT QUARTER YEAR-TO-DATE

INCOME STATEMENT

JULY 1, 2018 TO SEPTEMBER 30, 2018

(UNAUDITED)

REGIONAL PROJECT FUND



ACCT YIELD 6/30/2018 9/30/2018
ACCOUNT TYPE APR BALANCE TRANSACTION TYPE AMOUNT BALANCE

LAIF ACCOUNT 2.16% 7,611,520         INTEREST 07/13/2018 36,117                       7,647,637                  

SAVINGS ACCOUNT MM 0.20% 972,372            INTEREST 07/01/18 - 09/30/18 485                            972,857                     

CPFCA DEPOSIT ACCOUNT MM 0.05% 100,444            INTEREST 07/01/18 - 09/30/18 12                              100,456                     

RESTRICTED FUNDS MM 0.16% 6,324,920         INTEREST 07/01/18 - 09/30/18 2,524                         6,327,444                  

RUWAP LOC PROCEEDS CK 4,885                DEPOSITS 6,641,841                  6,646,726                  
WITHDRAWALS (6,641,871)                 4,855                         

CHECKING ACCOUNT CK 3,750,594         QUARTERLY DEPOSITS & CREDITS 24,342,794                28,093,388                
QUARTERLY CHECKS & DEBITS (24,510,296)               3,583,092                  

SUMMARY 2017 2018 RESERVES DETAIL (LAIF ACCOUNT) 2017 2018

LAIF ACCOUNT 7,539,944           7,647,637         MW GEN OP RESERVE 516,673                     511,091                     
SAVINGS ACCOUNT 2,169,131           972,857            MW CAPACITY REVENUE FUND 488,031                     568,098                     
CPFCA DEPOSIT ACCOUNT 100,406              100,456            MW CAP REPL RESERVE FUND 1,322,331                  1,281,083                  
RESTRICTED FUNDS 6,317,356           6,327,444         MS GEN OP RESERVE 1,288,151                  1,342,268                  
RUWAP LOC PROCEEDS -                      4,855                MS CAPACITY REVENUE FUND 146,233                     112,604                     
CHECKING ACCOUNT 3,550,482           3,583,092         MS CAP REPL RESERVE FUND 1,927                         1,955                         

TOTAL INVESTMENT 19,677,319         18,636,341       OW GEN OP RESERVE 321,946                     82,218                       
OW CAPITAL/CAPACITY REVENUE FUND 2,364,106                  2,769,245                  
OW CAP REPL RESERVE FUND 193,989                     69,713                       
OS GEN OP RESERVE 281,834                     17,553                       
OS CAPITAL/CAPACITY REVENUE FUND 613,067                     890,130                     
OS CAP REPL RESERVE FUND 1,656                         1,680                         

TOTAL 7,539,944                  7,647,637                  

As of September 30As of September 30

QUARTERLY ACTIVITIES

MARINA COAST WATER DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS SUMMARY

JULY 1, 2018 TO SEPTEMBER 30, 2018

(UNAUDITED)



ACCT YIELD 6/30/2018 9/30/2018
ACCOUNT TYPE APR BALANCE TRANSACTION TYPE AMOUNT BALANCE

RESERVE FUND TFUND 1.86% 851,747      INTEREST 07/01/18 - 09/30/18 3,806               855,553           
2010 REFUNDING BOND FUNDS TRANFER -                   855,553           

QUARTERLY ACTIVITIES

MARINA COAST WATER DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS SUMMARY - BOND PROCEEDS

JULY 1, 2018 TO SEPTEMBER 30, 2018

(UNAUDITED)



PRINCIPAL FIRST FINAL 6/30/2018 9/30/2018
AMOUNT PAYMENT PAYMENT RATE BALANCE TRANSACTION TYPE AMOUNT BALANCE

HCC - BLM INSTALLMENT LOAN
2,799,880       07/20/2017 01/20/2037 5.750% 2,722,387     PAYMENT - PRINCIPAL (40,425)            2,681,962         

INTEREST PAYMENT (78,269)            

2010 REFUNDING BOND - CLOSING DATE 12/23/2010
8,495,000       06/01/2011 06/01/2020 4.340% 2,585,000     PAYMENT - PRINCIPAL -                   2,585,000         

INTEREST PAYMENT -                   

2015 SERIES A REFUNDING BOND - CLOSING DATE 07/15/2015
29,840,000     12/01/2015 06/01/2037 3.712% 28,005,000   PAYMENT - PRINCIPAL -                   28,005,000       

INTEREST PAYMENT -                   

BVAA COMPASS RUWAP LOC
55,000            - 08/01/2020 2.868% * 6,562,695     ADVANCES 6,641,841        13,204,536       

PAYMENT - PRINCIPAL (11,288,281)     1,916,255         
INTEREST PAYMENT (37,773)            

*Line of Credit interest calculated on a variable basis (65.01% of the 30-Day Monthly LIBOR plus 1.50%). Amount represents interest rate at 09/01/2018.

SUMMARY
HCC - BLM INSTALLMENT LOAN 2,681,962     
2010 REFUNDING BOND 2,585,000     
2015 REFUNDING BOND SERIES A 28,005,000   
BVAA COMPASS RUWAP LOC 1,916,255     

TOTAL DEBT 35,188,217   

(UNAUDITED)

QUARTERLY ACTIVITIES

MARINA COAST WATER DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF DEBT SUMMARY

JULY 1, 2018 TO SEPTEMBER 30, 2018



 
 

Marina Coast Water District 
Agenda Transmittal  

 
 
Agenda Item: 9-C      Meeting Date: January 22, 2019 
 
Prepared By: Paula Riso     Approved By: Keith Van Der Maaten 
 
Agenda Title: Approve the Draft Minutes of the Joint Board/GSA Meeting of December 17, 2018 
 
Staff Recommendation: The Board of Directors approve the draft minutes of the December 17, 
2018 joint Board meeting. 
 
Background: 5-Year Strategic Plan, Mission Statement – We Provide high quality water, 
wastewater collection and conservation services at a reasonable cost, through planning, 
management and the development of water resources in an environmentally sensitive manner.  
 
Discussion/Analysis: The draft minutes of December 17, 2018 are provided for the Board to 
consider approval. 
 
Environmental Review Compliance: None required. 
 
Financial Impact: _____Yes      X     No Funding Source/Recap: None 
 
Other Considerations: The Board can suggest changes/corrections to the minutes. 
 
Material Included for Information/Consideration: Draft minutes of December 17, 2018. 
        
Action Required:             Resolution      X     Motion             Review 
              

 
Board Action 

 
Motion By______________ Seconded By________________ No Action Taken    
 
Ayes       Abstained      
 
Noes       Absent                                                   



 
 
 

Marina Coast Water District 
Regular Board Meeting/Groundwater Sustainability Agency Board Meeting 

December 17, 2018 
             

Draft Minutes 
 

1. Call to Order: 
 
President Moore called the meeting to order at 6:32 p.m. on December 17, 2018 at the Marina 
Council Chambers, 211 Hillcrest Avenue, Marina, California. 
 
2. Administer Oath of Office: 
 
Mr. Keith Van Der Maaten, General Manager, administered the Oath of Office to Jan Shriner, Matt 
Zefferman, and Peter Le. 
 
3. Roll Call: 
 
Board Members Present: 
 
Thomas P. Moore – President 
Jan Shriner – Vice President  
Herbert Cortez 
Peter Le 
Matt Zefferman 
 
Board Members Absent: 
 
None 
 
Staff Members Present: 
 
Keith Van Der Maaten, General Manager 
Roger Masuda, Legal Counsel 
Kelly Cadiente, Director of Administrative Services 
Derek Cray, Operations and Maintenance Manager 
Michael Wegley, District Engineer 
Brian True, Senior Engineer 
Patrick Breen, Water Resources Manager 
Rose Gill, Human Resources/Risk Administrator 
Paul Lord, Water Conservation Specialist 
Paula Riso, Executive Assistant/Clerk to the Board 
 
  



Joint Board/GSA Meeting 
December 17, 2018 
Page 2 of 10 
 
 
Agenda Item 3 (continued): 
 
Audience Members: 
 
Andrew Sterbenz, Schaaf & Wheeler   Ken Pun, Pun Group 
Philip Clark, Seaside Resident   Paula Pelot, Marina Resident 
Lisa Berkley, Marina Resident   Shawn Storm, Marina Resident 
Audra Walton, Marina Resident   Jose Rodriguez, MCWD Employee 
Bruce Delgado, City of Marina Mayor  Sarah Babcock, East Garrison Resident 
 
4. Election of Board President and Vice President: 
 
Director Shriner nominated Director Moore for President.  There were no other nominations.  The 
nomination was passed by the following vote: 
 
 Director Zefferman - Yes  Vice President Shriner - Yes 
  Director Le - Yes President Moore - Yes 
  Director Cortez - Yes 
 
Director Moore nominated Director Shriner for President.  There were no other nominations. The 
nomination was passed by the following vote: 
 
 Director Zefferman - Yes  Vice President Shriner - Yes 
  Director Le - Yes President Moore - Yes 
  Director Cortez - Yes 
 
5. Public Comment on Closed Session Items: 
 
There were no public comments.  
 
The Board entered into closed session at 6:38 p.m. to discuss the following items: 
 
6. Closed Session: 
 

A. Pursuant to Government Code 54956.9 
Conference with Legal Counsel – Existing Litigation 
 

1) Ag Land Trust v. Marina Coast Water District, Monterey County Superior Court Case 
No. M105019; Sixth Appellate District Court of Appeals Case Nos. H038550 and 
H039559 
 

2) In the Matter of the Application of California-American Water Company (U210W) 
for Approval of the Monterey Peninsula Water Supply Project and Authorization to 
Recover All Present and Future Costs in Rates, California Public Utilities 
Commission No. A.12-04-019 & A.13-05-017 Settlement Agreement 



Joint Board/GSA Meeting 
December 17, 2018 
Page 3 of 10 

 
 

Agenda Item 6 (continued): 
 

3)  Marina Coast Water District v. California Public Utilities Commission, 
 California Supreme Court Case No. S230728, Writ of Review 
 
4) California-American Water Company vs Marina Coast Water District; Monterey 

County Water Resources Agency; and Does 1 through 10, San Francisco Superior 
Court Case No. CGC-13-528312 (Complaint for Declaratory Relief); First Appellate 
District Court of Appeals Case No. A145604, A146166, A146405 

 
5) Marina Coast Water District vs. California-American Water Company, Monterey 

County Water Resources Agency; and, California-American Water Company, 
Monterey County Water Resources Agency vs Marina Coast Water  District , San 
Francisco Superior Court Case Nos. CGC-15-547125, CGC-15-546632 (Complaint 
for Breach of Warranties, etc.) 

 
6) Marina Coast Water District v, California Coastal Commission (California-American 

Water Company, Real Party in Interest), Santa Cruz County Superior Court Case No. 
15CV00267 

 
7) Bay View Community DE, LLC; Bryan Taylor; Greg Carter; and Brooke Bilyeu vs 

Marina Coast Water District; Board of Directors of Marina Coast Water District; 
County of Monterey and Does 1-25, inclusive, Monterey County Superior Court Case 
No. 18CV000765 (Petition for Writ of Mandate or Administrative Mandate, and 
Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief and Breach of Contract) 

 
8) Marina Coast Water District, and Does 1-100 v, County of Monterey, County of 

Monterey Health Department Environmental Health Bureau, and Does 101-110, 
Monterey County Superior Court Case No. 18CV000816 (Petition for Writ of 
Mandate and Complaint for Injunctive Relief) 

 
The Board ended closed session at 7:01 p.m. 
 
President Moore reconvened the meeting to open session at 7:03 p.m.   

 
7. Reportable Actions Taken during Closed Session: 
 
Mr. Roger Masuda, Legal Counsel, stated that there were no reportable actions taken during Closed 
Session. 
 
8. Pledge of Allegiance: 
 
Vice President Shriner led everyone present in the pledge of allegiance.  
 
  



Joint Board/GSA Meeting 
December 17, 2018 
Page 4 of 10 
 
 
9. Oral Communications: 
 
Mr. Bruce Delgado, City of Marina Mayor, commented that this is an important time in the City’s 
history and that the City and District’s values are much aligned especially when it comes to 
protecting groundwater for the future.  Mayor Delgado wished the District well in their projects to 
protect the groundwater and stated that the City was supporting them. 
 
10. Presentations: 
 

A. Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 2018-66 in Recognition of Jose Rodriguez, System 
Operator II, for 15 Years of Service to the Marina Coast Water District: 

 
Vice President Shriner made a motion to adopt Resolution No. 2018-66 in recognition of Jose 
Rodriguez, System Operator II, for 15 years of service to the Marina Coast Water District.  Director 
Cortez seconded the motion.  The motion was passed. 
 
 Director Zefferman - Yes  Vice President Shriner - Yes 
  Director Le - Yes President Moore - Yes 
 Director Cortez - Yes 
 
President Moore read the narration and presented Mr. Rodriguez with a plaque and gift certificate. 
 

B. Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 2018-67 to Recognize Howard Gustafson for 14 
Years of Outstanding and Dedicated Service as Director to the Marina Coast Water 
District: 

 
Vice President Shriner made a motion to adopt Resolution No. 2018-67 in recognition of Howard 
Gustafson for 14 years of outstanding and dedicated service as Director to the Marina Coast Water 
District.  Director Cortez seconded the motion.  The motion was passed. 
 
 Director Zefferman - Yes  Vice President Shriner - Yes 
  Director Le - Abstained President Moore - Yes 
 Director Cortez - Yes 
 

C. Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 2018-68 to Recognize William Y. Lee for 12 Years 
of Outstanding and Dedicated Service as Director to the Marina Coast Water District 

 
Director Cortez made a motion to adopt Resolution No. 2018-66 in recognition of William Y. Lee 
for 12 years of outstanding and dedicated service as Director to the Marina Coast Water District.  
Vice President Shriner seconded the motion.  The motion was passed. 
 
 Director Zefferman - Yes  Vice President Shriner - Yes 
  Director Le - Abstained President Moore - Yes 
 Director Cortez - Yes 
 



Joint Board/GSA Meeting 
December 17, 2018 
Page 5 of 10 
 
 
11. Consent Calendar: 
 
President Moore made a motion to approve the Consent Calendar consisting of: A) Receive and 
File the Check Register for the Month of November 2018; B) Receive the Quarterly Financial 
Statements for April 1 , 2018 to June 30, 2018; C) Approve the Draft Minutes of the Joint 
Board/GSA Meeting of November 19, 2018; D) Receive the Validated 2017 Water Loss Audit 
Report and Level 1 Validation Document; E) Receive Response to Marina Coast Water District 
Board Request for a Listing of Developer Account Balances Written Off by the District; and F) 
Approve the Proposed Regular Board/GSA Meeting and Workshop Meeting Schedule for 2019.  
Vice President Shriner seconded the motion.  The motion was passed by the following vote: 
 
 Director Zefferman - Yes  Vice President Shriner - Yes 
  Director Le - Abstained President Moore - Yes 
 Director Cortez - Yes 
 
12. Action Items: 
 

A. Consider Appointments of Five Public Members to the Water Conservation Commission: 
 
Mr. Keith Van Der Maaten, General Manager, introduced this item.  President Moore asked if 
applicants that were present would please introduce themselves.   
 
Ms. Audra Walton, Marina resident, introduced herself.  She said she is a gamer and enjoys playing 
simulation games.  Ms. Walton said she is a member of Citizens for Just Water and has spoken 
before the California Public Utilities Commission, the California Coastal Commission, and 
LAFCO. 
 
Mr. Phil Clark, Seaside resident, introduced himself.  He mentioned that he was on the Water 
Conservation Commission since August 2016 and they had worked on the Ordinance for Code 
3.36.  Mr. Clark stated that he had attended many outreach events and enjoyed sharing the 5-minute 
shower concept.  He added that he would like to be considered for the Commission. 
 
Ms. Sarah Babcock, East Garrison resident, introduced herself.  She commented that she created 
a water conservation program for her senior project at CSUMB.  Ms. Babcock stated her dream 
was to get into the water conservation industry and it would mean a lot to be on the Water 
Conservation Commission. 
 
Mr. Shawn Storm, Marina Resident, introduced himself.  He stated he was a certified professional 
engineer with experience in high technology and a master’s in computer engineering management.  
Mr. Storm stated he had submitted ideas for meeting the “20% reduction by 2050” initiatives.  He 
said he has a lot of water saving ideas he would like to share with the District and appreciates the 
consideration for the Commission. 
 
Mayor Delgado voiced his support for Ms. Walton.  
 



Joint Board/GSA Meeting 
December 17, 2018 
Page 6 of 10 
 
 
Agenda Item 12-A (continued): 
 
Ms. Lisa Berkley, Marina resident, voiced her support for Ms. Walton. 
 
Director Le suggested each Board member select a member for the Commission.  President Moore 
stated that he had a spreadsheet and if each Board member would rank their selection’s he would 
enter them into the spreadsheet and that would determine the top five candidates.  Director Cortez 
asked how they would determine who would get the longer terms.  President Moore answered that 
the two top candidates would get the 3-year terms and the other three candidates would get the 2-
year terms. 
 
President Moore recessed the meeting from 7:27 p.m. until 7:37 p.m. 
  
President Moore announced that the Board selected Sarah Babcock, Bill Huynh, Audra Walton, 
Shawn Storm, and Phil Clark for the Water Conservation Commission. 
 
President Moore asked if any of the candidates would like to volunteer for the two-year term.  
There were no responses. 
 
Director Cortez made a motion to table the selection of terms until the next meeting.  Director 
Zefferman seconded the motion.  Director Le stated that he would like to make the term 
recommendations at this meeting to avoid any more delay in holding the Water Conservation 
Commission meetings.  Mr. Masuda stated that the Commission can meet even though the terms 
haven’t been decided yet. The motion was passed. 
 
 Director Zefferman - Yes  Vice President Shriner - Yes 
  Director Le - No President Moore - Yes 
 Director Cortez - Yes 
 

B. Consider Accepting the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report and the Independent 
Auditor’s Report for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2018: 

 
Ms. Kelly Cadiente, Director of Administrative Services, introduced this item and Mr. Ken Pun, 
The Pun Group, LLP.  The Board asked some clarifying questions about OPEB liability.   
 
Director Cortez made a motion to accept the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report and the 
Independent Auditor’s Report for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2018.  Vice President Shriner 
seconded the motion.  The motion was passed. 
 
 Director Zefferman - Yes  Vice President Shriner - Yes 
  Director Le - Yes President Moore - Yes 
 Director Cortez - Yes 
  



Joint Board/GSA Meeting 
December 17, 2018 
Page 7 of 10 
 
 

C. Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 2018-69 Approving an Amendment to the On-Call 
Engineering Services Agreement with Harris & Associates for Ongoing Construction 
Support Services to the East Garrison Development Project: 

 
Mr. Brian True, Senior Engineer, introduced this item explaining the history of contracting with 
this contractor for the East Garrison development.  The Board asked clarifying questions.  Director 
Le inquired if Harris is inspecting the new homes for the hot water recirculation system.  Mr. Van 
Der Maaten noted that Harris has included hot water recirculation inspections to their list. 
 
Director Cortez made a motion to adopt Resolution No. 2018-69 to approve an amendment to the 
On-Call Engineering Services Agreement with Harris & Associates for ongoing construction 
support services to the East Garrison development project.  Director Zefferman seconded the 
motion.  The motion was passed. 
 
 Director Zefferman - Yes  Vice President Shriner - Yes 
  Director Le - Yes President Moore - Yes 
 Director Cortez - Yes 
 

D. Consider Approving the 2018 Year in Review: 
 
Mr. Van Der Maaten introduced this item.  Director Le suggested adding several sentences 
regarding the Regional Desal.  Director Cortez commented that he would like to see the GM and 
Board President’s pictures on the cover letter. 
 
Mr. Clark noted that the picture on the front of the report was of Lovers Point in Pacific Grove. 
 
Ms. Berkley commended staff on the report and suggested adding a notation regarding the Social 
Media Policy to the report. 
 
Director Cortez suggested moving the Social Media notation to the end of the section. 
 
Vice President Shriner made a motion to approve the 2018 Year in Review with the suggested 
modifications.  Director Cortez seconded the motion.  The motion was passed. 
 
 Director Zefferman - Abstained  Vice President Shriner - Yes 
  Director Le - Yes President Moore - Yes 
 Director Cortez - Yes 
 

E. Receive the Draft District FY 2019-2020 Budget Schedule and Set Date for the 2019-
2020 Budget Workshop: 

 
Ms. Cadiente introduced this item.  Director Le asked clarifying questions. 
  



Joint Board/GSA Meeting 
December 17, 2018 
Page 8 of 10 
 
 
Agenda Item 12-E (continued): 
 
President Moore made a motion to approve the draft District FY 2019-2020 Budget Schedule and 
set March 4, 2019 for the 2019-2020 Budget Workshop.  Vice President Shriner seconded the 
motion.  The motion was passed. 
 
 Director Zefferman - Yes  Vice President Shriner - Yes 
  Director Le - Yes President Moore - Yes 
 Director Cortez - Yes 
 

F. Consider Director Appointments to Committees of the Board and to Outside Agencies for 
2019, and as Negotiators to any Ad Hoc Committees of the Board: 

 
President Moore made the following appointments: 

 
1. Water Conservation Commission   Shriner - Zefferman as Alternate  

 2.  Joint City/District Committee   Moore, Shriner – Cortez as Alternate 
3. Executive Committee    Moore, Shriner 
4. Budget and Personnel    Cortez, Shriner – Zefferman as Alternate 
5. Community Outreach    Cortez, Zefferman – Shriner as Alternate 

 
Current appointments to outside agencies: 
 1. M1W      Moore – Zefferman as Alternate 

2. FORA Zefferman – Shriner, GM as Alternates 
 3. LAFCO     Cortez – Zefferman as Alternate 
 4. JPIA      Le – Cortez as Alternate 

5. SDA Le – Moore, Shriner, Cortez, and 
Zefferman as Alternates 

 6. FORA WWOC    GM – Zefferman as Alternate 
 7. SVBGSA Steering Committee  Shriner – Moore as Alternate 

 

Current appointments to Ad Hoc Committees:  
 

1. MCWD / SCSD Ad Hoc Committee – Moore, Shriner as negotiators 
 

Vice President Shriner made a motion to approve the appointments to Committees of the Board 
and to outside agencies for 2019, and as negotiators to any Ad Hoc Committees of the Board.  
Director Cortez seconded the motion.  The motion was passed. 
 
 Director Zefferman - Yes  Vice President Shriner - Yes 
  Director Le - Yes President Moore - Yes 
 Director Cortez - Yes 

  
  



Joint Board/GSA Meeting 
December 17, 2018 
Page 9 of 10 
 
 
13. Staff Report: 
 

A. Water, Sewer, and Recycled Water Master Plan and Capacity Fee Schedule: 
 

Mr. Michael Wegley, District Engineer, introduced this item.  The Board asked clarifying 
questions. 
 
14. Informational Items: 
 

A. General Manager’s Report: 
 
Mr. Van Der Maaten invited the Board members to a Christmas Pancake Breakfast the managers 
would be cooking for the employees.  The breakfast will be December 20th at 6:30 am. 
  

B. Counsel’s Report: 
 
No report was given. 
 

C. Committee and Board Liaison Reports: 
 
1. Water Conservation Commission: 

 
Vice President Shriner commented that the next meeting is scheduled for January 3, 2019. 

 
2. Joint City District Committee: 

 
President Moore said they would be meeting in February. 
 

3. Executive Committee: 
 
President Moore noted that they would be meeting again on January 8, 2019. 
 

4. Community Outreach Committee: 
 

No report was given. 
 

5. Budget and Personnel Committee: 
 
No report was given. 
 

6. M1W Board Member: 
 

President Moore gave a brief update. 
  



Joint Board/GSA Meeting 
December 17, 2018 
Page 10 of 10 
 
 

7. LAFCO Liaison: 
 

No report was given. 
 

8. FORA:  
 
President Moore gave a brief update.   
 

9. WWOC: 
 
Mr. Van Der Maaten stated that the next meeting was December 19th. 
 

10. JPIA Liaison: 
 
No update was given.   
 
 11. Special Districts Association Liaison:  
 
President Moore said they would meet January 15, 2019. 
 
  12. SVGSA Liaison: 
 
No update was given. 
   
15. Board Member Requests for Future Agenda Items: 
 
President Moore noted that any requests could be emailed to staff.   
 
16. Director’s Comments: 

 
Director Cortez, Director Zefferman, Vice President Shriner, and President Moore made 
comments.   
 
17. Adjournment: 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 9:13 p.m. 
         APPROVED:  
          
               
         Thomas P. Moore, President  
ATTEST: 
 
           
Paula Riso, Deputy Secretary 



 
Marina Coast Water District 

Agenda Transmittal 
 
 
Agenda Item: 10-A      Meeting Date: January 22, 2019 
 
Prepared By: Paula Riso     Approved By: Keith Van Der Maaten 
 
Agenda Title: Consider Setting the Term Limits for the Water Conservation Commission 

Members 
 
Staff Recommendation:   The Board consider which three of the Commission members will serve 
the two-year terms, and which two will serve initial three-year terms after which will revert back 
to two-year terms. 
 
Background:  5-Year Strategic Plan, Objective 1.7 – Review and update our water conservation 
program. 
 
In August 2018, the Board approved the restructure of the Water Conservation Commission to 
improve the effectiveness of the Commission through implementation of more formal and 
professional proceedings; clarification of roles, responsibilities, objectives, and goals; establishing 
necessary training and staff support to keep Commission informed on items within their purview; 
and, by creating a closer connection of the advisory body proceedings and necessary Board 
decisions.  As part of the restructure, the number of positions on the Commission was reduced 
from ten to five and it was recommended to re-advertise the openings and have the Board select 
five members from the applications received.   
 
In December 2018, the Board appointed five of the applicants to the Water Conservation 
Commission and asked that at their next meeting, the Commission discuss if anyone wanted to 
volunteer for the two or three-year terms. 
 
Discussion/Analysis: The Water Conservation Commission met on January 10th and discussed the 
term lengths.  The Commission agreed to recommend to the Board that Sarah Babcock, Audra 
Walton, and Bill Huynh be appointed to the two-year term positions, and Phil Clark and Shawn 
Storm be appointed to the three-year terms. 
 
Environmental Review Compliance:   None Required. 
 
Financial Impact:   _____Yes      X    No Funding Source/Recap:   None Required. 
 
Other Considerations:   None. 
 
Material Included for Information/Consideration:   None. 
 
Action Required:             Resolution       X  Motion             Review 
              

Board Action 
 
Motion By______________ Seconded By________________ No Action Taken    
 
Ayes       Abstained      
 
Noes       Absent                                                   



 
Marina Coast Water District 

Agenda Transmittal 
 
 
Agenda Item: 10-B       Meeting Date: January 22, 2019  
 
Prepared By: Rose Gill               Approved By:  Keith Van Der Maaten
  
Agenda Title: Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 2019-08 to Approve Advertising and Hiring 

at Either an Associate Engineer Level or a Senior Civil Engineer Level to Fill the 
Existing Vacancy in the Engineering Department 

 
Staff Recommendation:   Staff recommends that the Board adopt Resolution No. 2019-08 to 
approve advertising and hiring at either an Associate Engineer level or a Senior Civil Engineer 
level to fill the existing vacancy in the Engineering Department. 
 
Background: 5-Year Strategic Plan, Strategic Element No. 5 Organizational Health/Personnel – 
Our objective is to recruit and retain a highly qualified, diverse and inspired workforce that 
delivers the essential services of our mission statement to the public while providing outstanding 
customer service. Our strategy is to utilize sound policies and personnel practices, offer 
competitive compensation and benefits, and provide opportunities for training, development, and 
professional growth while ensuring a safe and secure workplace.  
 
The Associate Engineer position has been open since January 2018.  Since then, we have had few 
candidates apply and have had difficulty in finding a qualified Associate Engineer to meet our 
needs.  Staff is requesting Board approval to advertise and hire either an Associate Engineer or a 
Senior Civil Engineer to fill the existing vacancy.   
 
Discussion/Analysis: Advertising for a Senior Civil Engineer to fill the current vacancy would 
allow for additional qualified candidates to apply and would target a new set of potential candidates 
that may already be at the Associate Engineer level looking for career advancement opportunities.  
Additionally, due to the robust and complex workload in the engineering department, hiring at the 
Senior Civil Engineer level is arguably a better approach in meeting both the current and future 
needs of the department to complete CIPs in the current budget; the master plan efforts and 
resulting future CIPs; and the RUWAP project and other water supply projects in support of the 
Groundwater Sustainability Plans.  However, if staff is able to find a qualified candidate that is 
suitable to hire at the Associate Engineer level, it may still do so as an option. 
 
Environmental Review Compliance:   None required. 
 
Financial Impact:   __X_Yes            No Funding Source/Recap: 
 

Hiring at the Senior Civil Engineer Level cost approximately $10,594 more per year than hiring at 
the Associate Engineer Level.  There is funding to cover this additional expense in FY 2018-2019 
Budget. 
 
Other Considerations:  The Board can deny the request and the District will continue to try to hire 
at the Associate Engineer only. 
 
Material Included for Information/Consideration:  Resolution No. 2019-08;  
 



 
Action Required:     X    Resolution         Motion             Review 
(Roll call vote is required.) 
              

 
Board Action 

 
Motion By                      Seconded By                 No Action Taken    

 
Ayes       Abstained      
 
Noes       Absent                                          
  



 
January 22, 2019 

 
Resolution No. 2019-08 

Resolution of the Board of Directors 
Marina Coast Water District 

Advertising and Hiring at Either an Associate Engineer Level  
or a Senior Civil Engineer Level to Fill the Existing Vacancy  

in the Engineering Department 
 

 RESOLVED by the Board of Directors (“Directors”) of the Marina Coast Water District 
(“District”), at a regular meeting duly called and held on January 22, 2019 at 211 Hillcrest Avenue, 
Marina, California as follows: 
 
 WHEREAS, the Associate Engineer position has been open since January 2018; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the District has had few candidates apply and has had difficulty in finding a 
qualified Associate Engineer; and, 
 

WHEREAS, staff is requesting Board approval to advertise and hire either an Associate 
Engineer or a Senior Civil Engineer to fill the existing vacancy; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, advertising for a Senior Civil Engineer would allow for additional qualified 
candidates to apply and would target a new set of potential candidates that may already be at the 
Associate Engineer level looking for career advancement opportunities; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, due to the robust and complex workload in the engineering department, hiring 
at the Senior Civil Engineer level is arguably a better approach in meeting both the current and 
future needs of the department to complete CIPs in the current budget; the master plan efforts and 
resulting future CIPs; and the RUWAP project and other water supply projects in support of the 
Groundwater Sustainability Plans; and, 

 
WHEREAS, if the District is able to find a qualified candidate that is suitable to hire at the 

Associate Engineer level it may still do so as an option. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors of the Marina Coast 
Water District does hereby adopt Resolution No. 2019-08 to approve the advertising and hiring of 
either an Associate Engineer or a Senior Civil Engineer to fill the current vacancy in the 
Engineering Department. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED on January 22, 2019, by the Board of Directors of the Marina 
Coast Water District by the following roll call vote:  
 

Ayes:  Directors               
 
 Noes:  Directors               
 
 Absent: Directors               
 
 Abstained: Directors               
 



 
 

______________________________ 
         Thomas P. Moore, President 

 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________ 
Keith Van Der Maaten, Secretary 
 
 
 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SECRETARY 
 

 
The undersigned Secretary of the Board of the Marina Coast Water District hereby certifies 

that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of Resolution No. 2019-08 adopted January 22, 
2019. 
 
 

______________________________ 
Keith Van Der Maaten, Secretary 

 
 
 
  



 
Marina Coast Water District 

Agenda Transmittal 
 
 
Agenda Item: 10-C      Meeting Date: January 22, 2019 
 
Prepared By: Rose Gill               Approved By: Keith Van Der Maaten 
 
Agenda Title: Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 2019-09 to Approve Revisions to the 

District’s Employee Handbook  
 
Staff Recommendation: The Board is requested to adopt Resolution No. 2019-09 to approve 
revisions to the Districts Employee Handbook.   
 
Background:  5-Year Strategic Plan, Strategic Element No. 5 Organizational Health/Personnel – 
Our objective is to recruit and retain a highly qualified, diverse and inspired workforce that 
delivers the essential services of our mission statement to the public while providing outstanding 
customer service. Our strategy is to utilize sound policies and personnel practices, offer 
competitive compensation and benefits, and provide opportunities for training, development, and 
professional growth while ensuring a safe and secure workplace. 
  
The last revision to the Employee Handbook was in 2015.  Each year, new employment and 
personnel laws take effect that usually initiates handbook and policy revisions.  In addition, it is a 
best practice to periodically review employment and personnel policies for practicality and legal 
compliance, as well as, to replicate the District’s Memorandums of Understanding (MOU’s). 
 
After reviewing the current employee handbook with the District’s employment lawyers, Liebert 
Cassidy Whitmore (LCW), staff and LCW recommends additions and revisions to the Employee 
Handbook.  Also, staff has added additional policies that are new to the district, such as: Social 
Media policy, reviewed and approved by the Board; Scavenging policy for safety purposes; and, 
an Open-Door Policy to increase collaboration and communication between departments. 
 
Both the MCWD Employee’s Association and the Teamsters have reviewed the revisions and 
neither have any issues with the proposed changes.   
 
A complete list of changes is in the Handbook Revision Chronology page of the Employee 
Handbook. 
 
Environmental Review Compliance:   None required. 
 
Financial Impact:   _____Yes      X      No Funding Source/Recap:  None 
 
Other Considerations: None. 
 
Material Included for Information/Consideration:  Resolution No. 2019-09; Employee Handbook 
with revisions; and, Employee Handbook clean version (both provided separately). 
 
Action Required:       X      Resolution         Motion             Review 
(Roll call vote is required.) 
  



 
              

 
Board Action 

 
Motion By                      Seconded By                 No Action Taken    

 
Ayes       Abstained      
 
Noes       Absent                                          
 
 
 
  



 
January 22, 2019 

 
Resolution No. 2019-09 

Resolution of the Board of Directors 
Marina Coast Water District 

Approving the Revised District’s Employee Handbook 
 
 

 RESOLVED by the Board of Directors (“Directors”) of the Marina Coast Water District 
(“District”), at a regular meeting duly called and held on January 22, 2019 at 211 Hillcrest Avenue, 
Marina, California as follows: 
 
 WHEREAS, staff is committed to revising the employee handbook as employment laws 
and programs change; and, 
 

WHEREAS, the District last revised the Employee Handbook in 2015; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, after reviewing the Employee Handbook, staff and LCW recommends 
additions and revisions; and,  
 
 WHEREAS, while there was clarifying language added to most Sections, staff also added 
the recently approved new policies such as a Social Media, Scavenging and Open Door. 
 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors of the 
Marina Coast Water District does hereby adopt Resolution No. 2019-09 to approve the revised 
District’s Employee Handbook. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED on January 22, 2019, by the Board of Directors of the Marina 
Coast Water District by the following roll call vote:  
 
 

Ayes:  Directors               
 
 Noes:  Directors               
 
 Absent: Directors               
 
 Abstained: Directors               
 

 
______________________________ 

         Thomas P. Moore, President 
 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________ 
Keith Van Der Maaten, Secretary 
 
 
 



 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SECRETARY 
 

 
The undersigned Secretary of the Board of the Marina Coast Water District hereby certifies 

that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of Resolution No. 2019-09 adopted January 22, 
2019. 
 
 

______________________________ 
Keith Van Der Maaten, Secretary 

 
 
  



 
 
 



 
 

  



 
Marina Coast Water District 

 

Employee Handbook 

Amended January 22, 2019 

Administration and Customer Service  
11 Reservation Road, Marina, CA 93933-2099 

Engineering and Operations & Maintenance  
2840 4th Avenue, Marina, CA 93933 

Telephone: (831)384-6131  

Website: www.mcwd.org 

http://www.mcwd.org/


 

 

 

 



 

 

 
Table of Contents 

 
 

Acknowledgement of Receipt of Employee Handbook Preface 
 
Handbook Revision Chronology i 

 
Section 1 Introduction and General Provisions 1 

1.0 Purpose of the MCWD Handbook 1 
1.1 Scope of Handbook  1 
1.2 Administration 1 
1.3 Distribution of Handbook 2 
1.4 Customer Service 2 
1.5 Open-Door Policy 2 

 
Section 2 Definition of Terms 3 

 
Section 3 General Employment Policies 4 

3.0 Employment 4 
3.1 Equal Employment Opportunity 4 
3.2 Harassment 5 
3.3 Bullying 6 
3.4 Governmental Administrative Remedies for Discrimination  
 and Harassment 7 
3.5 Conflicts of Interest 7 
3.6 Outside Employment 7  
3.7 Employment of Relatives 8 
3.8 Political Activity 8 
3.9 Smoking 8 
3.10 Electronic Communications Ethics, Usage and Security Policy  9 
3.11 Social Media Policy 11 
3.12 Nondisclosure of Confidential Information 15 
3.13 Inquiries from Outside Sources 15 
3.14 Workplace Violence and Security, and Monitoring 15 
3.15 Privacy 16 
3.16 MCWD Communications/Bulletin Boards 16 
3.17 Personal Possessions 17 
3.18 Personal Mail and Telephone Calls 17 
3.19 Use of Cell Phone and Electronic Devices 18 
3.20 Personal Appearance 19 
3.21 Solicitation/Distribution of Literature 20 
3.22  Personal Use of MCWD Property/Facilities 20 
3.23  Scavenging 20 
3.24  Drug and Alcohol Policy 22 



 

 

Section 4 Hiring 26 
4.0 Hiring of New Employees 26 
4.1 Recruitment and Selection of Positions Reporting Directly  
 to the Board of Directors 27 
4.2 Immigration Law Compliance 28 
4.3 Introductory Period 28 
4.4 Re-Employment or Reinstated Employees 29 
 
 

Section 5 Employment Practices 29 
5.0 Performance Evaluations 29 
5.1 Performance Improvement Plans (PIP) 30 
5.2 Promotions, Transfers, Demotions, and Reclassifications 30 
5.3 Working Out of Classification 32 
5.4 Employee Records 32 
5.5 Employment Verification/References 33 
5.6 Internships 33 
5.7 Use of MCWD Vehicles 33 
5.8 Use of Personal Vehicle for MCWD Business 35 
5.9 Reimbursement of Business Expenses 35 
5.10 Business Related Travel 36 
5.11 Time Off to Meet and Confer 36 
5.12 Gift or Gratuity Acceptance 37 
5.13 Visitors 37 
5.14 Separation of Employment 37 
5.15 Reduction in Force/Layoff and Re-Employment 38 
 

Section 6 Classification and Compensation Plan 39 
6.0 Longevity Steps 40 
 

Section 7 General Work Conditions  41 
7.0 Overtime 41 
7.1 Compensatory Time 42 
7.2 Overtime Exemption Status 42 
7.3 Work Week Hours 43 
7.4 Meal Break 44 
7.5 Rest Period 45 
7.6 Pay Periods and Paydays 45 
7.7 Timesheets and Recordkeeping 45 
7.8 Direct Deposit 46 
7.9 Pay Advances 46 
7.10 Garnishments 46 
7.11 Meal Allowance 47 
 

Section 8 Special Pay Practices 47   
 



 

 

8.0 Show-Up or Reporting Pay 47 
8.1 Call-Out Pay 47 
8.2 On Call/Standby Pay 47 
8.3 Seminar Attendance and Education Reimbursement 48 
8.4  Certification Incentive Bonus 49 
8.5  Certification Pay 50 
 

Section 9 Absenteeism 51 
9.0 Attendance 51 
 

Section 10 Employee Benefits 52 
10.0 Medical 53 
10.1 Retiree Health Benefits 54 
10.2 Dental 54 
10.3 Vision 54 
10.4 Term Life Insurance and Accidental Death and  
 Dismemberment (AD&D) 54 
10.5 Short-Term Disability (STD)/Long-Term Disability (LTD) 55 
10.6 Continuation of Group Health Insurance (COBRA) 55 
10.7 IRS Section 125 – Flexible Benefits Plan 56 
10.8 Retirement Plan 56 
10.9 Deferred Compensation Plan 57 
10.10 Workers’ Compensation Insurance 57 
10.11 Unemployment Insurance 58 
10.12 Holidays 59 
10.13 Vacation 59 
10.14 Management Leave 61 
 

Section 11 Leave (Paid/Unpaid) 61 
11.0 General Information 61 
11.1 Family Care Leaves (FMLA/CFRA) 63 
11.2 Pregnancy/Childbirth (Pregnancy Disability Leave – PDL) 74 
11.3 Voluntary Furlough Without Pay Plan 77 
11.4 Personal Leave of Absence/Leave Without Pay 77 
11.5 Sick Leave 79 
11.6 School Activity Leave 82 
11.7 Bereavement Leave 82 
11.8 Jury Duty 82 
11.9 Witness Duty and Subpoenas 83 
11.10 Domestic Violence and Sexual Assault Leave 83 
11.11 Victims of Crime Leave 84 
11.12 Military Leave 84 
11.13 Time Off to Vote 85 
11.14 Volunteer Firefighter and Peace Officer 86 
11.15 Terminal Leave 86   
 



 

 

Section 12 Grievance Procedure 86 
 

Section 13 Employee Relations 87 
 
Section 14 Employee Service Awards Program 92 

14.0 Retiree Recognition Program 92 
 
Section 15 Employee Health and Safety 93 

15.0 Injury & Illness Prevention Program 93 
15.1 Wellness Program 97 
15.2 Uniforms and Safety Equipment 97 
 

Section 16 Risk Management 98 
16.0 DMV Pull Notice Program 98 
16.1 Respiratory Protection 98 
16.2 Fitness for Duty 99 
 

Section 17 Return to Work Program  99 
17.0 Request for Reasonable Accommodation 103 

 
Section 18 General Housekeeping 105 
 
Section 19 Miscellaneous Policies 105 

19.0 Social Events 105 
19.1 Lactation Accommodation 106 
19.2 Anti –Fraud 106 
19.3 Falsification of Records 106 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

 
 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF RECEIPT OF EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 
 
All employees of the Marina Coast Water District (MCWD) are expected to read and 
understand the attached employee handbook, then sign, date and return this page to the 
HR/Risk Administrator. 
 
This acknowledges that I,        , have received a 
copy of the MCWD Employee Handbook.  I understand that this Handbook is intended to 
be used as a ready reference and as a summary of the MCWD’s personnel policies, work 
rules and benefits.  It is designed to provide a quick overview of MCWD policies and 
procedures, but does not supersede the Memorandums of Understanding (MOUs) for the 
individual bargaining units.   
 
I acknowledge that I am expected to read, understand, and adhere to the policies 
documented in this Handbook.  I understand it is my responsibility to comply with the 
policies contained in this Handbook and any revisions made hereafter. 
 
I understand the statements contained in the Handbook are not intended to create any 
contractual or other legal obligations of MCWD.  I further understand that MCWD may 
revise, modify, supplement, or rescind any of the policies summarized in this Handbook 
at any time. 
 
I understand that if I am an employee who is covered by this Handbook and I have 
subsequently entered into a written employment agreement signed by me and the 
MCWD, the guidelines, procedures and benefits discussed in this Handbook are not 
applicable to the extent they are inconsistent with my written employment agreement.  
However, if the written agreement does not address conditions or terms set forth in the 
Handbook, the Handbook shall apply to me. 
 
 
 
Employee Signature        Date 
 
 
 
 
Witness Signature         Date 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

i 

Handbook Revision Chronology 

 
09-14-10 
 
 Revised  Section 10.14 Management leave 
 
 Effective July 15, 2009, management leave shall be accrued on a bi-weekly basis 
at the rate of 3.077 hours per pay period.  The maximum accrual allowance for 
management leave will be eighty (80) hours per fiscal year.  Management leave earned 
by the end of each fiscal year shall be taken within the first quarter of the following fiscal 
year or the leave shall be forfeited. 
 
 Revised  Section 17  Request for Reasonable Accommodation –  
      Interactive Process 
 
Section 17 was renumbered to Section 17.0 
 
 Revised Section 17  Return to Work Program 
 
The entire section was added. 
 
3-13-2012 
 

Revised Section 3.10 Add A.5 Internet, E-Mail, Telephones, and 
Electronic Communications Ethics, Usage and Security Policy 

 
5. Transmitting any of the District’s confidential or proprietary 

information, including customer data or other materials covered by 
the District’s confidentiality policy; transmitting or posting information 
that may harm the District or its reputation or any of its employees 
regardless of whether the information is defamatory.  This includes 
expressing opinions or personal views on Internet web logs (“blogs”), 
social networking sites such as Facebook, Twitter, LinkedIn, etc., 
that could be misconstrued as being those of the District.  The 
prohibitions described apply to employees whether the employee is 
on or off duty or working from a non-District computer. 

 
 Revised Section 11.9  Bereavement Leave 
 
Employees shall be entitled to up to three (3) days of paid leave for the death of a family 
member. A family member includes the employee’s spouse or State-registered domestic 
partner and the following persons related to the employee or spouse or State-registered 
domestic partner: mother, father, brother, sister, child, step-parent, step-child, 
grandparents, grandchild, or legal guardian.  Such leave shall be separate from sick, 
vacation, compensatory, and management leave and is to be used within two (2) weeks 



 

   
ii 

upon the death of the family member or at the discretion of the General Manager or 
designee.  Up to five (5) days may be granted for exceptional circumstances approved by 
the General Manager or designee. 
 
Upon approval, employees may use either accumulated sick, vacation, compensatory, or 
management leave if more time off is necessary. 
 
2/12/2013 
 
 Revised Sections 3, 5, 10, 11, and 17.  Replace with new, complete handbook. 
 
4/15/2013 
 
 Revised  Section 5.12  Gift or Gratuity Acceptance 
 
Designated employees listed in the District’s Conflict of Interest Code, Exhibit A are 
prohibited from accepting, directly or indirectly, any gift, rebate, money, or anything else 
of value over twenty-five dollars ($25) from a single source.  All employees are prohibited 
from accepting directly or indirectly, any gift, rebate, money or anything else of value if 
the gift, rebate, money, or item of value is intended as a reward or inducement for 
conducting business, placing orders with, or otherwise using the employee’s position to 
favor the contributor. 
 
 Revised Section 8.5 Certification Incentive Bonus 
 
The District will pay for employee’s memberships in professional organizations and 
associations that issue certifications/licenses required for the employee’s current position. 
 
2/18/2014 
 
 Revised Section 3.1 Equal Employment Opportunity 
 
MCWD does not unlawfully discriminate on the basis of race, creed, color, age, religion, 
religious dress practices and religious grooming practices, gender, nationality, national 
origin, ancestry, citizenship status, military or veteran status, physical or mental disability, 
medical condition (including pregnancy, childbirth, breastfeeding and related medical 
conditions, HIV or AIDS-related conditions), marital status, genetics, gender identification, 
or sexual orientation. 
 
3/106/2015 
 

Revised  Section 11.7 Sick Leave 
 
The addition of a paragraph at the end of the current Sick Leave Policy that specifies 
District employees who are not regular, full-time will receive sick leave benefits in 
accordance with the new California Paid Sick Leave Policy.  



 

   
iii 

1/22/2019 
 
• Renumbered Sections: In light of the revisions noted below, several sections 

were renumbered. The section numbers referenced below are those that appear 
in our revised version (except for sections that were removed, which are 
referenced by their original number). 
  

• Section 1.0, 1.3, and 1.5: We revised sections 1.0 and 1.3 to clarify that the 
Handbook is a statement of binding policies, while still reserving the right to modify 
the Handbook at a later time. We also moved the paragraph explaining the 
District’s open-door policy into a new section. 

  
• Section 2: Per our discussion, we revised the definition of “part-time employee” to 

have them be at-will employees by default. Further, the definition of “non-exempt 
employee” was simplified to avoid the misleading implication that the District’s daily 
overtime policy is mandated by the FLSA. 
  

• Sections 3.1 and 3.2: We revised these sections to include legally protected 
characteristics that were missing, and to broaden the harassment policy to cover 
all forms of harassment.  
  

• Sections 3.10 and 3.11: We removed the portion of the electronic 
communications policy that covered social media, as this is now encompassed by 
a separate social media policy, Section 3.11. 
  

• Section 3.19: Because this policy covers not only “Cell Phone Usage” but use of 
personal electronic devices more generally, we revised the section heading 
accordingly. 
  

• Section 3.20: We re-inserted language providing examples of what constitutes 
acceptable attire for office employees. 
  

• Section 3.23: We added the new scavenging policy. 
  

• Sections 3.24 and 16.1: Section 3.24 was substantially revised to remove 
references to DOT requirements (other than a reference to the District’s separate 
DOT testing policy), to reflect the District’s actual non-DOT drug testing policy, and 
to clarify ambiguous provisions. References to the Public Safety Officer’s 
Procedural Bill of Rights were also removed, as the district does not employ any 
sworn peace officers covered by that law. In light of the revisions to Section 3.24 
and in light of the District’s separate DOT testing policy, Section 16.1 was 
removed. 
  

• Sections 4.3 and 4.4: We added language to clarify that the 
introductory/probationary period applies only to regular full-time employees, and 
not to contract or part-time employees.  



 

   
iv 

• Section 5.0:  Employee evaluations will be done on an annual basis.  January 
through December. 
  

• Section 5.2: We added language clarifying that an employee in a promotion-
related introductory period who does not pass that introductory period is returned 
to their previous position rather than terminated entirely. 
  

• Section 5.4: We revised this section to reflect Labor Code 1198.5, under which 
employees are entitled to a copy of their whole file including unsigned documents. 
  

• Sections 5.7 and 5.8: We added a clarification that these policy sections prohibit 
texting only while driving. 
  

• Section 5.14: Because the District is a municipal corporation, pursuant to Labor 
Code section 220, it is exempt from the obligation to provide a final paycheck at 
the time of termination (required for private sector employers under Labor Code 
section201), and need only provide it as provided under the FLSA at the next 
regular payday; we revised this section accordingly. The District is free to make 
the final paycheck early, but you are not obligated to do so. 
  

• Section 7.0: The District’s overtime policy is more generous than the FLSA. We 
added language clarifying that not everything in this policy is legally mandated. 
  

• Section 7.1: This policy implies that Compensatory Time is only available for time-
and-a-half overtime, and not the double-time overtime for working over 12 hours 
in a workday. 
  

• Section 7.3: We note that while having the FLSA workweek begin Friday at noon 
for all employees is permissible, it is important to make sure that the District has in 
fact been tracking overtime within this workweek. In the alternative, the District can 
set different FLSA workweeks for employees who work 5/40 and 9/80 schedules. 
For 9/80 employees, we typically recommend having each employee’s designated 
workweek begin 4 hours into their regularly scheduled shift on the alternating day 
off.  If the Friday noon workweek is staying, then in order to avoid FLSA overtime, 
employees on a 9/80 schedule should work no more than 4 hours before noon on 
Fridays, with Friday also being the alternating day off.   
  

• Section 7.4: The District’s meal break policy complies with the California wage-
and-hour law, but we note that the District is exempt from that law, and the District 
does have the flexibility to adopt a different policy. 
  

• Section 8.0: We note that the District is exempt from the requirement to provide 
reporting time pay. The District is free to provide such pay but is not required to do 
so. 
 



 

   
v 

• Section 10: This section indicates that only full-time employees working 32 hours 
or more are eligible for health benefits; the Affordable Care Act mandates health 
benefits to employees working 30 or more hours. This section needs to be revised 
for compliance with the ACA. We are not familiar with what the District has done 
to address its ACA compliance and would need to gather more information to 
finalize any revisions to this section. 
  

• Section 10.1: We have not made any revisions to this section regarding Retiree 
Health Benefits.  However, the District may want to review this section further 
regarding any vested rights that it may create. 
  

• Section 10.8: We revised this section to more closely reflect applicable CalPERS 
rates and differentiate between CalPERS benefits and Social Security/Medicare. 
  

• Section 11.0: We revised this section to better reflect the interaction between 
CFRA/FMLA and PDL, which in some circumstances will require more than 12 
weeks of continued health benefits. We also added a clarification that the loss of 
health benefits applies only to unpaid leaves of absences, and not to vacation, sick 
leave, etc., and language indicating the option for employees to elect continued 
coverage under COBRA. 
  

• Sections 11.1 and 11.2: We substantially revised these sections to more 
accurately reflect the FMLA, CFRA, PDL, and interaction between the three. These 
revised sections replace sections 11.1 through 11.4 of the previous version. 
  

• Section 11.4: We added language reflecting the District’s obligation in some 
circumstances to grant a medical/disability-related leave of absence under the 
ADA/FEHA.  
  

• Section 11.5: We revised this section to better reflect the application of California’s 
Paid Sick Leave Law and to distinguish between the accruals of regular full-time 
employees and part-time and temporary employees. 
  

• Section 11.10: We added language clarifying that victims of domestic violence or 
sexual assault are eligible for unpaid leave to the extent provided by law. 
  

• Section 13: We added language clarifying that the progressive discipline policy 
applies only to full-time non-introductory employees. 
  

• Section 16.1: As noted above, the drug and alcohol policy in the old Section 16.1 
was consolidated with Section 3.24. 
 

• Added new policies:  
 

o Scavenging Section: 
o Social Media Section: 
o Open Door Policy  



 

   
1 

Section 1. Introduction and General Provisions 
 
1.0 Welcome to Marina Coast Water District 
 
Welcome!  As an employee of the Marina Coast Water District (“MCWD” or “the District”), 
you are an important member of our team.  We hope that you will find your position here 
rewarding, challenging, and productive. 
 
This employee handbook is intended to explain the terms and conditions of employment 
of all employees and supervisors.  Written employment contracts between District and 
some individuals may supersede some of the provisions of this handbook. 
 
This handbook summarizes the policies and practices in effect at the time of publication.  
This handbook supersedes all previously issued handbooks and any policy or benefit 
statements or memoranda that are inconsistent with the policies described here.  Your 
supervisor or manager will be happy to answer any questions you may have. 
 
The District reserves the right to revise, modify, delete, or add to any and all policies, 
procedures, work rules, or benefits stated in this handbook or in any other document, 
except for the policy of at-will employment.  However, any such changes must be in writing 
and must be approved by the Board of Directors of their designee. 
 
Any written changes to this handbook will be distributed to all employees so that 
employees will be aware of the new policies or procedures.  No oral statements or 
representations can in any way alter the provisions of this handbook. 
 
This handbook sets forth the entire agreement between you and the District as to the 
duration of employment and the circumstances under which employment may be 
terminated.  Nothing in this employee handbook or in any other personnel document, 
including benefit plan descriptions, creates or is intended to create a promise or 
representation of continued employment for any employee. 
 
1.1 Scope of Handbook 
 
The policies and procedures contained herein supersede any and all previously issued 
policies, procedures, rules or instructions related to human resource management at 
MCWD with the exception of the individual bargaining unit’s MOU’s.   
 
1.2 Administration 
 
The General Manager, as Appointing Authority, shall have unilateral authority to interpret 
and implement the provisions contained herein.  The General Manager may develop and 
issue procedures, consistent with the Handbook, to facilitate implementation. 
 
A copy of this Handbook shall be made available to all employees.  



 

   
2 

1.3 Distribution of Handbook 
 
All employees shall receive and understand they are bound by the provisions of this 
Handbook as a condition of continued employment whether it is read or not.  Employees 
shall sign and return an “Acknowledgement of Receipt of Employee Handbook” form 
confirming receipt of the Handbook. 
 
1.4 Customer Service 
 
Our goal is to leave a positive, lasting impression with the customers who do business 
with us.  We accomplish this through caring and professional employees who strive to 
provide exceptional customer service by not only meeting but exceeding our customers’ 
expectations in every way possible. 
 
What we say to our customers and how we say it are the basic building blocks to 
exceptional customer service.  All of us should constantly look for opportunities to 
enhance the satisfaction of our customers.  This requires a committee, team approach.  
We are all expected to accommodate customer requests and needs as they arise.  The 
primary tools in accomplishing this are knowledge of your job, the products and services 
we provide our customers, and your attitude when delivering that knowledge, service or 
product.  Remember to always interact with our customers, whether external or internal 
with dignity and respect. 
 
1.5 Open-Door Policy 
 
The District is constantly striving to improve its operations, the services that it provides its 
customers and its relations with its employees.  In addition, The District is committed to 
creating the best work environment - a place where everyone's voice is heard, where 
issues are promptly raised and resolved, and where communication flows across all levels 
of the organization. Openness is essential to quickly resolve customer concerns, to 
recognize business issues as they arise, and to address the changing needs of our 
diverse workforce. 
 
The essence of the District's Open Door Policy is open communication in an environment 
of trust and mutual respect that creates a solid foundation for collaboration, growth, high 
performance and success across the organization. 
 
It provides for a work environment where: 
 

• Open, honest communication between managers and employees is a day-to-day 
business practice 

• Employees may seek counsel, provide or solicit feedback, or raise concerns within 
the District 

• Managers hold the responsibility for creating a work environment where 
employees' input is welcome, advice is freely given, and issues are surfaced early 



 

   
3 

and are candidly shared without the fear of retaliation when this input is shared in 
good faith 
 

If you have a question or wish to discuss a possible concern in the workplace, you should 
first discuss it with those in your management chain, such as your supervisor or 
department manager. If you are not comfortable with that approach for any reason, or if 
no action is taken on such discussions within your management chain, please contact the 
HR/Risk Administrator or the General Manager. 
 
Section 2. Definition of Terms 
 
The following definitions are meant to standardize and ensure common understanding 
with reference to employees and employment. 
 
Employee – refers to any person currently employed or on a leave of absence.  Not 
included under this term are applicants for employment, contracted agents, or others. 
 
Regular Full-Time Employee– refers to employees who are hired to fill a full-time position, 
regularly scheduled to work at least thirty-two (32) hours per week, and have completed 
a six (6) month introductory period for that position. Employees in a regular, full-time 
position may be classified as “exempt” or “non-exempt” as defined below. 
 
Introductory Employee – refers to employees during the initial six (6) months of 
employment in a classification.  An employee in an introductory status is considered at-
will. 
 
Part-time Employee – refers to employees who are hired to work less than full-time and 
who are at-will employees. 
 
Contract Employee – refers to employees hired on a temporary basis for a specific project 
or time period, but not more than 1,000 hours in a fiscal year.  If a project requires 
additional hours, the contract employee may be extended by the General Manager.  
Contract employees are considered at-will employees and not normally eligible for 
benefits; however, in order to attract qualified candidates, benefits may be offered on a 
case-by-case basis. 
 
Volunteer – refers to a person who is not a paid employee, who participates in any MCWD 
activity by providing his/her labor and services free of charge.  Use of volunteers on 
MCWD projects must be approved by the HR/Risk Administrator for liability and workers’ 
compensation purposes. 
 
Exempt Employee – refers to employees who are exempt from the minimum wage, 
overtime and other provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) and the appropriate 
Industrial Welfare Commission (IWC) Order as amended.  These employees do not 
receive overtime pay. 



 

   
4 

Non-exempt Employee – refers to employees who are overtime eligible and paid overtime 
under the terms and conditions referenced in this Handbook.  
 
Section 3. General Employment Policies 
 
3.0 Employment 
 
The laws of the State of California affirm that employees are hired and serve at the 
pleasure of the MCWD.  However, under normal circumstances, all regular, full-time 
employees, except the General Manager are entitled to certain disciplinary and grievance 
procedures specified in Section 12.  All employees have a responsibility to read and 
understand Section 13 that defines the type of discipline that may be imposed by MCWD 
and the processes associated with the type of discipline. 
 
3.1 Equal Employment Opportunity 
 
MCWD is an equal opportunity employer. It is MCWD’s policy to provide equal 
employment opportunity for all applicants and employees, in all areas of employment 
including recruitment, hiring, training, promotion, compensation, benefits, transfer, 
social/recreational programs and general treatment during employment. 
 
MCWD does not unlawfully discriminate on the basis of race, creed, color, age, religion, 
religious dress practices and religious grooming practices, gender (including gender 
identity and gender expression), nationality, national origin, ancestry, citizenship status, 
physical or mental disability, veteran/military status, medical condition (including 
pregnancy, childbirth, breastfeeding and related medical conditions, HIV or AIDS-related 
conditions), marital status, genetics, sexual orientation, or any other consideration made 
unlawful by federal, state, or local laws.  MCWD also prohibits unlawful discrimination 
based on the perception that anyone has any of those characteristics, or based on 
association with a person who has or is perceived as having any of those characteristics. 
MCWD shall make reasonable accommodations for the known physical or mental 
disabilities of an otherwise qualified applicant/employee unless undue hardship for the 
employer would result.  Applicants may submit requests for accommodations to the 
HR/Risk Administrator.  The HR/Risk Administrator and/or a designee of the General 
Manager shall conduct an investigation into whether reasonable accommodations can be 
made. For more information, please refer to Section 17. 
 
It is the responsibility of every manager and employee to follow this policy.  Employees 
with questions or concerns about any type of discrimination or harassment on any of the 
basis mentioned above in the workplace are encouraged to bring these issues to the 
attention of their  immediate supervisor, the HR/Risk Administrator, or the General 
Manager or designee.  Employees can raise concerns and make reports without fear of 
reprisal.  Anyone found to be engaging in any type of unlawful discrimination shall be 
subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment with MCWD. 
 



 

   
5 

3.2 Harassment 
 
MCWD is committed to providing a workplace free of harassment.  In keeping with this 
commitment, MCWD maintains a strict policy prohibiting all forms of unlawful harassment, 
including sexual harassment and harassment based on race, color, creed, religion, 
religious dress practices, religious grooming practices, sex, national origin, age, sexual 
orientation, gender (including gender identity and gender expression), national origin or 
ancestry, physical or mental disability, medical condition, marital status, age, sexual 
orientation, military/veteran status or any other basis protected by federal, state or local 
law.   MCWD also prohibits harassment based on the perception that anyone has any of 
those characteristics, or based on association with a person who has or is perceived as 
having any of those characteristics. The California Department of Fair Employment and 
Housing Act (DFEH) defines “sex” as including pregnancy, childbirth, breastfeeding and 
related medical conditions.  This policy applies to all representatives and employees of 
MCWD, including supervisors, department heads, and non-supervisory employees, and 
prohibits harassment of employees in the workplace by any person, including non-
employees.  It also extends to harassment of or by vendors, independent contractors, 
and others doing business with MCWD.  Furthermore, this policy prohibits unlawful 
harassment in any form, including verbal, physical, and visual harassment.  It also 
prohibits retaliation of any kind against individuals who file complaints in good faith or who 
assist MCWD in an investigation. 
 

A.  Definition - Prohibited unlawful harassment includes, but is not limited to, 
the following behavior: 
• Verbal conduct such as epithets, derogatory jokes or comments, slurs 

or unwanted sexual advances, invitations or comments; 
• Visual displays such as derogatory and/or sexually-oriented posters, 

photography, cartoons, drawings or gestures; 
• Physical conduct including assault, unwanted touching, intentionally 

blocking normal movement or interfering with work because of sex, race 
or any other protected basis; 

• Threats and demands to submit to sexual requests as a condition of 
continued employment, or to avoid some other loss and offers of 
employment benefits in return for sexual favors; and 

• Retaliation for reporting or threatening to report harassment. 
 

B. Reporting Procedures - Any employee or other person who believes he/she 
has been harassed by a co-worker, supervisor, agent of MCWD, or anyone 
encountered in the course of performing MCWD work should promptly 
report the facts of the incidents(s) and the names of the individuals involved 
to his/her supervisor, department head, HR/Risk Administrator or General 
Manager.  It is the responsibility of each employee to immediately report 
any violation of suspected violation of this policy to one or more of the 
individuals identified above. 



 

   
6 

C. Investigation - It is MCWD’s policy to investigate all reports or complaints of 
harassment thoroughly, promptly, and discreetly.  To the extent possible, 
the confidentiality of an employee or other person who has reported an 
incident and that of any witnesses and the alleged harasser will be protected 
against unnecessary disclosure.  The outcome of the investigation and a 
timely resolution of each complaint will be reached and communicated to 
the employee and the other parties involved.  If an investigation has 
concluded that harassment occurred, MCWD will take appropriate remedial 
corrective action, up to and including termination as identified in Section 13. 

 
Co-workers can be held legally responsible for sexual harassment, meaning 
their personal assets are at risk.  Any employee is personally liable if he/she 
engages in sexual harassment.  This is true regardless of whether the 
employer knows or should have known of the contact and fails to take 
immediate and appropriate corrective action. 

 
3.3 Bullying 
 

A. Workplace bullying is behavior that harms, intimidates, offends, degrades or 
humiliates an employee, possibly in front of other employees, clients, or 
customers.  Workplace bullying may cause the loss of trained and talented 
employees, reduce productivity and morale, and create legal risks.  Examples of 
bullying include: spreading rumors, gossip and innuendo, intimidating a person, 
undermining or deliberately impeding a person’s work, physically abusing or 
threatening abuse, removing areas of responsibilities without cause, withholding 
necessary information, making jokes that are obviously offensive, intruding on a 
person’s privacy by pestering/spying/stalking, creating a feeling of uselessness, 
yelling or using profanity, criticizing a person consistently or constantly, belittling a 
person’s opinion, unwarranted punishment, blocking applications for 
training/leave/promotion, tampering with a person’s personal belongings.  If in 
doubt if an action could be bullying, ask yourself if a reasonable person would 
consider the action acceptable. 

 
B. Preventive/Response Measure: Report bullying to your supervisor or the HR/Risk 

Administrator.  An informal investigation will be conducted.  In the event the 
informal stage is not sufficient, or the offense is of a serious nature, a formal 
investigation will be conducted.  Any reports of workplace bullying will be treated 
seriously and investigated promptly.  Managers and supervisors must ensure 
employees who make complaints, or witnesses are not victimized. 

 
Training: In order to eliminate and/or minimize risks involved with bullying and 
incivility, the HR/Risk Administrator is responsible for scheduling training for 
employees.  Staff is responsible for implementing the training.  Managers and 
supervisors are responsible for enforcing the policy. 
 



 

   
7 

3.4 Governmental Administrative Remedies for Discrimination and Harassment 
 
Discrimination, harassment and retaliation for opposing harassment or participating in 
investigations of harassment are illegal.  In addition to notifying MCWD about 
discrimination, harassment or retaliation complaints, affected employees may also direct 
complaints to the California Department of Fair Employment and Housing (DFEH), which 
has the authority to conduct investigations.  The deadline for filing complaints with the 
DFEH is one (1) year from the date of the alleged unlawful conduct.  The employee can 
contact the nearest DFEH office or the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission 
(EEOC) at locations listed on MCWD’s Employment Law posters located at each of the 
work facilities. 
 
3.5 Conflicts of Interest 
 
Employees have an obligation to conduct business within guidelines that prohibit actual 
or potential conflicts of interests.  MCWD’s reputation for integrity is its most valuable 
asset and is directly related to the conduct of its employees.  Therefore, employees must 
avoid entering into transactions where it may appear that they are improperly benefiting 
from their employment with MCWD.  An employee who has influence on purchases, 
contracts, or leases, shall not use that influence to benefit himself/herself or any relative 
or family member.  Such employee should disclose the nature of the influence to his/her 
immediate supervisor, General Manager or designee, in order to avoid an appearance of 
a conflict of interest and so that appropriate safeguards can be established to protect all 
parties. 
 
Additionally, any employee who should happen to find items of value during the course 
of their work will turn them over immediately to the Operations and Maintenance Manager 
for disposal.  Employees are not to try and sell these items for their own personal gain.  
Failure to comply with this policy could result in discipline up to and including termination.  
Actions in violation of California State Law shall be referred to the appropriate 
governmental agency.   
 
Employees who engage in employment outside of MCWD, as defined in Section 3.6 
below must disclose that information to MCWD and obtain written confirmation that the 
outside employment does not constitute a conflict of interest. 
 
3.6 Outside Employment 
 
Employees may engage in outside employment, subject to Section 3.5 above and the 
restrictions contained in this section, as long as the employee meets the performance 
standards of his/her assigned job and devotes his/her full loyalty to MCWD.   
 
Employees are required to provide advance notice to the General Manager or designee 
before accepting secondary employment.  Once approved, if MCWD determines an 
employee’s outside work interferes with his/her performance or ability to meet the 
requirements of his/her position, the employee will be asked to terminate the outside 



 

   
8 

employment.  Outside employment may not be conducted during the employee’s actual 
hours of work.  Furthermore, MCWD premises, equipment, vehicles, supplies, or 
electronic communication systems may never be used for outside employment. 
 
MCWD’s Workers’ Compensation Insurance will not pay for an illness or injury arising 
from any outside employment or outside business activity.  
 
3.7 Employment of Relatives 
 
MCWD discourages the hiring and employment of relatives or individuals in domestic 
partnership relations with current employees.  However, MCWD reserves the right to 
exercise appropriate discretion in each case.  “Relative” means spouse, domestic partner, 
former spouse, mother, father, stepmother, stepfather, or person who has acted in place 
of one of these, father-in-law, mother-in-law, child, stepchild, brother, sister, brother-in-
law, and sister-in-law, or a person who co-habits with such other employee. 
 
MCWD will accept and consider applicants for employment from relatives of a current 
employee, as defined above.  Applicants must identify any individual who is a relative, as 
defined above, already employed by MCWD at the time they apply for employment. 
 
Employees’ relatives will not be eligible for employment where potential problems of 
supervision, safety, security or morale, or potential conflicts of interest exist.  In cases 
where a potential conflict arises such as might occur through a romantic relationship or 
marriage of two employees, even if there is not managerial relationship involved, the 
parties may be separated by reassignment or terminated from employment.  If the 
relationship is established after employment, and the determination is made to separate, 
then the individuals concerned must decide within thirty (30) calendars days, who will be 
transferred or terminated. 
 
3.8 Political Activity 
 
While on the job, during working hours, employees may not campaign for, or against, any 
candidate or issue, engage in political activities, or solicit funds for political groups, on 
MCWD premises. Employees may not engage in such activities while wearing a MCWD 
uniform, badge or similar apparel that is likely to identify them as MCWD employees. 
Likewise, employees may not solicit or distribute politically oriented information or 
materials, nor place or post such materials on MCWD bulletin boards including the 
placement of stickers on MCWD vehicles, buildings or other property owned by MCWD. 
 
These restrictions are solely for the purpose of keeping MCWD jobs free from political 
influence.  Nothing in this policy is intended to prevent employees from voting, belonging 
to political organizations, or attending political meetings on their own time.  
3.9 Smoking 
 
In order to provide employees with a safe and healthful work environment and ensure 
compliance with the California Workplace Tobacco Laws (AB 13 and AB 846) as well as 



 

   
9 

the California Labor Code Section 64045, smoking is not permitted within twenty-five (25) 
feet of any exit or operable window of MCWD facilities.  In addition, smoking in a MCWD 
vehicle is prohibited.  
 
The success of this policy depends on the thoughtfulness, consideration and cooperation 
of smokers and non-smokers.  All individuals on MCWD premises share in the 
responsibility of adhering to this policy.  Likewise, all MCWD employees are responsible 
for advising members of the public or other visitors who are observed smoking tobacco 
products on MCWD property of this policy.  These individuals shall be asked by staff to 
refrain from smoking, and if the person fails to comply, the requesting staff members 
should inform a member of the management staff. 

 
3.10 Electronic Communications Ethics, Usage and Security Policy  
 
MCWD believes that employee access to and uses of the Internet, e-mail, telephones, 
social media, and other electronic communication resources benefits MCWD.  However, 
the misuse of these sources has the potential to harm the District’s short and long-term 
success. 
 
MCWD has established this ethics, usage, and security policy to ensure that all MCWD 
employees use the computer resources which MCWD has provided its employees, such 
as the Internet and e-mail in an ethical, legal, and appropriate manner.  This policy 
establishes acceptable and unacceptable use of the internet, e-mail, and other electronic 
communications.  Nothing in this policy shall operate to prohibit or in any way limit an 
employee’s right to discuss the terms and conditions of his or her employment, as 
provided by law. 
  
This policy also establishes the steps the District may take for inappropriate use of the 
internet and e-mail.  All employees must read and adhere to these guidelines.  Failure to 
follow this policy may lead to discipline, up to and including termination. 
 

A. Inappropriate use of the Internet and e-mail includes, but is not limited to: 
 

1. Accessing sites that contain pornography, sites that exploit children, 
sites that contain gambling opportunities, or sites that would 
generally be regarded in the community as offensive, or for which 
there is no official business purpose to access. 

2. Participating in any profane, defamatory, harassing, illegal, 
discriminatory, or offensive activity, or any activity that is inconsistent 
in any way with MCWD policies (e.g. policy on sexual harassment). 

3. Exploiting security weaknesses of MCWD’s computing resources 
and/or other networks or computers outside MCWD. 

4. Knowingly allowing unauthorized persons access to or use of MCWD 
computing resources. 

5. Transmitting any of the District’s confidential or proprietary 
information, including customer data or other materials covered by 



 

   
10 

the District’s confidentiality policy; transmitting or posting information 
that may harm the District or its reputation or any of its employees 
regardless of whether the information is defamatory.  The 
prohibitions described apply to employees whether the employee is 
on or off duty or working from a non-District computer. 

 
B. Personal use of MCWD’s computer system and access to the Internet and 

e-mail is not a benefit of employment with MCWD.  Use of the Internet 
should not interfere with the timely and efficient performance of job duties. 

 
C. Employees should not have any expectation to the right of privacy in any 

MCWD computer resources, including e-mail messages produced, sent, or 
received by MCWD computers, cell phones, or transmitted via MCWD’s 
servers and network.  The Network Administrator(s) may monitor the 
contents of all e-mail messages to promote the administration of its 
business and policies. 

 
D. Use of another employee’s name/account to access MCWD’s network or 

the Internet is prohibited without express permission of the Network 
Administrator(s). 

 
E. Employees may not use MCWD’s computer resources for personal 

commercial activity. 
 

F. To maintain the integrity and firewall protection of MCWD’s system, 
personal Internet accounts should not be accessed using MCWD’s network 
system, telephone system, modem pool, or communication server to access 
the Internet. 

 
G. The vast majority of MCWD records are public documents.  Employees 

should not transmit information in an electronic mail message that could be 
written in a letter, memorandum, or document available to the public.  E-
mail attachments are subject to the same ethical and legal concerns and 
standards of good conduct as memos, letter, and other paper-based 
documents.  E-mail can be forwarded to others, printed on paper, and is 
subject to possible discovery during lawsuits in which MCWD or the 
employee may be involved. 

 
H. Downloading software and programs for other than MCWD-authorized 

tasks is prohibited.  When required to download authorized software 
programs for MCWD, the Network Administrator(s) should be notified 
immediately.  Computer viruses can become attached to executable files 
and program files and result in significant losses to MCWD.  Employees 
should scan all downloaded materials before using or opening them on their 
computers to prevent the introduction of a virus. 



 

   
11 

All copyright and license agreements regarding software or publications will 
be adhered to.  MCWD will not condone violations of copyright laws and 
licenses and the employee will be personally liable for any fines or sanctions 
caused by illegal use or infringement.  Any software or publication which is 
downloaded onto a MCWD computer may become the sole property of 
MCWD. 

 
3.11 Social Media Policy 
 
Purpose 
 
The District recognizes the role that Social Media tools may play in the personal lives of 
the District personnel and Elected Officials; and the effect Social Media may have on 
personnel in their official capacities. This policy establishes the District’s position on the 
use and management of District authorized Social media and Personal Social Media, as 
well as providing guidelines on its management, administration, and oversight. This Policy 
provides guidance of a precautionary nature as well as stating specific restrictions and 
prohibitions on the use of Social Media by District personnel and Elected Officials. 
 
In the rapidly expanding world of electronic communication, Social Media can mean many 
things. In general, Social Media encompasses the various activities that integrate 
technology, social interaction, and content creation. Through Social Media, individuals 
can create Web content, can organize, edit or comment on content, as well as combine 
and share content on their own web site or on someone else’s. Social Media uses many 
technologies and forms, including Web feeds, blogs, wikis, photography and video 
sharing, web logs, journals, diaries, chat rooms, bulletin boards, affinity web sites, 
podcasts, social networking, fan sites, mashups, and virtual worlds. 
 
The Policy is not intended to address one particular form of Social Media, but rather, 
Social Media in general and in general terms, as technology will outpace the District’s 
ability to discover emerging technology and create policies governing their specific uses. 
 
Use of Social Media for Official District Purposes  
 
General 
 
The same principles and guidelines found in the District policies apply to employee 
activities online.  Before creating online content, keep in mind that if your conduct 
adversely affects your job performance, the performance of co-workers or otherwise 
adversely affects members of the public served by the District, people who work on behalf 
of the District, or the District’s legitimate business interests, the District may take 
disciplinary action against you, up to and including termination. 
 
To the extent that your Social Media impacts District personnel, the community, and/or 
rate payers follow District policies and regulations, including but not limited to those that 
protect individual privacy rights, anti-discrimination and harassment policies, anti- 



 

   
12 

workplace violence and other relevant policies. Employees using District-provided 
internet resources shall do so only in support of official District business 
 
Any users of the District’s Social Media channels must comply with applicable federal, 
state and local laws.  This includes adherence to established laws and policies regarding 
copyright, records retention, California Public Records Act, e-discovery law, First 
Amendment, privacy laws, and information security and therefore must be able to be 
managed, stored, and retrieved to comply with these laws. 
 
The District has an overriding interest in protecting the integrity of information posted on 
Social Media platforms or websites that are attributed to the District and to its officials.  
One of the purposes of this Policy is to establish guidelines, standards and instructions 
for the use of Social Media sites by the District. 
 
Messages and content posted on a District Social Media site may constitute speech on 
behalf of the District, but such speech takes place on a non-District venue.  Therefore, 
the District Board of Directors finds and intends that speech posted on a Social Media 
site venue by District representatives and comments by the public posted on a social 
media site venue in response, do not create a public forum or limited public forum on any 
portion of the District’s websites, equipment or other District property. 
 
Public Comment Policy 
 
Employees or elected officials using Social Media for official District purposes are 
prohibited from posting: 
 

1) Information about actual or potential claims and litigation involving the District, 
2) The intellectual property of others without written permission, 
3) Photographs of employees or members of the public without written permission, 
4) Defamatory material, 
5) Any personal, sensitive, or confidential information about anyone, 
6) Obscene, pornographic, or other offensive/illegal material or links, 
7) Racist, sexist, and other disparaging language about a group of people, 
8) Political campaign materials or comments, 
9) Threatening, harassing, hateful, or mean-spirited comments, 
10)  Information that is not public in nature, 
11)  Information or comments that are potentially libelous, 
12)  Personal Attacks, insults, threatening language, 
13)  Commercial promotions or spam, 
14)  Off-topic or link to material that is off topic, or 
15)  Embed imagers and external sources. 

 
All District social networking sites shall clearly provide notice of the following: 
 

1) The types of postings that are violation of the District’s Social Media Policy (as 
listed above).  



 

   
13 

2) The District reserves the right to remove postings that violate its Social Media 
policy. 

3) The District only monitors postings during regular business hours and thus 
information conveyed after hours will not be received and responded to (if 
applicable) until the next business day. 

4) Postings are subject to disclosure as public records. 
 
The following are guidelines for employee or elected officials in responding to comments 
when using Social Media for official District purposes: 
 

1) Be honest/transparent. 
2) Post only within one’s area of expertise. 
3) Post only useful information. 
4) Keep it professional – avoid confrontation. 
5) Be accurate. 
6) Correct errors, and if modifying an earlier post, identify the change. 
7) Be responsive to citizen concerns. 

  
Roles/Responsibilities 
 
Human Resources will maintain a list of approved social media pages that have been 
approved by the General Manager and will have authority to edit or remove inappropriate 
comments or content from the District’s social media pages. 
 
The District’s Public Relations Consultant will monitor the content of the social media 
pages and the District’s Human Resources Manager will monitor and respond to 
comments. 
 
Public Records and Retention 
 
All social media postings will be in compliance with the District’s existing public records 
and retention policy.  To facilitate compliance, the following apply: 

 
1) Post all original content to the District’s website and use the social media site as a 

secondary outlet. 
2) Link back to the official District Website for additional information. 
3) Employees who post public records to a social media site will ensure that the 

original document is retained in a manner that complies with public record policy. 
 

Personal Use of Social Media 
 
General 
 
District personnel and Elected Officials are free to express themselves as private citizens 
on Social Media sites to the degree that the speech does not impair or impede the 
performance of District duties, impair discipline and harmony among co-workers.  A public 



 

   
14 

official’s personal social media site may transform into a limited public forum when acting 
on official public business.  Use caution when posting about public business on your 
personal page.  Use good and ethical judgement. 
 
While Social Media offers great opportunities for District employees and Elected Officials 
to communicate and collaborate, both internally and externally, it also brings equally great 
responsibilities.  Social Media blurs the lines between personal and professional as no 
other technology has before.  By virtue of identifying yourself as a District employee or 
Elected Official within a social network, you are now connected to your colleagues, 
managers, and community members.  Your online postings should always represent your 
personal point of view and not that of Marina Coast Water District.  When posting your 
point of view, you should neither claim nor imply you are speaking on the District’s behalf.  
Please be clear to indicate that the views expressed on your posts are your own and do 
not necessarily reflect the views of the District.  Include a disclaimer such as “The postings 
on this site are my own and do not necessarily reflect the views of the District”.  Do not 
create a link from your blog, website or other Social Media/Networking site to a District 
website without identifying yourself as an employee or an Elected Official. 
 
Responsibility to Clarify   
 
If an employee or Elected Official provides their own opinion on a Social Media platform, 
and such opinion is questioned by the media or public as being connected with the 
District, then the person who wrote their opinion should respond and should clarify their 
opinion is not associated with the District.  
 
Personal Use of Social Media by Elected Officials 
 
Elected Officials should follow the guidelines of the ethics code training (i.e. Fair Political 
Practice Commission), when using social media.  Informal communication with 
constituents is generally acceptable, but discussion of public business is risky, especially 
if it involves other Elected Officials.  Elected Official use of social media to discuss public 
business may violate the open meetings law or may violate the law against using 
government resources for political purposes.  To address these risks, the following 
policies apply: 
 

1) It is prohibited that Elected Official use any social media (personal, professional or 
the District’s official social media) to discuss public business before the Board that 
should otherwise be discussed in a properly agendized public Board meeting. 
 

2) A social media site used by an Elected Official to communicate with constituents 
must include a link back to the District’s official website for detailed information. 
 

3) Elected Officials who use social media for campaigning must establish separate 
social media for that purpose and not access that social media through the 
District’s technology 



 

   
15 

4) District officials or employees on a non-District site must include a disclaimer, only 
when mentioning District business, (i.e. “The postings on this site are my own and 
do not necessarily reflect the views of the Marina Coast Water District.  This is not 
an official Marina Coast Water District social media site”).  

 
3.12 Nondisclosure of Confidential Information 
 
During the course of employment, employees may have access to certain confidential 
information including: legal information, employee information, business records, 
customer information, business systems, future plans and other information that MCWD 
considers confidential and sensitive.  Employees are expected to use discretion and 
exercise caution in regard to keeping information confidential about MCWD business and 
employees.  Only the General Manager or designees are authorized to disclose 
confidential information as deemed appropriate for a public entity, or as otherwise 
authorized by the Board of Directors. Any question about the confidentiality of information 
should be referred to the General Manager or designees. 
 
3.13 Inquiries from Outside Sources 
 
From time to time, news media or the general public may contact MCWD with requests 
for information.  All inquiries concerning MCWD operations and/or policies should be 
referred to the General Manager or designee.  All inquiries regarding former or current 
employees should be referred to the HR/Risk Administrator. 
 
3.14 Workplace Violence and Security, and Monitoring 
 
MCWD recognizes the importance of maintaining a safe and violence-free workplace. 
MCWD is committed to providing a workplace that is free from acts or threats of violence.  
Although some kinds of violence result from societal problems that are beyond MCWD’s 
control, MCWD believes that measures can be adopted to increase protection for 
employees and to provide a secure workplace.  Accordingly, acts and/or threats of 
violence by or toward employees will not be tolerated and will be grounds for discipline 
and/or other remedial action up to and including immediate termination.  Similarly, acts 
and/or threats of violence by visitors, members of the public, or other non-employees will 
likewise not be tolerated and will be grounds for appropriate remedial action.  Remedial 
action includes, but is not limited to, removal of offenders from the premises, removal of 
employees from work schedules, unpaid administrative leave pending the outcome of an 
investigation, disciplinary action up to and including termination, the filing of a temporary 
restraining order or court ordered injunction, and such other actions as may be deemed 
appropriate based on specific conditions and circumstances. 
 
MCWD believes prevention of workplace violence begins with recognition and awareness 
of potential early warning signs of a situation that presents the possibility of violence.  
Workplace violence includes threats of any kind; threatening or physically aggressive or 
violent behavior; harassing or threatening phone calls; stalking; other behavior that 
suggests a propensity toward violence such as belligerent speech, excessive arguing or 



 

   
16 

swearing, sabotage or threats of sabotage of MCWD property; a demonstrated pattern or 
refusal to follow MCWD policies and procedures; defacing MCWD property or causing 
physical damage to MCWD facilities; or bringing weapons, firearms or any device 
reasonably believed by MCWD to be hazardous or a threat on MCWD premises. 
 
Consequently, every employee has an obligation to report to his/her supervisor, or a 
member of the management staff, any incident involving any threat or act of violence, use 
or observation of any weapon or hazardous device on MCWD premises or vehicles, 
including acts of intimidation or confrontational behavior.  Employees should request 
assistance from the nearest available manager to help resolve any difficult situation or 
security problem.  Do not confront any person who is hostile or overly agitated.  Instead, 
immediately report to management any person(s) who acts in a suspicious, hostile, or 
violent manner.  All reports of workplace violence will be taken seriously and will be 
reviewed promptly, and appropriate corrective action will be taken.   
 
In addition to these efforts, all employees are to notify management of any security 
hazards. Recommendations of appropriate action to prevent workplace violence and limit 
access to work areas by unauthorized persons should be made to management or directly 
to the General Manager or designee. 
 
In an effort to ensure the proper security of MCWD premises and related work locations, 
MCWD may visit, inspect, monitor and/or provide camera surveillance at certain locations, 
and from time to time, as conditions warrant. 
 
3.15 Privacy 
 
MCWD recognizes the need and expectation employees have concerning their privacy 
rights.  Therefore, it should be understood that records and information about MCWD 
customers, suppliers, contractors and employees are considered strictly confidential and 
only those employees that have a job-related need to know have a right to access and 
use such information and then only for operational purposes.  Similarly, employees should 
avoid undue intrusion into the personal affairs of other employees with the exception of 
an appropriate investigation into an alleged act of misconduct by an employee.  In these 
cases, the privacy of those employees being investigated, including potential witnesses 
will be maintained to the degree possible. 
 
Failure on the part of an employee to maintain the confidentiality and privacy of customer 
and employee information can result in disciplinary action up to and including termination. 
3.16 MCWD Communications/Bulletin Boards 
 
All MCWD employees are encouraged to openly and honestly communicate while 
maintaining tact, courtesy, respect, dignity and professionalism. 
 
Staff Meetings  
Staff meetings are held on an “as-needed” or pre-scheduled basis.  All employees 
scheduled to work on meeting days are expected to attend while unscheduled employees 



 

   
17 

are expected to learn about the content of meetings on their next scheduled workday.  
These meetings are held to provide information, promote employee participation, 
contribute constructive ideas in solving problems, improve the organization, and allow 
MCWD to operate more efficiently.  It is an opportunity to exchange ideas, set goals, 
discuss opportunities for growth, and solve any problems with particular projects or 
assignments.  If unable to attend, employees should notify their immediate supervisor 
and offer to submit ideas in writing.  
  
Bulletin Boards  
Bulletin boards are used to display required documents and to provide employees with 
information about job openings, changes in MCWD operations, or information of general 
interest relative to daily operations.   
 
Posting of any notice or document on bulletin boards or elsewhere on MCWD premises 
must be approved by management.  Employees are discouraged from posting personal 
notices and solicitations on MCWD bulletin boards without prior approval from 
management.  MCWD will follow all applicable laws regarding employees’ communication 
rights when deciding whether to permit postings. 
 
3.17 Personal Possessions  
 
Employees are encouraged to avoid bringing expensive items or personal possessions 
that have monetary or sentimental value to work and to take all precautions to safeguard 
all such items especially wallets and purses, if brought to work. 
 
Employees who bring any kind of personal items and possessions to work do so at their 
own risk since MCWD accepts no responsibility for any items or possessions that are 
stolen, lost, or damaged in any way. 
 
3.18 Personal Mail and Telephone Calls 
 
MCWD facilities are available for MCWD business.  Due to the volume of business calls 
required during the business days, personal calls on MCWD telephones during working 
hours should be kept to a minimum.  Personal telephone calls, including cell phone calls, 
should be handled during non-work time such as break periods.   
 
While in the office during working hours, employees are to keep pagers and cell phones 
on vibrate or silent mode so as not to disturb others.  Use of MCWD telephones for 
personal long distance or toll calls is not permitted.  Employees are to charge such calls 
to their home phone, cell phone, or calling card. 
 
MCWD will assume that all mail addressed to the office is official MCWD mail, even 
though it may be addressed to an individual.   Employees should not have personal mail 
sent to them at MCWD.  Personal mail (including UPS, FED EX, etc.) and faxes are not 
to be delivered to MCWD facilities.  All business-related mail will be opened, date 
stamped, and forwarded to the appropriate employee for receipt and handling.  



 

   
18 

3.19 Use of Cell Phones and Electronic Devices 
 
This policy establishes procedures governing the use of cellular telephones and other 
electronic devices (such as laptops computers, iPods, CD players or MP3 players) during 
working hours, the use of MCWD-issued cellular telephones or laptop computers, and 
limitations on the use of cellular telephones or laptop computers to ensure both safety 
and compliance with applicable laws.  As noted in Section 3.10, employees can have no 
expectation of privacy for any communications stored or transmitted on MCWD 
computers or cell phones. 
 
Personal Cellular Telephones and Other Electronic Devices  
Cellular telephones are an important resource for communication between MCWD and 
its employees, and, for individual employees in conducting their personal affairs.  While 
at work employees are expected to exercise discretion in using personal cellular phones 
as is expected for the use of MCWD phones.  Excessive personal calls during the 
workday, regardless of the phone used, can interfere with employee productivity and may 
be distracting to others.  Employees are therefore encouraged to make personal calls on 
non-work time.   
 
MCWD understands that emergencies occur and will be flexible in these circumstances; 
however, personal conversations should not in any way be a discourtesy to others.  
Employees must also remember to use discretion when making statements that could be 
considered inappropriate.  Cellular phones and other electronic devices should be in the 
off or vibrate mode while in the work environment.   
 
MCWD is not liable for the loss of personal cellular telephones or other electronic devices 
brought into the workplace. 
 
Care of MCWD-Issued Cellular Telephones and Laptop Computers 
Employees in possession of MCWD equipment such as cellular telephones or laptop 
computers are expected to protect equipment from loss, damage or theft.  Upon 
resignation or termination of employment, or at any time upon request, the employee may 
be asked to produce the telephone or laptop computer for return or inspection.  
Employees unable to present the telephone or laptop computer in good working condition 
within the time period requested may be expected to bear the cost of a replacement. 
 
Cellular Telephone/Laptop Computer Safety 
Employees whose job responsibilities include regular or occasional driving and who are 
issued a cellular telephone or laptop computer for business use will be provided at 
MCWD’s expense, hands-free cellular telephone equipment to facilitate the provisions of 
this policy and the current Federal and/or State of California laws. 
 
Employees are strongly encouraged to safely stop the vehicle before placing/accepting a 
call or operating a laptop computer regardless of the circumstances.  If acceptance of a 
call is unavoidable and stopping safely is not an option, employees are expected to keep 
the call short, use MCWD-provided hands-free telephone equipment, refrain from 



 

   
19 

discussion of complicated or emotional discussions, and keep their eyes on the road.  
Special care should be taken in situations where there is traffic, inclement weather or 
when the employee is driving in an unfamiliar area. 
 
Employees whose job responsibilities do not specifically include driving as an essential 
function, but who are issued a cellular telephone or laptop computer for business use, are 
also expected to abide by the provisions of this policy.  Under no circumstances are 
employees allowed to place themselves or others at risk to fulfill business needs.   
 
Employees who are charged with traffic violations resulting from the use of their personal 
or MCWD-issued cellular telephone while driving will be solely responsible for all liabilities 
that result from such actions.  While the California Department of Motor Vehicles may not 
issue a point violation; the employee will receive a conviction notation on his/her driving 
record. 
 
Any violation of this policy may be subject to disciplinary action. 
 
3.20 Personal Appearance 
 
A professional image is important and is maintained, in part, by the image that employees 
present to customers, visitors, vendors, and others in our business.  No one gets a second 
chance to make a good first impression.  Employees are expected to consistently utilize 
good judgment in determining dress and appearance on a daily basis.  In choosing 
appropriate work attire, employees should consider tastefulness, public contact, the 
nature of the job, and working conditions.   
 
MCWD expects all employees to be appropriately dressed and groomed at all times.  It 
is, however, the responsibility of each manager to communicate MCWD’s dress code 
standards to all current employees and each new employee as he/she is hired.  
Employees are expected to check with their immediate supervisor if they are unsure about 
the appropriateness of their attire or grooming. 
 
Extreme styles that are revealing or distracting and do not conform to our acceptable 
dress codes are not permitted.  Some examples of attire that the District does not consider 
appropriate are T-shirts, sweat pants, workout clothes, tank tops, muscle shirts, shorts, 
flip-flops, slippers, torn or patched clothing, revealing attire, halter tops, sheer clothing, 
bare midriffs or bare back tops/shirts, low cut or off-the-shoulder attire, clothes with 
inappropriate, profane or offensive slogans or pictures. 
 
During business hours, employees are expected to present a clean and neat appearance 
and to dress according to the requirements of their positions.  Office employees may 
dress in business casual attire.  Business casual attire includes, but is not limited to, 
slacks, khakis, sport shirts, skirts and dresses, turtlenecks, sweaters, loafers, and walking 
shoes, but not tennis shoes. 



 

   
20 

Due to the effect it may have on others, employees are also expected to refrain from the 
use of cologne, perfume, air fresheners, and excessive make-up and/or jewelry.   
 
Non-Compliance  
Employees who are inappropriately dressed may be sent home and directed to return to 
work in the proper attire.  Non-exempt employees will not be compensated for the time 
away from work.  Employees who repeatedly violate MCWD’s this policy and/or grooming 
standards will be subject to corrective action, up to and including termination. 
 
3.21 Solicitation/Distribution of Literature 
 
In order to avoid disruption of operations, the following rules apply to solicitation and 
distribution of literature on MCWD property or premises. 
 
Outsiders  
Persons who are not employed by MCWD may not solicit or distribute literature on MCWD 
premises or property at any time for any purpose.   
 
Employees  
Employees may not solicit or distribute literature during “work time” or in “working areas” 
at any time for any purpose.  Work time includes both the time of the employee doing the 
soliciting or distributing and the time of the employee to whom the soliciting or distributing 
is being directed.  Work time does not include meal periods, or any other specific periods 
during the workday when both employees are not engaged in performing his/her work 
assignments. 

 
Further, it is strictly prohibited for any employee to solicit or imply his/her availability to 
perform private work for any customer, Board member, or service provider of MCWD.  
The solicitation of private work, for pay or no pay, on or off duty, shall result in disciplinary 
action up to and including termination.  
 
3.22 Personal Use of MCWD Property/Facilities 
 
MCWD resources and facilities are to be used only for legitimate business purposes and 
are not to be used for personal reasons by employees.  MCWD property includes 
equipment and tools, District vehicles, telephones, faxes and other communication 
equipment, computers, copy machines, postage, office supplies, and the like.  Borrowing 
any MCWD property for personal use or removing MCWD property without approval is 
prohibited.  Unauthorized use or removal of MCWD property by an employee is subject 
to corrective action, up to and including termination. 
 
3.23 Scavenging 
 
Purpose 
 
The purpose of this policy is to establish the expectation and outline procedures concerning 
scavenging and salvaging materials directed to the District’s service area.  



 

   
21 

Persons Affected 
 
This policy applies to customers, vendors, visitors and staff who use and/or work at the 
District’s service areas. 

Policy 
 
In order to maintain safety and health standards, deliver expected services to the public, 
and maximize operational efficiency, scavenging is not allowed on or from District’s service 
areas. Items may only be removed through participation in an approved lost and unclaimed 
personal property program.  

Scavenging of materials presents health and safety hazards, including being struck by 
heavy equipment and trucks, cuts and scrapes, back injuries and exposure to hazards and 
pathogens from needle sticks. 
The District recognizes and encourages a systematic approach to unclaimed lost or 
unclaimed personal property.   
 
In the event that an Employee discovers personal property while working, the Employee 
shall, as soon as reasonably possible, turn the property in to the Operations Manager.  
The Employee who found the property shall include a brief written report containing the 
following information: 
 
1. The location and manner in which the property was found and retrieved. 
2. The date the property was found. 
3. Whether the owner of the property is known or may be ascertainable with reasonable 

efforts. 
4. A statement by the employee that he or she has not withheld or disposed of any part of 

the property. 

The Operations Manager will submit the findings to the police department as indicated in 
California Civil Code section 2080.  Any items not claimed by an individual, will be returned to 
the District for District wide purposes. 

Policy Variances 
 
Variances from this policy may be requested due to extenuating circumstances. Any 
variance request must be made in writing and submitted to the Operations Manager, 
prior to the removal of materials. Please note that no guarantee is made or implied that 
any variance requested will be approved. No variance will be considered or granted that 
would be in conflict with any applicable federal, state or local statute or regulation. 

Responsibilities 
 
Any violation of this policy will be considered theft of District property and will be enforced 
as such. District employees are required to report violations of this policy. 



 

   
22 

3.24 Drug and Alcohol Policy 
 

A. Policy Purpose 
 
MCWD is concerned about employees being under the influence of alcohol, drugs, or 
controlled substances at work and the use of such substances in the work environment.  
The District’s position is that, any measurable amount of drugs or alcohol in an 
employee’s system while on District time is counter-productive to the District’s mission 
and goals.  The District is also concerned about the possession, distribution, purchase or 
sale of illegal drugs and controlled substances in the workplace. 
 
These activities may adversely affect work performance, efficiency, safety and health. In 
addition, they constitute a potential risk to the welfare and safety of other, risks of injury 
to other persons, property loss or damage, or negative image for the District. 
 
In order to promote a safe, healthy, and productive work environment for all employees 
and the public, it is MCWD’s objective to have a work force that is free from the influence 
of substance abuse. 
 
This policy also is intended to comply with all applicable federal and state laws and 
regulations governing workplace anti-drug programs.  The federal Drug-Free Workplace 
Act of 1988 and the California Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1990 require employers to 
establish drug free workplace policies and to take appropriate action against an employee 
convicted of a workplace drug violation.   
 
Any questions regarding rights and obligations under this policy shall be referred to the 
employee’s Supervisor, Manager or HR/Risk Administrator. 
 

B. Individuals Covered. 
 
MCWD’s policy on drug and alcohol use in the workplace applies to all MCWD employees. 
Visitors, vendors, and contracted employees are governed by this policy while on MCWD 
premises or when performing MCWD-related business, and will not be permitted to 
conduct business if found to be in violation of this policy. 
 
For certain employees who operate commercial vehicles and are required to have a 
commercial driver’s license, regulations enacted by the federal Department of 
Transportation (DOT) and administered by the Federal Motor Carrier Safety 
Administration (FMSCA) mandate urine drug testing and breathalyzer alcohol testing and 
prohibit the performance of certain safety sensitive functions after a positive test result.  
To meet these requirements, MCWD has enacted a separate DOT Drug and Alcohol 
Testing Policy, a copy of which will be given to all employees covered by the DOT 
regulations. Employees who are covered by the DOT Drug and Alcohol Testing Policy 
are subject to the requirements contained in this policy as well as the DOT-mandated 
policy. 



 

   
23 

C. Definitions 
 

1. “Alcohol” shall mean the intoxicating agent in beverage alcohol, ethyl alcohol 
or other low molecular weight alcohol including methyl or isopropyl alcohol. 

 
2. “District equipment” shall mean all property and equipment, machinery and 

vehicles owned, leased, rented or used by District. 
 
3. “Drug” or “drugs” shall mean any controlled substance that is not legally 

obtainable under State or Federal law, including, but not limited to medical and 
recreational marijuana, or a prescription drug obtained or used without benefit 
of a prescription by a licensed physician.  

 
4. “Prescription Drug” shall mean any substance that can lawfully be obtained or 

possessed pursuant to a prescription by a licensed physician. 
 

D. Employee Responsibilities and Conduct   
 
District employees shall:  

1. Not report to work or be on standby or on-call status while his or her ability to 
perform job duties is impaired due to on or off duty alcohol or drug use; 
 

2. Not possess or use controlled substances (illegal drugs or prescription drugs 
without a prescription) at any time, or use alcohol at any time while on District 
property or while on duty for the District at any location; 
 

3. Not directly or indirectly through a third party manufacture, sell, distribute, 
dispense, or provide drugs or controlled substances to any person, including any 
employee, at any time; or manufacture, sell, distribute, dispense or provide alcohol 
to any employee while either or both are on duty or on MCWD premises; 
 

4. Not be absent or tardy as a result of having been under the influence of alcohol, 
drugs, or controlled substances during non-work time; 
 

5. Notify his or her supervisor, before beginning work, when taking any medications 
or drugs, prescription or nonprescription, which may interfere with the safe and 
effective performance of duties or operation of District equipment.  Employees 
shall, in the case of prescription drugs, ask the prescribing physician or, in the case 
of medication available over-the-counter, review product packaging, to determine 
whether the use of a medication or drug may impair his/her ability to perform 
his/her job duties or to safely operate District equipment.  Any employee taking 
any over-the-counter medication or drugs marked “do not drive,” “do not operate 
heavy equipment” or similarly labeled, shall inform their supervisor of the use of 
the product prior to reporting for duty.  If there is a question regarding an 
employee’s ability to perform assigned duties safely and effectively while using 
prescribed medications, the District may require medical clearance;  



 

   
24 

6. Notify the HR/Risk Administrator or Department Manager of any criminal conviction 
for a drug violation that occurred in the workplace within no more than five days 
after such conviction; 
 

7. Notify the supervisor immediately of facts or reasonable suspicions when he or 
she observes behavior or other evidence that a fellow employee poses a risk to 
the health and safety of the employee or others; 
 

8. Consent to drug or alcohol testing and searches pursuant to this Policy.  Failure to 
appear for testing without the District’s written authorization or knowingly, willingly, 
or purposely evading or obstructing testing or searches will be considered refusal 
to consent to such testing or searches in violation of this provision; and, 
 

9. Follow the District’s drug and alcohol-free workplace policy. 
 

E. Consequences for violation of this policy   
 
1. Discipline   
Any violation of this Policy may result in discipline, up to and including termination. 
Discipline may be imposed regardless of whether or not an employee is convicted of any 
related to any violation of this Policy.   
 
Any violation of this Policy that may constitute criminal conduct under federal, state, or 
local laws may be reported to the appropriate law enforcement agencies and/or subject 
the employee to civil and/or criminal penalties under the law.   
 
2. Removal from the Work Site   
Any employee reasonably believed to be under the influence of alcohol, drugs, or 
controlled substances shall be immediately prevented from engaging in further work and 
shall be detained for a reasonable time until they can be safely transported from the work 
site.   
 

F. Searches 
In order to promote a safe, productive and efficient workplace, the District reserves the 
right to search and inspect all District property, including but not limited to lockers, storage 
areas, furniture, District vehicles, and other places under the common control of the 
District, or joint control of the District and employees, as well as to enlist the assistance 
of law enforcement personnel in connection with the enforcement of this Policy.  No 
employee has any expectation of privacy in any District building, property, or 
communications system. 
 

G. Alcohol and Drug Testing 
Reasonable Suspicion Testing  
If a supervisor reasonably suspects that an employee is under the influence of alcohol, 
drugs, or controlled substances while performing job duties or operating MCWD 
equipment the supervisor may, upon prior approval by the HR/Risk Administrator, require 



 

   
25 

the employee to submit to an alcohol and/or drug test. An employee’s refusal to submit 
to such a test is cause for discipline, up to and including termination.   
 
Examples of indicators which can form a reasonable suspicion that an employee is under 
the influence of alcohol, drugs, or controlled substances include but are not limited to the 
following: 

a. Direct observation of drug or alcohol use;  
b. Slurred speech;   
c. Glossy or bloodshot eyes;   
d. Odor of alcohol;   
e. Unsteady walking and movement;   
f. An accident involving MCWD property, employee or client;   
g. A near accident or other safety violation;   
h. Physical or verbal altercation; 
i. Possession of alcohol, drugs, controlled substances, or drug paraphernalia;   
j. Sleeping on the job;   
k. Pattern of abnormal or erratic behavior;   
l. Information either provided by reliable and credible sources or independently 

corroborated;   
m. Conviction for a drug-related offense; and   
n. Tampering with previous drug test 

 
H. Testing Procedures   

The procedures regarding alcohol and drugs testing will be provided upon request to the 
HR/Risk Administrator.  
 
G.  Records Keeping and Confidentiality   
Any information about an employee’s use of prescription or non-prescription medication, 
the results of any drug and/or alcohol testing, and/or an employee’s past or present 
participation in rehabilitation or treatment for substance abuse shall be considered 
confidential personnel information. Any laboratory reports and test results shall not 
appear in an employee’s general personnel folder but will be contained in a separate, 
confidential medical folder that will be securely kept under the control of the HR/Risk 
Administrator. The report or tests results may be disclosed to MCWD management on a 
strictly need-to-know basis and to the tested employee upon request. The information 
received in enforcing this policy shall be disclosed only as necessary for disciplinary 
actions and appeals, for interactive process meetings and reasonable accommodation 
efforts, for resolving legal issues, or as required by law, subpoena, court order, or other 
judicial or administrative process. 
 
H.  Rehabilitation   
MCWD encourages employees to use MCWD-sponsored employee’s assistance 
programs voluntarily to assist them in resolving any alcohol, drug, or controlled substance 
abuse problems. Employees should contact their supervisor, Department manager, or 
HR/Risk Administrator for additional information, including further information concerning 



 

   
26 

the dangerous effects of alcohol misuse and drug use on an employee’s health, work, 
and personal life.  MCWD is committed to providing reasonable accommodation to those 
employees whose alcohol or drug abuse problem classifies them as disabled under 
federal and/or state law.   
 
While MCWD will be supportive of those who seek help voluntarily, MCWD will be firm in 
identifying and disciplining those who continue to be substance abusers and who do not 
seek help or continue substance abuse even while enrolled in counseling or rehabilitation 
programs. Therefore, MCWD may require employees to use employee assistance 
programs, and in addition to mandatory referrals to a Substance Abuse Professional 
where applicable.    
 
Section 4. Hiring 
 
4.0 Hiring of New Employees 

 
A. Job Announcements - Public notices of recruitment shall be posted on official 

bulletin boards within MCWD for five (5) days. All department heads will be 
notified when the postings occur. The need for further publicity and/or 
distribution of announcements may be determined by the General Manager or 
HR/Risk Administrator.  Job announcements will contain the following 
information: 

 
1. Title and rate of pay; 
2. Typical duties to be performed; 
3. Minimum qualifications required; 
4. Method of securing application forms and final dates on which applications 

will be accepted; and 
5. Other information as may be deemed useful in the recruitment of applicants. 

 
B. Application process - All applications should be made upon official forms 

furnished by MCWD and submitted to HR on or before the final filing date 
specified in the job announcement. All applications and examination papers 
become confidential records of MCWD and will not be returned to the 
applicants or made public.  A separate and complete application must be filed 
for each recruitment. 

 
C. Screening of Applicants – Applications for a particular opening are normally 

reviewed by the appropriate Department manager and/or supervisor in 
conjunction with HR.  A list of the most qualified applicants may be developed 
for an examination or interview process. 

 
D. Examinations – May be utilized to fairly test the applicant’s education and 

training, prior experience, skills, knowledge and abilities to perform the 
essential and more demanding aspects of the job for which he/she has applied.  



 

   
27 

Applicants requiring reasonable accommodation under state or federal law 
shall be afforded such accommodation. 

 
Examinations may include a combination of written tests, skill tests, and oral 
interviews.  Such tests may include, but not be limited to written assessments 
of intelligence, experience, technical knowledge, manual skill, physical fitness, 
character, personality, education or any combination of these or any other 
relevant criteria that MCWD deems appropriate to a particular position.   

 
E. Job Offer – HR, with the approval of the General Manager or designee, will 

offer the position to the successful candidate, contingent upon passing a 
MCWD-paid pre-employment physical, and background/reference checks.  

 
4.1 Recruitment and Selection of Positions Reporting Directly to the Board of 
 Directors  
 
Upon receipt by the Board of Directors of notice of a potential vacancy to any positions 
reporting to the Board, the Board of Directors will notify HR (or Appointee).  HR will post 
a job announcement internally on official bulletin boards within MCWD for five (5) days.  
 
HR or Appointee is authorized, to initiate, upon the Board’s direction, a Request for 
Proposals (RFP) process to provide executive recruitment services for the District. 
 
Upon completion of the RFP deadline, HR or Appointee will submit a list of respondents 
and summary of qualifications and costs to the Budget and Personnel Committee (B&P) 
for review.  The B&P will authorize HR or Appointee to forward the proposals to the Board 
of Directors. 
 
At the next scheduled Board meeting, the Board will make a recommendation to select a 
firm.  Once a selection is made, HR or Appointee will contact the selected firm and the 
recruitment process will commence. 
 
 

A. Job Announcements - Public notices of recruitment shall be posted on official 
bulletin boards within MCWD for six (5) days. All department managers will be 
notified when the postings occur. The need for further publicity and/or 
distribution of announcements may be determined by the General Manager or 
HR.  Job announcements will contain the following information: 

 
1. Title and rate of pay; 
2. Typical duties to be performed; 
3. Minimum qualifications required; 
4. Method of securing application forms and final dates on which applications 

will be accepted; and 
5. Other information as may be deemed useful in the recruitment of applicants. 



 

   
28 

B. Application process - All applications should be made upon official forms 
furnished by MCWD and submitted to HR on or before the final filing date 
specified in the job announcement. All applications and examination papers 
become confidential records of MCWD and will not be returned to the 
applicants or made public.  A separate and complete application must be filed 
for each recruitment. 

 
C. Screening of Applicants – Applications for a particular opening are normally 

reviewed by the appropriate Department manager and/or supervisor in 
conjunction with the HR/Risk Administrator.  A list of the most qualified 
applicants may be developed for an examination or interview process. 

 
D. Examinations – May be utilized to fairly test the applicant’s education and 

training, prior experience, skills, knowledge and abilities to perform the 
essential and more demanding aspects of the job for which he/she has applied.  
Applicants requiring reasonable accommodation under state or federal law 
shall be afforded such accommodation. 

 
Examinations may include a combination of written tests, skill tests, and oral 
interviews.  Such tests may include, but not be limited to written assessments 
of intelligence, experience, technical knowledge, manual skill, physical fitness, 
character, personality, education or any combination of these or any other 
relevant criteria that MCWD deems appropriate to a particular position.   

 
E. Job Offer – HR, with the approval of the General Manager or designee, will 

offer the position to the successful candidate, contingent upon passing a 
MCWD-paid pre-employment physical, and background/reference checks.  

 
4.2 Immigration Law Compliance 
 
In accordance with the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986, MCWD will hire only 
those individuals who are authorized to work in the United States.  All individuals who are 
offered employment shall be required to complete and sign the Immigration and 
Naturalization Service form I-9.  This form requires the employee to attest that he/she is 
authorized to work in the United States and that documents submitted are genuine.  Strict 
compliance with this legal requirement is a condition of continued employment. 
 
4.3 Introductory Period 
 
The Introductory Period is intended to give new and rehired employees in Regular Full-
Time Employee job positions the opportunity to demonstrate his/her ability to achieve a 
satisfactory level of adaptation and performance, and to determine whether the new 
position meets the mutual expectations of the new hire and MCWD.  MCWD uses this 
period to evaluate employee capabilities, work habits, conduct and overall performance.  
During the Introductory , employment may be terminated at any time, for any reason, with 
or without cause.  



 

   
29 

All employees in Regular Full-Time Employee job positions serve an Introductory Period 
for the initial six (6) months after date of hire, rehire, transfer, promotion or demotion.  
MCWD may extend the duration of the Introductory Period if it determines that such an 
extension is necessary and appropriate.  An extension of up to thirty (30) days may be 
granted, but the combined length of such extensions will not exceed sixty (60) days.  
Additionally, any absence for thirty (30) or more days, regardless of the type or purpose 
of the leave, will automatically extend the Introductory Period by the length of the 
absence.   
 
All Introductory employees will be evaluated at two (2), four (4) and six (6) months by the 
immediate supervisor and department head.  In all cases, the evaluation shall be 
discussed with the employee. 
 
Introductory employees may be considered for a new position in another classification.  If 
an employee is promoted during this period, the Introductory Period begins a new with 
the date of appointment to the new position. 
 
Upon satisfactory completion of the Introductory Period, employees are reclassified as 
regular.  Completion of the Introductory Period does not entitle an employee to remain 
employed by MCWD for any particular time period as a result of achieving regular 
employment status. 
 
4.4 Re-Employment or Reinstated Employees 
 
Rehired or reinstated employees in Regular Full-Time Employee positions who return 
more than six (6) months after resignation date, other than those re-employed following 
a lay-off, are considered new employees from the effective date of his/her reemployment 
and begin a new introductory period.  All rehired or reinstated employees will be required 
to pass another pre-employment physical and drug screening.   
 
Section 5. Employment Practices 
 
5.0 Performance Evaluations 
 
Except for Introductory employees, all employees should expect to have his/her 
performance evaluated by the immediate supervisor and department head every twelve 
(12) months.  The evaluation process is normally January through December.  The 
General Manager and HR will review all performance evaluations. 
 
Neither the performance evaluations, nor the performance evaluation process, shall be 
subject to the Grievance Policy or Employee Relations Policy described in Sections 12 
and 13. 
 
A performance evaluation does not guarantee a wage or salary increase will be granted 
automatically.  The General Manager or designee must approve all pay increases.  



 

   
30 

5.1 Performance Improvement Plans (PIP) 
 
Periodically it may be necessary or appropriate for a supervisor to implement a PIP for 
an employee.  The purpose of a PIP is to provide a mechanism for performance correction 
when an employee’s job performance falls below established standards and where 
management deems it would be suitable to identify area(s) requiring improvement(s), to 
further outline performance expectations, additional training and development, and the 
timing to achieve a satisfactory performance level. 
 
The following guidelines will be considered when implementing a PIP: 
 

A. If an employee demonstrates unsatisfactory performance, the 
manager/supervisor shall complete a PIP prior to meeting with the 
employee to identify areas of deficiency, explain performance expectations, 
provide assistance, and advise the employee of future consequences if 
significant improvement in performance does not occur. 

B. If an unsatisfactory performer does not improve with informal counseling, 
he/she shall be placed on a PIP.  If performance improves, but not to an 
acceptable level, the PIP may be extended for up to an additional thirty (30) 
days if the supervisor/manager feels a satisfactory level of performance can 
be achieved and sustained by the extended date. 

C. If an unsatisfactory performer who is on a PIP fails to improve within a 
reasonable time period, the employee may be considered for transfer or 
reclassification to a more suitable position that may include a demotion or 
termination. 

 
5.2 Promotions, Transfers, Demotions, and Reclassifications 
 

A. Promotions - A promotion is defined as a move up in pay grade and position 
responsibilities and skills.  MCWD prefers to promote from within the 
organization whenever it is operationally efficient and appropriate based on 
the skills, knowledge and other competencies of the employee and the 
requirements of the vacant position. At the time of promotion, consideration 
may be given for a promotional pay rate increase based on related 
experience, internal equity, and the length of time since the employee’s last 
performance evaluation.  Promotions will normally include a minimum of five 
percent (5%) salary increase, depending upon the salary range and step at 
the time of promotion. 

 
In all cases, promotions will re-establish the employee’s new Introductory 
Period and performance evaluation date to reflect the effective date of 
change, but not seniority/hire date or longevity/anniversary dates. Salary 
increases normally become effective the first day of the first payroll period 
after the approved increase.  To the extent that a regular employee who is 
in an Introductory Period for a promotion does not pass that Introductory 
Period, the employee will return to their last held job position.  



 

   
31 

B. Transfers - A transfer is a lateral move within the same pay grade.  
Normally, an employee who requests a transfer to a different department is 
given preference over external applicants provided the employee is equally 
or better qualified.  An employee subject to a PIP or disciplinary action will 
not be considered for transfer unless approved in advance by the General 
Manager or designee. 
 
Transfer or Reassignment – In the case of a transfer or reassignment from 
one position to another in the same salary range, the employee shall 
continue in the same salary range and step.  In the case of a transfer from 
one position to another in a classification with a lower salary range, the 
employee may be placed in any step closest to, but not exceeding his/her 
previous salary. 
 
At the discretion of the General Manager or designee, an employee may be 
transferred or reassigned from one department to another, providing the 
employee possesses the minimum qualifications for the transferred or 
reassigned position. 
 
When an employee voluntarily transfers, including to a position having a 
lower salary/pay rate, or is reassigned from one position to another of the 
same salary/pay rate, the salary and merit increase eligibility date shall not 
change. 
 

C. Demotions - A demotion is a move to a lower pay grade in a position having 
lesser responsibilities and/or required skills.  MCWD regards demotions as 
rare and conducted only under unusual circumstances.  Non-disciplinary 
demotions may be voluntary or involuntary but in either case, the affected 
employee will normally be provided with thirty (30) days advance notice of 
the change of classification and an opportunity to respond.  However, 
MCWD reserves the right to determine, on an individual basis, how a 
demotion will affect pay and under what circumstances it is in the best 
interests of MCWD to demote an employee. 

 
D. Reclassifications - A reclassification is the redefinition of an existing 

position, either occupied or vacant, as needed to meet the changing 
operational demands of MCWD and usually requires a change in the job 
title, essential duties, responsibilities, and requirements. 
 
The salary of an introductory or regular employee in a position which is 
reclassified, and for which the employee is fully qualified in all respects for 
the reclassified position, shall be determined as follows: 
 
1. If to a class with the same salary range the salary and merit increase 

eligibility date will not change. 



 

   
32 

2. If to a class with a higher or lower salary/pay rate; the salary/pay rate of 
the employee shall be determined as follows: 

 
a. If the salary of the employee is the same or less than the maximum 

of the new class, the salary and merit increase eligibility date of the 
employee shall not change. 

b. If the salary of the employee is greater than the maximum of the new 
range, the salary of the employee shall be designated as Y-rated 
(frozen) and shall not change during the continuous regular service 
until the maximum of the new range exceeds the salary of the 
employee. 

 
A regular employee in good standing reclassified to a position in a lower 
class for reasons other than unsatisfactory performance shall receive the 
highest salary in the new grade that does not exceed the employee’s rate 
of pay immediately prior to the reclassification, and shall retain the merit 
increase eligibility date to which the employee was entitled prior to 
reclassification. 

 
5.3 Working Out of Classification 
 
An out of classification assignment is a temporary assignment of a regular employee for 
more than twenty (20) days in a calendar year.  When an employee is officially assigned 
to perform the primary and essential duties of a higher paid vacant position, that employee 
shall be compensated at the step in the higher classification that provides an increase to 
the assigned employee of at least five percent (5%).  Such increase will normally begin 
on the twenty-first (21st) working day after the assignment to the higher position or earlier, 
subject to the discretion of the General Manager or designee.   
 
5.4 Employee Records 
 
MCWD maintains a personnel file of current and former employees and restricts 
disclosure of information to only authorized individuals.  Employees who want to review 
his/her official records must notify HR and request an appointment during normal working 
hours.  Personnel files will be reviewed under the supervision of HR and no documents 
may not be removed from the file. 

 
Employees may take notes related to documents in his/her employee file; however, no 
alterations of these records are permitted nor can a document be added to or removed 
from the file at the time of an employee review.  Employees may request and receive a 
copy of their personnel file upon request in accordance with California law. 
 
It is important that employees promptly notify MCWD of any changes to his/her personal 
information including: 



 

   
33 

Name 
Home and/or mailing address 
Telephone number(s) 
Number, names, and status of dependents 
Change of emergency contact information 
Educational accomplishments 
Marital status (including pending divorce proceedings) 
Payroll deductions 
Wage garnishments 
Benefit plan beneficiary 
Banking information (if participating in direct deposit) 

 
5.5 Employment Verifications/References 
 
All employment verification requests, either verbal or written shall be forwarded to HR for 
response.  Responses by MCWD to such requests will be restricted to dates of 
employment and the last or current job title held by an employee.  Requests for salary 
and any other additional information must be made in writing and accompanied by the 
employee’s signed authorization to release this information. 
 
5.6 Internships 
 
Internships are available to full-time college students (taking twelve (12) or more units), 
and limited to no more than sixteen (16) hours per week during regular Fall/Spring 
semesters or quarters. Additional hours may be offered during semester or quarter 
breaks.  Flexible scheduling will be available.   
 
Driving a MCWD vehicle may be necessary to perform the job duties, therefore, the Intern 
will need to be insurable and have a valid California driver's license. All potential Interns 
will be required to complete a MCWD application and participate in an interview prior to 
hiring. 
 
5.7 Use of MCWD Vehicles 
 
It is MCWD’s policy that before an employee can be eligible to operate any vehicle for 
MCWD business, a valid driver’s license, and a California Department of Motor Vehicles 
driver’s license Pull Report must be on file.  In addition, employees are responsible for 
immediately reporting to his/her immediate supervisor any changes in automobile 
insurance policy or change in the status of his/her driver’s license such as suspension or 
revocation.  Employees who are uninsurable or who create the potential for an increase 
in MCWD’s liability insurance premiums may be reassigned.  Any questions regarding 
this policy should be directed to HR.   

 
In addition to applying good common sense regarding the safe operation of vehicles, the 
following rules pertain when operating any vehicle on MCWD business: 



 

   
34 

• No use of MCWD or personal cell phone is allowed while driving unless a 
proper hands-free device is used to the extent permitted by law. 

• Text messaging while driving is strictly prohibited. 
• Driver and all passengers must wear seat belts. 
• Any employee who is under the influence of or impaired by any illegal drug 

or alcoholic beverage or any legal drug that may impair an employee’s 
abilities must not operate any vehicle. 

• MCWD vehicles are to be used by employees only for official business 
purposes and not for personal use. 

• Use of any vehicle for MCWD business must have the prior approval of the 
employee’s immediate supervisor. Any mechanical defects of a MCWD 
vehicle should be reported by the employee to his/her immediate supervisor 
before operating the vehicle. All employees driving a vehicle on MCWD 
business must immediately report to their immediate supervisor any 
accident and any moving or non-moving violation for which they are cited.  
MCWD accepts no responsibility for citations issued to an employee by any 
law enforcement agency while driving a vehicle on MCWD business under 
any circumstance.  All liabilities created by any citation will be the 
responsibility of employees who receive them. 

• All employees operating vehicles on MCWD business are required to obey 
all traffic regulations. 

• Only designated employees may drive MCWD vehicles.  No employee is 
permitted to lend a MCWD vehicle to a non-employee. 

 
An employee who is involved in an accident in the course of using a MCWD vehicle on 
MCWD business shall adhere to the following procedure: 
 

1. Do not argue, admit liability, or make a statement to anyone except the 
police, the employee’s immediate supervisor, or other appropriate MCWD 
management. 

2. Obtain the names and addresses of: 
Owner of other vehicle(s) 
Insurance Carrier of the other driver(s) 
Witnesses 
Injured person(s) 
Other driver(s), including the number of and state issuing the driver’s license 

3. Note these items: 
Speed of each vehicle with its direction of travel 
Signal given by each driver, if any 
Point and time of accident 
Any mechanical aspect of the other vehicle, which may have caused the 
accident (e.g. no brake lights, etc.) 

4. Promptly report to MCWD management any damage done to a customer, 
the public, an employee, or his/her property. 

 
Accident reports and insurance contacts will be promptly handled by HR.  



 

   
35 

5.8 Use of Personal Vehicle for MCWD Business 
 
Employees who are asked and agree to use his/her personal vehicle in the course of 
performing MCWD business shall be eligible for mileage reimbursement at the current 
IRS established rate.  Travel must be confined to only the authorized destination and 
return location.  
 
Employees who operate his/her own vehicles on MCWD business may do so provided 
the following conditions are met: 
 

• The vehicle must be in sound and safe operating condition and maintained 
as such at the employee’s own expense. 

• The driver and vehicle must be insured in accordance with at least minimum 
coverage and liability standards established by the State of California.  
Proof of insurance is required and should be forwarded to HR. 

• The driver must observe driving conditions and obey all State and local 
driving laws, including but not limited to wearing a seat belt, avoid eating, 
drinking, or the use of a cell phone while driving unless a proper hands-free 
device is used. 

• Text messaging while driving is prohibited. 
• The driver must possess and maintain a valid California driver’s license.  

Employees who are required or may be called upon to use his/her vehicle 
in the course of MCWD business who have his/her driver’s license 
suspended, revoked, or receive driving violations other than parking 
citations are required to promptly report these conditions to the HR/Risk 
Administrator.  Employees who are required to drive in the course of MCWD 
business or operations who have his/her license revoked, suspended or 
receive driving violations other than parking citations or who are involved in 
an accident may be subject to either work modification or termination at 
MCWD’s discretion. 

 
When a privately-owned vehicle that is used for official travel and is damaged in an 
accident not caused by the employee, MCWD will reimburse an employee a maximum of 
$250.00 for his/her automobile insurance deductible. The employee must provide 
satisfactory proof of loss and insurance deductible to HR. 

 
For more information regarding the use of a personal vehicle on MCWD business, please 
see Section 5.B Transportation Expenses, paragraph 2.a-j of the MCWD Expense 
Reimbursement and Travel Policy dated May 2018. 
 
5.9 Reimbursement of Business Expenses 
 
Certain employees may incur business expenses in the course of his/her duties.  
Employees must be authorized in advance to incur business expenses, and all such 
expenditures must be documented on MCWD’s Reimbursement Expense form and 
submitted to the Accounting Department, following the department head’s review and 



 

   
36 

approval.  All original receipts for expenses should be attached to the form with an 
explanation of the nature of the expense.  When and where applicable, the names of the 
persons and the business purpose for the meeting should be included. 

 
Please refer to the MCWD Expense Reimbursement and Travel Policy dated May 2018 
for more information. 
 
5.10 Business Related Travel 
 
Occasionally employees may be reimbursed for the cost of authorized travel to any 
business-related meeting or attendance at training or seminar programs, or attendance 
at an out-of-area conference.  If the travel has been budgeted, and previously authorized 
by the employee’s immediate supervisor, department head and approved by the General 
Manager or designee, reimbursement will be made upon submission of a completed 
MCWD Reimbursement Expense form with accompanying receipts. 

 
Covered Expenses – HR or designee is the training/travel coordinator for MCWD.  He/she 
will make all travel/training arrangements using the most cost effective and time efficient 
mode of travel and accommodations.  A list of travel reminders will be provided along with 
a confirmation memo to employees who are scheduled to attend any cost-related training 
or travel on MCWD business.  Employees are expected to use prudence and good 
judgment when ordering meals and incurring travel-related expenses.  Travel related 
expenses include those costs incurred in the use of rental car fees (where necessary), 
bus, shuttles, and taxi fares. Reimbursement expenses per Section 5.8 will apply for pre-
approved use of the employee’s personal vehicle.  

 
For more information, please refer to the MCWD Expense Reimbursement and Travel 
Policy dated May 2018. 

 
5.11 Time Off To Meet and Confer 
 
Except as may otherwise be authorized by an existing MOU, employees shall be 
authorized time off with pay to meet and confer regarding terms and conditions of 
employment as follows: 
 

A. Authorized representatives of the Marina Coast Water District Employees 
Association (MCWDEA) and the Teamsters Local 890 (Union) meeting with the 
General Manager or designee regarding negotiating, preparing or interpreting an 
MOU between the District and its employees. 

B. During the last six months prior to the expiration of an existing MOU, the MCWDEA 
and the Union may meet with his/her authorized representatives for the purpose 
of discussing negotiations. 

 
In addition, employees shall be authorized time off with pay to attend one meeting each 
calendar year of the MCWDEA in which general business of the Association or Union is 
conducted.  



 

   
37 

Notice to all immediate supervisors should occur no later than three (3) working days prior 
to a meeting described above, including the date, time and location.  Due to operational 
requirements, a department manager may require appropriate employees to remain on 
the job during all or part of the meeting.   
 
5.12 Gift or Gratuity Acceptance 
 
Employees of MCWD are prohibited from accepting, directly or indirectly, any gift, rebate, 
money, or anything else of value greater than $25 from suppliers, consultants or 
contractors with whom the District has past, current or potential business relations..  
Awards and promotional items shall not constitute a gift if received as a non-personal item 
by the employee, and the item is distributed to all employees by the contributor.   
 
Similarly, it is strictly prohibited for any employee to solicit any gift, gratuity or other item, 
service or product of monetary value from any other person in connection with his/her 
employment with MCWD.  Such actions will be subject to discipline up to and including 
termination.  An employee having any questions concerning this policy, or concerning 
specific instances, should direct them to his/her immediate supervisor or HR. 
 
5.13 Visitors 

 
All visitors must enter MCWD facilities at the main entrance and must not enter work 
areas without specific management permission.  Any unauthorized person or persons on 
MCWD property will be asked to leave immediately.  Those employees who allow 
unauthorized visitors to enter the premises in any way may be subject to corrective action.  
 
5.14 Separation of Employment 

 
Separation of employment can be either voluntary or involuntary and may be initiated 
either by the employee or MCWD.   
  
Voluntary Separation  
When an employee resigns, the separation is considered voluntary.  Employees are 
requested to give advance written notice, to his/her immediate supervisor.  Generally, at 
least two (2) weeks’ notice is expected in order to commence the recruitment process for 
replacement of a departing employee. 

 
Involuntary Separation/Termination  
An involuntary separation/termination is one that is initiated by MCWD for any reason 
including a reduction in force.   
 
Job Abandonment  
An employee who has been absent for three (3) consecutive scheduled workdays without 
notification to his/her immediate supervisor, and without legitimate extenuating 
circumstances that can be verified, will be considered to have abandoned his/her job and 



 

   
38 

the employee will be terminated pursuant to this Handbook.  The last day worked will be 
the date of separation.   

 
Failure to return from an approved leave of absence or vacation within the time limits 
established also will be considered as a voluntary termination of employment without 
notice.  The date of the expiration of the leave or vacation will be the separation date. 
 
Exit Interviews  
Whenever possible and appropriate, exit interviews normally will be conducted by HR or 
designee for all separating employees.  This interview allows the separating employee to 
communicate his/her views on working at MCWD as well as the job requirements, 
operations, and training needs of the position.   

 
Final Pay  
A terminated employee shall receive his/her final pay on the regular payroll cycle.  
 
Return of MCWD Property  
It is the responsibility of any separating employee to return all property issued by MCWD 
at any time during employment.  All such property, including any keys, identification 
badge, laptop computer, cell phone, pager, manuals, documents, and other items that the 
employee may have in his/her possession, must be returned on or before the last day of 
work.   
 
5.15 Reduction in Force/Layoff and Re-Employment 
 
A layoff is normally an involuntary termination that is initiated by MCWD as a result of 
reorganization, position elimination, declining operations/lack of work, or lack of funds and 
not otherwise caused by the affected employee.   
 
Layoff of employees within each category of employment status and within a targeted job 
classification shall be based on seniority unless the employee’s past job performance or 
disciplinary record justifies an exception to seniority ranking.  For purposes of layoff, 
seniority shall be defined as length of continuous service while an employee of MCWD. 
 
Authorization  
The General Manager or designee may lay off any employee because of lack of 
appropriate funds, curtailment or lack of work, reorganization, abolition of position, or 
other reasons.  Such lay-off shall take effect fourteen (14) working days after the receipt 
by the employee of a notice in writing of the proposed layoff action. The decision of the 
General Manager or designee to lay off employees is not subject to the grievance process  
in Section 12. 
 
Order of Layoff  
When it becomes necessary because of lack of work, lack of funds or other reasons to 
reduce the number of employees within a given department or job classification, the 
General Manager or designee will prepare a lay-off list and/or notice. 



 

   
39 

Lay-offs shall be made among all employees in the same job classification within MCWD 
in the following order: 

 
1. Temporary employees. 
2. Employees in an initial introductory period. 
3. Regular employees. 

 
Order of Re-employment  
For each classification in which lay-offs occur, MCWD will maintain a list.  The list shall 
order the employees by position title, date of lay-off from first employee laid off to most 
recent employee laid off. Generally, any employee laid off shall be given preference over 
external applicants in the event the same position, or substantially similar position having 
reasonably similar requirements, becomes available during the reemployment period. 
 
An employee appearing on the layoff list shall be eligible for re-hire for one (1) year 
following lay-off, provided the employee is qualified to perform the essential functions of 
the position offered.  Employees appearing on the list will be offered re-employment in 
the inverse order of lay-off. If more than one (1) employee was terminated on the same 
day, the employee with the greatest seniority will be offered re-employment first.  

 
It is the responsibility of the employee to keep MCWD advised of his/her availability to 
work, including a current address and telephone number(s) at which the employee may 
be reached. 

 
Notice of Re-Employment  
MCWD shall notify the laid off employee of the opportunity for re-employment by certified 
mail, return receipt requested. The Notice of Re-employment shall be sent to the address 
provided to MCWD by the employee.  The notice will specify the date and time the 
employee’s re-employment is scheduled to begin. The notice shall provide that the 
employee must notify MCWD of his/her intent to accept re-employment within seventy-
two (72) hours of receiving the Notice of Re-employment. Failure to accept the offer of re-
employment within seventy-two (72) hours, and/or failure to report for work on the date 
and time specified in the Notice of Re-employment shall be considered as the employee’s 
waiver of reemployment consideration by MCWD. 
 
Benefits for Employees Re-hired After Lay-Off  
An employee re-hired following a lay-off will retain the level of seniority and benefits that 
were in effect at the time of the employee’s layoff.  
 
Section 6. Classification and Compensation Plan  

 
The Board of Directors of MCWD establishes, by resolution, a classification and 
compensation plan.  The classification plan provides a complete and continuous inventory 
of all classifications as well as job descriptions and specifications for each position.  
Positions having similar duties and responsibilities shall be classified and compensated 
on a uniform basis.  The compensation plan creates the salary ranges and steps or rates 



 

   
40 

of pay for positions within each bargaining unit.  The Board of Directors shall administer 
the compensation plan for the General Manager.  HR shall administer the compensation 
plan for all other MCWD employees. 
 
Classification Plan  
The classification plan shall consist of groupings of positions which are approximately 
equal in difficulty and responsibility, consisting of the same general qualifications, and 
which can be compensated with the same range of pay for similar working conditions. 
 
Each classification specification shall include the title, a description of duties and 
responsibilities of the work, and minimum qualification criteria of the person who performs 
the work.  Classification specifications may, from time to time, be reviewed and updated 
at the direction of HR.  The General Manager or designee shall make the final 
determination on all actions arising under this provision, subject to approval by the Board 
of Directors where appropriate. 
 
Compensation Plan  
The basic compensation plan of MCWD consists of a progression of salary ranges, each 
containing six (6) steps.  Upon original appointment with MCWD, an employee will 
normally be placed in the first step of the salary range.  In cases where it is difficult to 
secure qualified personnel, or if a person of higher qualifications is engaged, the General 
Manager or designee may authorize a higher initial step. 
 
Merit Increase  
Increases in compensation within an employee’s range are not automatic, but are based 
on merit.  Performance evaluations are conducted annually, January through December 
for each employee.  Based on the evaluation, an employee may be eligible for a merit or 
step increase within the position’s pay range.  All merit increases must be approved by 
the General Manager or designee.  
 
Demotion  
In the case of a demotion after a promotion, employees will return to the step in the salary 
range held prior to promotion.  An employee who is demoted to a job classification with a 
lower salary range shall be placed in the salary step for the new classification closest to 
that received by the employee prior to demotion. 
 
6.0 Longevity Steps 
 
The longevity pay plan recognizes the long-term service of regular, full-time MCWD 
employees.  Longevity pay is based on total service and computed as a percentage of 
the employee’s base rate of pay at the date of eligibility.  Service toward longevity is 
credited for each month in which an employee is in pay status for one-half or more of the 
regularly scheduled work days and paid holidays in the month. 



 

   
41 

The increase will become effective on the anniversary date.  If an employee goes on leave 
in an unpaid status, longevity will be pro-rated.  Employees on paid disability leave are 
an exception.   

 
Upon reaching the following anniversaries, employees shall receive longevity pay 
increases as follows: 
 
 10 years of service   5% pay increase 
 15 years of service   5% pay increase 
 20 years of service   5% pay increase 
 25 years of service   2.5% pay increase 
 30 years of service   2.5% pay increase 
 
Section 7. General Work Conditions 
 
7.0 Overtime 
 
Employees whose positions do not meet certain legal requirements necessary for 
exemption from applicable overtime laws are classified “non-exempt.”  Non-exempt 
employees are paid overtime rates for each hour of weekly overtime work performed, as 
requested and approved in advance by his/her immediate supervisor.  Federal wage and 
hour laws and MOU’s govern overtime rates and conditions.  Non-exempt employees 
may be paid either on a salaried or an hourly basis. 
 
Any questions regarding exemption status should be directed to HR. 
 
All non-exempt employees who are eligible for overtime shall be paid in accordance with 
applicable federal regulations and as provided in this policy.  Overtime shall be defined as 
time actually worked in excess of forty (40) hours in a workweek or over eight (8) or nine (9) 
hours in a workday, depending upon the employee’s regularly scheduled shift.  All overtime 
work shall be authorized by the appropriate representatives of management and be paid at 
time and a half (1.5) for all hours worked in excess of his/her regularly scheduled daily hours 
or may be credited with the equivalent compensatory time off at the option of the affected 
employee. Time worked in excess of twelve (12) hours in one (1) work day shall be paid at 
double (2) time.   
 
For the purpose of this section, paid holiday, vacation, and compensatory time off hours 
shall be considered as hours worked for the purpose of determining overtime.  This does 
not apply to sick leave.   
 
Employees who are statutorily non-exempt from state and federal overtime requirements 
and who may be required to work on a holiday will be permitted to choose compensatory 
time off at double time and one half (2.5) the regular salary rate for the holiday worked, 
or monetary payment for the day.  If the monetary payment is selected, it will result in the 
employee being paid for the holiday at the regular salary rate. If the monetary payment is 
selected by the employee and the total credited hours for that week exceed forty (40), the 



 

   
42 

employee will be paid for the hours in excess of forty (40) as overtime at a salary rate of 
double the regular salary rate.  
 
7.1 Compensatory Time 
 
Non-exempt employees working overtime shall elect whether to receive overtime pay at one 
and one-half hours (1.5) for each hour of overtime worked or double time pay at two hours 
(2) for each hours of double time worked, or compensatory time hours at the same 
conversion rate.  Compensatory time is capped at 240 hours 
 
Payment for compensatory time at termination shall be for all available compensatory time 
at the employee’s prevailing hourly rate of pay. 
 
7.2 Overtime Exemption Status 
 
Employees classified as exempt from overtime under the FLSA (for purposes of this 
policy, such employees shall be called “Management Employees”) will be considered 
salaried or exempt.  In consideration of unusual hours worked routinely in excess of forty 
(40) hours per week, the Board of Directors has authorized a Management Leave 
provision as provided in Section 10.14. 
 
A management employee is normally expected to be present during the hours of his/her 
department and devote all of the hours necessary to fulfill his/her duties.  It is recognized 
that the number of hours actually worked in a particular week may be greater or less than 
forty (40) depending on job demands or time off for holidays, vacation, management leave 
or sick leave. 
 
Because management employees receive additional leave in recognition of the job 
demands of his/her respective positions, principles of public accountability prohibit 
Flexible Scheduling to be a substitute for using management or sick leave.  Accordingly, 
except as otherwise provided in a current MOU, any time off, for any purpose in excess 
of three (3) hours in any one day, shall be charged as vacation, management leave or 
sick leave, as appropriate.  Management employees are responsible for notifying his/her 
immediate supervisor when taking time off in a manner that is acceptable to the 
supervisor.  
 
The appropriate management employee's supervisor is responsible to monitor the 
performance and attendance of management employees to prevent abuse of this policy.  
Bona fide abuses may be subject to disciplinary action in accordance with MCWD policy.  
The General Manager or designee shall be responsible to ensure uniform implementation 
of this policy. 
 
Overtime and/or compensatory time off, or cash conversions of same, shall not accrue 
for management employees. 



 

   
43 

Timesheet Policy – Pursuant to the FLSA, management employees are not required to 
complete an accounting of his/her time for pay purposes.  However, because MCWD is 
reimbursed for some of its personnel costs pursuant to grant programs and various 
agreements, it must maintain a record of the amount of time spent on each project.  
Therefore, timesheets shall be completed by all management employees.  Timesheets 
completed by management employees shall be used strictly for staffing level evaluation 
and accounting as required by grant programs and other agreements. 
 
7.3 Work Week and Hours 
 
The regular work week shall be Monday to Friday, eight (8) or nine (9) hours per day 
depending upon the employee’s regularly scheduled shift.  In an emergency or in unusual 
circumstances the work week may be changed. 
 

Beach Office: 
Regular hours of operation are 7:30 am to 5:30 pm.  Lunch periods shall be staggered 
so that continuous coverage of the office is provided.  The hours of management 
personnel may vary from time to time according to the workload. 
 
Ord Office: 
Regular hours of operation are 6:30 am to 5:30 pm with thirty (30) minutes or one (1) 
hour for lunch.  The hours of management personnel may vary from time to time 
according to the workload.   
 

Alternative Work Week  
The alternative work week addresses the need for flexibility for both the employer and 
employee.  It allows employers to better utilize facilities and equipment by reducing idle 
time, enhances customer service due to potential for expanded service hours, and 
maximizes the value of employee compensation and benefit expenses.  In addition, the 
alternative work week can improve the ability to recruit and retain workers and decrease 
tardiness and absenteeism.  Employees can benefit from less time commuting, reduction 
in transportation costs, childcare or other daily work-related expenses, and possible 
increased morale and productivity. 
 
A 9/80 compressed workweek is available for employees who elect this option.  Managers 
will have the discretion to consider and implement this schedule based on the operational 
and managerial needs of MCWD.  A compressed workweek is one in which employees 
work the same amount of hours in fewer days than the customary number of days per 
week.  Nothing shall preclude MCWD from changing the hours of operation to better meet 
the needs of MCWD. 
 
All employees of MCWD can request such schedule and MCWD agrees that the requests 
will not be unreasonably denied.  Participation in the alternative work week affects the 
schedules of others; therefore, once established, changes can only be approved by the 
department manager and General Manager or designee. 



 

   
44 

Each employee requesting to work an alternative work week must complete an Alternative 
Schedule Authorization form before participating in the plan and submit the form to Payroll 
one (1) full pay period prior to beginning any alternative work schedule.   
 
Work Week Established  

The FLSA workweek for all MCWD employees shall be 168 regularly recurring 
hours. For employees working the 5/8 work schedule, it shall begin on Sunday at 
12:00 a.m. and end at 11:59 p.m. the following Saturday. For employees working 
a 9/80 alternative work week schedule, each employee's designated FLSA 
workweek (168 hours in length) shall begin exactly four hours after the start time 
of his/her eight-hour shift on the day of the week that corresponds with the 
employee's alternating regular day off. For employees working a 9/80 alternative 
work week schedule, each employee's designated FLSA workweek (168 hours in 
length) shall begin exactly four hours after the start time of his/her eight hour 
shift on the day of the week that corresponds with the employee's alternating 
regular day off. 

  
 
For Engineering and Accounting staff, normal working hours are between 7:00 am to 5:30 
pm. 
 
Administration office hours are from 7:00am to 5:30pm Monday through Friday, while the 
Ord office hours are from 6:30am to 5:30pm Monday through Friday, however, work 
schedules for employees vary throughout our District.  Staffing needs and operational 
demands necessitate variations in starting and ending times. 
 
Leave While Working an Alternative Work Week Schedule  
If the employee is working an alternative work week schedule and takes sick, vacation, 
compensatory, or management leave time on a regularly scheduled nine (9)-hour day, 
he/she must take nine (9) hours of leave.   
 
For further clarification, please contact HR for further clarification. 
 
7.4 Meal Break 
 
All employees shall be entitled to a duty-free, unpaid meal period of a minimum of thirty 
(30) minutes, which should be taken no more than five (5) hours after the beginning of 
the employee’s shift.  The length and the time of the meal period taken shall be 
determined by the immediate supervisor consistent with the employee’s established work 
schedule.  Employees are required to take this break; however, an on-duty meal period 
may occur due to the nature of the work being performed.  In this case, the meal period 
will be paid.  
 



 

   
45 

7.5 Rest Period 
 
Employees are provided two (2) fifteen (15) minute rest periods for each daily work shift 
worked.  Rest periods are considered paid work time.  Rest periods may not be added to 
meal breaks and are not to be used at the beginning or end of a daily work shift. 
 
7.6 Pay Periods and Paydays 
 
Pay Periods  
MCWD pays all employees for time worked on a bi-weekly basis.  Each pay period 
contains fourteen (14) consecutive calendar days.  Pay periods begin at 12:01 pm on 
every other Friday and end at 12:00 pm every other Friday. 
 
Pay Days  
MCWD paydays occur on the Friday following the end of the pay period.  Every effort will 
be made to distribute pay checks on the Thursday before pay day, but pay checks may 
not be cashed until Friday.   

 
Employees are expected to report any errors in a paycheck to his/her immediate 
supervisor who will coordinate any appropriate corrections with the Accounting 
Department.  
7.7 Timesheets and Recordkeeping 

 
In accordance with applicable federal and state wage and hour laws, MCWD is required 
to maintain records for all hours worked by non-exempt employees.  To comply with these 
laws, non-exempt employees are given a timesheet.  A timesheet is an official, legal 
document and therefore must be accurately maintained.  Timesheets should be kept on 
a daily basis and turned in to the employee’s immediate supervisor/manager for approval 
prior to the end of each pay period.   

 
Completed, signed and approved timesheets are to be forwarded to the Accounting 
Department no later than Friday at 1pm, at the end of the pay period. 
 
It is the responsibility of every non-exempt employee to accurately record time worked.  
Federal and state laws require MCWD to keep an accurate record of time worked in order 
to calculate employee pay and benefits.  Time worked is the time actually spent on the 
job performing assigned duties. 
 
It is the employee’s responsibility to sign his/her timesheet certifying the accuracy of all 
time recorded and that meal periods have been made available.  Employees are 
responsible for the accuracy of his/her own timesheet.  Altering, falsifying, tampering with 
timesheets, or recording time on another employee's time record is a serious violation of 
MCWD rules and may result in corrective action, up to and including termination.  
 
Employees may report in no earlier than ten (10) minutes before the start of his/her shift 
and clock out no later than ten (10) minutes after completion of the shift, unless overtime 



 

   
46 

work has been authorized by an immediate supervisor.  Overtime work must always be 
approved in advance before it is performed.  In accordance with federal law, MCWD 
rounds this time to the nearest one-quarter hour/fifteen (15) minutes. 
 
7.8 Direct Deposit 
 
MCWD offers direct deposit of paychecks for employees who select this service and who 
bank with institutions who are members of the Automated Clearing House.  Net pay for 
employees participating in direct deposit will be available at the start of the banking 
business day on each designated payday.   
 
To begin direct deposit, employees must complete a designation form including account 
number(s), bank routing number(s) (ABA), financial institution name(s), amount(s) 
desired, and provide a voided check.  As required by the Federal Reserve, the first direct 
deposit normally takes place after an initial “test” pay period to assure all information 
provided is accurate.   
 
Each payday, employees enrolled in direct deposit will receive a direct deposit pay stub 
stating all payroll deduction information, and the net deposit made.  Employees should 
not call Payroll with questions regarding the deposit until the actual payroll date has 
passed.  If there is a question, it is recommended the employee call the banking institution 
directly. 
 
7.9 Pay Advances 
 
MCWD does not allow pay advances on either earned or scheduled but not yet worked 
hours.  Employees are therefore not eligible to receive manually processed paychecks 
for hours worked through an existing pay period in advance of MCWD’s normal payday 
regardless of the reason for such request. 
 
Employees may, however, elect to cash out accumulated vacation, and compensatory 
leave provided the employee maintains at least forty (40) hours of accrued vacation credit.  
Cash out must be done in conjunction with a regular paycheck and requested no less 
than five (5) days before the end of a pay period.   
 
7.10 Garnishments 
 
A garnishment is a legal levy by a creditor against an employee’s pay.  MCWD expects 
all employees to manage his/her personal finances so as not to involve the MCWD.  All 
garnishments and other attachment orders that are required by law will be honored.  An 
employee who suspects this may happen to him/her should review the situation with HR 
immediately.  Sometimes arrangements can be made to resolve the situation before it 
becomes costly and embarrassing. 
 



 

   
47 

7.11  Meal Allowance 
 
If a non-exempt employee is unexpectedly ordered to work due to an emergency that 
occurs at least two (2) hours immediately preceding or following his/her normal work shift 
and conditions do not allow the employee to go home for a meal, MCWD will either 
provide a meal, or the employee may submit a receipt and be reimbursed for food and 
non-alcoholic beverages.  Meal reimbursements will be paid at the rates designated in 
the MCWD Expense Reimbursement and Travel Policy dated May 2018.  
 
For the purpose of this provision, "unexpectedly ordered" means the order was given on 
the same day the employee had to perform the work. 
 
Section 8. Special Pay Practices 
 
8.0 Show-Up or Reporting Pay 
 
Non-exempt, full and part-time employees who report for work on their regularly 
scheduled shift and are not assigned work or are furnished less than one-half (.5) the 
usual scheduled day’s work will be paid for one-half (.5) the usual scheduled day’s work, 
or for two (2) hours, whichever is greater, at the regular rate of pay.  At MCWD’s option, 
employees in these circumstances may be assigned to other work not normally performed 
by the employee, instead of being sent home.  
 
8.1 Call-Out Pay 
 
Responding to call-outs is mandatory.  Non-exempt employees who are called back to 
work outside his/her normally scheduled workweek and/or normally scheduled working 
hours will be paid at time and one-half (1.5) his/her regular pay rate for actual time worked 
but not less than two (2) hours, whichever is greater.   
 
Once an employee has initially been called back to duty under call-out conditions, no 
subsequent call-outs which occur within the initial call-out minimum period of two (2) 
hours will be credited.  
 
Since call-out time is paid at the normal overtime rate, such hours will not be included as 
hours worked for purposes of determining overtime pay eligibility over forty (40) hours in 
the work week.  This is referred to as a “no pyramiding” rule in calculating overtime under 
the federal forty (40) hours worked standard. 
 
8.2 On-Call/Standby Pay 
 
Due to certain classification responsibilities, MCWD may require employees to be 
assigned to on-call or standby duty.  On-call or standby duty refers to a situation where a 
non-exempt, off duty employee, holds him/herself available to immediate response as 
directed by management.  Assigned standby shall be on an as-needed basis and 



 

   
48 

compensated at the rate of pay in the applicable MOU.  Additionally, the call-out payment 
as described in Section 8.1 above will apply.   
 
On-call or standby duty shall be defined as that circumstance that requires an employee 
to: 
 

1. Be ready to respond within thirty (30) minutes to a call for service; 
2. Be readily available at all hours by telephone or other agreed-upon communication 

equipment; and 
3. Not engage in activities that might impair assigned duties upon call.  Use of alcohol, 

illegal drugs, and/or any substance that would affect duty performance is prohibited 
while on standby duty. 
 

On-call/standby pay is compensation given to an employee for hours in which he/she 
agrees to respond should there be a requirement to report for work.  If an on-call/standby 
employee is called to respond to a telephone advisory situation, no additional pay is 
warranted, whereas if the on-call/standby employee is required to respond to an on-site 
operational need, then the employee will be paid under the Call-Out provisions in Section 
8.1.  In that instance, the employee will resume his/her on-call/standby pay rate upon 
completion of the call-back work. 
 
8.3 Seminar Attendance and Education Reimbursement 
 
It may be necessary for employees to attend training programs, seminars, conferences, 
lectures, meetings or other outside activities for the benefit of MCWD or the individual 
employee.  Attendance at such activities may be required by MCWD or requested by 
individual employees.  However, attendance will not be considered an officially authorized 
activity, subject to the policies on reimbursement and compensation, unless prior written 
approval has been given by the General Manager or designee.   
 
To obtain approval, employees wishing to attend an activity must submit a completed 
Request for Training/Travel Form to his/her immediate supervisor, department manager, 
and, if approved, to the General Manager or designee detailing all relevant information, 
including date, hours, location, cost, expenses, nature, purpose and justification for 
attendance. 
 
Seminar Attendance  
Where attendance is required or authorized by MCWD, MCWD will reimburse reasonable 
expenses that generally include registration fees, materials, meals (excluding alcoholic 
beverages), transportation and parking.  Reimbursement policies regarding these 
expenses should be discussed with the employee’s immediate supervisor or the HR/Risk 
Administrator in advance. Employee attendance, when required, will be considered time 
worked in accordance with applicable state law and the FLSA. 



 

   
49 

Seminars, conference attendance and other training programs in which an employee’s 
participation would be beneficial to MCWD may be approved by the General Manager or 
designee on an individual discretionary basis, and based on available funding. 
 
For more information, please refer to the MCWD Expense Reimbursement and Travel 
Policy dated May 2018. 
 
Education Reimbursement  
The Employee Tuition Reimbursement Program is intended to reimburse out-of-pocket 
expenses for tuition, books, supplies and other incidental expenses specifically 
associated with an employee’s course of study and encourage employees to continue 
his/her education in order to meet present and future MCWD needs to: 

 
• increase effective work performance and employee efficiency; 
• facilitate MCWD promotion from within; and, 
• attract and retain individuals having superior ability and potential for 

advancement. 
 

Eligible Courses/Tuition and Book Reimbursement  
Based on an employee’s advance submission of a completed Education Reimbursement 
request form, including the supervisor and department manager’s recommendation and 
General Manager or designee’s approval, a regular full-time employee will be reimbursed 
for books and tuition for a job-related course of study.  In order to assure that the particular 
educational program is authorized, the employee is required to submit a course/class 
description along with the reimbursement form.  The supervisor shall evaluate the job 
relationship to the course of study based on the employee's current or potential future job 
description. 

 
The employee will receive reimbursement of the course if he/she receives a grade of "C" 
or higher. Confirmation transcripts or evidence which verifies the student's grade or 
“pass/fail” completion must be submitted to the HR/Risk Administrator upon completion 
of the course and prior to receiving reimbursement. 
 
Courses must be taken on the employee's own time unless otherwise authorized by the 
General Manager or designee. 
 

8.4 Certification Incentive Bonus 
 
Certain personnel holding positions in the Operations and Maintenance (O&M) and 
Laboratory Departments are required to obtain certification commensurate with his/her 
position from the California Department of Public Health (CDPH), California Water 
Environment Association (CWEA), the American Water Works Association 
California/Nevada Section (AWWA CA/NV), State Water Resources Control Board 
(SWRCB), or other certifying boards.   



 

   
50 

Those who become employed by MCWD in positions requiring certification and whose 
employment commences after the effective date of this certification requirement, must 
obtain the specified grade of certification within one (1) year following the date upon which 
they have fulfilled the experience requirement.  However, employees must obtain the 
required level of certification before they can be promoted to any other position for which 
they apply.  For more information on what type of certification is required, employees should 
refer to the classification job description and discuss with his/her immediate supervisor. 
 
MCWD shall pay one-time bonuses of two hundred fifty dollars ($250) per certificate for 
employees who obtain the following certificates from the SWRCB: Wastewater Treatment 
Operator II, III, IV, V; from the CDPH: Water Distribution Operator II, III, IV, V, and Water 
Treatment Operator II, III, IV, V; CWEA: Collection System Maintenance II, III, IV, V; 
Laboratory Analyst II, III, IV, V; AWWA CA-NV: Water Quality Analyst II, III, IV; Backflow 
Prevention Assembly Tester, Cross Connection Control Specialist, Water Conservation 
Practitioner I, II, III; and, any other pertinent certifications on which the parties may agree. 
 
After providing proof of completion of a course of study or passing of a certification or 
licensing exam, employees will be reimbursed for the cost of licenses, certificates and 
renewals which are required to perform his/her job duties.  
 
8.5 Certification Pay 
 
As an incentive to encourage employees to acquire knowledge in areas related to current 
or future position(s), MCWD provides a one-time, ongoing, salary increase based on 
certification at a higher level than what is required for the current classification, provided the 
classification is maintained. 
 
Probationary employees are not eligible to receive certification bonuses or certification pay 
until they complete the initial MCWD probationary period and satisfy the current job 
specification certification for new employees. 
 
Only one (1) certification incentive will be approved above the requirement of the current 
classification.  To avoid confusion as to which certifications are authorized, the employee 
should request approval from his/her immediate supervisor and the General Manager or 
designee before beginning this program. 



 

   
51 

 
System Operator II 
Collection Operator II 
Laboratory Analyst II 
Water Quality Analyst II 

Obtains Grade III 
certification from CWEA, 
CDPH, SWRCB, AWWA 
CA-NV 

Receives 5% ongoing 
increase (as long as 
certification is maintained) 

System Operator III 
Collection Operator III 
Laboratory Analyst III 
Water Quality Analyst III 

Obtains Grade IV 
certification from CWEA, 
CDPH, SWRCB, AWWA 
CA-NV 

Receives a 5% ongoing 
increase (as long as 
certification is maintained 
and not a requirement of the 
position) 

System Operator IV 
Collection Operator IV 
Laboratory Analyst IV 
Water Quality Analyst IV 

Obtains Grade V 
certification from CWEA, 
CDPH, SWRCB, AWWA 
CA-NV 

Receives 5% ongoing 
increase (as long as 
certification is maintained 
and not a requirement of the 
position) 

 
The maximum amount allowable is five percent (5%) and certifications cannot be “stacked”.  
 
Certification for positions not listed above will also be considered.  The level of bonus will be 
set after evaluation of the program and with respect to the above specified bonuses. 
Management employees are not eligible for this certification pay incentive. 
 
Section 9. Absenteeism  
 
9.0 Attendance  
 
Employees of MCWD are expected to be punctual and maintain regular attendance. 
Tardiness and absenteeism place an additional burden on fellow employees and cause 
the rescheduling of work assignments.  Good attendance is an essential element in 
determining satisfactory job performance.  An unsatisfactory attendance record can result 
in corrective action, up to and including termination. 
 
Occasionally, it may be necessary for an employee to be absent from work as a result of 
illness, injury, or other personal reasons.  In such cases, employees are expected to give 
his/her supervisor as much advance notice as possible before the beginning of his/her 
scheduled starting time.  Failure to provide this notification within one (1) hour before start 
time may result in the unreported period of absence being considered as leave without 
pay. 
 
Reporting an Absence/Tardiness  
For any absence or tardiness, an employee shall speak or leave a message with his/her 
immediate supervisor or department head.  Speaking or leaving a message with anyone 
else does not meet MCWD’s reporting requirements.  Emails are not acceptable for this 
purpose.  If an employee expects to be late or is unable to show up for work, the employee 
shall call his/her immediate supervisor, when possible, at least one (1) hour in advance.   



 

   
52 

 
Tardiness occurs when an employee arrives late at the required workstation and/or is not 
dressed and ready to work.  Excessive tardiness occurs when an employee is late more 
than ten (10) minutes on more than three (3) occasions within any thirty (30) day period.  
The immediate supervisor will advise the employee when excessive tardiness has 
occurred. 
 
Excessive absenteeism occurs when the number of accumulated absences exceeds 
twelve (12) days in any twelve (12) month period and/or three (3) separate days in a one 
(1) month period prior to the most recent absence.   
 
In order to protect the health of other employees, MCWD may also require a health care 
provider’s verification that an employee who has been absent for health-related reasons 
is capable of resuming his/her job responsibilities before being permitted to return to 
work. 
 
Any falsification, misrepresentation, or other violation of this attendance policy can result 
in disciplinary action, up to and including termination. 
 
Approved Time Off  
Employees who know in advance they will be absent or late must make the necessary 
arrangements with their immediate supervisor or department manager.  If time off from 
work is needed, please schedule and obtain prior approval for any intended absence by 
submitting a written request for time off in accordance with the applicable procedures in 
this Handbook.  
 
Planned time off includes any situation that prevents an employee from reporting to work 
on time for any scheduled workday or time off that needs to be scheduled (e.g., vacations, 
doctor’s appointments, personal obligations, leaves of absence, etc.). If prior 
arrangements have not been made, employees must discuss an absence or inability to 
be at work on time directly with his/her immediate supervisor. 
 
MCWD recognizes that it is sometimes necessary for employees to take care of personal 
business during the workday.  However, personal business should be kept to a minimum 
and should be conducted during break times whenever possible. 
 
Section 10. Employee Benefits 
 
This section of the Handbook is intended to provide a general overview of the benefits 
currently available to eligible employees of MCWD.  State and/or federal laws govern 
some of these benefits, while others are determined by MCWD or governed by a benefit 
provider.  Should there be a discrepancy between the contents of this Handbook and a 
provision of an applicable law, summary plan document (SPD) or contract, then the law, 
SPD, or contract will prevail. 



 

   
53 

All eligible employees shall be provided information regarding benefit plans during his/her 
probationary period.  This information includes SPD’s, which are detailed benefit 
documents.  It is recommended that employees understand fully all costs and insurance 
coverage prior to obtaining care.  Employees are responsible for being familiar with the 
provisions and limitations of the health care insurance, as detailed in the SPD provided 
at the time of orientation. 
 
MCWD has the right and the obligation to administer the various insurance programs.  
These rights and obligations include, but are not limited to, the right to select the carriers 
and insurance claims administrators after consideration of the recommendations of the 
health insurance labor-management committee and prior meeting and consultation with 
the appropriate employee groups.  In the event a change in insurance carriers is made, 
an open enrollment period will be authorized. 
 
Eligibility  
Regular full-time employees working thirty two (32) or more hours per week are eligible 
to enroll in the group benefit plans.  Effective dates of coverage may vary depending upon 
the carrier(s).   
 
NOTE: It is the employee’s responsibility to notify the HR/Risk Administrator upon 

divorce, termination of Domestic Partnership, over-age dependent, or any 
event that changes the status of dependency within 31 days from the date 
of event. 

 
Payment of Premiums  
Depending upon the type of coverage selected, the monthly insurance premiums for 
eligible employees may be partially or fully paid by MCWD in accordance with the 
applicable MOU and/or authorizing Resolution by the Board of Directors.  Presently, 
MCWD pays the entire premium cost for employee benefit coverage of medical, dental, 
vision, life, accidental death and dismemberment, and short term and long-term disability 
insurance. Employees always pay the monthly insurance premiums for any voluntary 
insurance coverage elected for themselves and/or dependents through authorized pre-
tax payroll deductions. 

 
Enrollment in MCWD’s health plans is not automatic.  Each new regular, full-time, 
employee will need to complete the appropriate Enrollment Form(s).   
 
10.0 Medical 

 
MCWD provides medical insurance through a Preferred Provider Organization (PPO).  
Eligibility to enroll is available during the thirty-one (31)-day period after a regular 
employee is hired or a new dependent is acquired, during the annual open-enrollment 
period, after a ninety (90)-day waiting period as a “late enrollee”, or during special 
enrollment circumstances.   



 

   
54 

If an employee enrolls during the thirty-one (31) days after employment begins, the 
effective date of coverage is the first of the month following date of hire. 
 
10.1 Retiree Health Benefits 
 
At the option of the employee, MCWD will provide continued medical benefits for retired 
MCWD employees provided the minimum requirements established by MCWD are met.  
The requirements shall be as follows:    
            

A. The employee shall be at least fifty-five (55) years of age and have a total of 
twenty (20) years of service with MCWD.  

B. MCWD will pay fifty percent (50%) of the medical insurance cost for the 
employee at retirement who meets the requirements stated in item A above. 

C. All employees who exercise this option and who retire with twenty (20) years 
of service are required to pay fifty percent (50%) of the cost of medical 
insurance and shall make his/her payments on the first of each month after 
retirement.  Any retired employee who fails to make the required payment to 
MCWD shall have all benefits cancelled if not paid within thirty (30) days of the 
due date. 

D. Retirees shall be notified in writing of the amounts owed to MCWD at the time 
of retirement.  The amount paid shall be calculated based on fifty percent (50%) 
of the rates charged by MCWD's insurance carrier at the time of retirement.  
The employee shall be notified in writing of any changes in the amount owed 
each year. 

 
In the event costs are increased by a carrier, the MCWD will notify the bargaining units 
and will meet and confer on the proposed change. 

 
10.2 Dental 
 
All eligible employees are enrolled in MCWD’s dental plan.  Dependent coverage is 
optional.  This dental program covers several categories of benefits, when the services 
are provided by a licensed dentist and when they are necessary and customary under the 
generally accepted standards of dental practice. 
 
10.3 Vision 
 
All eligible employees are enrolled in MCWD’s vision plan.  Dependent coverage is 
optional.  Benefits for examination, lenses, frames or contact lenses are provided based 
upon the restrictions of the plan. 
 
10.4 Term Life Insurance and Accidental Death and Dismemberment (AD&D) 
 
MCWD pays the full cost of the premium for term life and AD&D insurance coverage for 
all regular full-time and eligible employees effective on the date of hire.  The face amount 
of life insurance for each eligible employee under the age of seventy (70) shall be equal 



 

   
55 

to two (2) times his/her normal gross annual salary up to a maximum of three hundred 
thousand ($300,000).  Accidental death is covered by double indemnity (AD&D).  At age 
seventy (70), Life and AD&D benefits reduce to sixty-seven percent (67%) and at age 
seventy-five (75) are reduced to fifty percent (50%).   

 
10.5 Short-Term Disability (STD)/Long-Term Disability (LTD) 
 
In addition to State Disability Insurance (SDI), MCWD provides, at no cost to the 
employee, a short-term/long-term disability plan that supplements SDI and covers up to 
two-thirds (2/3) of the employee’s base annual salary, subject to provisions of the contract 
with the carrier. Employees with a non-occupational related illness or injury are eligible 
for income replacement benefits under these plans for the duration of the illness or injury, 
as provided in the policy provisions, however, MCWD will maintain the employee’s 
position for a period not to exceed twelve (12) months. 
 
The terms and conditions of this policy are subject to the provisions of the Family Medical 
Leave Act (FMLA) and the California Family Rights Act (CFRA).  
 
10.6 Continuation of Group Health Insurance (COBRA) 
 
COBRA (the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act) is a federal law that 
requires most employers sponsoring group health plans to offer covered employees and 
qualified beneficiaries the opportunity for a temporary extension of health coverage 
(called “continuation coverage”) in certain instances where coverage under the plan 
would otherwise end.  This extension of coverage is offered at group rates plus an 
administrative fee, the cost of which is fully borne by the employee or beneficiary. 
 
Employees and dependents covered by MCWD’s health insurance plan may have the 
right to choose continuation coverage if they lose group health coverage for certain 
qualifying events which are:  termination of employment, reduction in hours or leave of 
absence, death, divorce or legal separation of an employee, employee’s entitlement to 
Medicare, termination of domestic partnership, or a dependent child who no longer meets 
eligibility requirements.  In order to ensure rights to benefit continuation, it is the 
employee’s responsibility to notify HR/Risk Administrator in writing within thirty (30) days.  
Questions concerning COBRA qualifying events and eligibility requirements should be 
addressed to HR/Risk Administrator. 
 
Certificate of Coverage  
Under the Health Insurance Portability & Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA), MCWD or 
the benefit provider will provide a certificate of prior insurance coverage whenever an 
employee loses coverage; when a qualifying event occurs; when COBRA coverage 



 

   
56 

begins or ends; or upon request by an employee within twenty-four (24) months after 
coverage ends under MCWD’s health insurance plan. 
 
10.7 IRS Section 125 – Flexible Benefits Plan 
 
MCWD sponsors a Section 125 “Flexible Benefits Plan”.  This Plan has three (3) 
components.  As part of the Salary Redirection Plan, employees may use pre-tax dollars 
to pay for all of the employee-paid health premiums.  Employees may also choose to 
direct a portion of salary into an Unreimbursed Medical Expenses Plan and/or a 
Dependent Care Expense Reimbursement Plan.  The Unreimbursed Medical Expenses 
Plan allows employees to redirect up to two thousand five hundred ($2,500) each year 
into a pre-tax account which can be used to reimburse qualified medical expenses not 
covered by the healthcare provider.  Through the Dependent Care Expense 
Reimbursement Plan, employees may elect to receive tax-free reimbursements for 
qualified work-related dependent care expenses regarding the care of children age twelve 
(12) and under and/or elderly or incapacitated dependents to a maximum of five thousand 
dollars ($5,000). 
 
10.8 Retirement Plan 

 
CalPERS Retirement Tiers 
MCWD participates in the California Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS) 
which is a defined benefit retirement program.  MCWD provides the following retirement 
benefits: 
 

Classic Members:  2%@60 
 
New Members:  2%@62 

 
Under the Public Employees’ Pension Reform Act (PEPRA), New Members include: 

• A member who first established CalPERS membership prior to January 1, 2013, 
and who is rehired by a different CalPERS employer after a break in service of 
greater than six months 

• A new hire who is brought into CalPERS membership for the first time on or after 
January 1, 2013, and who has no prior membership in any California public 
retirement system 

• A new hire who is brought into CalPERS membership for the first time on or after 
January 1, 2013, and who is not eligible for reciprocity with another California 
public retirement system 

Enrollment in the CalPERS Plan is automatic for those employees who work a minimum 
of one thousand (1,000) hours per fiscal year.  Vesting in the Plan occurs after five (5) 
years of participation in CalPERS, either with MCWD or based on bridged service from 
another CalPERS participating organization. 



 

   
57 

Additional information concerning this Plan can be obtained from HR/Risk Administrator. 
 
CalPERS Employee Contributions 
MCWD currently pays one hundred (100)% of employer and employee contributions for 
Classic Members only. 
 
 New Members are required under PEPRA to pay 50% of normal cost of their CalPERS 
contribution of their CalPERS contribution: 
 
Social Security/Medicare 
MCWD participates in Social Security and Medicare and pays the employer portions.  The 
employee pays the employee cost through payroll deductions, as required by the Social 
Security Administration. 
 
10.9 Deferred Compensation Plan 
 
MCWD makes available to all regular and probationary employees the opportunity to 
voluntarily participate in a deferred compensation plan which is established in accordance 
with the provisions of Section 457 of the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) Code.  
Employees may choose from a variety of plans and MCWD retains the right to choose 
which plan or plans will be offered. Under the "savings account" plan, the minimum 
interest rate is negotiated by contract.  Monthly deferrals from the employee's pay and all 
interest earned remain tax deferred until commencement of withdrawal of funds.  Funds 
may be withdrawn at the time of (a) retirement, (b) termination of employment, (c) severe, 
unforeseeable financial hardship, or (d) death.  In addition, a loan provision of the plan 
allows for participants to borrow funds from his/her accounts.   
 
Employees having questions or interest in learning more about the eligibility, investment 
options, contribution limits, loan options, and other features of MCWD’s Deferred 
Compensation Plan should contact HR/Risk Administrator for Plan materials and further 
information. 
 
10.10 Workers’ Compensation Insurance 
 
All employees are covered by Workers’ Compensation Insurance, effective the first day 
of employment.  Workers’ Compensation Insurance provides employees and/or his/her 
beneficiaries with certain benefits in the event of job-related illness, injury or accidental 
death.  
MCWD pays the full cost of this insurance.  If an employee sustains a job-related illness 
or injury, he/she should report the illness or injury to his/her immediate 
supervisor/department manager or HR/Risk Administrator the day it occurs or not later 
than 24 hours after the occurrence.  Failure to do so could result in a delay of benefits by 
the insurance carrier.  
 
All payments for lost wages or salary due to a legitimate job-related illness or injury, 
medical treatment, and any other benefits will be made by the Workers’ Compensation 
Insurance carrier as required by law.  Workers’ Compensation Insurance payments are 



 

   
58 

coordinated with any accrued sick, vacation, compensatory or management leave taken 
as part of a medical or disability leave of absence.  Contact the HR/Risk Administrator for 
more information about Workers’ Compensation Insurance benefits. 
 
MCWD Provided Physician  
MCWD provides medical treatment for work-related illnesses or injuries through a pre-
determined clinic that provides medical care to employees.   

 
Employees who are injured in a work-related accident will be referred to the clinic 
assigned for the location, unless MCWD has received a written notice that the employee 
wishes to be treated by his/her own health care provider.  This notification must have 
been submitted to HR/Risk Administrator prior to any illness or injury.  In all cases, an 
employee may seek treatment from his/her own health care provider after thirty (30) days, 
should he/she so desire.   
 
Workers’ Compensation in Coordination with FMLA/CFRA  
An employee who is ill or injured as a result of a work-related incident and who is eligible 
for family and medical leave under state and federal law (Family Medical Leave Act and 
the California Family Rights Act) will be placed on FMLA/CFRA during the time the 
employee is disabled and not released to return to work.  The leave under these laws 
runs concurrently, and eligible employees will be on FMLA/CFRA for a maximum of 
twelve (12) weeks in a continuous twelve (12)-month period. 
 
Workers’ Compensation Fraud  
California law makes it a crime to knowingly file a false or fraudulent claim for Workers’ 
Compensation benefits, or to knowingly submit false or fraudulent information in 
connection with any Workers’ Compensation claim.  Violation of this law is punishable by 
imprisonment of up to five (5) years, a fine of up to one hundred and fifty thousand dollars 
($150,000), or both.  Filing a false or fraudulent Workers’ Compensation claim is also a 
violation of MCWD policy, and will result in corrective action, up to and including 
termination. 
 
MCWD’s policy is to investigate all questionable Workers’ Compensation claims and to 
refer them to the Bureau of Fraudulent Claims. 
 
10.11 Unemployment Insurance 
 
MCWD pays the entire cost of this benefit to a State unemployment compensation 
reserve account in accordance with State laws and regulations.  Unemployment 
compensation provides a weekly benefit for a specified period due to a qualifying 
condition of unemployment.  These benefits, and MCWD’s costs, change periodically as 
determined by State law. 
 
Unemployment insurance benefits are not available to employees who voluntarily quit 
without good cause or who are terminated for misconduct.  At the time of employment 
separation, employees will be provided with a booklet published by the Employment 



 

   
59 

Development Department (EDD) explaining benefits, eligibility, and claim filing 
procedures. 
 
10.12 Holidays 
 
Regular, full-time employees are eligible for holiday pay from the date of hire.  Eligible 
employees also receive holiday pay, without deduction of a vacation day, whenever the 
employee is on an approved vacation during which MCWD observes a holiday. 
 
Employees who are on an unpaid leave of absence as of the date MCWD observes a 
holiday are not eligible for holiday pay.   
 

• New Year’s Day 
• Martin Luther King Jr. Day 
• Presidents’ Day  
• Memorial Day  
• Independence Day 
• Labor Day 
• Veteran’s Day 
• Thanksgiving Day 
• Day after Thanksgiving Day 
• Working day immediately preceding Christmas Day 
• Christmas Day 
• Floating Holiday – taken at employees’ option with supervisor’s approval 
• Employee’s Birthday – taken at employee’s option within the calendar year 

 
Observed holidays falling on Saturday will be celebrated on Friday; those falling on 
Sunday will be celebrated on Monday.   
 
Employees who work a holiday should refer to Section 7.0 for holiday pay.  
 
Religious Holiday Accommodation – In order to reasonably accommodate the religious 
needs of employees, time off for religious observances that are not scheduled paid 
holidays observed by MCWD may be taken, without pay or through use of accrued 
vacation, compensatory or management leave hours.  Employees must give reasonable 
advance notice to their immediate supervisor.  Reasonable notice is considered to be a 
minimum of fourteen (14) consecutive calendar days.   
 
10.13 Vacation  
 
MCWD offers paid vacation benefits that, in addition to enjoying opportunities for leisure 
time away from work, may also be used for personal time off due to personal 
appointments, family matters, school activities, religious observances, and other personal 
obligations.  All employees are encouraged and expected to take no less than one (1) 
week or forty (40) hours of vacation annually for rest and relaxation.  



 

   
60 

Eligibility –  
All regular, full-time employees are eligible to accrue paid vacation leave.  Employees 
who are serving in an initial six (6) month introductory period accrue paid vacation but are 
not eligible to take paid time off unless prior authorization has been received from the 
General Manager or designee. Vacation leave is accrued each pay period.  Thereafter, 
eligible employees accrue vacation benefits to their anniversary date in each succeeding 
year based upon length of continuous service with MCWD.  Vacation benefit hours may 
be discontinued or suspended during certain types and durations of leaves of absence 
including Military Leave in excess of thirty (30) calendar days. 
 
Accrual  
Based on the length of continuous service, the following vacation accrual schedule shall 
apply.  To be eligible, regular full-time employees must be scheduled to work at least 
thirty-two (32) hours per week.   
 

Length of Service  
(From Employee’s Hire Date) 

Vacation Days Accrued Per Benefit 
Year 

Date of hire through first year  
Beginning of 2nd year – end of 3rd year  
Beginning of 4th year – end of 10th year 
Beginning of 11th year onward 

10 days 
11 days 
16 days 
20 days 

 
Maximum Accrual and Unused Vacation  
Employees are encouraged to use accrued vacation benefits each calendar year.  
Vacation time is accrued throughout the year and is pro-rated and credited at the end of 
each pay period. Full-time employees may accrue up to a maximum of two hundred sixty 
(260) hours.  Vacation time earned in excess of two hundred sixty (260) hours shall be 
paid during the next following pay period.   
 
Cash-Out  
Employees may elect to cash out accumulated vacation time provided that the employee 
maintains forty (40) hours of accrued vacation credit.  Cash-out must be done in 
conjunction with a regular paycheck and requested no less than five (5) days before the 
end of a pay period.   
 
Holidays During Vacation  
If an observed holiday occurs during a scheduled vacation and employees are otherwise 
eligible for holiday pay; such employees will be paid for the holiday rather than a vacation 
day. 
 
Scheduling a Vacation  
The time at which a regular employee shall take vacation leave shall be determined with 
due regard for the employee’s wishes and particular regard to the service needs of the 
department.  Vacations will be approved if the appropriate department supervisor can 
demonstrate to the department manager that sufficient coverage can be maintained 
during the absence.  It is the department manager's task to determine the base level of 



 

   
61 

service required to meet MCWD’s goals and objectives.  Under extraordinary 
circumstances, MCWD reserves the right to cancel previously approved vacations, unless 
doing so would prove to be an extreme financial hardship to the employee.  In such cases, 
MCWD will reimburse the employee for any committed and non-refundable expenses 
incurred by the employee. 
 
Employees planning vacations exceeding three (3) weeks should give their immediate 
supervisor as much advance notice as possible. Under emergency situations exceptions 
may be made with the written endorsement of the appropriate supervisor.  All vacation 
leave must be approved by the immediate supervisor prior to use. 
 
Vacation time may be coordinated with other approved absences such as disability, family 
leave, or in observance of a religious holiday.  Vacation pay will be based on the 
employee’s base pay rate in effect at the time such vacation is taken.  It does not include 
overtime or any special forms of compensation such as shift differential, standby or other 
forms of pay otherwise available during normal work schedules.  Payment for vacation 
time will be made on an employee’s regularly scheduled payday. 

 
MCWD reserves the right, if necessary, to designate vacation periods during which 
employees are expected to schedule his/her vacations in order to accommodate overall 
work schedules and/or to ensure employees actually use his/her accrued vacation 
benefits.  MCWD may also direct an employee to take mandatory time off for a specified 
period if conditions warrant. 
 
10.14 Management Leave 
 
Represented employees who are exempt from state and federal overtime requirements 
shall be permitted to take management leave in recognition of the special requirements 
of their jobs.  Effective July 15, 2009, management leave shall be accrued on a bi-weekly 
basis at the rate of 3.077 hours per pay period.  The maximum accrual allowance for 
management leave will be eighty (80) hours per fiscal year.  Management leave earned 
by the end of each fiscal year shall be taken within the first quarter of the following fiscal 
year or the leave will be forfeited. 
 
Section 11. Leaves of Absence 
 
11.0 General Information 
 
To the extent required by law, MCWD will continue to pay MCWD’s normal employer 
contribution of an employee’s health benefits during any leave of absence protected 
under the Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) the California Family Rights Act (CFRA), or 
the Pregnancy Disability Leave law (PDL) .  The normal MCWD-paid premiums for 
benefits for all other unpaid leaves of absence will continue only through the end of the 
month in which the leave begins subject to the terms, conditions and limitations of the 
applicable plans for which the employee is otherwise eligible, and except where otherwise 
mandated by State or Federal law.  Where an employee’s health benefits have been 
discontinued as a result of an unpaid leave of absence, an employee may elect to 



 

   
62 

continue such health benefits under COBRA as provided in Section 10.6 of this 
Handbook. 
 
When the employee returns from leave, MCWD will again provide benefits according to 
the applicable plans. 
 
It is the employee's responsibility to ensure that MCWD receives all necessary 
documentation regarding the leave and any subsequent requests for extension.  
Employees absent without leave and those who fail to return to work promptly at the end 
of a leave are considered to have voluntarily resigned his/her positions. 
 
Benefit accruals, such as sick, vacation, management and holiday benefits, will be 
suspended during unpaid leaves, and will resume upon the employee's return to active 
employment.  Employee performance and wage and salary review dates will also be  
adjusted by the total amount of time taken for leaves of absence exceeding thirty (30) 
consecutive calendar days. 
 
MCWD will attempt to accommodate employees returning to work from injuries, illnesses 
or other disabilities with short-term “modified duty” assignments when practical.  Please 
refer to Section 17 for accommodation process. Such accommodations may be made 
depending upon the extent and nature of the work restrictions imposed by the health care 
provider, the anticipated duration of the restrictions, the availability of modified duty 
assignments, and other relevant considerations.  
 
Instances may exist where two (2) or more leave of absence policies provide overlapping 
protection for eligible employees.  It is the intention of MCWD’s policies to limit employees 
to the time available under the single most favorable leave of absence policy and to 
prevent employees from exceeding the limitations of that policy.  This means that all 
leaves of absence run concurrently to the extent provided by law. 
 
The leave shall be unpaid except that an employee may elect to be paid by using any 
accrued sick leave, compensatory, vacation, or management leave benefits.  The 
substitution of paid leave does not extend the total duration of FMLA/CFRA/PDL to which 
an employee is entitled. 
 
Accordingly, any leave of absence that is taken by an employee under any policy that 
could have been taken under any other policy of MCWD (if the employee had requested 
to do so) shall be credited against the maximum limit on leaves established in each of the 
policies that provided the employee a basis to request a leave of absence. 
 
All leave requests should be submitted and approved in advance.  See HR/Risk 
Administrator for appropriate forms and specific information.  When leaves are 
foreseeable, the employee must provide at least thirty (30) days advance notice.  If the 
leave is not foreseeable, the employee must provide notice as soon as practicable.   
 



 

   
63 

11.1 Family and Medical Care Leaves (FMLA/CFRA) 

Policy Statements  

To the extent not already provided for under current leave policies and provisions, the 
Marina Coast Water District (District) will provide family and medical care leave for eligible 
employees as required by State and Federal Law.  The following provisions set forth 
certain of the rights and obligations with respect to such leave.  Rights and obligations 
which are not specifically set forth below are set forth in the Department of Labor 
regulations implementing the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 (“FMLA”), 
and the regulation of the California Family Rights Act (“CFRA”).  Unless otherwise 
provided by this article, “Leave” under this article shall mean leave pursuant to the FMLA 
and CFRA.  

Definitions  

A. “12‐Month Period” means a 12‐month period measured backwards from the date 
FMLA leave begins.  

B. “Single 12-month period” means a 12-month period which begins on the first day 
the eligible employee takes FMLA military caregiver leave and ends 12 months 
after that date. 

C. “Child” means a biological, adopted, foster or step‐child, legal ward, or a child of a 
person standing in “loco parentis” (in place of a parent) who is a child under the 
age of 18 years of age, or 18 years of age or older who is incapable of self‐care 
because of a mental or physical disability (there is no age limit for military 
family/qualifying exigency leave).  

D. A child is “incapable of self‐care” if he/she requires active assistance or supervision 
to provide daily self‐care in three or more of the activities of daily living or 
instrumental activities of daily living, such as, caring for grooming and hygiene, 
bathing, dressing, eating, cooking, cleaning, shopping, taking public 
transportation, paying bills, maintaining a residence, using telephones and 
directories, etc.  

E. “Parent” means the biological parent of an employee or an individual who stands 
or stood in loco parentis (in place of a parent) to an employee when the employee 
was a child.  This term does not include parents‐in‐law.   

F. “Spouse” means a husband or wife as defined or recognized under California State 
Law for purposes of marriage.  “Spouse” also includes registered domestic 
partners and same-sex partners in marriage. 

G. “Domestic Partner” is defined by the California Domestic Partner Rights and  

H. Responsibilities Act (Family Code §§ 297 and 299.2) and shall have the same 
meaning as “Spouse” for purposes of CFRA Leave. 



 

   
64 

I.  “Serious health condition” means an illness, injury impairment, or physical or 
mental condition that involves:  

1. Inpatient Care (i.e., an overnight stay) in a hospital, hospice, or residential 
medical care facility, including any period of incapacity (i.e., inability to work, or 
perform other regular daily activities due to the serious health condition, 
treatment involved, or recovery therefrom); or any subsequent treatment in 
connection with such inpatient care; A person is considered an “inpatient” when 
a health care facility formally admits him or her to the facility with the 
expectation that he or she will remain at least overnight, even if it later develops 
that such person can be discharged or transferred to another facility, and does 
not actually remain overnight; or   

2. Continuing treatment by a health care provider: A serious health condition 
involving continuing treatment by a health care provider includes any one or 
more of the following:  

a. A period of incapacity (i.e., inability to work, attend school or perform other 
regular daily activities due to the serious health condition, treatment or 
recovery) of more than three full consecutive calendar days, and any 
subsequent treatment or period of incapacity relating to the same condition, 
that also involves:  

i. Treatment two or more times within 30 days of the first day of 
incapacity, unless extenuating circumstances exist, by a health care 
provider, by a nurse or physician’s assistant under direct supervision 
of a health care provider, or by a provider of health care services 
(e.g., a physical therapist) under orders of, or on referral by, a health 
care provider.  The first in-person treatment visit must take place 
within seven days of the first day of incapacity; or  

ii. Treatment by a health care provider on at least one occasion which 
results in a regimen of continuing treatment under the supervision of 
the health care provider.  This includes for example, a course of 
prescription medication or therapy requiring special equipment to 
resolve or alleviate the health condition.  If the medication is over the 
counter, and can be initiated without a visit to a health care provider, 
it is not, by itself, sufficient to constitute a regimen of continuing 
treatment. 

b. Any period of incapacity due to pregnancy or for prenatal care. (This entitles 
the employee to FMLA Leave, but not CFRA Leave.) (The right to take 
Family & Medical Care Leave is separate from the right to take pregnancy 
disability leave.  State law allows an employee to take up to four months of 
pregnancy disability leave. If an employee exhausts her pregnancy 
disability leave prior to the birth of the child, and her physician certifies that 



 

   
65 

c. continued leave is medically necessary, the employee may use Family & 
Medical Care Leave prior to the birth of the child.  The maximum possible 
combined leave for pregnancy disability/CFRA/FMLA is four months and 12 
workweeks.)    

d. Any period of incapacity or treatment for such incapacity due to a chronic 
serious health condition.  A chronic serious health condition is one which:  

i. Requires periodic visits for treatment by a health care provider, or by 
a nurse or physician’s assistant under direct supervision of a health 
care provider; 

ii. Continues over an extended period of time (including recurring 
episodes of a single underlying condition); and   

iii. May cause episodic rather than a continuing period of incapacity 
(e.g., asthma, diabetes, epilepsy, etc.).  Absences for such 
incapacity qualify for leave even if the absence lasts less than one 
day. 

e. A period of incapacity which is permanent or long‐term due to a condition 
for which treatment may not be effective.  The employee or family member 
must be under the continuing supervision of, but need not be receiving 
active treatment by a health care provider. Examples include Alzheimer's 
disease, a severe stroke or the terminal stages of a disease.   

f. Any period of absence to receive multiple treatments (including any period 
of recovery therefrom) by a health care provider or by a provider of health 
care services under orders of, or on referral by, a health care provider, either 
for restorative surgery after an accident or other injury, or for a condition 
that would likely result in a period of incapacity of more than three 
consecutive calendar days in the absence of medical intervention or 
treatment, such as cancer (chemotherapy, radiation, etc.), severe arthritis 
(physical therapy) or, kidney disease (dialysis). 

g. “Health Care Provider” means:  

1. A doctor of medicine or osteopathy who is authorized to practice 
medicine or surgery (as appropriate) by the state in which the doctor 
practices; or  

2. Any other person determined by the U.S. Secretary of Labor to be 
capable of providing health care services.  

3. Others "capable of providing health care services" as determined by the 
U.S. Secretary of Labor include only: 



 

   
66 

a. Podiatrists, dentists, clinical psychologist, optometrists, and 
chiropractors (limited to treatment consisting of manual manipulation 
of the spine to correct a subluxation as demonstrated by X‐ray to 
exist) authorized to practice in the state and performing within the 
scope of their practice as defined under state law;  

b. Nurse practitioners, nurse‐midwives, physician’s assistants and 
clinical social workers who are authorized to practice under state law 
and who are performing within the scope of their practice as defined 
under state law;  

c. Christian Science practitioners listed with the First Church of Christ, 
Scientist in Boston, Massachusetts.  Where an employee or family 
member is receiving treatment from a Christian Science practitioner, 
an employee may not object to any requirement from an employer 
that the employee or family member submit to examination (though 
not treatment) to obtain a second or third certification from a health 
care provider other than a Christian Science practitioner except as 
otherwise provided under applicable state or local law or collective 
bargaining agreement.   

d. Any health care provider from whom an employer or the employer's 
group health plan's benefits manager will accept certification of the 
existence of a serious health condition to substantiate a claim for 
benefits; and  

e. A health care provider listed above who practices in a country other 
than the United States, who is performing within the scope of his or 
her practice as defined under such law and who is authorized to 
practice in accordance with the law of that country.  

f. The phrase "authorized to practice in the state" as used in this 
section means that the provider must be authorized to diagnose and 
treat physical or mental health conditions without supervision by a 
doctor or other health care provider.  

J. “Qualifying Exigency” means a need to take military family leave arising out of the 
fact that the spouse, son, daughter, or parent of the employee is on active duty (or 
has been notified of an impending call or order to active duty) in the Armed Forces 
in support of a contingency operation.  This is intended to assist families with non‐
medical needs such as:  

1. Short‐notice deployment  

2. Military events and related activities (before or during deployment)  

3. Childcare and school activities (e.g., arrange for alternate childcare) 



 

   
67 

4. Financial and legal arrangements  

5. Counseling (non‐medical for oneself, the service member, or child)  

6. Rest and recuperation (up to 5 days for each)  

7. Post‐deployment activities (ceremonies or briefings)  

8. Additional activities agreed to by the employer and employee  

K. “Covered active duty” means:   

1. In the case of a member of a regular component of the Armed Forces, duty 
during the deployment of the member with the Armed Forces to a foreign 
country, or  

2. In the case of a member of a reserve component of the Armed Forces, duty 
during the deployment of member of the Armed Forces to a foreign country 
under a call or order to active duty under certain specified provisions. 

L. “Covered Servicemember” means  

1. A current member of the Armed Forces, including a member of the National 
Guard or Reserves, who is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation, or 
therapy, is otherwise in outpatient status, or is otherwise on the temporary 
disability retired list, for a serious injury or illness; or  

2. A veteran who is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy, for a 
serious injury or illness and who was a member of the Armed Forces, including 
a member of the National Guard or Reserves, at any time during the period of 
five years preceding the date on which the veteran undergoes that medical 
treatment, recuperation, or therapy. 

M. “Outpatient Status” means, with respect to a covered servicemember, the status 
of a member of the Armed Forces assigned to either:   

1. A military medical treatment facility as an outpatient; or  

2. A unit established for the purpose of providing command and control of 
members of the Armed Forces receiving medical care as outpatients. 

N. “Next of Kin of a Covered Servicemember” means the nearest blood relative other 
than the covered servicemember’s spouse, parent, son, or daughter, in the 
following order of priority:  Blood relatives who have been granted legal custody of 
the covered servicemember by court decree or statutory provisions, brothers and 
sisters, grandparents, aunts and uncles, and first cousins, unless the covered 
servicemember has specifically designated in writing another blood relative as his 



 

   
68 

or her nearest blood relative for purposes of military caregiver leave under the 
FMLA. 

O. “Serious Injury or Illness” means:   

1. In the case of a member of the Armed Forces, including a member of the 
National Guard or Reserves, means an injury or illness that was incurred by 
the member in the line of duty on active duty in the Armed Forces (or existed 
before the beginning of the member’s active duty and was aggravated by 
service in the line of duty on active duty in the Armed Forces) and that may 
render the member medically unfit to perform the duties of the member’s office, 
grade, rank, or rating; or  

2. In the case of a veteran who was a member of the Armed Forces, including a 
member of the National Guard or Reserves, at any time during the period of 
five years preceding the date on which the veteran undergoes that medical 
treatment, recuperation, or therapy, means a qualifying injury or illness that was 
incurred by the member in the line of duty on active duty in the Armed Forces 
(or existed before the beginning of the member’s active duty and was 
aggravated by service in the line of duty on active duty in the Armed Forces) 
and that manifested itself before or after the member became a veteran. 

Reasons for Leave  

Leave is only permitted for the following reasons:  

A. The birth of a child or to care for a newborn of an employee;  

B. The placement of a child with an employee in connection with the adoption or foster 
care of a child;  

C. Leave to care for a child, parent, spouse, or domestic partner who has a serious 
health condition; or  

D. Leave because of a serious health condition that makes the employee unable to 
perform the functions of his/her position.  

E. Leave due to a qualifying exigency arising out of the fact that an employee’s 
spouse/domestic partner, son/daughter, or parent is a covered military member on 
active duty or has been notified of an impending call or order to active duty status 
(under FMLA only, not CFRA).  

F. Leave to care for an employee’s spouse/domestic partner, son/daughter, parent, 
or next of kin who is a covered service member with a serious injury or illness 
incurred in the line of duty while on active military duty or existed before the 
beginning of the member’s active duty and was aggravated by service in the line 
of duty on active duty in the Armed Forces (“Military Caregiver Leave”).  This leave 



 

   
69 

can run up to 26 weeks of unpaid leave during a single 12-month period.  (under 
the FMLA only, not the CFRA). 

Employees who misuse or abuse FMLA leave may be disciplined up to and including 
termination.  An employee who fraudulently obtains or uses CFRA leave is not protected 
by the CFRA’s job restoration or maintenance of health benefits provisions. 

Employees Eligible for Leave  

An employee is eligible for leave if the employee:  

A. Has been employed for at least 12 months; and   

B. Has been employed for at least 1,250 hours during the 12‐month period 
immediately preceding the commencement of the leave.  

Amount of Leave  

Eligible employees are entitled to a total of 12 workweeks (or 26 weeks for military 
caregiver leave) of leave during any 12‐month period.  Where FMLA leave qualifies as 
both military caregiver leave and care for a family member with a serious health condition, 
the leave will be designated as military caregiver leave first. 

A. Minimum Duration of Leave  

If leave is requested for the birth, adoption or foster care placement of a child of 
the employee, leave must be concluded within one year of the birth or placement 
of the child.  In addition, unless otherwise approved by the employee's department 
manager, the basic minimum duration of such leave is two weeks.  However, an 
employee is entitled to leave for one of these purposes (e.g., bonding with a 
newborn) for a duration of at least one day but less than two weeks on any two 
occasions.  

If leave is requested to care for a child, parent, spouse, domestic partner or the 
employee him/herself with a serious health condition, there is no minimum amount 
of leave that must be taken.  However, the notice and medical certification 
provisions of this policy must be complied with.  

B. Parents Both Employed by the District  

In any case in which both parents are both employed by the District are entitled to 
leave, the aggregate number of workweeks of CFRA leave to which both may be 
entitled may be limited to 12 workweeks during any 12‐month period if leave is 
taken for the birth or placement for adoption or foster care of the employees’ child 
(i.e., bonding leave).  



 

   
70 

In any case in which a husband and wife both employed by the District are entitled 
to leave, the aggregate number of workweeks of leave to which both may be 
entitled may be limited to 26 workweeks during any 12-month period if leave is 
taken for military caregiver leave under FMLA. 

Except as noted above, this limitation does not apply to any other type of leave 
under this policy.  

Employee Benefits While on Leave  

Leave under this policy is unpaid.  While on leave, employees will continue to be covered 
by the District’s group health insurance to the same extent that coverage is provided while 
the employee is on the job for up to 12 weeks each leave year (or 26 weeks for military 
caregiver leave).  If the employee is disabled by pregnancy, coverage will continue to be 
covered for up to 4 months each leave year.  In the event an employee is disabled by 
pregnancy and also uses CFRA leave, District will maintain the employee’s health 
benefits while the employee is disabled by pregnancy (up to four months or 17 weeks) 
and during the employee’s CFRA leave (up to 12 weeks). Employees are responsible for 
group health insurance benefit premiums on the same basis as employees not on leave.   

However, employees will not continue to be covered under the District’s non-health 
benefit plan while on leave.  Employees may make the appropriate contributions for 
continued coverage under the preceding non‐health benefit plans by payroll deductions 
or direct payments made to these plans.  Depending on the particular plan, the District 
will inform you whether the premiums should be paid to the carrier or to the District.   

Your coverage on a group health insurance plan may be dropped if you are more than 30 
days late in making a premium payment.  However, you will receive a notice at least 15 
days before coverage is to cease, advising you that you will be dropped if your premium 
payment is not paid by a certain date.  Employee contribution rates are subject to any 
change in rates that occurs while the employee is on leave.   

If an employee fails to return to work after his/her leave entitlement has been exhausted 
or expires, the District shall have the right to recover its share of health plan premiums 
for the entire leave period, unless the employee does not return because of the 
continuation, recurrence, or onset of a serious health condition of the employee or his/ 
her family member which would entitle the employee to leave, or because of 
circumstances beyond the employee’s control.  The District shall have the right to recover 
premiums through deduction from any sums due the employee (e.g. unpaid wages, sick, 
vacation pay, etc.).  

Substitution of Paid Accrued Leaves  

While on leave under this policy, as set forth herein, an employee may elect to 
concurrently use paid accrued leaves.  Similarly, the District may require an employee to 
concurrently use paid accrued leaves after requesting FMLA and/or CFRA leave, and 



 

   
71 

may also require an employee to use Family and Medical Care Leave concurrently with 
a non‐FMLA/CFRA leave which is FMLA/CFRA qualifying.   

If an employee is receiving a paid benefit (e.g., State Disability Insurance or workers’ 
compensation), the employee is not considered to be on an unpaid leave, and an 
employee may, at his/her option, coordinate the use of paid time off, sick leave, or accrued 
vacation up to his/her regular salary amount. 

A. Employee Right to Use Paid Accrued Leaves Concurrently with FMLA/CFRA 
Leave  

Where an employee has earned or accrued vacation, management leave, floating 
holidays, or compensatory time, that paid leave may be substituted for all or part 
of any (otherwise) unpaid leave under this policy.   

As for sick leave, an employee may elect or the District may require an employee 
to use accrued sick leave only if: 

1. The leave is for the employee’s own serious health condition; or 

2. The leave is for another reason mutually agreed upon between the District 
and the employee. 

If the District and the employee do not “mutually agree” to allow use of accrued 
sick leave to care for a family member, the District may still be required to allow 
the employee to use some sick leave for the employee to care for a family member 
with a serious health condition pursuant to the Protected Sick Leave law under 
Labor Code section 233 and the California Paid Sick Leave Law. 

An employee receiving Paid Family Leave to care for the serious health condition 
of a family member or to bond with a new child is not on “unpaid leave.”  Therefore 
the District may not require the employee to use the paid time off, sick leave, or 
accrued vacation. 

B. The District’s Right to Require an Employee to Use Paid Leave When Using 
FMLA/CFRA Leave   

Employees who otherwise would be on an unpaid leave of absence must exhaust 
their accrued leaves (including accrued vacation, management leave, sick leave, 
floating holidays, and compensatory time) concurrently with FMLA/CFRA leave to 
the same extent that employees have the right to use their accrued leaves 
concurrently with FMLA/CFRA leave as noted above.  

Medical Certification  

Employees who request leave for their own serious health condition or to care for a child, 
parent, spouse, or domestic partner who has a serious health condition, must provide 



 

   
72 

written certification from the health care provider of the individual requiring care if 
requested by the District.  

If the leave is requested because of the employee’s own serious health condition, the 
certification must include a statement that the employee is unable to work at all or is 
unable to perform the essential functions of his/her position.  

Employees who request military caregiver leave for a child, spouse, parent, or “next of 
kin” of the employee must provide written certification from a health care provider 
regarding the injured servicemember’s serious injury or illness. 

The first time an employee requests leave because of a qualifying exigency, an employer 
may require the employee to provide a copy of the military member’s active duty orders 
or other documentation issued by the military which indicates that the military member is 
on covered active duty or call to active duty status in a foreign country, and the dates of 
the military member’s active duty service.  A copy of new active duty orders or similar 
documentation shall be provided to the employer if the need for leave because of a 
qualifying exigency arises out of a different active duty or call to active duty status of the 
same or a different military member. 

A. Time to Provide a Certification  

When an employee’s leave is foreseeable and at least 30 days’ notice has been 
provided, if a medical certification is requested, the employee must provide it 
before the leave begins.  When this is not possible, the employee must provide the 
requested certification to the District within the time frame requested by the District 
(which must allow at least 15 calendar days after the employer’s request), unless 
it is not practicable under the particular circumstances to do so despite the 
employee’s diligent, good faith efforts.  

B. Consequences for Failure to Provide an Adequate or Timely Certification  

If an employee provides an incomplete medical certification, the employee will be 
given a reasonable opportunity to cure any such deficiency.  

However, if an employee fails to provide a medical certification within the time 
frame established by this policy, the District may delay the taking of FMLA/CFRA 
leave until the required certification is provided.   

C. Second and Third Medical Opinions  

If the District has reason to doubt the validity of a certification for an employee’s 
serious health condition, the District may require a medical opinion of a second 
health care provider chosen and paid for by the District.  If the second opinion is 
different from the first, the District may require the opinion of a third provider jointly 
approved by the District and the employee, but paid for by the District.  The opinion 



 

   
73 

of the third provider will be binding.  An employee may request a copy of the health 
care provider’s opinions when there is a recertification.  

D. Intermittent Leave or Leave on a Reduced Leave Schedule  

If an employee requests leave intermittently (a few days or hours at a time) or on 
a reduced leave schedule to care for an immediate family member with a serious 
health condition, the employee must provide medical certification that such leave 
is medically necessary.  “Medically necessary” means there must be a medical 
need for the leave and that the leave can best be accomplished through an 
intermittent or reduced leave schedule.   

Employee Notice of Leave and District Designation of Leave  

Although the District recognizes that emergencies arise which may require employees to 
request immediate leave, employees are required to give as much notice as possible of 
their need for leave.  If leave is foreseeable, at least 30 days’ notice is required.  In 
addition, if an employee knows that he/she will need leave in the future, but does not 
know the exact date(s) (e.g. for the birth of a child or to take care of a newborn), the 
employee shall inform his/her supervisor as soon as possible that such leave will be 
needed.  Such notice may be given orally. If the District determines that an employee’s 
notice is inadequate or the employee knew about the requested leave in advance of the 
request, the District may delay the granting of the leave up to 30 days until it can, in its 
discretion, adequately cover the position with a substitute.  Calling in “sick” without 
providing the reasons for the needed leave will not be considered sufficient notice for 
FMLA leave under this policy.  

If an employee takes a leave of absence for any reason which is FMLA/CFRA-qualifying, 
the District may designate that non-FMLA/CFRA leave as running concurrently with the 
employee’s 12-week FMLA/CFRA leave entitlement.   

If an employee requests to utilize accrued vacation leave or other accrued paid time off, 
other than accrued sick leave, without reference to a FMLA/CFRA-qualifying purpose, the 
District may not ask the employee if the leave is for a FMLA/CFRA-qualifying purpose.  
However, if the District denies the employee’s request and the employee provides 
information that the requested time off is for a FMLA/CFRA-qualifying purpose, the District 
may inquire further into the reason for the absence.  If the reason is FMLA/CFRA-
qualifying, the District may require the employee to exhaust accrued leave as described 
above. 

Reinstatement Upon Return From Leave  

A. Right to Reinstatement  

Upon expiration of leave, an employee is entitled to be reinstated to the position of 
employment held when the leave commenced, or to an equivalent position with 
equivalent employment benefits, pay, and other terms and conditions of 



 

   
74 

employment.  Employees have no greater rights to reinstatement, benefits and 
other conditions of employment than if the employee had been continuously 
employed during the FMLA/CFRA period.  

If a definite date of reinstatement has been agreed upon at the beginning of the 
leave, the employee will be reinstated on the date agreed upon.  If the 
reinstatement date differs from the original agreement of the employee and District, 
the employee will be reinstated within two business days, where feasible, after the 
employee notifies the employer of his/her readiness to return.  

B. Employee’s Obligation to Periodically Report on His/Her Condition  

Employees may be required to periodically report on their status and intent to 
return to work.  This will avoid any delays to reinstatement when the employee is 
ready to return.   

C. Fitness for Duty Certification  

As a condition of reinstatement of an employee whose leave was due to the 
employee’s own serious health condition, which made the employee unable to 
perform his/her job, the employee must obtain and present a fitness‐for‐duty 
certification from the health care provider that the employee is able to resume 
work.  This requirement does not apply to employees returning from an intermittent 
leave.  Failure to provide such certification will result in denial of reinstatement.  

D. Reinstatement of “Key Employees”  

The District may deny reinstatement to a “key” employee (i.e., an employee who 
is among the highest paid 10 percent of all employed by the District) if such denial 
is necessary to prevent substantial and grievous economic injury to the operations 
of the District, and the employee is notified of the District’s intent to deny 
reinstatement on such basis at the time the employer determines that such injury 
would occur.  

Worker's Compensation and Family And Medical Care Leave Coordination  

Family and Medical Care Leave will be designated by the District when an employee 
qualifies for such leave as a result of a District work‐related injury or illness.    

Required Forms  
Employees must fill out the applicable forms in connection with leave under this policy, 
and may receive all applicable forms through the District’s HR department. 
  
11.2 Pregnancy Disability Leave (PDL) 
 
Pregnancy Disability Leave and Accommodations Available 



 

   
75 

Any employee with appropriate doctor certification may request accommodations, up to 
and including an unpaid leave of absence for up to four months (defined as 17 and 1/3 
weeks), due to conditions related to pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions.  
The District will provide such accommodations unless the requested accommodations 
would constitute an undue hardship. 
 
Upon the request of an employee and recommendation of the employee’s physician, the 
employee’s work assignment may be changed if necessary to protect the health and 
safety of the employee and her child.  Requests for transfers of job duties will be 
reasonably accommodated if the job and security rights of others are not breached.  
Temporary transfers due to health considerations will be granted when possible.  
However, the transferred employee will receive the pay that accompanies the job, as is 
the case with any other temporary transfer due to temporary health reasons. 
 
The duration of a pregnancy disability leave will be determined by the advice of the 
employee’s physician, but employees disabled by pregnancy may take up to four months.  
Any additional leave needed by an employee beyond the four months provided under 
Pregnancy Disability Leave will only be provided as a reasonable accommodation of the 
individual’s disability as required otherwise under state and federal laws. The four months 
of leave includes any period of time for actual disability caused by the employee’s 
pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical condition.  This includes leave for severe 
morning sickness and for prenatal care. 
 
Leave taken under the pregnancy disability policy runs concurrently with family and 
medical leave under federal law (FMLA), but not family and medical leave under California 
law (CFRA).   
 
Required Procedures for Requesting PDL Leave 
 
Any female employee planning to take pregnancy disability leave should advise the 
personnel department as early as possible.  The individual should make an appointment 
with the HR Department to discuss the following conditions: 
 

• Employees who need to take pregnancy disability leave must inform District when 
a leave is expected to begin and how long it will likely last.  If the need for a leave 
or transfer is foreseeable, employees must provide notification at least 30 days 
before the pregnancy disability leave or transfer is to begin.  Employees must 
consult with the HR Department regarding the scheduling of any planned medical 
treatment or supervision in order to minimize disruption to the operations of the 
District.  Any such scheduling is subject to the approval of the employee’s health 
care provider; 

 
• If 30 days’ advance notice is not possible, notice must be given as soon as 

practical; 



 

   
76 

• Pregnancy leave usually begins when ordered by the employee’s physician.  The 
employee must provide District with a certification from a health care provider.  The 
certification indicating disability should contain: 

 
o The date on which the employee became disabled due to pregnancy; 

 
o The probable duration of the period or periods of disability; and 

 
o A statement that, due to the disability, the employee is unable to perform 

one or more of the essential functions of her position without undue risk to 
herself, the successful completion of her pregnancy, or to other persons. 

 
• Leave does not need to be taken in one continuous period of time and may be 

taken intermittently, as needed; 
 
Compensation During PDL Leave 
 
PDL leave provided by the District is an unpaid leave of absence.  A pregnant employee 
may be entitled to disability insurance payments through the California Employment 
Development Department (EDD) depending on their evaluation of your medical condition.  
A pregnant employee should contact the local EDD office for more information on 
eligibility for pregnancy disability insurance.   
 
An employee will be required to use accrued sick time during an eligible pregnancy 
disability leave unless the employee is receiving paid disability benefits from a third party 
at the same time (such as the EDD), therefore allowing the employee the option of using 
accrued sick time benefits concurrently.  An employee will be allowed to use accrued 
vacation, management leave, floating holidays, or compensatory time (separate from the 
use of any sick leave) during an eligible pregnancy disability leave; 
 
Benefits During PDL Leave 
 
If you take pregnancy disability leave, the District will maintain group health insurance 
coverage for up to a maximum of four (4) months if such insurance was provided before 
the leave was taken on the same terms as if you had continued to work.  In some 
instances, the District may recover premiums it paid to maintain health coverage for you 
if you fail to return to work following pregnancy disability leave.  Employees should contact 
the HR Department for further information.  
 
Job Reinstatement Following PDL Leave 
 
Under most circumstances, upon submission of a medical certification that an employee 
is able to return to work from a pregnancy disability leave, an employee will be reinstated 
to her same position held at the time the leave began or to an equivalent position, if 
available.  An employee returning from a pregnancy disability leave has no greater right 
to reinstatement than if the employee had been continuously employed.  Leave returns 



 

   
77 

will be allowed only when the employee’s physician sends a release allowing the 
employee to return to work. 
 
11.3 Voluntary Furlough Without Pay Plan 
 
The following shall apply to the “Voluntary Furlough Without Pay Plan”: 
 

A. No form of salary compensation may be taken (i.e. vacation, sick, 
compensatory time, or management leave).  Paid holidays which occur 
during the furlough period will continue to be paid as usual. 

B. All existing benefits that have been paid by MCWD shall continue to be paid 
by MCWD and all deductions previously paid by the employee shall 
continue to be taken out of the employee’s check when a check has been 
issued with sufficient funds.  In other cases, it shall be the employee’s 
responsibility to make arrangement to pay his/her portion of benefits or 
other payroll deductions.  These include, but are not limited to, health, union 
dues, court ordered payments, voluntary supplemental life insurance 
premiums and voluntary supplemental health insurance such as AFLAC.  

C. No loss of seniority or break in service will be suffered by the employee. 
D. All benefits shall accrue as if the employee were working (i.e., sick, 

vacation, or management leave). 
E. An employee may take up to forty (40) hours of voluntary furlough without 

pay leave at any one time in a fiscal year.  A written request must be 
approved, in advance, by the employee’s immediate supervisor.  Shorter 
increments of time (no less than four (4) hours) may be requested .  The 
immediate supervisor may accept or reject a request for furlough after 
consideration of the employee’s position and department workload. 

F. Employees with accrued vacation, compensatory and/or management 
leave in excess of MCWD maximum may not participate in this plan until 
they are in compliance with the maximum hours allowed. 

G. Taking unpaid furlough should not result in the need for any other employee 
to work overtime. 

 
For further clarification, please contact the Management Services Administrator. 
 
11.4 Personal Leave of Absence/Leave Without Pay 
 
The MCWD General Manager or designee may grant a regular, full-time employee a 
leave of absence without pay for a definite period of time.  Generally, such personal leave 
of absence will not be granted for more than ninety (90) days, except in the case of a 
personal leave for a disability or medical condition that can be reasonably accommodated 
further in accordance with state and federal disability laws based on a written certification 
of the need for leave from a qualified medical care provider.   
 
Requests for personal leaves may be considered on a case-by-case basis supported by 
factors related, but not limited to, staffing levels in the department among similar jobs, 



 

   
78 

existing or projected workload demands, the requesting employee’s work record, and the 
basis of the request.  Personal leaves are generally considered for reasons such as a 
verifiable family or personal emergency not provided for by legally mandated leaves of 
absence, to complete a short-term educational requirement not associated with a 
condition of the employee’s present job, or to attend to a medical condition not otherwise 
eligible or qualified under legally mandated leaves of absence. 
 
The personal leave of absence shall be without pay unless the employee specifically 
requests and is granted the use of available vacation, compensatory time off or 
management leave.  Available sick, vacation, and management leave balances shall be 
calculated as of the preceding pay period.  Sick, vacation, and management leave 
accruals will stop immediately upon entering personal leave without pay status.   
 
If personal leave without pay status exceeds one (1) full daily shift for the employee, the 
employee may maintain health insurance benefits during the remainder of the personal 
leave of absence by paying his/her portion of the normal premium contribution to MCWD 
for such coverage prior to commencement of the leave.  For leaves of longer than one (1) 
month, premiums must be paid no later than the fifteenth (15th) of the month prior to the 
month being covered.  If premiums have not been received by the deadline, coverage will 
be terminated for all unpaid months and continuation or reinstatement of coverage must 
be made in accordance with COBRA guidelines.  If an employee wishes to continue 
coverage, the employee must pay all employer-paid and employee-paid premiums for the 
duration of the personal leave of absence. 
 
Any employee desiring a personal leave of absence must submit a written request and 
attach any supporting documentation as to the nature of the leave.  The request should 
be submitted to the employee’s department head before being forwarded to HR/Risk 
Administrator. HR/Risk Administrator will review the request and submit it to the General 
Manager or designee for approval. 
 
Failure by the employee to return to work on the designated date shall mean MCWD may 
fill the position.  If an employee's position is filled while he/she is off on an approved 
personal leave of absence, the employee may, at the conclusion of his/her scheduled 
leave, apply for any open MCWD position for which he/she is qualified.  However, if no 
such position is available, the employee's employment will be terminated.  In the event 
the employee is terminated, MCWD will provide the employee with COBRA eligibility 
information within thirty (30) calendar days following employment separation, provided 
the employee is otherwise qualified for continuation of the healthcare insurance under 
MCWD’s group plans. 
 
If a position is available, an employee is expected to return to work at the scheduled 
conclusion of his/her personal leave of absence. If the employee fails to do so, the 
employee will be treated as having voluntarily resigned his/her employment with MCWD. 
 
 



 

   
79 

11.5 Sick Leave 
 
Regular Full-Time Employees 
 
Regular full-time employees who work at least thirty-two (32) hours per week are eligible 
for paid sick leave benefits which accrue at the rate of one (1) day per calendar month for 
each full month of employment from his/her date of hire.  Since MCWD provides for 
CalPERS sick leave credit, and because employees are encouraged to conserve sick 
leave should it be needed for an unexpected personal illness or disability, there is no limit 
on the maximum number of hours an employee can accumulate.  
 
Employees who are absent from work due to illness or injury must notify his/her immediate 
supervisor as stated in Section 9.0 of this Handbook. 
 
Sick Leave Use  
Sick leave is to be used for absences due to the following reasons:   
 

• For the employee’s own diagnosis, care, or treatment of an existing health 
condition or preventative care. 

 
• For the diagnosis, care, or treatment of an existing health condition or preventative 

care for an employee’s family member, including: 
 

o Child (including a biological, adopted, or foster child, stepchild, legal ward, or a 
child to whom the employee stands in loco parentis.)   

 
o Spouse or Registered Domestic Partner 
 
o Parent (including biological, adoptive, or foster parent, stepparent, or legal 

guardian of an employee or the employee’s spouse or registered domestic 
partner, or a person who stood in loco parentis when the employee was a minor 
child.) 

 
o Grandparent 
 
o Grandchild. 
 
o Sibling.  

 
• To obtain any relief or services related to being a victim of domestic violence, 

sexual assault, or stalking including the following with appropriate certification of 
the need for such services: 

 
o A temporary restraining order or restraining order. 



 

   
80 

o Other injunctive relief to help ensure the health, safety or welfare of themselves 
or their children. 

 
o To seek medical attention for injuries caused by domestic violence, sexual 

assault, or stalking. 
 

o To obtain services from a domestic violence shelter, program, or rape crisis 
center as a result of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking. 

 
o To obtain psychological counseling related to an experience of domestic 

violence, sexual assault, or stalking. 
 

o To participate in safety planning and take other actions to increase safety from 
future domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking, including temporary or 
permanent relocation. 

 
All sick leave payments will be based on an employee’s regular pay rate in effect at the 
time such payments are made.  These payments will be coordinated with applicable 
disability insurance payments or Workers’ Compensation Insurance benefit payments, so 
that all such payments will not exceed the employee’s normal weekly gross earnings. 

 
Full or partial days off due to illness or injury in excess of accrued sick leave by non-
exempt employees will be taken without pay.  Exempt employees who have used all of 
his/her accrued sick leave benefits continue to receive his/her salary for an occasional 
illness that is less than a full day under this sick leave policy.  The salary of exempt 
employees who have exhausted his/her sick leave will be deducted for absences of a full 
day or more due to illness or disability.   

 
Sick Leave Certification  
Employees who are absent for three (3) or more consecutive workdays due to illness or 
injury will be required to submit a health care provider's certification to substantiate the 
use of sick leave.  In addition, before an employee may return to work, MCWD may 
require a health care provider's written certification that the employee is capable of 
resuming his/her job responsibilities.  Employees are not expected to disclose any 
diagnosis or private health information, but any material misrepresentations regarding the 
use of sick leave (e.g., using sick leave for an unqualified absence) may result in 
corrective action, up to and including termination. 
 
Pay-Out  
Employees who use two (2) days or less of his/her annual sick leave entitlement will be 
given the opportunity at the end of the calendar year to convert two (2) days of the 
remaining sick leave into vacation, or let the sick leave accumulate.  Sick leave used for 
doctor/dentist appointments, of four (4) hours or less, during work hours will not be subject 
to this provision.  Appointments of over four (4) hours require a doctor’s note. 
 



 

   
81 

Retirement Payoff  
After ten (10) years of continuous service, or at age sixty (60) years or above, upon 
termination or retirement, an employee shall be paid for sixty percent (60%) of his/her 
accumulated sick leave up to a maximum of two hundred forty (240) hours.  All payments 
will be made at the current rate of pay.  Employees hired after January 1, 2013 are not 
eligible for this benefit. 
 
All Other District Employees 
 
Employees who are not regular full-time employees will be provided sick leave in 
accordance with California’s Paid Sick Leave law under the following conditions: 
 

• An employee begins to accrue paid sick leave at the rate of one (1) hour of paid 
sick leave for every thirty (30) hours worked beginning on the first day of 
employment.  An employee is not eligible to begin using any accrued paid sick 
leave until the 90th day of employment with the District. 

 
• An employee is only allowed to use up to a maximum of 3 days or 24 hours of paid 

sick leave in a 12-month period. 
 

• An employee can only accrue paid sick leave up to a cap of 6 days or 48 hours 
ongoing.  Any unused accrued paid sick leave does carry over year to year while 
continuously employed. 
 

• Sick leave can be taken for one of the reasons noted in the policy above for 
Regular Full-Time Employees under “Sick Leave Use”. 
 

• An employee shall provide reasonable advance notification of their need to use 
accrued paid sick leave to their supervisor if the need for paid sick leave use is 
foreseeable (e.g., doctor’s appointment scheduled in advance).  If the need for 
paid sick leave use is unforeseeable, the employee shall provide notice of the need 
for the leave to their supervisor as soon as is practicable.   
 

• An employee who uses paid sick leave must do so with a minimum increment of 
two hours of sick leave. 
 

• An employee will not receive compensation for unused accrued paid sick leave 
upon termination, resignation, retirement or other separation from employment 
from the District.   
 

• If an employee separates from District employment and is re-hired by the District 
within one year of the date of separation, previously accrued and unused paid sick 
leave hours shall be reinstated.  However, if a rehired employee had not yet worked 
the requisite 90 days of employment to use paid sick leave at the time of 
separation, the employee must still satisfy the 90 days of employment requirement 



 

   
82 

• collectively over the periods of employment with the District before any paid sick 
leave can be used. 
 

• Paid sick leave will not be considered hours worked for purposes of overtime 
calculation.   

 
11.6 School Activity Leave 
 
Any employee who is the parent or guardian of a child in kindergarten through grade 
twelve (12) may request up to forty (40) hours of leave per school year for the purpose of 
participating in school activities.  This time will be unpaid unless the employee elects to 
use vacation, compensatory time off, or management leave for this purpose.  The 
employee will be limited to no more than eight (8) or nine (9) hours off depending upon 
the regularly scheduled work shift for this purpose in any one (1) calendar month.  Upon 
request, MCWD reserves the right to require documentation from the school as proof that 
the employee has participated in the school activity.  This request should be made with 
as much advance notice as possible. 
 
11.7 Bereavement Leave 
 
Employees shall be entitled to up to three (3) days of paid leave for the death of a family 
member. A family member includes the employee’s spouse or State-registered domestic 
partner and the following persons related to the employee or spouse or State-registered 
partner: mother, father, brother, sister, child, step-parent, step-child, grandparents, 
grandchild, or legal guardian.  Such leave shall be separate from sick, vacation, 
compensatory, and management leave and is to be used within two (2) weeks upon the 
death of the family member or at the discretion of the General Manager or designee.  Up 
to five (5) days may be granted for exceptional circumstances approved by the General 
Manager or designee. 
 
Upon approval, employees may use either accumulated sick, vacation, compensatory, or 
management leave if more time off is necessary. 
 
11.8 Jury Duty 
 
Jury duty shall be considered leave with pay provided the employee submits a copy of 
the jury summons and documentation indicating the dates and times of jury service to 
his/her immediate supervisor.  An employee serving on jury duty will receive pay in the 
amount of the difference between the employee’s regular earnings and any amount 
received for jury service.  The employee may retain any fee paid as travel allowance. 
 
If an employee desires to serve on the Grand Jury, he/she shall submit a leave of absence 
request and will serve without MCWD salary and benefits. 
 
Within three (3) days of receiving a jury duty summons, or as soon as reasonable, 
employees should provide a copy of the notice that specifies the date(s) the employee 



 

   
83 

will be reporting for jury duty or serving as a juror to his/her immediate supervisor.  
Employees are required to provide a copy of the jury duty notice to HR/Risk Administrator 
for retention in their personnel file before reporting for jury duty service. 
 
While on jury duty, employees shall report for work whenever their presence is not 
required at court, including during “phone in” or “on call” status, or if released by the court 
early enough to return to work for at least two (2) hours.  Employees who cannot report 
to work due to jury duty will be required to show proof of jury service or appearance for 
each such workday absence.   MCWD may submit a request for a postponement in the 
event that compelling business reasons make postponement of jury duty necessary. 
 
11.9 Witness Duty and Subpoenas 
 
MCWD Business Related Court Appearance – Employees will be paid their normal wage 
or salary if required to be a witness or required by a subpoena to appear in court on or 
related to MCWD business.  An employee who serves as an MCWD-related business 
witness, or on a case related to the employee's job, on a day that is a regularly scheduled 
day off, shall be paid at the employee's regular base rate of pay or at time and one-half 
(1.5), if the employee otherwise qualifies for overtime compensation, for all hours the 
employee actually is required to be in Court. 
 
Personal Business Court Appearance – Employees may be allowed unpaid time off if 
summoned to appear in court as a witness or because of a subpoena related to personal 
business or those matters occurring outside the course and scope of MCWD employment.  
Use of any available paid time off may be used for this purpose with reasonable advance 
notice, and proof of subpoena service, from the employee to his/her immediate supervisor 
or department head. 
 
11.10 Domestic Violence and Sexual Assault Leave 
 
Employees who are victims of domestic violence or sexual assault are eligible for unpaid 
leave to the extent provided under California law.  Leave may be requested if an employee 
is involved in a judicial action, such as obtaining restraining orders, or appearing in court 
to obtain relief to ensure the health, safety or welfare of the employee or the employee’s 
child(ren). 
 
Notice and certification of the need to take leave under this policy must be provided to 
HR/Risk Administrator.  Certification may be any of the following: 
 

● A police report indicating that the employee was a victim of domestic 
violence, or documentation from legal counsel or attorney. 

● A court order protecting or separating the employee from the perpetrator of 
an act of domestic violence, or other evidence from the court of prosecuting 
attorney that the employee appeared in court. 

● Documentation from a medical professional, domestic violence services 
advocate, health care provider, or counselor that the employee was 



 

   
84 

undergoing treatment for physical or mental injuries or abuse resulting in 
victimization from an act of domestic violence. 

 
MCWD will, to the maximum extent possible and as required by law, maintain the 
confidentiality of an employee requesting leave under this provision.  The length of unpaid 
leave an employee may take is twelve (12) weeks as is provided for in the Federal Family 
and Medical Leave Act of 1993. 
 
11.11 Victims of Crime Leave 
 
An employee who is a victim or who is the family member of a victim of a violent felony 
or serious felony may take time off from work under the following circumstances: 
 

● The crime must be a violent or serious felony, as defined by law; and, 
● The employee must be the victim of a crime, or an immediate family member 

of a victim, a registered domestic partner of a victim, or the child of a 
registered domestic partner of a victim. 

 
An immediate family member, as defined by this law, includes a spouse, child, stepchild, 
brother/sister, stepbrother/sister, mother, father, or stepmother/father.  MCWD further 
extends this leave to include a grandparent, grandchild, niece, nephew, registered 
domestic partner, child of a domestic partner, or parent of a registered domestic partner. 
 
The absence from work should be in order to attend to judicial proceedings related to a 
crime listed above.  Before an employee is absent for such a reason, documentation of 
the scheduled proceeding must be provided to the HR/Risk Administrator.  Such notice 
is typically given to the victim of a crime by a court or government agency setting the 
hearing, an attorney or prosecuting attorney office or a victim/witness office. 
 
If advance notice is not possible, employees must provide appropriate documentation 
within a reasonable time after the absence.  Any absence from work to attend judicial 
proceedings will be unpaid unless an employee chooses to take paid time off, such as 
accrued vacation, compensatory, sick, or management leave. 
 
11.12 Military Leave 
 
Employees will be granted military leave in accordance with Division II, Part I, Chapter VII 
of the Military and Veteran’s Code of the State of California and the Uniformed Services 
Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994 (USERRA), for a period of up to five 
(5) years to engage in ordered military duty, military training, encampment, naval cruises, 
special exercises or like activity, as a member of the reserve corps or force of the Army, 
Navy, Marine Corps, Air Force, Coast Guard, National Guard, or Air National Guard. 
 
Military leave is generally unpaid.  However, an employee who has been employed with 
MCWD for a period of not less than one (1) year immediately prior to the day which the 
leave of absence begins, shall be entitled to receive his/her full salary or compensation 



 

   
85 

when he/she is ordered to active military duty, training, encampment, naval cruises, 
special exercises or like activity, up to a maximum of thirty (30) calendar days in any one 
(1) fiscal year.  Paid leave is not available for periods when an employee is required to 
attend inactive military training such as weekend reserve drill periods during a time when 
the employee would not be employed in a regular shift.  If the employee desires to be 
paid for this unpaid temporary military leave of absence, vacation, management or 
compensatory time may be used.  During paid portions of temporary military leave of 
absence, employees shall continue to receive the same vacation, sick, management 
leave and holiday privileges as if he/she were actively at work.   
 
Employees shall notify MCWD, whenever possible, at least sixty (60) calendar days prior 
to the commencement of the temporary military leave of absence.  Employees shall 
furnish the immediate supervisor with a copy of their military orders, or other written 
verification from the appropriate military authority, for inclusion in their personnel file.  The 
immediate supervisor will forward a copy to the Management Services Administrator and 
Payroll. 
 
A "Request for Leave" form shall be submitted to the General Manager or designee for 
any requested leave in excess of thirty (30) days.  The written request form will indicate 
appropriate arrangements have been made regarding health insurance coverage and 
other pertinent issues should the leave exceed sixty (60) days. 
 
Upon return from military leave, employees shall have the same rights and privileges of 
employment, re-employment, seniority and promotion had they not been absent.  Any 
uncompleted probationary period must be satisfied upon completion of the temporary 
military leave of absence.  An employee returning from military duty shall be offered re-
employment in accordance with USERRA.  If an employee fails to notify MCWD of his/her 
intent to return to work within the time period allowed by law, the employee will be 
considered to have resigned. 
 
11.13 Time Off to Vote 
 
MCWD encourages employees to fulfill his/her civic responsibilities by participating in 
elections.  Generally, employees are able to find time to vote either before or after his/her 
regular work schedule.  If employees are unable to reach a polling place during his/her 
non-working hours, MCWD will grant up to two (2) hours of paid time off to vote. 
 
Employees must request time off to vote from his/her supervisor at least two (2) working 
days prior to the Election Day.  Advance notice is required so that the necessary time off 
can be scheduled at the beginning or end of the work shift, whichever provides the least 
disruption to the normal work schedule.  Employees must submit documentation of their 
polling place and a voter's receipt on the first working day following the election to qualify 
for paid time off. 
 



 

   
86 

11.14 Volunteer Firefighters and Peace Officers 
 
No employee shall be disciplined for taking time off to perform emergency duty as a 
volunteer firefighter, peace officer or emergency rescue worker.  Such employees are 
also allowed to take temporary leaves of absence without pay, up to a total of fourteen 
(14) days per calendar year, to engage in fire or law enforcement training.  If an employee 
is an official registered volunteer firefighter, peace officer, or emergency rescue worker, 
he/she should inform his/her immediate supervisor that time off for emergency duty is 
necessary.  In the event the emergency or disaster directly affects MCWD operations, the 
services of such employees may be required to assist with MCWD operations.   
 
11.15 Terminal Leave 
 
Terminal leave is that period during which an employee remains on the payroll beyond 
his/her last working day until all of his/her accrued vacation, compensatory, and/or 
management leave has been exhausted.  Terminal leaves are beneficial to the MCWD 
and its programs since they may provide a means to reallocate positions and other 
resources from low demand to high demand programs.  The General Manager or 
designee may grant a terminal leave, upon written application by the employee, in 
accordance with the following provisions: 
 

A. Only regular, full-time employees with a performance evaluation of 
satisfactory or above, shall be eligible for terminal leave;  

B. The employee shall not be required to perform duties of any kind during the 
period of leave unless otherwise stipulated; 

C. The employee shall agree, in writing, to the conditions of the leave, waiving 
all claims arising out of his/her employment; 

D. The discretion to determine the employee’s last working day is reserved by 
the General Manager or designee.  The employee retains the right to make 
his/her last working day prior to the date established by the General 
Manager or designee;   

E. During a period of terminal leave, an employee shall continue to be eligible 
for group health insurance coverage as long as he/she is in a paid status; 

F. During a period of terminal leave, an employee shall not be eligible for any 
salary increases; however, he/she shall receive credit for any official holiday 
occurring during a period of terminal leave; and, 

G. Once notice of leave is submitted and approved, an employee must cease 
work and the terminal leave cannot be revoked. 

 
Section 12. Grievance Procedure 
 
MCWD has an established informal grievance procedure to resolve issues and concerns.  
This informal procedure should not be used to resolve disciplinary actions, OSHA, 
performance evaluation, workers’ compensation issues, bargaining disputes or any 
exercise of MCWD’s normal discretionary rights and obligations.  The purpose of this 



 

   
87 

procedure is to identify and resolve differences between employees and management 
regarding this agreement and general working conditions. 
 
MCWD encourages employees to use this process to resolve problems and will not 
discriminate against any employee for using this procedure. 
 
The employee shall raise the grievance as soon as possible but no later than thirty (30) 
calendar days after learning of the act or issue causing the grievance. 
 

A. Immediate Supervisor – The employee should raise any problem with 
his/her immediate supervisor.  The immediate supervisor will respond within 
fifteen (15) calendar days.  (Harassment grievances may start at Step B.)  
Every effort will be made to resolve the grievance at this stage 

 
B. General Manager/HR/Risk Administrator – If the employee is not satisfied 

with the result reached in Step A, he/she may file a written grievance to 
HR/Risk Administrator within ten (10) calendar days of the immediate 
supervisor’s response. HR/Risk Administrator will meet with the employee 
and the immediate supervisor to resolve the problem.  If necessary, the 
General Manager or designee will be consulted. HR/Risk Administrator, the 
General Manager, or designee will make a decision within ten (10) calendar 
days of receipt of the grievance and notify the employee of such decision 
either verbally or in writing. 

 
C. Appeal – Any employee who is not satisfied with the decision reached in 

Step B may file a written appeal to the MCWD Board within ten (10) calendar 
days of the Step B decision.  The appeal shall contain all documents and 
arguments necessary to resolve the matter.  The appeal will be reviewed by 
the Board.  The Board, at its discretion, may allow a short oral presentation 
in a closed session of the next regular Board meeting.  The Board may 
affirm or change the decision of the General Manager or designee.  The 
Board’s decision shall be given to the employee and shall be final and 
binding. 

 
For more detailed information, represented employees should refer to the appropriate 
MOU. 
 
Section 13. Employee Relations 
 
Standards of Conduct  
The following examples are given in order to provide the employees guidance concerning 
unacceptable behavior.  If the MCWD chooses to correct an employee who engages in 
unacceptable behavior, the employee may be subject to corrective discipline up to and 
including termination.  Please note that it is impossible to provide an exhaustive list of 
behaviors that are not acceptable.  The following is therefore intended to simply provide 
some examples:  



 

   
88 

A. Failure to meet job standards as described in the job description or as 
determined by the immediate supervisor, including becoming uninsurable 
based upon the driving standards of MCWD’s insurance carrier. 

B. Failure to observe or comply with the provisions of the Employee Handbook. 
C. Insubordination. 
D. Abusive or vulgar language, or causing disruption to the work place or to 

fellow employees or visitors. 
E. Theft or unauthorized removal of MCWD property from MCWD premises. 
F. Misuse of MCWD’s monies. 
G. Harassment, including but not limited to unlawful sexual harassment or 

gender-based or racial remarks. 
H. Excessive absenteeism or tardiness. 
I. Using, possessing, or being under the influence of (including as a result of 

prior indulgence) alcohol or illegal drugs while on MCWD premises or on 
duty, including while on-call. 

J. Job abandonment. 
K. Carelessness or negligence when performing duties or failure to follow 

health and safety regulations while on MCWD premises or while on duty.  
L. Unauthorized possession or removal of property, records, or other MCWD 

materials. 
M. Release of confidential information about the MCWD or its members. 
N. Altercations with or threats to fellow employees or the public. 
O. Possession of firearms on MCWD property or within MCWD vehicles. 
P. Gambling while on the job or on MCWD time. 
Q. Eavesdropping.  Under California state law the consent of all parties 

participating in a call must be obtained before any person may record a 
telephone conversation or before a person who is not a party to a call may 
eavesdrop on or wiretap a call. 

R. Failure to report involvement in an accident occurring on the MCWD’s 
premises, or involving MCWD’s equipment, or giving false information in 
accident or insurance reports. 

S. Failure to immediately report the loss of a California driver’s license due to 
suspension, withdrawal, forfeiture or confiscation by any court of law or by 
the California Division of Motor Vehicles.  This rule applies only to those 
employees who must maintain such a license as a condition of his/her 
employment. 

T. Installing unauthorized software on MCWD’s computer system and/or 
misuse of electronic systems (email, internet, fax) per policy. 

 
Progressive Discipline  
As a general policy, MCWD follows a progressive discipline policy for regular full-time 
employees to ensure a fair method of correcting employee conduct.  The progressive 
discipline policy is intended to give employees advance notice of problems with their 
conduct or performance in order to provide them with an opportunity to correct any 
problems through the use of disciplinary actions less severe than termination.  Normally, 
progressive discipline involves verbal counseling and one or more written warnings, 



 

   
89 

however, exceptions or deviations from progressive discipline may occur whenever 
MCWD deems that circumstances warrant that one or more steps in the process be 
skipped.  However, progressive discipline is not mandatory.  Accordingly, circumstances 
may sometimes warrant immediate termination. 
 
The progressive discipline policy and the disciplinary process outlined herein do not apply 
to at-will, part-time, or contract employees, or full-time employees during their introductory 
period.  Such employees are at-will and may be terminated with or without cause at any 
time. 
 
Disciplinary Actions  
The objective of any disciplinary action is to correct less than satisfactory performance 
and to bring a worker's performance up to MCWD standards.  Disciplinary action is not 
primarily punitive in intent, but is intended to be corrective action. 
 
The appointing authority may take disciplinary action against any employee, provided that 
the rules and regulations prescribed herein are followed and that regular full-time 
employees have the right to appeal pursuant to this section, except as herein provided.  
As used in this section, "disciplinary action" shall mean formal written reprimand, 
suspension, disciplinary demotion, disciplinary probation, or dismissal.  No regular full-
time employee shall be terminated or disciplined without just cause and the principles of 
progressive discipline shall be followed unless circumstances warrant immediate 
termination. Regular full-time employees shall be subject to disciplinary action by the 
General Manager or designee only in accordance with the procedures set forth below. 
 
As part of MCWD's progressive disciplinary process, an employee may be placed on 
disciplinary probation for a specified period of time not to exceed four (4) months for each 
instance, with the understanding that should the causes for such action not be 
satisfactorily corrected or remedied during the period, subsequent disciplinary action may 
be taken, up to and including termination. 
 
Notice of Disciplinary Action  
In order to institute disciplinary action, the appointing authority shall serve notice of the 
proposed disciplinary action in accordance with the following procedures: 
 
Except as otherwise provided herein or when emergency or other special circumstances 
require immediate action, a notice of proposed disciplinary action (other than for formal 
reprimand) shall be delivered to the employee, either personally or by the US Postal 
Service, to the current address listed on the employee's most recent personnel action 
form, no less than five (5) calendar days prior to the effective date of any punitive action 
against the employee. 
 
The notice of proposed disciplinary action shall include the following: 
 

A. The nature of the disciplinary action; 
B. The effective date of the action;  



 

   
90 

C. The causes for the action in ordinary, concise language with the dates and  
 places thereof, when known; 
D. A statement that identifies the material or documents upon which the action 

is based and states that it is available for inspection; and 
E. A statement advising the employee of his/her right to respond either verbally 

or in writing to the appointing authority or his/her designee imposing the 
disciplinary action prior to the effective date and the right to be represented 
in that response. 

 
Pre-Disciplinary Due Process Meeting  
If the employee does not waive his/her right to a Skelly meeting, the General Manager or 
designee shall conduct an informal meeting to allow the employee to respond to the 
charges made. 
 
The employee may present information and respond to questions personally or through 
his/her representative. 
 
The General Manager or designee shall give the employee written notice of the decision 
which shall be reached within five (5) working days after said meeting. 
 
Implementation of Discipline  
In the case of a suspension without pay of one (1) working day or less, or a suspension 
with pay of twenty (20) working days or less, the suspension may be imposed by a single 
notice containing items A, B, C, D & E above. This notice shall be delivered to the 
employee on or as soon after the effective date of the suspension as possible. 
 
Except as provided above, in order to implement the proposed disciplinary action of a 
lesser disciplinary action based on the same cause(s), a notice of disciplinary action shall 
be delivered to the employee, either personally or by the US Postal Service to the current 
address listed on the employee's most recent Personnel Action form, on or before the 
effective date of the disciplinary action. 
 
The notice of disciplinary action shall contain the information in items A, B, C, D & E above 
and, in addition, shall include a statement as to the right to appeal and representation by 
a party of his/her own choice and shall include a referral to the section of this agreement 
concerning appeals from disciplinary action. 
 
Reprimand  
An appointing authority may reprimand an employee by furnishing him/her with a 
statement, in writing, of the specific reasons for such reprimand.  A copy of notice of the 
reprimand shall be given to HR/Risk Administrator for inclusion in the employee's 
personnel file and shall not be subject to appeal, but the employee and/or his/her 
representative shall have the right to discuss the reprimand, or notice of reprimand during 
normal business hours, with the supervisor issuing the reprimand within three (3) working 
days of receipt of reprimand. 



 

   
91 

Disciplinary reprimands shall be removed from the employee's personnel file after the 
second (2nd) year of their issuance, upon the employee's request, and if the employee 
does not receive any further disciplinary action in the two (2) year period. 
 
Appeal of Disciplinary Action 
 

A. Appeal 
 
 If an employee who has had a pre-disciplinary due process (Skelly) meeting 

wishes to appeal the decision of the General Manager or designee further, and 
who has completed his/her six (6) months probationary status, he/she shall file 
with the MCWD Board of Directors no later than the fifteenth (15th) day after receipt 
of said notice of disciplinary action. 

 
 Should said fifteenth (15th) day fall on a day in which offices of the MCWD are not 

open for business, the time within which said notice of appeal may be filed shall 
be extended until 5:30 p.m. of the next following day when MCWD offices are open 
for business. 

 
B. Time of Hearing - Notice 
 
 A hearing by the MCWD Board of Directors or by a Hearing Officer appointed by 

the Board, relating to the validity of the charges upon which the disciplinary action 
was based shall commence not later than thirty (30) days after the date of the filing 
of the notice of appeal. 

 
 The appellant employee shall be given not less than ten (10) days written notice 

of the date, time, and place of said hearing of the Directors or the Hearing Officer.  
Said notice of the date, time, and place of hearing shall be effective upon its deposit 
in the US mail, postage prepaid with return receipt requested, and addressed to 
the last known address of the appellant as set forth in the appellant employee's 
personnel file. 
 
 

C. Conduct of Hearing 
 
 At the time and place designated, the MCWD Board of Directors or Hearing Officer 

shall hold a hearing for the purpose of determining the validity of the charges 
brought against the appellant employee and of the reasonableness of the discipline 
imposed pursuant to said charges.  Such hearing shall be closed to the public 
unless otherwise requested by the appellant employee.  The appellant employee 
may be present and have the right to be represented by counsel.  

 
 The hearing may be continued from time to time and at the end of such 

presentation the MCWD Board of Directors or Hearing Officer may take the 



 

   
92 

 evidence under consideration for a reasonable period of time before announcing 
its decision in the matter. 

  
D. Hearing 
 
 The General Manager or designee and the appellant employee may call witnesses, 

shall have the right of cross-examination and may present documentary and 
demonstrative evidence. 

 
E. Recommendation of Hearing Officer 
 
 If a Hearing Officer is appointed by the MCWD Board of Directors, a non-binding 

advisory opinion or recommendation shall be presented in writing to the MCWD 
Board of Directors no later than ten (10) days after the hearing is complete. 

 
F. Decision of MCWD Board of Directors 
 
 The decision of the MCWD Board of Directors shall designate express findings of 

the charges upon which the disciplinary action was based and may wholly reverse 
or affirm the disciplinary action imposed by the General Manager or designee or 
modify the severity of the same. 

 
G. Loss of Salary 
 
 If the discipline action of the General Manager or designee is wholly reversed by 

the MCWD Board of Directors, or the severity of discipline imposed is partially 
reversed, the appellant employee shall be entitled, upon the decision of the Board 
of Directors or Hearing Officer, to complete the partial reinstatement, as the case 
may be, and shall be entitled to reimbursement from MCWD funds of that salary 
forfeited by virtue of that portion of the disciplinary action which was overruled by 
the MCWD Board of Directors. 

 
H. Appeals of Decision 

 
The findings and decision of the MCWD Board of Directors on appeal shall be final 
and conclusive on all parties, and not subject to the grievance procedures provided 
for in this handbook.  Any employee whose termination for violation of MCWD rules 
is upheld by the MCWD Board of Directors shall not be eligible for rehire. 

 
Section 14. Employee Service Awards Program 
 
Each employee plays an important role in the efficient operation of MCWD; therefore, we 
feel it is important to recognize each employee's long-term service contribution to MCWD.  
Each employee completing five (5) years of service and additional five (5)-year 
increments, thereafter, will receive a gift certificate and recognition item. 



 

   
93 

5 years $  50.00 gift certificate 
10 years $100.00 gift certificate 
15 years $150.00 gift certificate 
20 years $200.00 gift certificate 
25 years $250.00 gift certificate 
30 years $300.00 gift certificate 
 

Employees may select gift certificates from various local businesses. 
 
14.0 Retiree Recognition Program 
 
In order to recognize the years of service to MCWD, employees with twenty (20) years or 
more of employment, will, upon retirement, receive fifty dollars ($50), after taxes, for each 
year of service. 
 
Section 15. Employee Health and Safety 
 
15.0 Injury & Illness Prevention Program  
 
MCWD greatly values the safety and health of all its employees and is committed to 
providing a safe and healthful workplace.  This will be accomplished through the 
maintenance of an effective Injury & Illness Prevention Program (IIPP).  
 
All managers and supervisors are responsible for adhering to the IIPP in his/her 
respective departments and for answering worker questions regarding the IIPP. 
 

A. Compliance 
 

Management is responsible for ensuring that all safety and health policies and 
procedures are clearly communicated and understood by all employees.  
Managers and supervisors will enforce the rules fairly and uniformly. 

 
All employees are responsible for using safe work practices, for following all 
directives, policies and procedures, and for assisting in maintaining a safe work 
environment. 
 
The MCWD’s system of ensuring that all employees comply with the rules and 
maintain a safe work environment include: 
 
• All employees will be annually evaluated on their safety performance; 
• Employees who do not exercise safe and healthful work practices will be 

trained or retrained; and, 
• An employee that does not comply with or intentionally ignores safe and 

healthful work practices will be subject to appropriate corrective action, up to 
and including termination. 



 

   
94 

B. Communication of Safety and Health Information 
 

The MCWD recognizes that open, two-way communication between management 
and staff on health and safety issues is essential to an injury-free, productive 
workplace. 
 
The MCWD will provide employees with up-to-date safety and health information 
that is readily understandable.  Generally, this information is provided by: 
 
• New employee orientation 
• Department meetings  
• Posters and/or bulletin boards 
• Safety Committee meetings 
• Emails/Memorandums 
 
The information provided will include the MCWD’s safety and health policies, rules 
and regulations, and new work procedures.  Employees are encouraged to share 
safety and health ideas, information, and concerns with the MCWD management.   

 
C. Safety and Healthful Work Practices 

 
MCWD recognizes its responsibility to create a safe and healthful workplace for 
all employees.  However, each employee must also share in this responsibility.  
Specifically, every employee: 

 
• Is responsible for the safe operation of all MCWD’s equipment, tools, 

machinery, vehicles, or other MCWD property in his/her charge; 
• Must not remove or inactivate any established safeguards.  Mechanical 

safeguards must be in place at all times; 
• Is expected to report any machine, tool, or equipment malfunctions to 

his/her manager.  Managers shall investigate and take the necessary steps 
to correct the malfunction as soon as possible; 

• Must wear appropriate personal protective equipment (PPE) when 
required.  All PPE shall be provided and maintained by MCWD.  Failure to 
wear the required PPE is cause for disciplinary action; 

• Shall follow the beneficial ergonomic criteria and adjustments; 
• Will utilize defensive driving techniques supported by the MCWD while 

driving a MCWD or personal vehicle while on MCWD business; and, 
• Must immediately report all accidents, injuries, exposures, and “close call” 

incidents to his/her manager. 
 

D. Emergency Action 
 

Employees are required to know the location of all emergency exits in their work 
area and the routes to these exits.   



 

   
95 

Employees are to know the location of all alarms and fire extinguishers and 
become familiar with the proper use of emergency equipment should the need ever 
arise.  Employees are also to review and become familiar with MCWD’s 
emergency evacuation plan and to clarify any unclear aspect of our emergency 
procedures with their immediate supervisor. 

 
E. Hazard Assessment 

 
Semi-annual inspections to identify and evaluate workplace hazards will be 
conducted by a member of the Safety Committee and with assistance from a Risk 
Management Consultant from MCWD’s liability carrier. 
 
Periodic inspections consist of identification and evaluation of workplace hazards 
utilizing a checklist contained in the IIPP.  

 
F. Hazard Correction 

 
Unsafe or unhealthy work conditions, practices or procedures will be corrected in 
a timely manner based on the severity of the hazards.  The inspection checklist 
will be presented to management and the hazards will be corrected in accordance 
with the following: 

 
• When observed or discovered; 
• When an imminent hazard exists which cannot be immediately abated without 

endangering employees or property, all exposed workers will be removed from 
the department except those necessary to correct the existing condition, who 
are trained to handle the condition and have the appropriate PPE; and, 

• All corrective actions taken and the dates they are completed will be 
documented on the checklist inspection form and maintained by the 
Operations & Maintenance Manager. 

 
G. Training 

 
All employees, including managers and supervisors, shall have training and 
instruction on general and job-specific safety and health practices.  Training and 
instruction will be provided as follows: 

 
• When the IIPP is changed; 
• During new-hire orientations; 
• To all employees given new job assignments for which training has not been 

previously provided; 
• Whenever new substances, processes, procedures or equipment are 

introduced to the workplace and represent a new hazard; 
• To all supervisors to familiarize them with the safety and health hazards to 

which workers under their immediate direction and control may be exposed; 
and, 



 

   
96 

• To all employees with respect to hazards specific to each employee’s job 
assignment. 

 
H. Recordkeeping 

 
  The following procedures are taken to maintain the MCWD IIPP: 
 

• Records of hazard assessment inspections, including the names of persons 
conducting the inspection, the date and unsafe work conditions and practices 
that have been identified and the action taken to correct the identified unsafe 
work conditions and work practices, will be recorded on a hazard assessment 
and correction form; and, 

• Documentation of safety and health training for each employee, including the 
employee’s name, training date(s), and type of training will be recorded on a 
worker training and instruction form. 

 
I. Safety and Health Committee 

 
 The MCWD Safety Committee will: 
 

• Meet quarterly each calendar; 
• Provide action items to management and post for employees via email or 

bulletin boards; 
• Review results of semi-annual or other periodic worksite inspections; 
• Review investigations of occupational accidents, close calls, or reported 

unsafe incidents without violating the privacy of the individual involved; 
• Review investigations of alleged hazardous conditions brought to the attention 

of any committee member; 
• Assist in the evaluation of employee safety suggestions; and, 
• Submit its own recommendations to management for consideration. 

 
J. Ergonomics 
 

It is the intention of MCWD to reduce exposure to ergonomic hazards through 
modifications to equipment, processes and employee training.  Any necessary, 
reasonable adjustments to minimize workplace repetitive motion injuries will be 
considered and made.  If an employee requires any adjustments or has any 
concerns or questions about ergonomics, he/she is encouraged to discuss these 
issues with his/her immediate supervisor, department manager, or HR/Risk 
Administrator.   

 
K. Bomb Threats and/or Threatening Calls 
 

Should an employee receive an emergency or threatening phone call, it is 
important to remain calm and try to write down the exact wording of the 



 

   
97 

emergency/threat.  Employees should notify a manager immediately, and if 
appropriate, phone 9-1-1. 

 
15.1 Wellness Program 
 
MCWD recognizes its employees are its greatest asset and encourages all staff to 
participate in a Wellness Program.  Wellness Programs have been proven to lower 
stress, reduce absenteeism, and improve morale.  However, participation is voluntary 
and employees do so at their own risk.  To further encourage the wellness of its 
employees, MCWD authorizes employees (upon approval of their immediate supervisor) 
who participate in aerobic physical exercise (walking, jogging, etc.) to use up to thirty (30) 
minutes of regular work time for this purpose two (2) days per week. 
 
Exercise is normally done over the lunch break, with an extension of thirty (30) minutes.  
This amount of time is intended to allow the exercising employee the opportunity to 
receive a thorough aerobic workout and time to return to work refreshed and relieved of 
stress. 
 
In addition to the physical activity of the Wellness Program, MCWD will, from time to time, 
offer employees information on nutrition, disease prevention and management, smoking 
cessation, obesity, etc. through posters, flyers and brown bag lunches. 
 
15.2 Uniforms and Safety Equipment 
 
MCWD shall provide and maintain appropriate safety clothing and equipment for 
Laboratory and Operations and Maintenance staff.  Such items may include, depending 
upon assigned duties, coats, dust masks, non-prescription safety glasses, pants, shirts, 
all-weather items, and MCWD hats. Hats with logos from vendors, or wearing of personal 
hats, are not acceptable.  Uniforms shall be cleaned weekly and worn clothing replaced 
by MCWD.   
 
MCWD will provide up to two-hundred dollars ($200) credit for the initial purchase of 
safety-toed boots or safety shoes for the appropriate personnel and up to one hundred 
dollars ($100) for the cost of prescription safety glasses. 
 
Replacement boots or shoes will be provided on an as-needed basis.  Wearing of 
uniforms, safety boots, and, if appropriate, safety glasses is mandatory for all employees 
provided with or eligible for reimbursement of same.  
 
Uniforms and boots are to be worn for MCWD purposes only.  Obscene or excessive 
adornment may not be worn.   
 
Tools and Equipment  
When using equipment or tools in performing tasks, employees are expected to exercise 
care and follow all operating and maintenance instructions, safety standards, and 
guidelines.  No employee is to attempt to repair any equipment without the express 



 

   
98 

authorization of the department manager.  Use equipment and tools only for the purpose 
for which they were designed.  Do not attempt to operate any equipment or machine until 
properly trained on the correct use. 
 
If any MCWD equipment, machine, or tool is broken, damaged, defective, or in need 
repair, employees should notify their immediate supervisor.  Prompt reporting of damage, 
defects, and need for repairs could prevent deterioration of equipment and possible injury 
to employees or others.   
 
The improper, careless, negligent, destructive, or unsafe use or operation of tools or 
equipment, including the removal from MCWD premises, can result in corrective action 
up to and including termination. 
 
Section 16. Risk Management 
 
16.0 DMV Pull Notice Program 
 
MCWD participates in the California Department of Motor Vehicles (DMV) Pull Notice 
Program.  This is a service for public agencies that provides driver record reports on 
employees.  
 
Procedures 
 
MCWD obtains from the DMV a copy of the driving record of all employees that are 
authorized to operate vehicles (MCWD or personal) on MCWD’s business. 
 

1. If an employee’s duties require driving a MCWD vehicle, he/she must maintain a 
driving record that will not cause the MCWD’s insurance rate to increase or for the 
employee to become uninsurable.  Any such actions could lead to disciplinary 
action. 

2. If an employee elects to drive a personal vehicle, he/she will be asked to provide 
proof of insurance on an annual basis. 

 
16.1 Respiratory Protection 
 
In order to protect employees from respiratory hazards and comply with OSHA 
regulations, employees who are required to work in confined spaces and hazardous 
atmospheres must be tested annually for medical fitness for wearing personal respiratory 
protection equipment.  These employees must ensure their personal grooming, such as 
facial hair (including sideburns and mustaches) is kept in the condition that was certified.   
 
This policy applies to any employee required to perform confined space entries and/or 
emergency work in hazardous atmospheres, except those employees with a valid and 
current written waiver on file. 
 



 

   
99 

Temporary Waivers  
A temporary waiver may be granted to employees whose long-term assignments 
adequately restrict their work in hazardous atmospheres and confined space entries to 
planned and scheduled projects, provided that the employee agrees to meet all of the 
respiratory fit test requirements for those planned and scheduled projects.  The employee 
must complete a Temporary Waiver Request form and have received written approval by 
his/her immediate supervisor and/or department manager. 

 
The waiver may be revoked at any time at the discretion of the Operations & Maintenance 
Manager, General Manager, or designee.  The employee must continue to successfully 
fit test under the MCWD annual respiratory protection program protocol to retain this 
accommodation.  Employees with a valid waiver may grow a beard, mustache and 
sideburns provided that a neat and well-groomed appearance is maintained.  
 
16.2 Fitness For Duty 
 
As conditions warrant, and based on documented reasonable suspicion of an employee’s 
questionable fitness for duty, MCWD reserves the right as a condition of employment to 
refer an employee for professional evaluation of his/her fitness for duty.  Such evaluations 
may include drug and/or alcohol testing, a medical examination by a qualified 
occupational health physician, referral for evaluation by a duly licensed SAP, or such 
other professional sources as may be considered by MCWD to be appropriate to 
prevailing conditions. 
 
Employees so referred must comply with instructions, dates, times and locations of the 
referred source as a condition of continued employment.  Failure to cooperate and/or 
participate in such referrals may be considered grounds for termination. 
 
All information pertaining to a fitness for duty referral shall be regarded and held in the 
strictest confidence by the employee’s department manager, HR/Risk Administrator and 
the General Manager or designee.  Only the General Manager or designee shall have the 
authority to receive information from referred sources regarding the conditions 
surrounding the nature of the referral and resultant outcomes from the referral source. 
 
Section 17. Return To Work Program 
 
MCWD recognizes that our employees are a critical part of our operation, and even if an 
employee becomes injured, on or off the job or has a temporary disability as a result of 
surgery or an illness, he/she remains a valuable part of the our staff.  A Return to Work 
Program (RTWP) is a proven essential cost containment element of our overall risk 
management program.  In conjunction with our Safety Program, it is an effective tool in 
returning employees to productive work in the shortest time possible, while maintaining 
high morale and keeping costs to a minimum.  



 

   
100 

It is MCWD’s goal to bring an employee back to work in a useful capacity as soon as 
possible.  We are looking at transitional duty from the positive point of view that our 
employees want to work and should recognize this practice as a benefit.   
 
If you are injured on or off the job, or have a temporary disability as a result of surgery or 
illness, the RTWP looks at ways to bring you back to work as soon as the doctor 
determines you are medically ready.  This may mean making temporary modifications to 
your job duties or work hours to accommodate your recovery.   
 
If the employee does not report to work (modified duty or regular work) when the doctor 
releases the employee or leave has expired, the employee may not be eligible for 
temporary disability payments, workers’ compensation payments, or regular wages, and 
the employee could be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination. 
 
The HR/Risk Administrator will act as a liaison between the employee, supervisor, doctor, 
and the JPIA Claims representative (if workers’ compensation is involved). 
 
Modified or Alternate Duty 
 
MCWD will consider the following when attempting to identify alternative duties: 
 

• The first priority should be to return the employee to the same job, if possible, 
based on the medical restrictions, as prescribed by the treating physician.  Building 
on existing work experience and working relationships avoids adding stresses of 
adjusting to new tasks and surroundings. 

• If this is not possible, the returned employee should be provided modified work in 
the same department.  Job or work site modifications may include a temporarily 
reduced work schedule, changed duties, trading heavier parts of the job with co-
workers, altering the way duties are performed, making physical changes in the 
workstation, and providing the employee with specialized tools or adaptive 
devices. 

• As a last alternative, the employee may be returned to work in a different 
department.  Transferable employment skills will be emphasized and on-the-job 
training will be provided to supplement these skills. 

 
Regardless of the accommodations made, we want our transitional employment to be 
productive and will be tailored to the employee’s individual abilities in order to facilitate 
recovery.  The duties will be flexible so that they can be easily altered to meet the 
requirements of the employee’s medical program or our internal needs. 
 
Our RTWP is designed to accommodate temporary disability.  The time in the program 
should typically not exceed ninety (90) calendar days.  As healing occurs, the employee’s 
work duties will be changed and frequently modified to reflect increased work capacity of 
the recovering employee, as dictated by the physician’s restrictions. 



 

   
101 

For workers’ compensation claims, if the employee is not going to reach full duty within 
the ninety (90) calendar-day period, HR/Risk Administrator will work with the JPIA Claims 
representative and the doctor on an alternative plan of action.  In the case of a non-
industrial claim or disability, the MSA will contact the doctor to discuss an alternative plan 
of action. 
 
Designated Industrial Medical Provider for on the Job injuries/illnesses 
 
For workers’ compensation, HR/Risk Administrator will meet with the doctor to discuss 
the RTWP.  The success of the program will depend on good communication between 
HR/Risk Administrator, the doctor, the injured worker and the JPIA claims representative.   
 
When an injury occurs, we want to get immediate medical attention for our injured worker.  
Depending on the seriousness of the injury, 911 will be contacted or the employee’s 
supervisor will drive the employee to our industrial medical provider.  If the employee has 
to go to the hospital, the ambulance should be directed to take the employee to: 
 

• Community Hospital of the Monterey Peninsula (CHOMP)/Salinas Valley Memorial 
Hospital (SVMH) (depending upon the employee’s location at the time of the 
emergency). 

 
Once the employee is released from the hospital, he/she may be redirected to the MCWD 
industrial medical clinic, Pinnacle (Salinas).  HR/Risk Administrator will ensure that 
Doctors on Duty has a copy of the employee’s job description.   
 
In the event a supervisor accompanies an employee to the clinic, the supervisor will take 
a copy of the job description.  A discussion should be held between the supervisor and 
the physician at the conclusion of the appointment regarding what restrictions will be 
placed on the employee’s job duties.  Once determined, HR/Risk Administrator will 
contact the physician. 
 
Employee Eligibility 
 
All regular full-time employees are eligible to participate in the RTWP, however, under 
certain situations, it may not be offered. 
 
Management Orientation 
 
The management team will be held accountable for the effective implementation of the 
RTWP.   
 
The management team plays an essential role in helping an injured or ill employee 
transition back to work.  Training, dedication, and commitment are essential to the 
success of our RTWP. 



 

   
102 

If an injured worker is not released to return to full or modified duty, the employee’s 
supervisor will make regular calls to the employee to review his/her health and recovery.  
The supervisor should let the employee know that he/she is missed and that MCWD is 
looking forward the employee’s early recovery and quick return.  The supervisor should 
determine when the employee’s next doctor’s appointment is scheduled.  This information 
should be communicated to HR/Risk Administrator. 
 
The injured employee and his/her supervisor will meet with HR/Risk Administrator when 
the employee returns with restrictions from the physician.  A determination will be made 
regarding job duties based on the physician’s restrictions.  A Transitional Duty 
Assignment form will be completed and signed by the employee, supervisor, and the 
HR/Risk Administrator. 
 
Employee Orientation 
 
All employees will be notified of the RTWP at the time it is implemented.  New hires will 
be informed of the RTWP at his/her employee orientation.  All employees will be held 
accountable for providing assistance with the RTWP if called upon.  The success of this 
program will be judged on the collective effort of all of our employees. 
 
Monitoring an Injury/Illness 
 
The HR/Risk Administrator will give the injured/ill worker all the pertinent forms and 
information, as well as reviewing with the employee his/her responsibilities. 
 
If an employee is not returned to full or modified duty immediately, HR/Risk Administrator 
may need to follow-up with the physician to determine if there are any restrictions that 
could be imposed which might allow the worker to return.  HR/Risk Administrator will ask 
the physician to complete a Physician’s Report/Employee Work Status form.  HR/Risk 
Administrator will meet with the employee’s supervisor and the employee to determine 
what modifications can be made to meet the doctor’s restrictions.  For non-workers’ 
compensation cases, a Fitness for Duty Exam may be warranted.  The District will 
coordinate this and inform the employee once an appointment has been secured. 
 
Employee’s Responsibilities 
 
If the physician releases the employee to full duty with no restrictions, the employee will 
provide his/her supervisor with a copy of the Physician’s Report/Employee Work Status 
form and return to full duty. 
 
If the employee is not released to return to work, it is the employee’s responsibility to 
attend each scheduled doctor’s appointment. 
 
If the physician releases the employee with restrictions, the employee will provide a copy 
of the Physician’s Report/Employee Work Status form to his/her supervisor.  The 
employee will then participate in a meeting with the supervisor and HR/Risk Administrator 



 

   
103 

regarding how the employee’s job duties will be modified to meet the restrictions.  A 
Transitional Duty/Assignment form will be completed at this time and signed by the 
employee, supervisor, and HR/Risk Administrator.  Once this form has been signed, it will 
be the employee’s responsibility to: 
 

• Work within the physical limitations set by the physician at all times, and perform 
only those temporary duties assigned to the employee by their supervisor.  

• Advise his/her supervisor if he/she is having difficulties performing the assigned 
tasks. 

• Provide advance notice to the supervisor if he/she must miss work for a medical 
appointment.   

• On future visits to the physician, ensure that his/her supervisor is advised of any 
changes to the work restrictions and provide the supervisor with an updated copy 
of the Physician’s Report/Employee Work Status form. 

 
It is the supervisor’s responsibility to ensure the employee is following the restrictions and 
directions provided.  If the employee is not, then appropriate action will be taken after 
consultation with the HR/Risk Administrator.  
 
17.0 Request for Reasonable Accommodation – Interactive Process 
 
MCWD is committed to assuring equal employment opportunity and equal access to 
services, programs and activities for persons with disabilities or religious creeds.  It is the 
policy of MCWD to provide reasonable accommodation to a qualified person  and to 
enable such person to perform the essential functions of the position for which he/she is 
applying or in which he/she is employed.   The Americans with Disabilities Amendments 
Act (ADAAA), Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and the California Fair Employment 
and Housing Act (FEHA)  requires employers to provide reasonable accommodation for 
the known disability or religious creed of a qualified applicant or employee unless it would 
impose undue hardship on an employer’s business, or unless the applicant or employee 
would cause a direct threat to other workers.  The FEHA coincides with the ADAAA, 
however, it extends some of the requirements of the ADAAA. 
 
This reasonable accommodation policy applies to all employment practices and actions.  
It includes, but is not limited to, recruitment, the job application process, examination and 
testing, hiring, training, disciplinary actions, rates of pay or other compensation, 
advancement, classification, transfers and reassignment, and promotions. 
 
While immediate supervisors/department managers are encouraged to continue 
responding directly to requests from individuals, there may be occasions when making a 
decision about accommodations is complicated by other factors.  For instance, the need 
for an accommodation may be obvious, or it may be difficult to determine what constitutes 
a reasonable accommodation, or a department’s budget may be unable to absorb the 
total cost of providing the accommodation requested.  The following procedure has been 
developed to ensure that a request for reasonable accommodation is treated as 
consistently and equitably as possible.  



 

   
104 

The requestor should meet with his/her department manager and/or HR/Risk 
Administrator to discuss the situation.  If the request is within his/her scope of authority 
and meets the legal requirements for accommodation, the request may be approved.  
Alternatively, HR/Risk Administrator may forward the request for accommodation to the 
General Manager or designee for review and determination. 

  
Disability Accommodation 
 
If a review by the General Manager or designee is determined to be appropriate, the 
requestor should submit a written request that includes the following: 
 

A. Name, address, and phone number of the requestor; 
B. The specific limitation, the type of accommodation requested, with an explanation 

of how the accommodation will allow the performance of the essential functions of 
the position or the participation in a program or activity; and 

C. Verification of a disability by the requestor’s medical physician or provider or 
vocational/rehabilitation counselor may be required.  (If medical verification is 
required, the requestor must sign a release form authorizing release of this 
information).  A copy of the job description shall be provided to the medical provider 
to assist in the determination of the requested accommodation as it relates to 
performing the essential functions of the position. 

 
Religious Creed Accommodation 
 
If a review by the General Manager or designee is determined to be appropriate, the 
requestor should submit a written request that includes the following: 
 

A. Name, address, and phone number of the requestor; 
 

B. The specific type of accommodation requested, with an explanation of how the 
accommodation will allow the performance of the essential functions of the position 
or the participation in a program or activity. 

 
Examples of reasonable accommodation for religious creed: 
 
1. Religious dress practice – includes the wearing or carrying of religious clothing, 

head or face coverings, jewelry, artifacts and any other item that is part of the 
observance by an individual of his/her religious creed. 

 
2. Religious grooming practice includes all forms of head, facial and body hair that 

are part of the observance by an individual of her/her religious creed.   
 
3. Religious holidays. 
 
4. Interview and examination times and schedules. 



 

   
105 

An accommodation of a religious dress or grooming practice does not require MCWD to 
segregate an individual from other employees or the public. 
 
Determination of Reasonable Accommodation 
 
The determination of providing a reasonable accommodation is made on a case-by-case 
process, known as the “interactive process”.  This is a timely individual process where 
appropriate management and the individual discuss the request and effective reasonable 
accommodation(s). 
 
If the request is approved, management will notify and meet with the requestor to make 
necessary arrangements.  If the request is denied, management will notify and meet with 
the requestor to explain the decision, elicit other possible solutions and determine the 
outcome.  The decision of the General Manager or designee is final. 
 
Section 18. General Housekeeping 
 
MCWD wants to provide an attractive and pleasant atmosphere for its employees and 
customers.  All employees are expected to keep their work area clean, organized, and 
uncluttered.  It is important that employees understand and fulfill responsibilities to the 
MCWD and to fellow employees when it comes to housekeeping.   
 
It is every employee’s responsibility to keep all work areas clean and trash free.  This 
includes such items as the refrigerator, microwave and coffee maker.  Please help in this 
regard by cleaning up and disposing of food, drink and trash properly at the end of each 
rest or meal period.  Employees are responsible for the cleaning of the mugs, glasses, 
dishes and utensils that they use.  In general, it is for the safety and benefit of everyone 
that we keep our facilities and workstations clean and orderly.  The result will be a work 
environment in which we all can take pride. 
 
Section 19. Miscellaneous Policies 
 
19.0 Social Events  
 
Employees are not required to attend or participate in any off-duty party or recreational, 
social, or athletic activity.   
 
Participation in any off-duty MCWD-sponsored social activity is strictly voluntary and is at 
the employee’s own risk.  MCWD assumes no liability for any injury or accident arising 
out of any off-duty party, social event or recreational activity.  It is important to note that 
participation in any MCWD recreational, athletic or social activity is not covered by 
Workers’ Compensation Insurance.  
 
Employees are advised and expected to refrain from drinking alcoholic beverages or 
engaging in any other activity to the extent that it would cause them to be unfit for the safe 
operation of a motor vehicle, or to behave in an intoxicated or disorderly manner.  Any 



 

   
106 

employee who feels his/her driving skills or reaction times might be impaired, even a little, 
should not drive.  Safe options include but are not limited to: taking a cab home, calling a 
friend or relative for a ride, asking another employee who has not been drinking alcohol 
for a ride home, or requesting any supervisor or manager to arrange transportation.   
 
The behavior of all employees and respective guests attending a MCWD-sponsored 
social event is expected to conform to the provisions in the Conduct Guidelines section 
in this Handbook. 
 
19.1 Lactation Accommodation  
 
MCWD provides sufficient break time for employees who are breast-feeding to express 
milk at work.  When possible, this need should coincide with the employee’s paid rest 
time.  Any additional time that is needed will be unpaid.  When possible, supervisors will 
consider flexible schedules to accommodate an employee’s needs.  In addition, the 
MCWD will provide a private room or space, close to an employee’s work area, to express 
milk whenever possible.   
 
19.2 Anti-Fraud  
 
The MCWD and its employees must, at all times, comply with all applicable laws and 
regulations.  Employees uncertain about the application or interpretation of any legal 
requirements should refer the matter to their immediate supervisor.  
 
The MCWD expects its employees to conduct themselves in a businesslike manner and 
perform duties conscientiously, honestly, and in accordance with the best interests of 
MCWD.  Employees are expected to take great care when working with MCWD suppliers 
or contractual contacts and members.  Employees should respect the confidentiality of 
information acquired in the course of their work.  Regardless of circumstances, if an 
employee believes that a course of action may involve a conflict of interest, fraud, financial 
impropriety, and/or dishonesty, he/she should immediately communicate the facts to 
his/her immediate supervisor, General Manager, designee, or member of the Board. 
 
The General Manager, designee, or Board President will promptly investigate any such 
report and retaliation against a MCWD employee or other person for reasonable, good 
faith reporting under this policy will not be tolerated and subject to appropriate disciplinary 
action. 
 
19.3 Falsification of Records  
 
MCWD strictly and expressly prohibits the falsification of employment application, 
personnel, timekeeping, work orders, customer account information, injury report, or any 
other report, document or record pertaining to MCWD employment, operations or 
compliance with any applicable laws.  Any employee found guilty of this form of 
misconduct, by a preponderance of evidence, shall be subject to immediate termination 
and possible prosecution. 



 

 1  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

MCWD Employee Handbook, summary of revisions: 
  

• Renumbered Sections: In light of the revisions noted below, several sections were 
renumbered. The section numbers referenced below are those that appear in our revised 
version (except for sections that were removed, which are referenced by their original 
number). 
  

• Section 1.0, 1.3, and 1.5: We revised sections 1.0 and 1.3 to clarify that the Handbook is 
a statement of binding policies, while still reserving the right to modify the Handbook at 
a later time. We also moved the paragraph explaining the District’s open-door policy into 
a new section. 

  
• Section 2: Per our discussion, we revised the definition of “part-time employee” to have 

them be at-will employees by default. Further, the definition of “non-exempt employee” 
was simplified to avoid the misleading implication that the District’s daily overtime 
policy is mandated by the FLSA. 
  

• Sections 3.1 and 3.2: We revised these sections to include legally protected 
characteristics that were missing, and to broaden the harassment policy to cover all forms 
of harassment.  
  

• Sections 3.10 and 3.11: We removed the portion of the electronic communications 
policy that covered social media, as this is now encompassed by a separate social media 
policy, Section 3.11. 
  

• Section 3.19: Because this policy covers not only “Cell Phone Usage” but use of 
personal electronic devices more generally, we revised the section heading accordingly. 
  

• Section 3.20: We re-inserted language providing examples of what constitutes acceptable 
attire for office employees. 
  

• Section 3.23: We added the new scavenging policy. 
  

• Sections 3.24 and 16.1: Section 3.24 was substantially revised to remove references to 
DOT requirements (other than a reference to the District’s separate DOT testing policy), 
to reflect the District’s actual non-DOT drug testing policy, and to clarify ambiguous 
provisions. References to the Public Safety Officer’s Procedural Bill of Rights were also 
removed, as the district does not employ any sworn peace officers covered by that law. In 
light of the revisions to Section 3.24 and in light of the District’s separate DOT testing 
policy, Section 16.1 was removed. 
  

• Sections 4.3 and 4.4: We added language to clarify that the introductory/probationary 
period applies only to regular full-time employees, and not to contract or part-time 
employees. 
 



 

 2  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

• Section 5.0:  Employee evaluations will be done on an annual basis.  January through 
December. 
  

• Section 5.2: We added language clarifying that an employee in a promotion-related 
introductory period who does not pass that introductory period is returned to their 
previous position rather than terminated entirely. 
  

• Section 5.4: We revised this section to reflect Labor Code 1198.5, under which 
employees are entitled to a copy of their whole file including unsigned documents. 
  

• Sections 5.7 and 5.8: We added a clarification that these policy sections prohibit texting 
only while driving. 
  

• Section 5.14: Because the District is a municipal corporation, pursuant to Labor Code 
section 220, it is exempt from the obligation to provide a final paycheck at the time of 
termination (required for private sector employers under Labor Code section201), and 
need only provide it as provided under the FLSA at the next regular payday; we revised 
this section accordingly. The District is free to make the final paycheck early, but you are 
not obligated to do so. 
  

• Section 7.0: The District’s overtime policy is more generous than the FLSA. We added 
language clarifying that not everything in this policy is legally mandated. 
  

• Section 7.1: This policy implies that Compensatory Time is only available for time-and-
a-half overtime, and not the double-time overtime for working over 12 hours in a 
workday. 
  

• Section 7.3: We note that while having the FLSA workweek begin Friday at noon for all 
employees is permissible, it is important to make sure that the District has in fact been 
tracking overtime within this workweek. In the alternative, the District can set different 
FLSA workweeks for employees who work 5/40 and 9/80 schedules. For 9/80 
employees, we typically recommend having each employee’s designated workweek begin 
4 hours into their regularly scheduled shift on the alternating day off.  If the Friday noon 
workweek is staying, then in order to avoid FLSA overtime, employees on a 9/80 
schedule should work no more than 4 hours before noon on Fridays, with Friday also 
being the alternating day off.   
  

• Section 7.4: The District’s meal break policy complies with the California wage-and-
hour law, but we note that the District is exempt from that law, and the District does have 
the flexibility to adopt a different policy. 
  

• Section 8.0: We note that the District is exempt from the requirement to provide 
reporting time pay. The District is free to provide such pay, but is not required to do so. 
  

• Section 10: This section indicates that only full-time employees working 32 hours or 
more are eligible for health benefits; the Affordable Care Act mandates health benefits to 



 

 3  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

employees working 30 or more hours. This section needs to be revised for compliance 
with the ACA. We are not familiar with what the District has done to address its ACA 
compliance and would need to gather more information to finalize any revisions to this 
section. 
  

• Section 10.1: We have not made any revisions to this section regarding Retiree Health 
Benefits.  However, the District may want to review this section further regarding any 
vested rights that it may create. 
  

• Section 10.8: We revised this section to more closely reflect applicable CalPERS rates 
and differentiate between CalPERS benefits and Social Security/Medicare. 
  
  

• Section 11.0: We revised this section to better reflect the interaction between 
CFRA/FMLA and PDL, which in some circumstances will require more than 12 weeks of 
continued health benefits. We also added a clarification that the loss of health benefits 
applies only to unpaid leaves of absences, and not to vacation, sick leave, etc., and 
language indicating the option for employees to elect continued coverage under COBRA. 
  

• Sections 11.1 and 11.2: We substantially revised these sections to more accurately 
reflect the FMLA, CFRA, PDL, and interaction between the three. These revised sections 
replace sections 11.1 through 11.4 of the previous version. 
  

• Section 11.4: We added language reflecting the District’s obligation in some 
circumstances to grant a medical/disability-related leave of absence under the 
ADA/FEHA.  
  

• Section 11.5: We revised this section to better reflect the application of California’s Paid 
Sick Leave Law and to distinguish between the accruals of regular full-time employees 
and part-time and temporary employees. 
  

• Section 11.10: We added language clarifying that victims of domestic violence or sexual 
assault are eligible for unpaid leave to the extent provided by law. 
  

• Section 13: We added language clarifying that the progressive discipline policy applies 
only to full-time non-introductory employees. 
  

• Section 16.1: As noted above, the drug and alcohol policy in the old Section 16.1 was 
consolidated with Section 3.24. 
 

• Added new policies:  
 

o Scavenging  Section: 
o Social Media Section: 
o FMLA Policies Section: 
o Open Door Policy 



 

 4  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

 
Section 1. Introduction and General Provisions 
 
1.0 Purpose of the MCWD Handbook Welcome to Marina Coast Water District 
 
Welcome!  As an employee of the Marina Coast Water District (“MCWD” or “the 
District”), you are an important member of our team.  We hope that you will find your 
position here rewarding, challenging, and productive. 
 
This employee handbook is intended to explain the terms and conditions of employment 
of all employees and supervisors.  Written employment contracts between 
CompanyDistrict and some individuals may supersede some of the provisions of this 
handbook. 
 
This handbook summarizes the policies and practices in effect at the time of publication.  
This handbook supersedes all previously issued handbooks and any policy or benefit 
statements or memoranda that are inconsistent with the policies described here.  Your 
supervisor or manager will be happy to answer any questions you may have. 
 
The District reserves the right to revise, modify, delete, or add to any and all policies, 
procedures, work rules, or benefits stated in this handbook or in any other document, 
except for the policy of at-will employment.  However, any such changes must be in 
writing and must be approved by the Board of Directors of their designee. 
 
Any written changes to this handbook will be distributed to all employees so that 
employees will be aware of the new policies or procedures.  No oral statements or 
representations can in any way alter the provisions of this handbook. 
 
This handbook sets forth the entire agreement between you and the District as to the 
duration of employment and the circumstances under which employment may be 
terminated.  Nothing in this employee handbook or in any other personnel document, 
including benefit plan descriptions, creates or is intended to create a promise or 
representation of continued employment for any employee. 
 
This Employee Handbook is intended to provide you with a general understanding of 
the District’s human resources policies, benefits, and rules.  It is meant to familiarize 
you with important information about the District as well as information regarding your 
own rights and responsibilities.  It is important that you read, understand, and follow the 
provisions of the Handbook.  Although the Handbook describes important policies, 
practices, and benefits, it is not intended to constitute a legal document which could 
create any expressed or implied contractual obligations.  You will be notified in writing of 
any amendments and additions to these policies and procedures.  Keep this Handbook, 
additions, and revisions on file for your reference.  It is your responsibility to keep your 
Handbook updated. 
 



 

 5  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

This Handbook cannot anticipate every situation or answer every question about 
employment.  Additionally, circumstances will require that guidelines, practices, and 
benefits described in this Handbook may change.  Accordingly, the District reserves the 
right to modify, supplement, or rescind any provision of this Handbook from time to time, 
as it deems necessary, and only by Board of Director’s approval.  The Employee 
Handbook does not establish any rights or duties on the part of either the District or the 
Employee.[GCD1] 
 
The District is constantly striving to improve its operations, the services that it provides 
its customers and its relations with its employees.  You are encouraged to bring 
suggestions for improvements to the attention of your supervisor, department manager, 
or the General Manager.  Additionally, if you have any questions, you should contact 
your supervisor or human resources.  By working together, the District believes that it 
will share with its employees a sincere pride in the work place and the services that they 
are here to provide.[GCD2] 
The Handbook contains policies that govern employment with the MCWD.  The 
Handbook is designed as a guide to ensure consistent, fair, and uniform treatment of all 
employees.  The Board of Directors has approved the provisions contained herein.  
MCWD reserves the right to amend, supplement or rescind any provisions of this 
Handbook as it deems appropriate.  Employees shall be advised of changes in policies, 
benefits and/or procedures. 
 
1.1 Scope of Handbook 
 
The policies and procedures contained herein supersede any and all previously issued 
policies, procedures, rules or instructions related to human resource management at 
MCWD with the exception of the individual bargaining units MOU’s.   
 
1.2 Administration 
 
The General Manager, as Appointing Authority, shall have unilateral authority to 
interpret and implement the provisions contained herein.  The General Manager may 
develop and issue procedures, consistent with the Handbook, to facilitate 
implementation. 
 
A copy of this Handbook shall be made available to all employees.  
 
1.3 Distribution of Handbook 
 
All employees shall receive and agree to abideunderstand they are bound by the 
provisions of this Handbook as a condition of continued employment whether it is read 
or not.  Employees shall sign and return an “Acknowledgement of Receipt of Employee 
Handbook” “form confirming receipt of the Handbook. 
 
1.4 Customer Service 
 



 

 6  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Our goal is to leave a positive, lasting impression with the customers who do business 
with us.  We accomplish this through caring and professional employees who strive to 
provide exceptional customer service by not only meeting, but exceeding our 
customers’ expectations in every way possible. 
 
What we say to our customers and how we say it are the basic building blocks to 
exceptional customer service.  All of us should constantly look for opportunities to 
enhance the satisfaction of our customers.  This requires a committee, team approach.  
We are all expected to accommodate customer requests and needs as they arise.  The 
primary tools in accomplishing this are knowledge of your job, the products and services 
we provide our customers, and your attitude when delivering that knowledge, service or 
product.  Remember to always interact with our customers, whether external or internal 
with dignity and respect. 
 
1.5 Open-Door Policy[GCD3] 
 
The District is constantly striving to improve its operations, the services that it provides 
its customers and its relations with its employees.  In addition, The District is committed 
to creating the best work environment - a place where everyone's voice is heard, where 
issues are promptly raised and resolved, and where communication flows across all 
levels of the organization. Openness is essential to quickly resolve customer concerns, 
to recognize business issues as they arise, and to address the changing needs of our 
diverse workforce. 
 
The essence of the District's Open Door Policy is open communication in an 
environment of trust and mutual respect that creates a solid foundation for collaboration, 
growth, high performance and success across the organization. 
 
It provides for a work environment where: 
 

• Open, honest communication between managers and employees is a day-to-day 
business practice 

• Employees may seek counsel, provide or solicit feedback, or raise concerns 
within the District 

• Managers hold the responsibility for creating a work environment where 
employees' input is welcome, advice is freely given, and issues are surfaced 
early and are candidly shared without the fear of retaliation when this input is 
shared in good faith 
 

If you have a question or wish to discuss a possible concern in the workplace, you 
should first discuss it with those in your management chain, such as your supervisor or 
department manager. If you are not comfortable with that approach for any reason, or if 
no action is taken on such discussions within your management chain, please contact 
the HR/Risk Administrator or the General Manager. 
 



 

 7  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Section 2. Definition of Terms 
 
The following definitions are meant to standardize and ensure common understanding 
with reference to employees and employment. 
 
Employee – refers to any person currently employed or on a leave of absence.  Not 
included under this term are applicants for employment, contracted agents, or others. 
 
Regular Full-time Time Employee– refers to employees who are hired to fill a full-time 
position, regularly scheduled to work at least thirty two (32)  hours per week[LTR4], and 
have completed a six (6) month introductory probationary [GCD5]period for that position. 
Employees in a regular, full-time position may be classified as “exempt” or “non-exempt” 
as defined below. 
 
IntroductoryProbationary Employee – refers to employees during the initial six (6) 
months of employment in a classification.  An employee in an introductoryprobationary 
status is considered at-will. 
 
Part-time Regular Employee[GCD6] – refers to employees who are hired to work less than 
full-time and who are at-will employeesmay or may not be serving under a contract-
basis or probationary status. 
 
Contract Employee – refers to employees hired on a temporary basis for a specific 
project or time period, but not more than 1,000 hours in a fiscal year.  If a project 
requires additional hours, the contract employee may be extended by the General 
Managerwith Board approval.  Contract employees are considered at-will employees 
and not normally eligible for benefits; however, in order to attract qualified candidates, 
benefits may be offered on a case-by-case basis. 
 
VVolunteer – refers to a person who is not a paid employee, who participates in any 
MCWD activity by providing his/her labor and services free of charge.  Use of volunteers 
on MCWD projects must be approved by the HR/Risk AdministratorManagement 
Services Administrator for liability and workers’ compensation purposes. 
 
Exempt Employee – refers to employees who are exempt from the minimum wage, 
overtime and other provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) and the 
appropriate Industrial Welfare Commission (IWC) Order as amended.  These 
employees do not receive overtime pay. 
 
Non-exempt Employee – refers to employees who are overtime eligible and paid 
overtime under the terms and conditions referenced in this Handbook. required to be 
paid overtime at the rate of time and one-half (1.5) the regular rate of pay for all hours 
worked beyond eight (8) hours in one (1) day or forty (40) hours in a workweek in 
accordance with the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) [GCD7]and any applicable state 
wage and hour laws unless an alternate workweek arrangement has been established. 
 



 

 8  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

 
 
Section 3. General Employment Policies 
 
3.0 Employment 
 
The laws of the State of California affirm that employees are hired and serve at the 
pleasure of the MCWD.  However, under normal circumstances, all regular, full-time 
employees, except the General Manager are entitled to certain disciplinary and 
grievance procedures specified in Section 12.  All employees have a responsibility to 
read and understand Section 13 that defines the type of discipline that may be imposed 
by MCWD and the processes associated with the type of discipline. 
 
3.1 Equal Employment Opportunity 
 
MCWD is an equal opportunity employer. It is MCWD’s policy to provide equal 
employment opportunity for all applicants and employees, in all areas of employment 
including recruitment, hiring, training, promotion, compensation, benefits, transfer, 
social/recreational programs and general treatment during employment. 
 
MCWD does not unlawfully discriminate on the basis of race, creed, color, age, religion, 
religious dress practices and religious grooming practices, gender (including gender 
identity and gender expression), nationality, national origin, ancestry, citizenship status, 
physical or mental disability, veteran/military status, medical condition (including 
pregnancy, childbirth, breastfeeding and related medical conditions, HIV or AIDS-
related conditions), marital status, genetics, gender identification, or sexual orientation, 
or any other consideration made unlawful by federal, state, or local laws.  MCWD also 
prohibits unlawful discrimination based on the perception that anyone has any of those 
characteristics, or based on association with a person who has or is perceived as 
having any of those characteristics. MCWD shall make reasonable accommodations for 
the known physical or mental disabilities of an otherwise qualified applicant/employee 
unless undue hardship for the employer would result.  Applicants may submit requests 
for accommodations to the HR/Risk Management Services Administrator.  The HR/Risk 
Management Services Administrator and/or a designee of the General Manager shall 
conduct an investigation into whether reasonable accommodations can be made. For 
more information, please refer to Section 17. 
 
It is the responsibility of every manager and employee to follow this policy.  Employees 
with questions or concerns about any type of discrimination or harassment on any of the 
basis mentioned above in the workplace are encouraged to bring these issues to the 
attention of his/hertheir  immediate supervisor, the HR/Risk Management Services 
Administrator, or the General Manager or designee.  Employees can raise concerns and 
make reports without fear of reprisal.  Anyone found to be engaging in any type of 
unlawful discrimination shall be subject to disciplinary action up to and including 
termination of employment with MCWD. 
 



 

 9  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

3.2 Harassment 
 
MCWD is committed to providing a workplace free of harassment.  In keeping with this 
commitment, MCWD maintains a strict policy prohibiting all forms of unlawful 
harassment, including sexual harassment and harassment based on race, color, creed, 
religion, religious dress practices, religious grooming practices, sex, national origin, age, 
sexual orientation, gender (including gender identity, or and gender expression.), 
national origin or ancestry, physical or mental disability, medical condition, marital 
status, age, sexual orientation, military/veteran status or any other basis protected by 
federal, state or local law  or any other characteristic protected by state or federal law.  
[LTR8] MCWD also prohibits harassment based on the perception that anyone has any of 
those characteristics, or based on association with a person who has or is perceived as 
having any of those characteristics. The California Department of Fair Employment and 
Housing Act (DFEH) defines “sex” as including pregnancy, childbirth, breastfeeding and 
related medical conditions.  This policy applies to all representatives  and employees of 
MCWD, including supervisors, department heads, and non-supervisory employees, and 
prohibits harassment of employees in the workplace by any person, including non-
employees.  It also extends to harassment of, or by vendors, independent contractors, 
and others doing business with MCWD.  Furthermore, this policy prohibits unlawful 
harassment in any form, including verbal, physical, and visual harassment.  It also 
prohibits retaliation of any kind against individuals who file complaints in good faith or 
who assist MCWD in an investigation. 
 

A.  Definition [LTR9]- Prohibited unlawful harassment includes, but is not limited 
to, the following behavior: 
• Verbal conduct such as epithets, derogatory jokes or comments, slurs 

or unwanted sexual advances, invitations or comments; 
• Visual displays such as derogatory and/or sexually-oriented posters, 

photography, cartoons, drawings or gestures; 
• Physical conduct including assault, unwanted touching, intentionally 

blocking normal movement or interfering with work because of sex, 
race or any other protected basis; 

• Threats and demands to submit to sexual requests as a condition of 
continued employment, or to avoid some other loss and offers of 
employment benefits in return for sexual favors; and 

• Retaliation for reporting or threatening to report harassment. 
 Sexual harassment includes, but is not limited to, making unwanted 

sexual advances and requests for sexual favors where either (1) 
submission to such conduct is made an explicit or implicit term or 
condition of employment; (2) submission to or rejection of such 
conduct by an individual is used as the basis for employment decisions 
affecting such individuals; or (3) such conduct has the purpose or 
effect of substantially interfering with an individual’s work performance 
or creating an intimidating, hostile or offensive working environment.  
Individuals who violate this policy are subject to discipline up to and 
including termination. 



 

 10  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

 
 The courts have defined two types of sexual harassment: 
 
Quid Pro Quo – this form of sexual harassment occurs when a  
supervisor or manager: 
Demands, as an explicit or implied term or condition of employment decisions, a 
subordinate submit to sexual advances (this may include situations which began as 
reciprocal relationships, but which later ceased to be reciprocal); and/or; 
Makes requests for sexual favors or other verbal, visual or physical conduct of a sexual 
nature that is explicit or implied term or condition of employment decisions. 
 
Examples of quid pro quo harassment include: 
 
Requests for sexual favors in exchange for a promotion or raise; 
Express or implied statement that a person will be demoted or fired if he/she does not 
submit to a sexual request or actually carrying out the threat 
 
Hostile Work Environment – this form of sexual harassment occurs when an individual 
is subjected to unwelcome sexual advances or other gender-based conduct that is 
sufficiently severe or pervasive to interfere with the individual’s work performance or 
creates an intimidating, hostile or offensive work environment.  The work environment 
must be both subjectively and objectively perceived as abusive.  The courts look at 
totality of the circumstances surrounding the alleged incidents of harassment to 
determine whether unlawful conduct has occurred.  Generally, there must be a pattern 
of unlawful conduct, although a single serious incident in some cases, such as sexual 
battery, might be enough to constitute sexual harassment.  The harasser can be a 
manager, supervisor, co-worker or in certain circumstances, a non-employee, such as a 
supplier or customer.  
Examples include: 
 
Submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly as a term or condition 
of employment; 
Leering, making or sending sexual jokes or sexually suggestive remarks, or making 
sexual gestures; 
Making offensive, negative or demeaning remarks about a person’s gender or physical 
appearance; 
Deliberate and unwelcome touching, hugging, and patting or blocking a person’s 
movement; 
Displaying offensive sexual illustrations or pictures in the workplace; 
Unwelcome pressure for dates or sex (this may include situations which began as 
reciprocal relationships, but which later ceased to be reciprocal). 
 
The intent of the person accused of sexual harassment is of secondary importance; the 
impact of the offensive behavior on the offended person is the primary factor in 
determining if sexual harassment has occurred. 
 



 

 11  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

 
B. Reporting Procedures - Any employee or other person who believes 

he/she has been harassed by a co-worker, supervisor, agent of MCWD, or 
anyone encountered in the course of performing MCWD work should 
promptly report the facts of the incidents(s) and the names of the 
individuals involved to his/her supervisor, department head, HR/Risk 
Management Services Administrator or General Manager.  It is the 
responsibility of each employee to immediately report any violation of 
suspected violation of this policy to one or more of the individuals 
identified above. 

 
C. Investigation - It is MCWD’s policy to investigate all reports or complaints 

of harassment thoroughly, promptly, and discreetly.  To the extent 
possible, the confidentiality of an employee or other person who has 
reported an incident and that of any witnesses and the alleged harasser 
will be protected against unnecessary disclosure.  The outcome of the 
investigation and a timely resolution of each complaint will be reached and 
communicated to the employee and the other parties involved.  If an 
investigation has concluded that harassment occurred, MCWD will take 
appropriate remedial corrective action, up to and including termination as 
identified in Section 13. 

 
Co-workers can be held legally responsible for sexual harassment, 
meaning his/hertheir personal assets are at risk.  Any employee is 
personally liable if he/she engages in sexual harassment.  This is true 
regardless of whether the employer knows or should have known of the 
contact and fails to take immediate and appropriate corrective action. 

 
3.34 Bullying 
 

A. Workplace bullying is behavior that harms, intimidates, offends, degrades or 
humiliates an employee, possibly in front of other employees, clients, or 
customers.  Workplace bullying may cause the loss of trained and talented 
employees, reduce productivity and morale, and create legal risks.  Examples of 
bullying include: spreading rumors, gossip and innuendo, intimidating a person, 
undermining or deliberately impeding a person’s work, physically abusing or 
threatening abuse, removing areas of responsibilities without cause, withholding 
necessary information, making jokes that are obviously offensive, intruding on a 
person’s privacy by pestering/spying/stalking, under work-creating a feeling of 
uselessness, yelling or using profanity, criticizing a person consistently or 
constantly, belittling a person’s opinion, unwarranted punishment, blocking 
applications for training/leave/promotion, tampering with a person’s personal 
belongings.  If in doubt if an action could be bullying, ask yourself if a reasonable 
person would consider the action acceptable. 

 



 

 12  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

B. Preventive/Response Measure: Report bullying to your supervisor or the HR/Risk 
Administrator.  An informal investigation will be conducted.  In the event the 
informal stage is not sufficient, or the offense is of a serious nature, a formal 
investigation will be conducted.  Any reports of workplace bullying will be treated 
seriously and investigated promptly.  Managers and supervisors must ensure 
employees who make complaints, or witnesses are not victimized. 

 

 Training: In order to eliminate and/or minimize risks involved with bullying and 
incivility, the HR/Risk Administrator is responsible for scheduling training for 
employees.  Staff is responsible for implementing the training.  Managers and 
supervisors are responsible for enforcing the policy. 

 

a. 3.4 Governmental Administrative Remedies for Discrimination and 
Harassment 
 
Discrimination, harassment and retaliation for opposing harassment or participating in 
investigations of harassment are illegal.  In addition to notifying MCWD about 
discrimination, harassment or retaliation complaints, affected employees may also direct 
his/her complaints to the California Department of Fair Employment and Housing 
(DFEH), which has the authority to conduct investigations.  The deadline for filing 
complaints with the DFEH is one (1) year from the date of the alleged unlawful conduct.  
The employee can contact the nearest DFEH office or the Equal Employment 
Opportunity Commission (EEOC) at locations listed on MCWD’s Employment Law 
posters located at each of the work facilities. 
 
b. 3.5 Conflicts of Interest 
 
Employees have an obligation to conduct business within guidelines that prohibit actual 
or potential conflicts of interests.  MCWD’s reputation for integrity is its most valuable 
asset and is directly related to the conduct of its employees.  Therefore, employees 
must avoid entering into transactions where it may appear that he/she isthey are 
improperly benefiting from his/her their employment with MCWD.  An employee who 
has influence on purchases, contracts, or leases, shall not use that influence to benefit 
himself/herself or any relative or family member.  Such employee should disclose the 
nature of the influence to his/her immediate supervisor, General Manager or designee, 
in order to avoid an appearance of a conflict of interest and so that appropriate 
safeguards can be established to protect all parties. 
 
Additionally, any employee who should happen to find items of value during the course 
of their work will turn them over immediately to the Operations and Maintenance 
Manager for disposal.  Employees are not to try and sell these items for their own 
personal gain.  Failure to comply with this policy could result in discipline up to and 
including termination.  Actions in violation of California State Law shall be referred to the 
appropriate governmental agency.   



 

 13  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

 
Employees who engage in employment outside of MCWD, as defined in Section 3.65 
below must disclose that information to MCWD and obtain written confirmation that the 
outside employment does not constitute a conflict of interest. 
 
Failure to comply with MCWD’s Conflict of Interest Policy shall result in disciplinary 
action, up to and including termination.  Actions in violation of California State Law shall 
be referred to the appropriate governmental agency.   
 
3.65 Outside Employment 
 
Employees may engage in outside employment, subject to Section 3.5 above and the 
restrictions contained in this section, as long as the employee meets the performance 
standards of his/her assigned job and devotes his/her full loyalty to MCWD.   
 
Employees are required to provide advance notice to the General Manager or designee 
before accepting secondary employment.  Once approved, if MCWD determines an 
employee’s outside work interferes with his/her performance or ability to meet the 
requirements of his/her position, the employee will be asked to terminate the outside 
employment.  Outside employment may not be conducted during the employee’s actual 
hours of work.  Furthermore, MCWD premises, equipment, vehicles, supplies, or 
electronic communication systems may never be used for outside employment. 
 
MCWD’s Workers’ Compensation Insurance will not pay for an illness or injury arising 
from any outside employment or outside business activity.  
 
3.76 Employment of Relatives 
 
MCWD discourages the hiring and employment of relatives or individuals in domestic 
partnership relations with current employees.  However, MCWD reserves the right to 
exercise appropriate discretion in each case.  “Relative” means spouse, domestic 
partner, former spouse, mother, father, stepmother, stepfather, or person who has acted 
in place of one of these, father-in-law, mother-in-law, child, stepchild, brother, sister, 
brother-in-law, and sister-in-law, or a person who co-habits with such other employee. 
 
MCWD will accept and consider applicants for employment from relatives of a current 
employee, as defined above.  Applicants must identify any individual who is a relative, 
as defined above, already employed by MCWD at the time he/shethey appliesy for 
employment. 
 
Employees’ relatives will not be eligible for employment where potential problems of 
supervision, safety, security or morale, or potential conflicts of interest exist.  In cases 
where a potential conflict arises such as might occur through a romantic relationship or 
marriage of two employees, even if there is not managerial relationship involved, the 
parties may be separated by reassignment or terminated from employment.  If the 
relationship is established after employment, and the determination is made to 



 

 14  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

separate, then the individuals concerned must decide within thirty (30) calendars days, 
who will be transferred or terminated. 
 
3.87 Political Activity 
 
While on the job, during working hours, employees may not campaign for, or against, 
any candidate or issue, engage in political activities, or solicit funds for political groups, 
on MCWD premises. Employees may not engage in such activities while wearing a 
MCWD uniform, badge or similar apparel that is likely to identify him/herthem as a 
MCWD employees. Likewise, employees may not solicit or distribute politically oriented 
information or materials, nor place or post such materials on MCWD bulletin boards 
including the placement of stickers on MCWD vehicles, buildings or other property 
owned by MCWD. 
 
These restrictions are solely for the purpose of keeping MCWD jobs free from political 
influence.  Nothing in this policy is intended to prevent employees from voting, 
belonging to political organizations, or attending political meetings on his/hertheir own 
time.  
 
3.98 Smoking 
 
In order to provide employees with a safe and healthful work environment and ensure 
compliance with the California Workplace Tobacco Laws (AB 13 and AB 846) as well as 
the California Labor Code Section 64045, smoking is not permitted within twenty-five 
(25) feet of any exit or operable window of MCWD facilities.  In addition, smoking in a 
MCWD vehicle is prohibited.  
 
The success of this policy depends on the thoughtfulness, consideration and 
cooperation of smokers and non-smokers.  All individuals on MCWD premises share in 
the responsibility of adhering to this policy.  Likewise, all MCWD employees are 
responsible for advising members of the public or other visitors who are observed 
smoking tobacco products on MCWD property of this policy.  These individuals shall be 
asked by staff to refrain from smoking, and if the person fails to comply, the requesting 
staff members should inform a member of the management staff. 
 
3.109 Drug-Free/Alcohol-Free Workplace  
 
MCWD has a critical interest in assuring the health, safety, and well-being of its 
employees and the maintenance of a safe and efficient work environment.  Illegal drugs 
and/or alcohol in the workplace are a danger and inconsistent with the behavior 
expected of our employees. 
 
As such, MCWD is committed to maintaining a work environment free from the influence 
of alcohol and drugs.  MCWD has adopted standards and guidelines in accordance with 
the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1990, the federal Department of Transportation 
regulations and other federal laws applicable to public entities including those 



 

 15  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

employing “safety sensitive” positions.  Such positions shall be designated by MCWD 
using federal standards in order to identify which positions are subject to discretionary 
random drug testing.   
 
While the 2016 voter initiative Proposition 64 (Adult Use of Marijuana Act) legalized the 
recreational use of marijuana in California for adults over 21 years of age, it remains a 
Schedule 1 substance under the federal Controlled Substance Act.  The District will 
continue to prohibit the use of any controlled substances in the workplace.  In addition, 
the District reserves the right to continue to require pre-employment drug testing as well 
as reasonable suspicion and post-accident testing. 
 
In this connection, aAny location at which MCWD business is conducted, whether on 
MCWD property or at any other site, is declared to be a drug-free workplace. This 
means that:  
 

A.  All employees are absolutely prohibited from engaging in the unlawful 
manufacture, distribution, dispensation, possession, sale, or use of an 
illegal drug, alcohol, or controlled substance in the workplace or while 
engaged in MCWD business.  Any employee violating the policy is subject 
to discipline, up to and including termination. 

 
B. Should an employee be required to take any kind of prescription or 

nonprescription medication, which could affect job performance or the 
ability to operate machinery he/she is required to report this to his/her 
immediate supervisor. A written statement may be required.  An employee 
may continue to work if MCWD determines the employee does not pose a 
safety threat and/or that job performance is not affected by use of the 
medication.  Otherwise, the supervisor will determine if it is necessary to 
temporarily place the employee on another work assignment in order to 
reasonably accommodate a medical condition or to take other action as 
appropriate.  

 
C. Employees have the right to know the dangers of drug abuse in the 

workplace, MCWD’s policy, and what help is available to combat drug 
problems.  MCWD will provide educational material and conduct training 
for all employees on this subject.  MCWD also recognizes that substance 
abuse is treatable and is willing to provide referral assistance to those who 
want to understand and correct his/her problem before it impairs his/her 
performance and jeopardizes his/her employment.  One source of 
treatment for drug/alcohol dependency is provided to MCWD employees 
through coverage under the Association of California Water Agencies 
(ACWA) sponsored health plan.  If this option is provided, the employee 
will be required to provide periodic verifications of continued counseling 
sessions.  Failure to provide such documentation or a repeat occurrence 
of unsatisfactory job performance resulting from alcohol and/or drug 
dependency or abuse while at work may resulting termination.  Employees 



 

 16  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

participating in a rehabilitation program will be required to meet all job 
performance standards and work rules. 

 
   

 
D. Any employee convicted of violating a criminal drug statute must inform 

MCWD of such conviction (including pleas of guilty and nolo contendre) 
within five (5) days of its occurrence.  Failure to do so will subject the 
employee to disciplinary action, up to and including immediate termination.   

 
E. If MCWD has reason to suspect that an employee may be using drugs or 

alcohol, or may be under the influence of or impaired while at work, or 
when reporting for work, that employee may be ordered to submit to a 
blood test, urinalysis, breathalyzer, or other test conducted by a 
professional medical staff and laboratory.  Likewise, when MCWD 
reasonably suspects that an employee’s impairment from drugs or alcohol 
may have been a factor in an injury or accident during work or while 
operating MCWD equipment or a vehicle, that employee may also be 
required to take a blood test, urinalysis, or other drug/alcohol test.  Such 
examination and/or tests, when requested, will be on MCWD time, are 
considered a condition of employment, and will be at the sole expense of 
MCWD.  Transportation will be provided to and from the medical facility.  If 
the employee tests positive, the employee may be subject to immediate 
termination.  Should an employee refuse to submit to the requested 
examination or test, the employee will be subject to corrective action, up to 
and including termination. 

 
F. MCWD retains the right to search and inspect all MCWD-owned property 

and premises including common areas used by employees to detect the 
presence of drugs, controlled substances, or alcohol.  MCWD-owned 
property includes, but is not limited to, machinery, equipment, furniture, 
lockers, buildings and vehicles.  In addition, MCWD may question 
employees and inspect any of his/her packages, vehicles, or belongings 
when entering or leaving MCWD premises.  Such inspections may occur 
at any time, with or without notice.  As a condition of employment, every 
employee is expected and required to cooperate fully with any search 
being conducted to detect the presence of drugs or alcohol on MCWD 
property. 

 
G. An employee who may have an alcohol or drug problem is encouraged to 

seek treatment before his/her performance or conduct is affected.  MCWD 
will reasonably accommodate any employee who wishes to voluntarily 
enter and participate in an alcohol or drug rehabilitation program, unless it 
imposes an undue hardship on MCWD.  Employees may use any 
available sick leave, as well as any accrued, unused vacation or 



 

 17  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

compensation benefits for the purpose of entering and participating in 
such a rehabilitation program. 

 
If such a program is offered, and accepted by the employee, then the 
employee must satisfactorily participate in the program as a condition of 
continued employment.  

 
3.10 Internet, E-Mail, Telephones, and Electronic Communications Ethics, Usage 

and Security Policy  
 
MCWD believes that employee access to and uses of the Internet, e-mail, telephones, 
social media, and other electronic communication resources benefits MCWD.  However, 
the misuse of these sources has the potential to harm the District’s MCWD.short and 
long-term success. 
 
MCWD has established this ethics, usage, and security policy to ensure that all MCWD 
employees use the computer resources which MCWD has provided its employees, such 
as the Internet and e-mail in an ethical, legal, and appropriate manner.  This policy 
establishes acceptable and unacceptable use of the internet, e-mail, and other 
electronic communications.  Nothing in this policy shall operate to prohibit or in any way 
limit an employee’s right to discuss the terms and conditions of his or her employment, 
as provided by law. 
  
This policy also establishes the steps the District may take for inappropriate use of the 
internet and e-mail.  All employees must read and adhere to these guidelines.  Failure 
to follow this policy may lead to discipline, up to and including termination. 
 

A. Inappropriate use of the Internet and e-mail includes, but is not limited to: 
 

1. Accessing sites that contain pornography, sites that exploit 
children, sites that contain gambling opportunities, or sites that 
would generally be regarded in the community as offensive, or for 
which there is no official business purpose to access. 

2. Participating in any profane, defamatory, harassing, illegal, 
discriminatory, or offensive activity, or any activity that is 
inconsistent in any way with MCWD policies (e.g. policy on sexual 
harassment). 

3. Exploiting security weaknesses of MCWD’s computing resources 
and/or other networks or computers outside MCWD. 

4. Knowingly allowing unauthorized persons access to or use of 
MCWD computing resources. 

5. Transmitting any of the District’s confidential or proprietary 
information, including customer data or other materials covered by 
the District’s confidentiality policy; transmitting or posting 
information that may harm the District or its reputation or any of its 
employees regardless of whether the information is defamatory.  



 

 18  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

The prohibitions described apply to employees whether the 
employee is on or off duty or working from a non-District computer. 

 
 

 
While we understand that many of our employees may interact using various 
social media sites, e.g. Facebook, Instagram, LinkedIn, it is important that 
employees keep their personal postings entirely personal.  Please remember that 
some of these sites allow individuals you might not want to interact with to see 
your postings and therefore you should use care in your interactions. 
 
Employees should never suggest anything they do or say when using any  
internet resource represents the opinion or attitude of the District. 
 
Where the District has decided to create accounts exclusively for business 
purposes, only employees expressly authorized are permitted to post information 
and modify the site.  Such accounts are as important to the organization as the 
official website and as such, extreme care is needed in portraying the desired 
information on the site. 
 
We also ask that employees who have concerns about actions, policies, or other 
District business address it with management staff directly rather than posting 
such concerns on social sites[GCD10] 
 
MCWD employees or applicants of MCWD will not be required to provide  
usernames or passwords for personal social media accounts, access  
their accounts in the employer’s presence, or divulge personal social  
media.  However, MCWD may ask employees to divulge their personal  
social media for the purpose of MCWD’s investigation into alleged  
employee misconduct or violations of the law. 

 
2. A. Personal use of MCWD’s computer system and access to the Internet and 
e-mail is not a benefit of employment with MCWD.  Use of the Internet should not 
interfere with the timely and efficient performance of job duties. 

 
B. Employees should not have any expectation to the right of privacy in any 

MCWD computer resources, including e-mail messages produced, sent, 
or received by MCWD computers, cell phones, or transmitted via MCWD’s 
servers and network.  Tthe Network Administrator(s) may monitor the 
contents of all e-mail messages to promote the administration of its 
business and policies. 

 
C. Use of another employee’s name/account to access MCWD’s network or 

the Internet is prohibited without express permission of the Network 
Administrator(s). 

 



 

 19  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

D. Employees may not use MCWD’s computer resources for personal 
commercial activity. 

 
E. To maintain the integrity and firewall protection of MCWD’s system, 

personal Internet accounts shouldmay not be accessed using MCWD’s 
network system, telephone system, modem pool, or communication server 
to access the Internet. 

 
F. The vast majority of MCWD records are public documents.  Employees 

should not transmit information in an electronic mail message that could 
be written in a letter, memorandum, or document available to the public.  
E-mail attachments are subject to the same ethical and legal concerns 
and standards of good conduct as memos, letter, and other paper-based 
documents.  E-mail can be forwarded to others, printed on paper, and is 
subject to possible discovery during lawsuits in which MCWD or the 
employee may be involved. 

 
G. Downloading software and programs for other than MCWD-authorized 

tasks is prohibited.  When required to download authorized software 
programs for MCWD, the Network Administrator(s) should be notified 
immediately.  Computer viruses can become attached to executable files 
and program files and result in significant losses to MCWD.  Employees 
should scan all downloaded materials before using or opening them on 
his/her their computers to prevent the introduction of a virus. 

 
All copyright and license agreements regarding software or publications 
will be adhered to.  MCWD will not condone violations of copyright laws 
and licenses and the employee will be personally liable for any fines or 
sanctions caused by illegal use or infringement.  Any software or 
publication which is downloaded onto a MCWD computer may become the 
sole property of MCWD. 

 
3.11 Social Media Policy 
 
Purpose 
 
The District recognizes the role that Social Media tools may play in the personal lives of 
the District personnel and Elected Officials; and the effect Social Media may have on 
personnel in their official capacities. This policy establishes the District’s position on the 
use and management of District authorized Social media and Personal Social Media, as 
well as providing guidelines on its management, administration, and oversight. This 
Policy provides guidance of a precautionary nature as well as stating specific 
restrictions and prohibitions on the use of Social Media by District personnel and 
Elected Officials. 
 



 

 20  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

In the rapidly expanding world of electronic communication, Social Media can mean 
many things. In general, Social Media encompasses the various activities that integrate 
technology, social interaction, and content creation. Through Social Media, individuals 
can create Web content, can organize, edit or comment on content, as well as combine 
and share content on their own web site or on someone else’s. Social Media uses many 
technologies and forms, including Web feeds, blogs, wikis, photography and video 
sharing, web logs, journals, diaries, chat rooms, bulletin boards, affinity web sites, 
podcasts, social networking, fan sites, mashups, and virtual worlds. 
 
The Policy is not intended to address one particular form of Social Media, but rather, 
Social Media in general and in general terms, as technology will outpace the District’s 
ability to discover emerging technology and create policies governing their specific 
uses. 
 
Use of Social Media for Official District Purposes  
 
General 
 
The same principles and guidelines found in the District policies apply to employee 
activities online.  Before creating online content, keep in mind that if your conduct 
adversely affects your job performance, the performance of co-workers or otherwise 
adversely affects members of the public served by the District, people who work on 
behalf of the District, or the District’s legitimate business interests, the District may take 
disciplinary action against you, up to and including termination. 
 
To the extent that your Social Media impacts District personnel, the community, and/or 
rate payers follow District policies and regulations, including but not limited to those that 
protect individual privacy rights, anti-discrimination and harassment policies, anti-
workplace violence and other relevant policies. Employees using District-provided 
internet resources shall do so only in support of official District business 
 
Any users of the District’s Social Media channels must comply with applicable federal, 
state and local laws.  This includes adherence to established laws and policies 
regarding copyright, records retention, California Public Records Act, e-discovery law, 
First Amendment, privacy laws, and information security and therefore must be able to 
be managed, stored, and retrieved to comply with these laws. 
 
The District has an overriding interest in protecting the integrity of information posted on 
Social Media platforms or websites that are attributed to the District and to its officials.  
One of the purposes of this Policy is to establish guidelines, standards and instructions 
for the use of Social Media sites by the District. 
 
Messages and content posted on a District Social Media site may constitute speech on 
behalf of the District, but such speech takes place on a non-District venue.  Therefore, 
the District Board of Directors finds and intends that speech posted on a Social Media 
site venue by District representatives and comments by the public posted on a social 



 

 21  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

media site venue in response, do not create a public forum or limited public forum on 
any portion of the District’s websites, equipment or other District property. 
 
Public Comment Policy 
 
Employees or elected officials using Social Media for official District purposes are 
prohibited from posting: 
 

1) Information about actual or potential claims and litigation involving the District, 
2) The intellectual property of others without written permission, 
3) Photographs of employees or members of the public without written permission, 
4) Defamatory material, 
5) Any personal, sensitive, or confidential information about anyone, 
6) Obscene, pornographic, or other offensive/illegal material or links, 
7) Racist, sexist, and other disparaging language about a group of people, 
8) Political campaign materials or comments, 
9) Threatening, harassing, hateful, or mean-spirited comments, 
10)  Information that is not public in nature, 
11)  Information or comments that are potentially libelous, 
12)  Personal Attacks, insults, threatening language, 
13)  Commercial promotions or spam, 
14)  Off-topic or link to material that is off topic, or 
15)  Embed imagers and external sources. 

 
All District social networking sites shall clearly provide notice of the following: 
 

1) The types of postings that are violation of the District’s Social Media Policy (as 
listed above). 

2) The District reserves the right to remove postings that violate its Social Media 
policy. 

3) The District only monitors postings during regular business hours and thus 
information conveyed after hours will not be received and responded to (if 
applicable) until the next business day. 

4) Postings are subject to disclosure as public records. 
 
The following are guidelines for employee or elected officials in responding to 
comments when using Social Media for official District purposes: 
 

1) Be honest/transparent. 
2) Post only within one’s area of expertise. 
3) Post only useful information. 
4) Keep it professional – avoid confrontation. 
5) Be accurate. 
6) Correct errors, and if modifying an earlier post, identify the change. 
7) Be responsive to citizen concerns. 

  



 

 22  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Roles/Responsibilities 
 
Human Resources will maintain a list of approved social media pages that have been 
approved by the General Manager and will have authority to edit or remove 
inappropriate comments or content from the District’s social media pages. 
 
The District’s Public Relations Consultant will monitor the content of the social media 
pages and the District’s Human Resources Manager will monitor and respond to 
comments. 
 
Public Records and Retention 
 
All social media postings will be in compliance with the District’s existing public records 
and retention policy.  To facilitate compliance, the following apply: 

 
1) Post all original content to the District’s website and use the social media site as 

a secondary outlet. 
2) Link back to the official District Website for additional information. 
3) Employees who post public records to a social media site will ensure that the 

original document is retained in a manner that complies with public record policy. 
 

• Personal Use of Social Media 
 
General 
 
District personnel and Elected Officials are free to express themselves as private 
citizens on Social Media sites to the degree that the speech does not impair or impede 
the performance of District duties, impair discipline and harmony among co-workers.  A 
public official’s personal social media site may transform into a limited public forum 
when acting on official public business.  Use caution when posting about public 
business on your personal page.  Use good and ethical judgement. 
 
While Social Media offers great opportunities for District employees and Elected 
Officials to communicate and collaborate, both internally and externally, it also brings 
equally great responsibilities.  Social Media blurs the lines between personal and 
professional as no other technology has before.  By virtue of identifying yourself as a 
District employee or Elected Official within a social network, you are now connected to 
your colleagues, managers, and community members.  Your online postings should 
always represent your personal point of view and not that of Marina Coast Water 
District.  When posting your point of view, you should neither claim nor imply you are 
speaking on the District’s behalf.  Please be clear to indicate that the views expressed 
on your posts are your own and do not necessarily reflect the views of the District.  
Include a disclaimer such as “The postings on this site are my own and do not 
necessarily reflect the views of the District”.  Do not create a link from your blog, website 
or other Social Media/Networking site to a District website without identifying yourself as 
an employee or an Elected Official. 



 

 23  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

 
Responsibility to Clarify   
 
If an employee or Elected Official provides their own opinion on a Social Media platform, 
and such opinion is questioned by the media or public as being connected with the 
District, then the person who wrote their opinion should respond and should clarify their 
opinion is not associated with the District.  
 
Personal Use of Social Media by Elected Officials 
 
Elected Officials should follow the guidelines of the ethics code training (i.e. Fair 
Political Practice Commission), when using social media.  Informal communication with 
constituents is generally acceptable, but discussion of public business is risky, 
especially if it involves other Elected Officials.  Elected Official use of social media to 
discuss public business may violate the open meetings law or may violate the law 
against using government resources for political purposes.  To address these risks, the 
following policies apply: 
 

1) It is prohibited that Elected Official use any social media (personal, professional 
or the District’s official social media) to discuss public business before the Board 
that should otherwise be discussed in a properly agendized public Board 
meeting.. 
 

2) A social media site used by an Elected Official to communicate with constituents 
must include a link back to the District’s official website for detailed information. 
 

3) Elected Officials who use social media for campaigning must establish separate 
social media for that purpose and not access that social media through the 
District’s technology 
 

4) District officials or employees on a non-District site must include a disclaimer, 
only when mentioning District business, (i.e. “The postings on this site are my 
own and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Marina Coast Water District.  
This is not an official Marina Coast Water District social media site”).  

 
 
a. 3.12 Nondisclosure of Confidential Information 
 
During the course of employment, employees may have access to certain confidential 
information including: legal information, employee information, business records, 
customer information, business systems, future plans and other information that MCWD 
considers confidential and sensitive.  Employees are expected to use discretion and 
exercise caution in regard to keeping information confidential about MCWD business 
and employees.  Only the General Manager or designees are authorized to disclose 
confidential information as deemed appropriate for a public entity, or as otherwise 



 

 24  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

authorized by the Board of Directors. Any question about the confidentiality of 
information should be referred to the General Manager or designees. 
 
b. 3.1312 Inquiries from Outside Sources 
 
From time to time, news media or the general public may contact MCWD with requests 
for information.  All inquiries concerning MCWD operations and/or policies should be 
referred to the General Manager or designee.  All inquiries regarding former or current 
employees should be referred to the HR/Risk Management Services Administrator. 
 
3.143 Workplace Violence and Security, and Monitoring 
 
MCWD recognizes the importance of maintaining a safe and violence-free workplace. 
MCWD is committed to providing a workplace that is free from acts or threats of 
violence.  Although some kinds of violence result from societal problems that are 
beyond MCWD’s control, MCWD believes that measures can be adopted to increase 
protection for employees and to provide a secure workplace.  Accordingly, acts and/or 
threats of violence by or toward employees will not be tolerated and will be grounds for 
discipline and/or other remedial action up to and including immediate termination.  
Similarly, acts and/or threats of violence by visitors, members of the public, or other 
non-employees will likewise not be tolerated and will be grounds for appropriate 
remedial action.  Remedial action includes, but is not limited to, removal of offenders 
from the premises, removal of employees from work schedules, unpaid administrative 
leave pending the outcome of an investigation, disciplinary action up to and including 
termination, the filing of a temporary restraining order or court ordered injunction, and 
such other actions as may be deemed appropriate based on specific conditions and 
circumstances. 
 
MCWD believes prevention of workplace violence begins with recognition and 
awareness of potential early warning signs of a situation that presents the possibility of 
violence.  Workplace violence includes threats of any kind; threatening or physically 
aggressive or violent behavior; harassing or threatening phone calls; stalking; other 
behavior that suggests a propensity toward violence such as belligerent speech, 
excessive arguing or swearing, sabotage or threats of sabotage of MCWD property; a 
demonstrated pattern or refusal to follow MCWD policies and procedures; defacing 
MCWD property or causing physical damage to MCWD facilities; or bringing weapons, 
firearms or any device reasonably believed by MCWD to be hazardous or a threat on 
MCWD premises. 
 
Consequently, every employee has an obligation to report to his/her supervisor, or a 
member of the management staff, any incident involving any threat or act of violence, 
use or observation of any weapon or hazardous device on MCWD premises or vehicles, 
including acts of intimidation or confrontational behavior.  Employees should request 
assistance from the nearest available manager to help resolve any difficult situation or 
security problem.  Do not confront any person who is hostile or overly agitated.  Instead, 
immediately report to management any person(s) who acts in a suspicious, hostile, or 



 

 25  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

violent manner.  All reports of workplace violence will be taken seriously and will be 
reviewed promptly, and appropriate corrective action will be taken.   
 
In addition to these efforts, all employees are to notify management of any security 
hazards. Recommendations of appropriate action to prevent workplace violence and 
limit access to work areas by unauthorized persons should be made to management or 
directly to the General Manager or designee. 
 
In an effort to ensure the proper security of MCWD premises and related work locations, 
MCWD may visit, inspect, monitor and/or provide camera surveillance at certain 
locations, and from time to time, as conditions warrant. 
 
3.154 Privacy 
 
MCWD recognizes the need and expectation employees have concerning his/hertheir 
privacy rights.  Therefore, it should be understood that records and information about 
MCWD customers, suppliers, contractors and employees are considered strictly 
confidential and only those employees that have a job-related need to know have a right 
to access and use such information and then only for operational purposes.  Similarly, 
employees should avoid undue intrusion into the personal affairs of other employees 
with the exception of an appropriate investigation into an alleged act of misconduct by 
an employee.  In these cases, the privacy of those employees being investigated, 
including potential witnesses will be maintained to the degree possible. 
 
Failure on the part of an employee to maintain the confidentiality and privacy of 
customer and employee information can result in disciplinary action up to and including 
termination. 
 
3.165 MCWD Communications/Bulletin Boards 
 
All MCWD employees are encouraged to openly and honestly communicate while 
maintaining tact, courtesy, respect, dignity and professionalism. 
 
Staff Meetings –  
Staff meetings are held on an “as-needed” or pre-scheduled basis.  All employees 
scheduled to work on meeting days are expected to attend while unscheduled 
employees are expected to learn about the content of meetings on his/hertheir next 
scheduled workday.  These meetings are held to provide information, promote 
employee participation, contribute constructive ideas in solving problems, improve the 
organization, and allow MCWD to operate more efficiently.  It is an opportunity to 
exchange ideas, set goals, discuss opportunities for growth, and solve any problems 
with particular projects or assignments.  If unable to attend, employees should notify 
his/hertheir immediate supervisor and offer to submit ideas in writing.  
  



 

 26  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Bulletin Boards –  
Bulletin boards are used to display required documents and to provide employees with 
information about job openings, changes in MCWD operations, or information of general 
interest relative to daily operations.   
 
Posting of any notice or document on bulletin boards or elsewhere on MCWD premises 
must be approved by management.  Employees are discouraged from posting personal 
notices and solicitations on MCWD bulletin boards without prior approval from 
management.  MCWD will follow all applicable laws regarding employees’ 
communication rights when deciding whether to permit postings. 
 
3.176 Personal Possessions  
 
Employees are encouraged to avoid bringing expensive items or personal possessions 
that have monetary or sentimental value to work and to take all precautions to 
safeguard all such items especially wallets and purses, if brought to work. 
 
Employees who bring any kind of personal items and possessions to work do so at 
his/hertheir own risk since MCWD accepts no responsibility for any items or 
possessions that are stolen, lost, or damaged in any way. 
 
3.187 Personal Mail and Telephone Calls 
 
MCWD facilities are available for MCWD business.  Due to the volume of business calls 
required during the business days, personal calls on MCWD telephones during working 
hours should be kept to a minimum.  Personal telephone calls, including cell phone 
calls, should be handled during non-work time such as break periods.   
 
While in the office during working hours, employees are to keep his/her pagers and cell 
phones on vibrate or silent mode so as not to disturb others.  Use of MCWD telephones 
for personal long distance or toll calls is not permitted.  Employees are to charge such 
calls to his/hertheir home phone, cell phone, or calling card. 
 
MCWD will assume that all mail addressed to the office is official MCWD mail, even 
though it may be addressed to an individual.   Employees should not have personal mail 
sent to them at MCWD.  Personal mail (including UPS, FED EX, etc.) and faxes are not 
to be delivered to MCWD facilities.  All business-related mail will be opened, date 
stamped, and forwarded to the appropriate employee for receipt and handling. 
 
3.198 Cell Phone UsageUse of Cell Phones and Electronic Devices 
 
This policy establishes procedures governing the use of cellular telephones and other 
electronic devices (such as laptops computers, iPods, CD players or MP3 players) 
during working hours, the use of MCWD-issued cellular telephones or laptop computers, 
and limitations on the use of cellular telephones or laptop computers to ensure both 
safety and compliance with applicable laws.  As noted in Section 3.10, employees can 



 

 27  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

have no expectation of privacy for any communications stored or transmitted on MCWD 
computers or cell phones., 
 
Personal Cellular Telephones and Other Electronic Devices –  
Cellular telephones are an important resource for communication between MCWD and 
its employees, and, for individual employees in conducting his/hertheir personal affairs.  
While at work employees are expected to exercise discretion in using personal cellular 
phones as is expected for the use of MCWD phones.  Excessive personal calls during 
the workday, regardless of the phone used, can interfere with employee productivity and 
may be distracting to others.  Employees are therefore encouraged to make personal 
calls on non-work time.   
 
MCWD understands that emergencies occur and will be flexible in these circumstances; 
however, personal conversations should not in any way be a discourtesy to others.  
Employees must also remember to use discretion when making statements that could 
be considered inappropriate.  Cellular phones and other electronic devices should be in 
the off or vibrate mode while in the work environment.   
 
MCWD is not liable for the loss of personal cellular telephones or other electronic 
devices brought into the workplace. 
 
Care of MCWD-Issued Cellular Telephones and Laptop Computers –  
Employees in possession of MCWD equipment such as cellular telephones or laptop 
computers are expected to protect equipment from loss, damage or theft.  Upon 
resignation or termination of employment, or at any time upon request, the employee 
may be asked to produce the telephone or laptop computer for return or inspection.  
Employees unable to present the telephone or laptop computer in good working 
condition within the time period requested may be expected to bear the cost of a 
replacement. 
 
Cellular Telephone/Laptop Computer Safety –  
Employees whose job responsibilities include regular or occasional driving and who are 
issued a cellular telephone or laptop computer for business use will be provided at 
MCWD’s expense, hands-free cellular telephone equipment to facilitate the provisions 
of this policy and the current Federal and/or State of California laws. 
 
Employees are strongly encouraged to safely stop the vehicle before placing/accepting 
a call or operating a laptop computer regardless of the circumstances.  If acceptance of 
a call is unavoidable and stopping safely is not an option, employees are expected to 
keep the call short, use MCWD -provided hands-free telephone equipment, refrain from 
discussion of complicated or emotional discussions, and keep his/hertheir eyes on the 
road.  Special care should be taken in situations where there is traffic, inclement 
weather or when the employee is driving in an unfamiliar area. 
 
Employees whose job responsibilities do not specifically include driving as an essential 
function, but who are issued a cellular telephone or laptop computer for business use, 



 

 28  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

are also expected to abide by the provisions of this policy.  Under no circumstances are 
employees allowed to place themselves or others at risk to fulfill business needs.   
 
Employees who are charged with traffic violations resulting from the use of his/hertheir 
personal or MCWD-issued cellular telephone while driving will be solely responsible for 
all liabilities that result from such actions.  While the California Department of Motor 
Vehicles may not issue a point violation; the employee will receive a conviction notation 
on his/her driving record. 
 
Any violation of this policy may be subject to disciplinary action. 
 
3.2019 Personal AppearanceDress Code 
 
A professional image is important and is maintained, in part, by the image that 
employees present to customers, visitors, vendors, and others in our business.  No one 
gets a second chance to make a good first impression.  Employees are expected to 
consistently utilize good judgment in determining dress and appearance on a daily 
basis.  In choosing appropriate work attire, employees should consider tastefulness, 
public contact, the nature of the job, and working conditions.   
 
MCWD expects all employees to be appropriately dressed and groomed at all times.  It 
is, however, the responsibility of each manager to communicate MCWD’s dress code 
standards to all current employees and each new employee as he/she is hired.  
Employees are expected to check with his/hertheir immediate supervisor if he/she they 
areis unsure about the appropriateness of his/hertheir attire or grooming. 
 
Extreme styles that are revealing or distracting and do not conform to our acceptable 
dress codes are not permitted.  Some examples of attire that the District does not 
consider appropriate are T-shirts, sweat pants, workout clothes, tank tops, muscle 
shirts, shorts, flip-flops, slippers, torn or patched clothing, revealing attire, halter tops, 
sheer clothing, bare midriffs or bare back tops/shirts, low cut or off-the-shoulder attire, 
clothes with inappropriate, profane or offensive slogans or pictures. 
 
During business hours, employees are expected to present a clean and neat 
appearance and to dress according to the requirements of his/hertheir positions.  Office 
employees may dress in business casual attire.  Business casual attire includes, but is 
not limited to, slacks, khakis, sport shirts, skirts and dresses, turtlenecks, sweaters, 
loafers, and walking shoes, but not tennis shoes. 
[GCD11] 
Due to the effect it has may have on others, employees are also expected to refrain 
from the use of cologne, perfume, air fresheners, and excessive make-up and/or 
jewelry.  Generally, male employees are expected to remain clean-shaven, however for 
those employees where wearing respiratory equipment is not mandatory, facial hair may 
be acceptable if it is well groomed. 
 
Specific attire that is unacceptable includes:  
 



 

 29  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

• T-Shirts (other than those with a MCWD logo) 
• Sweat Pants and Shirts or Workout Attire 
• Tank Tops 
• Muscle Shirts 
• Shorts 
• Flip-Flops, Beach Thongs or Slippers 
• Torn or Patched Clothing 
• Revealing Attire 
• Halter Tops 
• Sheer Clothing 
• Bare Midriffs or Bare Back Tops/Shirts 
• Baggy, Saggy or Ripped Pants  
• Low Cut or Off-the-Shoulder Attire 
• Clothes with Inappropriate, Profane, or Offensive Slogans or 

Pictures 
• Gang-related attire 

 
Non-Compliance –  
Employees who are inappropriately dressed may be sent home and directed to return to 
work in the proper attire.  Non-exempt employees will not be compensated for the time 
away from work.  Employees who repeatedly violate MCWD’s this dress code policy 
and/or grooming standards will be subject to corrective action, up to and including 
termination. 
 
3.210 Solicitation/Distribution of Literature 
 
In order to avoid disruption of operations, the following rules apply to solicitation and 
distribution of literature on MCWD property or premises. 
 
Outsiders –  
Persons who are not employed by MCWD may not solicit or distribute literature on 
MCWD premises or property at any time for any purpose.   
 
Employees –  
Employees may not solicit or distribute literature during “work time” or in “working areas” 
at any time for any purpose.  Work time includes both the time of the employee doing 
the soliciting or distributing and the time of the employee to whom the soliciting or 
distributing is being directed.  Work time does not include meal periods, or any other 
specific periods during the workday when both employees are not engaged in 
performing his/her work assignments. 

 
Further, it is strictly prohibited for any employee to solicit or imply his/her availability to 
perform private work for any customer, Board member, or service provider of MCWD.  
The solicitation of private work, for pay or no pay, on or off duty, shall result in 
disciplinary action up to and including termination.  
 



 

 30  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

3.221 Personal Use of MCWD Property/Facilities 
 
MCWD resources and facilities are to be used only for legitimate business purposes 
and are not to be used for personal reasons by employees.  MCWD property includes 
equipment and tools, District vehicles, telephones, faxes and other communication 
equipment, computers, copy machines, postage, office supplies, and the like.  
Borrowing any MCWD property for personal use or removing MCWD property without 
approval is prohibited.  Unauthorized use or removal of MCWD property by an 
employee is subject to corrective action, up to and including termination. 
 
3.23 Scavenging[GCD12] 
 
Purpose 
 
The purpose of this policy is to establish the expectation and outline procedures 
concerning scavenging and salvaging materials directed to the District’s service area. 

Persons Affected 
 
This policy applies to customers, vendors, visitors and staff who use and/or work at the 
District’s service areas. 

Policy 
 
In order to maintain safety and health standards, deliver expected services to the 
public, and maximize operational efficiency, scavenging is not allowed on or from 
District’s service areas. Items may only be removed through participation in an approved 
lost and unclaimed personal property program.  

Scavenging of materials presents health and safety hazards, including being struck by 
heavy equipment and trucks, cuts and scrapes, back injuries and exposure to hazards 
and pathogens from needle sticks. 

The District recognizes and encourages a systematic approach to unclaimed lost or 
unclaimed personal property.   

In the event that an Employee discovers personal property while working, the 
Employee shall, as soon as reasonably possible, turn the property in to the 
Operations Manager.  The Employee who found the property shall include a 
brief written report containing the following information: 
 
1. The location and manner in which the property was found and retrieved. 
2. The date the property was found. 
3. Whether the owner of the property is known or may be ascertainable with 

reasonable efforts. 



 

 31  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

4. A statement by the employee that he or she has not withheld or disposed of any 
part of the property. 

The Operations Manager will submit the findings to the police department as 
indicated in California Civil Code section 2080.  Any items not claimed by an 
individual, will be returned to the District for District wide purposes. 

Policy Variances 
 
Variances from this policy may be requested due to extenuating circumstances. Any 
variance request must be made in writing and submitted to the Operations Manager, 
prior to the removal of materials. Please note that no guarantee is made or implied 
that any variance requested will be approved. No variance will be considered or 
granted that would be in conflict with any applicable federal, state or local statute or 
regulation. 

Responsibilities 
 
Any violation of this policy will be considered theft of District property and will be 
enforced as such. District employees are required to report violations of this policy.  
 
3.24.10 Drug and Alcohol Policy[GCD13][LTR14]   
 

A. Policy Purpose: 
 
MCWD is concerned about employees being under the influence of alcohol, drugs, or 
controlled substances at work and the use of such substances in the work environment.  
The District’s position is that, any measurable amount of drugs or alcohol in an 
employee’s system while on District time is counter-productive to the District’s mission 
and goals.  The District is also concerned about the possession, distribution, purchase 
or sale of illegal drugs and controlled substances in the workplace. 
 
These activities may adversely affect work performance, efficiency, safety and health. In 
addition, they constitute a potential risk to the welfare and safety of other, risks of injury 
to other persons, property loss or damage, or negative image for the District. 
 
recognizes that the use of alcohol, drugs and controlled substances in the workplace is 
not conducive to safe working conditions.  In order to promote a safe, healthy, and 
productive work environment for all employees and the public, it is MCWD’s objective to 
have a work force who that is free from the influence of substance abuse. 
 
This policy also is intended to comply with all applicable federal and state laws and 
regulations governing workplace anti-drug programs and safety-sensitive employees.  
The federal Drug-Free workplace Workplace Act of 1988 and similarly, the California 
Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1990 requires the employers to establishment of drug free 
workplace policies and to take appropriate action against an employee convicted of a 



 

 32  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

workplace drug violation the reporting of certain drug-related offenses to the federal 
Department of Transportation (DOT)[GCD15].   
 
Also, the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) (whose alcohol and drug testing 
rules are not enforced by the recently-created Federal Motor Carrier Safety 
Administration (FMSCA) of the DOT has enacted regulations that mandate urine drug 
testing and breathalyzer alcohol testing for safety-sensitive positions and prevent 
performance of safety sensitive functions where there is a positive test result.  The DOT 
also has set standards for the collection and testing of urine and breath specimens 
 
Employees shall be asked to sign a statement certifying that he/she has received a 
copy of this policy and understands its contents.  [LTR16]Any questions regarding rights 
and obligations under this policy shall be referred to the employee’s supervisor, 
Department head or Administrative Manager. 
 

B. PERSONNEL AFFECTEDIndividuals Covered.  
 
MCWD’s policy on drug and alcohol use The prohibition against substance abuse in the 
workplace applies to all MCWD employees. when they are on MCWD property or when 
performing any MCWD related business, or when driving a motor vehicle on private 
roads and serious injury results.  If you are a safety-sensitive employee covered by this 
policy, you must familiarize yourself with this policy’s provisions because compliance 
with this policy is a condition of your employment. 
 
Safety-sensitive employee is an employee who meets any of the criteria below and as 
designated by the MCWD in its sole discretion:    
 
A. One in any position that the respective MCWD department has designated as 
requiring the use of a Class “A: or Class “B” commercial driver’s license, including:   
 
B. One who performs safety-sensitive functions, the performance of which may affect 
the public safety, including:   
 
1. Driving the controls of a commercial motor vehicle;  
2. Spending time in a commercial motor vehicle;  
3. Loading or unloading a commercial motor vehicle, supervising or assisting in     
    the loading or unloading, attending a vehicle being loaded or unloaded,  
    remaining in readiness to operate the vehicle, or giving or receiving receipts  
    for shipments loaded or unloads;  
4. Repairing, obtaining assistance, inspecting, maintaining, or attending to a  
    commercial motor vehicle;  
5. Use of a firearm for security purposes; or  
6. Use of heavy equipment 
 
A safety sensitive employee is considered to be performing a safety-sensitive function 
during any period in which that employee is actually performing, ready to perform, or 



 

 33  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

immediately available to perform any safety-sensitive function, including off-site lunch 
periods and breaks. Visitors, vendors, and contracted employees are governed by this 
policy while on MCWD premises or when performing MCWD-related business, and will 
not be permitted to conduct business if found to be in violation of this policy. 
 
For certain employees who operate commercial vehicles and are required to have a 
commercial driver’s license, regulations enacted by the federal Department of 
Transportation (DOT) and administered by the Federal Motor Carrier Safety 
Administration (FMSCA) mandate urine drug testing and breathalyzer alcohol testing 
and prohibit the performance of certain safety sensitive functions after a positive test 
result.  To meet these requirements, MCWD has enacted a separate [DOT Drug and 
Alcohol Testing Policy][LTR17], a copy of which will be given to all employees covered by 
the DOT regulations. Employees who are covered by the [DOT Drug and Alcohol 
Testing Policy] are subject to the requirements contained in this policy as well as the 
DOT-mandated policy. 
 
POLICY   
 

 A.  Prohibited DefinitionsSubstances   
  
C.  

 
1. “Alcohol” shall mean the intoxicating agent in beverage alcohol, ethyl alcohol 

or other low molecular weight alcohol including methyl or isopropyl alcohol. 
 

2. “District equipment” shall mean all property and equipment, machinery and 
vehicles owned, leased, rented or used by District. 

 
3. “Drug” or “drugs” shall mean any controlled substance that is not legally 

obtainable under State or Federal law, including, but not limited to medical 
and recreational marijuana, or a prescription drug obtained or used without 
benefit of a prescription by a licensed physician.  

 
4. “Prescription Drug” shall mean any substance that can lawfully be obtained or 

possessed pursuant to a prescription by a licensed physician. 
 1.  Alcohol   

This policy address the use of alcoholic beverages or substances, including any 
medication or food containing alcohol such that it is present in the body at the level in 
excel of that stated in the guidelines by the Department of Transportation as amended, 
and currently set at a breath-alcohol concentration of .02 liters or as otherwise noted in 
this Policy.  Alcohol is defined as the intoxicating agent in beverage alcohol, ethyl 
alcohol, or other low molecular weights alcohols, including methyl or isopropyl alcohol. 
 
2.  Drugs or Controlled Substances   
This policy address any substance which, in the opinion of competent medical 
professionals, causes or may cause significant impairment of job performance or which 



 

 34  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

causes or may cause behavior that is a threat to the safety of the affected employee or 
others.  All substances listed in any federal, state or local controlled substance acts or 
regulations, including, but not limited to, marijuana, amphetamines, opiates, 
phencyclidine (PCP) and cocaine, and those substances listed in Schedules I through V 
of the Section 202 of the federal Controlled Substances Act, are covered by this policy. 
 
3. Prescription Drugs   
No prescription drug shall be possessed or used by an employee other than the 
employee for whom the drug is prescribed by a licensed medical practitioner.  A 
prescription drug shall be used only in the manner, combination, and quantity 
prescribed.  An employee must advise his/her supervisor of the use or influence of any 
prescription drug prior to beginning work, when taking the medication or drug could 
interfere with the safe and effective performance of duties, or the operation of an 
MCWD vehicle or heavy machinery, such as that the employee poses a direct threat to 
the health and safety of himself/herself or others.   
An employee’s failure to provide this notice in a timely manner can result in discipline, 
up to and including termination.  In the event there is a questions regarding an 
employee’s ability to safely and effectively perform assigned duties while using such 
medications or drugs, clearance from a qualified physician may be required. 
 

D. B.  Employee Responsibilities and ConductProhibited Conduct  [LTR18] 
 
District employees shall:MCWD prohibits the following acts:   

1. Not report to work or be on standby or on-call status while his or her ability to 
perform job duties is impaired due to on or off duty alcohol or drug use; 
 

2. Not possess or use controlled substances (illegal drugs or prescription drugs 
without a prescription) at any time, or use alcohol at any time while on District 
property or while on duty for the District at any location; 
 

3. Not directly or indirectly through a third party manufacture, sell, distribute, 
dispense, or provide drugs or controlled substances to any person, including any 
employee, at any time; or manufacture, sell, distribute, dispense or provide 
alcohol to any employee while either or both are on duty or on MCWD premises; 
 

4. Not be absent or tardy as a result of having been under the influence of alcohol, 
drugs, or controlled substances during non-work time; 
 

5. Notify his or her supervisor, before beginning work, when taking any medications 
or drugs, prescription or nonprescription, which may interfere with the safe and 
effective performance of duties or operation of District equipment.  Employees 
shall, in the case of prescription drugs, ask the prescribing physician or, in the 
case of medication available over-the-counter, review product packaging, to 
determine whether the use of a medication or drug may impair his/her ability to 
perform his/her job duties or to safely operate District equipment.  Any employee 
taking any over-the-counter medication or drugs marked “do not drive,” “do not 



 

 35  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

operate heavy equipment” or similarly labeled, shall inform their supervisor of the 
use of the product prior to reporting for duty.  If there is a question regarding an 
employee’s ability to perform assigned duties safely and effectively while using 
prescribed medications, the District may require medical clearance; 
 

6. Notify the Human Resources Director or Department Head of any criminal 
conviction for a drug violation that occurred in the workplace within no more than 
five days after such conviction; 
 

7. Notify the supervisor immediately of facts or reasonable suspicions when he or 
she observes behavior or other evidence that a fellow employee poses a risk to 
the health and safety of the employee or others; 
 

8. Consent to drug or alcohol testing and searches pursuant to this Policy.  Failure 
to appear for testing without the District’s written authorization or knowingly, 
willingly, or purposely evading or obstructing testing or searches will be 
considered refusal to consent to such testing or searches in violation of this 
provision; and 
 

9. Follow the District’s drug and alcohol-free workplace policy. 
 

1.  Being under the influence of, or in possession of alcohol, drugs, or controlled 
substances when reporting work;  
 
2. Ingesting, injecting or otherwise using alcohol, drugs, or controlled substances while 
performing job duties, except in accordance with above Section A.3 regarding 
prescription drugs where applicable.  
 
3. Being under the influence of alcohol, drugs, or any controlled substances while 
subject to being called to duty, including stand-by time; [LTR19] 
 
4. Performing a safety sensitive function within four hours of using alcohol or while using 
alcohol;  
 
5.  Directly or through a third party, manufacturing, selling, distributing, dispensing, 
otherwise attempting to manufacture, sell, or distribute alcohol, drugs, or controlled 
substances during work hours, including rest breaks or while on MCWD premises;  
6. Use of MCWD property or premises to manufacture, sell, or distribute alcohol, drugs, 
or controlled substances;  
 
7. Absence or tardiness as a result of having been under the influence of alcohol, drugs, 
or controlled substances during non-work time; and  
 
8. Refusing to submit immediately to any alcohol, drug, or controlled substances test 
required by this Policy when directed by MCWD. Refusal includes but is not limited to:   

 



 

 36  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

a. A refusal to provide a urine sample for a drug test;   
b. An inability to provide a urine sample without a valid medical explanation; 
c.  A refusal to complete and sign a testing authorization form;   
d.  An inability to provide breath or to provide an adequate amount of breath      

without a valid medical explanation;   
e.  Tampering with or attempting to adulterate or substitute the urine specimen;   
f.  Not reporting to the collection site in the time allotted by the supervisor or 

manager who directs the employee to be tested;   
g.  Obstructing the collection procedure or testing process in any way; or   
h.  Leaving the scene of an accident without a valid reason as to why 

authorization from a supervisor or manager was not obtained. 
 
9.  Consuming alcohol, drugs, or controlled substances during the eight hours 
immediately following an accident in which the employee was involved, or until the 
employee undergoes a post-accident alcohol or drug test, whichever come first.  
10. Refusal to submit to a search of personal properties when directed by MCWD, upon 
reasonable suspicion and in accordance with Section 3309 of the Public Safety Officers 
Procedural Bill of Rights, where applicable[GCD20].   
 
C. Notifying MCWD of Any Criminal Drug Statute Conviction  
In accordance with the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988, an employee must 
immediately notify the MCWD of any criminal drug statute conviction of a violation that 
occurred in the workplace no later than five days after such conviction. Any employee 
who fails to provide this notice will be subject to discipline, up to and including 
termination.   
 

E. D. Consequences for violation of this policy   
 
1. Discipline   
Any violation of this Policy may result in discipline, up to and including termination. 
Discipline.  M may be imposed regardless of whether or not an employee is convicted of 
any related to any violation of this Policy.   
 
Any violation of this Policy that may constitute criminal conduct or violation of the DOT 
regulationsunder federal, state, or local laws may be reported to the appropriate law 
enforcement agencies and/or subject the employee to civil and/or criminal penalties 
under the law.   
 
2. Removal from the Work Site   
Any Eemployee reasonably believed to be under the influence of alcohol, drugs, or 
controlled substances shall be immediately prevented from engaging in further work and 
shall be detained for a reasonable time until they can be safely transported from the 
work site.   
3. Removal of Safety-Sensitive Functions   
Any employee whose alcohol test indicates an alcohol concentration level between .02 
and .04 will be removed from his/her safety-sensitive position for at least 24 hours. An 



 

 37  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

employee whose alcohol test indicates an alcohol concentration level greater than .04 
will be removed from his or her safety-sensitive position for a period to be determined 
by the Administrative Manager.   
If any employee tests positive for drug or controlled substances, the employee may not 
perform safety sensitive functions until satisfying the following requirements. 

a. The employee must be retested and receive a verified negative result; and   
b. When referred to a Substance Abuse Professional, the employee must complete 

any course of rehabilitation and submit to a return-to-duty test, as developed with 
the assistance of the Substance Abuse Professional. MCWD is not required to 
pay for this type of treatment.    
A Substance Abuse Professional is a licensed physician, psychologist, social 
worker, or addiction counselor with knowledge of and clinical experience in the 
diagnosis and treatment of alcohol, drug, and controlled substances abuse 
disorders.    

4. Termination for Inability to Perform Essential Functions  [GCD21] 
After MCWD has complied with any legal obligation to reasonably accommodate an 
employee’s protected disability, MCWD may terminate an employee who is unable to 
perform the essential functions of the job.    

F. Searches 
In order to promote a safe, productive and efficient workplace, the District reserves the 
right to search and inspect all District property, including but not limited to lockers, 
storage areas, furniture, District vehicles, and other places under the common control of 
the District, or joint control of the District and employees, as well as to enlist the 
assistance of law enforcement personnel in connection with the enforcement of this 
Policy.  No employee has any expectation of privacy in any District building, property, or 
communications system 
 

 E.  Alcohol and Drug Testing 
G.  

1.  Pre-employment Testing   
Prior to the start of employment, MCWD may require all applicants to submit to a test for 
alcohol and illegal drug use as a condition of employment. Any applicant who refuses to 
provide consent for this test, or who receives a verified positive result will be disqualified 
from MCWD employment.   
a. Requirement for Records Check   
As required by the Department of Transportation (DOT) regulations, an applicant to a 
safety-sensitive position will be asked to provide, by written consent, alcohol and drug 
testing records from prior employers regulated by the DOT for the two-year period prior 
to the date of application. These records shall include any alcohol test result of .04 or 
higher alcohol concentration; refusal to be tested; verified positive drug tests; and 
documentation of the successful completion of return-to-duty requirements by the 
Department of Transportation.   
b. Requirements for Direct Inquiry   
The applicant also must provide information regarding whether he/she has tested 
positive or has refused to test on any pre-employment drug or alcohol test for any 



 

 38  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

safety-sensitive job applied for but obtained during the prior two years, as required by 
the Department of Transportation regulations.  E. Alcohol and Drug Testing 
Reasonable Suspicion Testing  
and Search   
If a supervisor reasonably suspects that an employee is under the influence of alcohol, 
drugs, or controlled substances while performing job duties or operating MCWD 
equipment and, upon prior approval by the Administrative Manager, the supervisor may, 
upon prior approval by the Administrative Manager, require the employee to submit to 
an alcohol and/or drug test. An employee’s refusal to submit to such a test is cause for 
discipline, up to and including termination.   
Moreover, the MCWD reserves MCWD to search, without employee consent and 
subject to Section 3309 of the Public Safety Officers Procedural Bill of Rights where 
applicable, [LTR22]all areas of MCWD property which MCWD maintains control or joint 
control with the employee.   
Examples of indicators which can form a reasonable suspicion that an employee is 
under the influence of alcohol, drugs, or controlled substances include but are not 
limited to to direct observation of the following: 

a. Direct observation of drug or alcohol use;  
a.b. Slurred speech;   
b.c. Glassy or bloodshot eyes;   
c.d. Odor of alcohol;   
d.e. Unsteady walking and movement;   
e.f. An accident involving MCWD property, employee or client;   
f.g. A near accident or other safety violation;   
g.h. Physical or verbal altercation; 
h.i. Possession of alcohol, drugs, controlled substances, or drug paraphernalia;   
i.j. Sleeping on the job;   
j.k. Pattern of abnormal or erratic behavior;   
k.l. Information either provided by reliable and credible sources or independently 

corroborated;   
l.m. Conviction for a drug-related offense; and   
m.n. Tampering with previous drug test 

 
 Post-Accident Testing  [LTR23] 
 Unless MCWD determines that the employee’s performance was not a 

contributing factor, any employee involved in a reportable accident may be 
subject to an alcohol test within two hours following the accident and to a 
drug test within 32 hours following the accident. Not only may the operator 
of the vehicle be tested, but so may any other employee whose 
performance may have contributed to the accident, such as the employee 
who maintains the vehicle or work-site where the accident occurred.   

 An accident is considered reportable if it occurs while in an MCWD 
commercial motor vehicle on MCWD property, or when operating a 
commercial motor vehicle on a public road in commerce and involves any 
of the following: 1) while performing safety-sensitive functions with respect 



 

 39  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

to the vehicle, the accident involved a fatality; or 2) the issuance of a 
citation by law enforcement to the employee for a moving traffic violation 
arising from the accident and a) bodily injury demanding immediate 
medical treatment away from the scene of the accident or b) vehicular 
damage so that the vehicle must be towed away from the scene of the 
accident, even after simple repairs on the scene. The operator of the 
vehicle must immediately report this accident to the appropriate 
authorities, as well as MCWD, so that the relevant drug/alcohol tests may 
be conducted. 

 4.  Transfers to Safety-Sensitive Positions    
  a. Requirement for the Records Check   
 As required by the department of Transportation regulations, employees 

who transfer to a safety-sensitive job will be asked to provide, by written 
consent, alcohol and drug testing records for the two-year period prior to 
the date of  application. These records shall include any alcohol test 
results of .04 or higher alcohol concentration of return-or-duty 
requirements by the Department of Transportation.   

 b. Requirements for Direct Inquiry   
 Transferred employees also must provide information regarding whether 

he/she has tested positive or has refused to test on any pre-employment 
drug or alcohol test for any safety-sensitive job applied for but not 
obtained during the prior two years, as required by the Department of 
Transportation regulations. 

 5.  Random Testing   
 Safety-sensitive employees will be random alcohol and drug testing as 

required by the Department of Transportation guidelines. Depending on the 
random selection, some employees may be tested more than once in a 
year, while other are not tested at all. Testing will take place just prior to 
the employee performing a safety-sensitive function, while the employee is 
performing a safety-sensitive function, or just after the employee has 
stopped performing a safety-sensitive function.   

 a. Alcohol Test   
 Unless otherwise amended by the Department of Transporting guidelines, 

MCWD will randomly test 25% of the total number of safety-sensitive 
employees in the consortium pool per year for alcohol.      

 b. Drug Test   
 Unless otherwise amended by the Department of Transportation 

guidelines, MCWD will randomly test at least 50% of the total number of 
safety-sensitive employees in the consortium pool per year for drugs 

 6.  Return-to-Duty Testing   
 An employee who has violated this Policy may be subject to a return-to-

duty test, and up to six unannounced drug/alcohol tests during the first 
twelve months back to a safety-sensitive position. The results must 
indicate an alcohol concentration of less than .02, or in cases of a drug 
test, must indicate a verified negative result. This testing is separate from 
any random testing obligation.   



 

 40  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

H. F. Testing Procedures   
The procedures regarding alcohol and drugs testing will be provided upon request to the 
HR/Risk Administrator.  
Analytical urine controlled substance testing and breath testing for alcohol will be 
conducted as required under the Department of Transportation guidelines.  
 
  
G.  Records Keeping and Confidentiality   
Any information about an employee’s use of prescription or non-prescription medication, the 
results of any drug and/or alcohol testing, and/or an employee’s past or present participation in 
rehabilitation or treatment for substance abuse shall be considered confidential personnel 
information. MCWD is obligated to maintain records of the administration, including 
violations, of this Policy for a period of five years. Through the consortium pool, an 
annual report summarizing this information will be issued.   
Any laboratory reports and test results shall not appear in an employee’s general 
personnel folder but will be contained in a separate, confidential medical folder that will 
be securely kept under the control of the HR/Risk Administrator. The report or tests 
results may be disclosed to MCWD management on a strictly need-to-know basis and 
to the tested employee upon request. The information received in enforcing this policy shall 
be disclosed only as necessary for disciplinary actions and appeals, for interactive process 
meetings and reasonable accommodation efforts, for resolving legal issues, or as required by law, 
subpoena, court order, or other judicial or administrative process. 
Disclosures, without patient consent, may also occur under the following situations:   
1. When the information is compelled by law or by judicial or administrative process;   
2. When the information has been placed at issue in a formal dispute between the 
employer and employee;   
3. When the information is to be used in administering an employee benefit plan; or   
4. When the information is needed by the medical personnel for the diagnosis or 
treatment of the patient who is unable to authorize disclosure.   
5. When requested by the Department of Transportation or any local officials with 
regulatory over MCWD or any of its safety-sensitive employees[LTR24] 
H.  Rehabilitation   
MCWD encourages employees to use MCWD-sponsored employee’s assistance 
programs voluntarily to assist them in resolving any alcohol, drug, or controlled 
substance abuse problems. Employees should contact their supervisor, Department 
head, or HR/Risk Administrator for additional information, including further information 
concerning the dangerous effects of alcohol misuse and drug use on an employee’s 
health, work, and personal life.  MCWD is committed to providing reasonable 
accommodation to those employees whose alcohol or drug abuse problem classifies 
them as disabled under federal and/or state law.   
While MCWD will be supportive of those who seek help voluntarily, MCWD will be firm 
in identifying and disciplining those who continue to be substance abusers and who do 
not seek help or continue substance abuse even while enrolled in counseling or 
rehabilitation programs. Therefore, MCWD may require employees to use employee 
assistance programs, and in addition to mandatory referrals to a Substance Abuse 
Professional where applicable.    



 

 41  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

 
 
 
CERTIFICATE OF RECEIPT  
I hereby certify that I have received, read and understand this latest version of the 
MCWD’s DOT DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING POLICY dated __________.   
 
Employee Signature     Date   
 
Employee Name (Print)[LTR25] 



 

 42  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Section  4. Hiring 
 
4.0 Hiring of New Employees 

 
A. Job Announcements - Public notices of recruitment shall be posted on 

official bulletin boards within MCWD for fivesix (56) days. All department 
heads will be notified when the postings occur. The need for further 
publicity and/or distribution of announcements may be determined by the 
General Manager or Human Resources (HR) Management Services 
Administrator.  Job announcements will contain the following information: 
 
1. Title and rate of pay; 
2. Typical duties to be performed; 
3. Minimum qualifications required; 
4. Method of securing application forms and final dates on which 

applications will be accepted; and 
5. Other information as may be deemed useful in the recruitment of 

applicants. 
 

B. Application process - All applications should be made upon official forms 
furnished by MCWD and submitted to the HRManagement Services 
Administrator on or before the final filing date specified in the job 
announcement. All applications and examination papers become 
confidential records of MCWD and will not be returned to the applicants or 
made public.  A separate and complete application must be filed for each 
recruitment. 

 
C. Screening of Applicants – Applications for a particular opening are 

normally reviewed by the appropriate Department Head and/or supervisor 
in conjunction with the HRManagement Services Administrator.  A list of 
the most qualified applicants may be developed for an examination or 
interview process. 

 
D. Examinations – May be utilized to fairly test the applicant’s education and 

training, prior experience, skills, knowledge and abilities to perform the 
essential and more demanding aspects of the job for which he/she has 
applied.  Applicants requiring reasonable accommodation under state or 
federal law shall be afforded such accommodation. 
 
Examinations may include a combination of written tests, skill tests, and 
oral interviews.  Such tests may include, but not be limited to written  
assessments of intelligence, experience, technical knowledge, manual 
skill, physical fitness, character, personality, education or any combination 
of these or any other relevant criteria that MCWD deems appropriate to a 
particular position.   

 



 

 43  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

E. Job Offer – The HRManagement Services Administrator, with the approval 
of the General Manager or designee, will offer the position to the 
successful candidate, contingent upon passing a MCWD-paid pre-
employment physical, background/reference checks, and drug testing.  

 
4.1 Recruitment and Selection of Positions Reporting Directly to the Board of  
 Directors  
 
Upon receipt by the Board of Directors of notice of a potential vacancy to any positions 
reporting to the Board, the Board of Directors will notify the HRManagement Services 
Administrator (MAS) (or Appointee).  The MAS HR will post a job announcement 
internally on official bulletin boards within MCWD for five six (56) days.  
 
The MAS HR or Appointee is authorized, to initiate, upon the Board’s direction, a 
Request for Proposals (RFP) process to provide executive recruitment services for the 
District. 
 
Upon completion of the RFP deadline, the MAS HR or Appointee will submit a list of 
respondents and summary of qualifications and costs to the Budget and Personnel 
Committee (B&P) for review.  The B&P will authorize the MAS HR or Appointee to 
forward the proposals to the Board of Directors. 
 
At the next scheduled Board meeting, the Board will make a recommendation to select 
a firm.  Once a selection is made, the MAS HR or Appointee will contact the selected 
firm and the recruitment process will commence. 
 
 

A. Job Announcements - Public notices of recruitment shall be posted on 
official bulletin boards within MCWD for six (6) days. All department heads 
will be notified when the postings occur. The need for further publicity 
and/or distribution of announcements may be determined by the General 
Manager or Management Services HR.  Administrator.  Job 
announcements will contain the following information: 
 
1. Title and rate of pay; 
2. Typical duties to be performed; 
3. Minimum qualifications required; 
4. Method of securing application forms and final dates on which 

applications will be accepted; and 
5. Other information as may be deemed useful in the recruitment of 

applicants. 
 

B. Application process - All applications should be made upon official forms 
furnished by MCWD and submitted to the Management Services 
HRAdministrator on or before the final filing date specified in the job 
announcement. All applications and examination papers become 



 

 44  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

confidential records of MCWD and will not be returned to the applicants or 
made public.  A separate and complete application must be filed for each 
recruitment. 

 
C. Screening of Applicants – Applications for a particular opening are 

normally reviewed by the appropriate Department Head and/or supervisor 
in conjunction with the Management Services Administrator.  A list of the 
most qualified applicants may be developed for an examination or 
interview process. 

 
D. Examinations – May be utilized to fairly test the applicant’s education and 

training, prior experience, skills, knowledge and abilities to perform the 
essential and more demanding aspects of the job for which he/she has 
applied.  Applicants requiring reasonable accommodation under state or 
federal law shall be afforded such accommodation. 
 
Examinations may include a combination of written tests, skill tests, and 
oral interviews.  Such tests may include, but not be limited to written  
assessments of intelligence, experience, technical knowledge, manual 
skill, physical fitness, character, personality, education or any combination 
of these or any other relevant criteria that MCWD deems appropriate to a 
particular position.   

 
E. Job Offer – HRThe Management Services Administrator, with the approval 

of the General Manager or designee, will offer the position to the 
successful candidate, contingent upon passing a MCWD-paid pre-
employment physical, background/reference checks, and drug testing.  

 
4.2 Immigration Law Compliance 
 
In accordance with the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986, MCWD will hire 
only those individuals who are authorized to work in the United States.  All individuals 
who are offered employment shall be required to complete and sign the Immigration and 
Naturalization Service form I-9.  This form requires the employee to attest that he/she is 
authorized to work in the United States and that documents submitted are genuine.  
Strict compliance with this legal requirement is a condition of continued employment. 
 
4.3 Introductory Probationary Period[GCD26] 
 
The IntroductoryProbationary Period is intended to give new and rehired employees in 
Regular Full-Time Employee job positions[GCD27] the opportunity to demonstrate his/her 
ability to achieve a satisfactory level of adaptation and performance, and to determine 
whether the new position meets the mutual expectations of the new hire and MCWD.  
MCWD uses this period to evaluate employee capabilities, work habits, conduct and 
overall performance.  During the Introductory Probationary Period, employment may be 
terminated at any time, for any reason, with or without cause.   



 

 45  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

 
All employees in Regular Full-Time Employee job positions serve an Introductory 
Probationary Period for the initial six (6) months after date of hire, rehire, transfer, 
promotion or demotion.  MCWD may extend the duration of the 
IntroductoryProbationary Period if it determines that such an extension is necessary and 
appropriate.  An extension of up to thirty (30) days may be granted, but the combined 
length of such extensions will not exceed sixty (60) days[LTR28].  Additionally, any 
absence for thirty (30) or more days, regardless of the type or purpose of the leave, will 
automatically extend the IntroductoryProbationary Period by the length of the absence.   
 
All IntroductoryProbationary employees will be evaluated at two (2), four (4) and six (6) 
months by the immediate supervisor and department head.  In all cases, the evaluation 
shall be discussed with the employee. 
 
Introductory Probationary employees may be considered for a new position in another 
classification.  If an employee is promoted during this period, the 
IntroductoryProbationary Period begins anew with the date of appointment to the new 
position. 
 
Upon satisfactory completion of the IntroductoryProbationary Period, employees are 
reclassified as regular.  Completion of the IntroductoryProbationary Period does not 
entitle an employee to remain employed by MCWD for any particular time period as a 
result of achieving regular employment status. 
 
4.4 Re-Employment or Reinstated Employees 
 
Rehired or reinstated employees in Regular Full-Time Employee positions who return 
more than six (6) months after resignation date, other than those re-employed following 
a lay-off, are considered new employees from the effective date of his/her 
reemployment and begin a new probationary introductory period.  All rehired or 
reinstated employees will be required to pass another pre-employment physical and 
drug screening.   



 

 46  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Section 5. Employment Practices 
 
5.0 Performance Evaluations 
 
Except for Introductory Probationary employees, all employees should expect to have 
shall have his/her performance evaluated by the immediate supervisor and department 
head every twelve (12) months or at other times deemed appropriate by the department 
head.  The evaluation process is normally determined by the employee’s anniversary 
date.  The General Manager and HRManagement Services Administrator will review all 
performance evaluations. 
 
Neither the performance evaluations, nor the performance evaluation process, shall be 
subject to the Grievance Policy or Employee Relations Policy described in Sections 12 
and 13. 
 
A performance evaluation does not guarantee a wage or salary increase will be granted 
automatically.  The General Manager or designee must approve all pay increases.   
 
5.1 Performance Improvement Plans (PIP) 
 
Periodically it may be necessary or appropriate for a supervisor to implement a PIP for 
an employee.  The purpose of a PIP is to provide a mechanism for performance 
correction when an employee’s job performance falls below established standards and 
where management deems it would be suitable to identify area(s) requiring 
improvement(s), to further outline performance expectations, additional training and 
development, and the timing to achieve a satisfactory performance level. 
 
The following guidelines will be considered when implementing a PIP: 
 

A. If an employee demonstrates unsatisfactory performance, the 
manager/supervisor shall complete a PIP prior to meeting with the 
employee to identify areas of deficiency, explain performance 
expectations, provide assistance, and advise the employee of future 
consequences if significant improvement in performance does not occur. 

B. If an unsatisfactory performer does not improve with informal counseling, 
he/she shall be placed on a PIP.  If performance improves, but not to an 
acceptable level, the PIP may be extended for up to an additional thirty 
(30) days if the supervisor/manager feels a satisfactory level of 
performance can be achieved and sustained by the extended date. 

C. If an unsatisfactory performer who is on a PIP fails to improve within a 
reasonable time period, the employee may be considered for transfer or 
reclassification to a more suitable position that may include a demotion or 
termination. 



 

 47  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

5.2 Promotions, Transfers, Demotions, and Reclassifications 
 

A. Promotions - A promotion is defined as a move up in pay grade and 
position responsibilities and skills.  MCWD prefers to promote from within 
the organization whenever it is operationally efficient and appropriate 
based on the skills, knowledge and other competencies of the employee 
and the requirements of the vacant position. At the time of promotion, 
consideration may be given for a promotional pay rate increase based on 
related experience, internal equity, and the length of time since the 
employee’s last performance evaluation.  Promotions will normally include 
a minimum of five percent (5%) salary increase, depending upon the 
salary range and step at the time of promotion. 

 
In all cases, promotions will re-establish the employee’s new 
IntroductoryProbationary Period and performance evaluation date to 
reflect the effective date of change, but not seniority/hire date or 
longevity/anniversary dates. Salary increases normally become effective 
the first day of the first payroll period after the approved increase.  To the 
extent that a regular employee who is in an Introductory Period for a 
promotion does not pass that Introductory Period, the employee will return 
to their last held job position[GCD29]. 

 
B. Transfers - A transfer is a lateral move within the same pay grade.  

Normally, an employee who requests a transfer to a different department 
is given preference over external applicants provided the employee is 
equally or better qualified.  An employee subject to a PIP or disciplinary 
action will not be considered for transfer unless approved in advance by 
the General Manager or designee. 
 
Transfer or Reassignment – In the case of a transfer or reassignment from 
one position to another in the same salary range, the employee shall 
continue in the same salary range and step.  In the case of a transfer from 
one position to another in a classification with a lower salary range, the 
employee may be placed in any step closest to, but not exceeding his/her 
previous salary. 
 
At the discretion of the General Manager or designee, an employee may 
be transferred or reassigned from one department to another, providing 
the employee possesses the minimum qualifications for the transferred or 
reassigned position. 
 
When an employee voluntarily transfers, including to a position having a 
lower salary/pay rate, or is reassigned from one position to another of the 
same salary/pay rate, the salary and merit increase eligibility date shall not 
change. 
 



 

 48  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

C. Demotions - A demotion is a move to a lower pay grade in a position 
having lesser responsibilities and/or required skills.  MCWD regards 
demotions as rare and conducted only under unusual circumstances.  
Non-disciplinary demotions may be voluntary or involuntary but in either 
case, the affected employee will normally be provided with thirty (30) days 
advance notice of the change of classification and an opportunity to 
respond.  However, MCWD reserves the right to determine, on an 
individual basis, how a demotion will affect pay and under what 
circumstances it is in the best interests of MCWD to demote an employee. 

 
D. Reclassifications - A reclassification is the redefinition of an existing 

position, either occupied or vacant, as needed to meet the changing 
operational demands of MCWD and usually requires a change in the job 
title, essential duties, responsibilities, and requirements. 
 
The salary of an introductoryprobationary or regular employee in a 
position which is reclassified, and for which the employee is fully qualified 
in all respects for the reclassified position, shall be determined as follows: 
 
1. If to a class with the same salary range the salary and merit 

increase eligibility date will not change. 
2. If to a class with a higher or lower salary/pay rate; the salary/pay 

rate of the employee shall be determined as follows: 
 

a. If the salary of the employee is the same or less than the 
maximum of the new class, the salary and merit increase 
eligibility date of the employee shall not change. 

b. If the salary of the employee is greater than the maximum of 
the new range, the salary of the employee shall be 
designated as Y-rated (frozen) and shall not change during 
the continuous regular service until the maximum of the new 
range exceeds the salary of the employee. 

 
A regular employee in good standing reclassified to a position in a lower 
class for reasons other than unsatisfactory performance shall receive the 
highest salary in the new grade that does not exceed the employee’s rate 
of pay immediately prior to the reclassification, and shall retain the merit 
increase eligibility date to which the employee was entitled prior to 
reclassification. 

 
5.3 Working Out of Classification 
 
An out of classification assignment is a temporary assignment of a regular employee for 
more than twenty (20) days in a calendar year.  When an employee is officially assigned 
to perform the primary and essential duties of a higher paid vacant position, that 
employee shall be compensated at the step in the higher classification that provides an 



 

 49  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

increase to the assigned employee of at least five percent (5%).  Such increase will 
normally begin on the twenty-first (21st) working day after the assignment to the higher 
position or earlier, subject to the discretion of the General Manager or designee.   
 
5.4 Employee Records 
 
MCWD maintains a personnel file of current and former employees and restricts 
disclosure of information to only authorized individuals.  Employees who want to review 
his/her official records must notify HR complete and submit a MCWD Personnel Record 
Request form to the Management Services Administrator and request an appointment 
during normal working hours.  Personnel files will be reviewed under the supervision of 
the HRManagement Services Administrator and no documents may not be removed 
from the file. 

 
Employees may take notes related to documents in his/her employee file; however, no 
alterations of these records are permitted nor can a document be added to or removed 
from the file at the time of an employee review.  Employees may request and receive a 
copy of any document containing his/her signatureof their personnel file upon request in 
accordance with California law.[GCD30] 
 
It is important that employees promptly notify MCWD of any changes to his/her personal 
information including: 

 
Name 
Home and/or mailing address 
Telephone number(s) 
Number, names, and status of dependents 
Change of emergency contact information 
Educational accomplishments 
Marital status (including pending divorce proceedings) 
Payroll deductions 
Wage garnishments 
Benefit plan beneficiary 
Banking information (if participating in direct deposit) 

 
5.5 Employment Verifications/References 
 
All employment verification requests, either verbal or written shall be forwarded to 
HRthe Management Services Administrator for response.  Responses by MCWD to 
such requests will be restricted to dates of employment and the last or current job title 
held by an employee.  Requests for salary and any other additional information must be 
made in writing and accompanied by the employee’s signed authorization to release this 
information. 
 
5.6 Internships 
 



 

 50  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Internships are available to full-time college students (taking twelve (12) or more units), 
and limited to no more than sixteen (16) hours per week during regular Fall/Spring 
semesters or quarters. Additional hours may be offered during semester or quarter 
breaks.  Flexible scheduling will be available.   
 
Driving a MCWD vehicle may be necessary to perform the job duties, therefore, the 
Intern will need to be insurable and have a valid California driver's license. All potential 
Interns will be required to complete a MCWD application and participate in an interview 
prior to hiring. 
 
5.7 Use of MCWD Vehicles 
 
It is MCWD’s policy that before an employee can be eligible to operate any vehicle for 
MCWD business, a valid driver’s license, and a California Department of Motor Vehicles 
driver’s license Pull Report must be on file.  In addition, employees are responsible for 
immediately reporting to his/her immediate supervisor any changes in automobile 
insurance policy or change in the status of his/her driver’s license such as suspension 
or revocation.  Employees who are uninsurable or who create the potential for an 
increase in MCWD’s liability insurance premiums may be reassigned.  Any questions 
regarding this policy should be directed to HR.the Management Services Administrator.   

 
In addition to applying good common sense regarding the safe operation of vehicles, 
the following rules pertain when operating any vehicle on MCWD business: 

 
• No use of MCWD or personal cell phone is allowed while driving unless a 

proper hands-free device is used to the extent permitted by law. 
• Text messaging while driving is strictly prohibited. 
• Driver and all passengers must wear seat belts. 
• Any employee who is under the influence of or impaired by any illegal drug 

or alcoholic beverage or any legal drug that may impair an employee’s 
abilities must not operate any vehicle. 

• MCWD vehicles are to be used by employees only for official business 
purposes and not for personal use. 

• Use of any vehicle for MCWD business must have the prior approval of 
the employee’s immediate supervisor. Any mechanical defects of a 
MCWD vehicle should be reported by the employee to his/her immediate 
supervisor before operating the vehicle.  All employees driving a vehicle 
on MCWD business must immediately report to his/hertheir immediate 
supervisor any accident and any moving or non-moving violation for which 
he/she is they are cited.  MCWD accepts no responsibility for citations 
issued to an employee by any law enforcement agency while driving a 
vehicle on MCWD business under any circumstance.  All liabilities created 
by any citation will be the responsibility of employees who receive them. 

• All employees operating vehicles on MCWD business are required to obey 
all traffic regulations. 



 

 51  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

• Only designated employees may drive MCWD vehicles.  No employee is 
permitted to lend a MCWD vehicle to a non-employee. 

 
An employee who is involved in an accident in the course of using a MCWD vehicle on 
MCWD business shall adhere to the following procedure: 
 

1. Do not argue, admit liability, or make a statement to anyone except the 
police, the employee’s immediate supervisor, or other appropriate MCWD 
management. 

2. Obtain the names and addresses of: 
Owner of other vehicle(s) 
Insurance Carrier of the other driver(s) 
Witnesses 
Injured person(s) 
Other driver(s), including the number of and state issuing the driver’s 
license 

3. Note these items: 
Speed of each vehicle with its direction of travel 
Signal given by each driver, if any 
Point and time of accident 
Any mechanical aspect of the other vehicle, which may have caused the 
accident (e.g. no brake lights, etc.) 

4. Promptly report to MCWD management any damage done to a customer, 
the public,  an employee, or his/her property. 

 
Accident reports and insurance contacts will be promptly handled by HR.the 
Management Services Administrator. 
 
5.8 Use of Personal Vehicle for MCWD Business 
 
Employees who are asked and agree to use his/her personal vehicle in the course of 
performing MCWD business shall be eligible for mileage reimbursement at the current 
IRS established rate.  Travel must be confined to only the authorized destination and 
return location.  
 
Employees who operate his/her own vehicles on MCWD business may do so provided 
the following conditions are met: 
 

• The vehicle must be in sound and safe operating condition and maintained 
as such at the employee’s own expense. 

• The driver and vehicle must be insured in accordance with at least 
minimum coverage and liability standards established by the State of 
California.  Proof of insurance is required and should be forwarded to 
HRthe Management Services Administrator. 

• The driver must observe driving conditions and obey all State and local 
driving laws, including but not limited to wearing a seat belt, avoid eating, 



 

 52  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

drinking, or the use of a cell phone while driving unless a proper hands-
free device is used. 

• Text messaging while driving is prohibited. 
• The driver must possess and maintain a valid California driver’s license.  

Employees who are required or may be called upon to use his/her vehicle 
in the course of MCWD business who have his/her driver’s license 
suspended, revoked, or receive driving violations other than parking 
citations are required to promptly report these conditions to the 
Management Services Administrator.  Employees who are required to 
drive in the course of MCWD business or operations who have his/her 
license revoked, suspended or receive driving violations other than 
parking citations or who are involved in an accident may be subject to 
either work modification or termination at MCWD’s discretion. 

 
When a privately-owned vehicle that is used for official travel and is damaged in an 
accident not caused by the employee, MCWD will reimburse an employee a maximum 
of $250.00 for his/her automobile insurance deductible. The employee must provide 
satisfactory proof of loss and insurance deductible to HR.the Management Services 
Administrator. 

 
For more information regarding the use of a personal vehicle on MCWD business, 
please see Section 5.B Transportation Expenses, paragraph 2.a-j of the MCWD 
Expense Reimbursement and Travel Policy dated March 2017June 2006. 
 
5.9 Reimbursement of Business Expenses 
 
Certain employees may incur business expenses in the course of his/her duties.  
Employees must be authorized in advance to incur business expenses, and all such 
expenditures must be documented on MCWD’s Reimbursement Expense form and 
submitted to the Accounting Department, following the department head’s review and 
approval.  All original receipts for expenses should be attached to the form with an 
explanation of the nature of the expense.  When and where applicable, the names of 
the persons and the business purpose for the meeting should be included. 

 
Please refer to the MCWD Expense Reimbursement and Travel Policy dated March 
2017June 2006 for more information. 
 
5.10 Business Related Travel 
 
Occasionally employees may be reimbursed for the cost of authorized travel to any 
business-related meeting or attendance at training or seminar programs, or attendance 
at an out-of-area conference.  If the travel has been budgeted, and previously 
authorized by the employee’s immediate supervisor, department head and approved by 
the General Manager or designee, reimbursement will be made upon submission of a 
completed MCWD Reimbursement Expense form with accompanying receipts. 

 



 

 53  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Covered Expenses – HRThe Management Services Administrator or designee is the 
training/travel coordinator for MCWD.  He/she will make all travel/training arrangements 
using the most cost effective and time efficient mode of travel and accommodations.  A 
list of travel reminders will be provided along with a confirmation memo to employees 
who are scheduled to attend any cost-related training or travel on MCWD business.  
Employees are expected to use prudence and good judgment when ordering meals and 
incurring travel-related expenses.  Travel related expenses include those costs incurred 
in the use of rental car fees (where necessary), bus, shuttles, and taxi fares. 
Reimbursement expenses per Section 5.8 will apply for pre-approved use of the 
employee’s personal vehicle.  

 
For more information, please refer to the MCWD Expense Reimbursement and Travel 
Policy dated March 2017. 

 
5.11 Time Off To Meet and Confer 
 
Except as may otherwise be authorized by an existing MOU, employees shall be 
authorized time off with pay to meet and confer regarding terms and conditions of 
employment as follows: 
 

A. Authorized representatives of the Marina Coast Water DistrictMCWD 
Employees Association (MCWDEA) and the Teamsters Local 890 (Union) 
meeting with the General Manager or designee regarding negotiating, 
preparing or interpreting an MOU between the District and its employees. 

B. During the last six months prior to the expiration of an existing MOU, the 
MCWDEA and the Union may meet with his/her authorized 
representatives for the purpose of discussing negotiations. 

 
In addition, employees shall be authorized time off with pay to attend one meeting each 
calendar year of the MCWDEA in which general business of the Association or Union is 
conducted. 
 
Notice to all immediate supervisors should occur no later than three (3) working days 
prior to a meeting described above, including the date, time and location.  Due to 
operational requirements, a department head may require appropriate employees to 
remain on the job during all or part of the meeting.   
 
5.12 Gift or Gratuity Acceptance 
 
Employees of MCWD are prohibited from accepting, directly or indirectly, any gift, 
rebate, money, or anything else of value greater than $25 from suppliers, consultants or 
contractors with whom the District has past, current or potential business 
relations.whatsoever from any person or entity if the gift, rebate, money or item of value 
is intended as a reward or inducement for conducting business, placing orders with, or 
otherwise using the employee’s position to favor the contributor.  Awards and 



 

 54  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

promotional items shall not constitute a gift if received as a non-personal item by the 
employee, and the item is distributed to all employees by the contributor.   
 
Similarly, it is strictly prohibited for any employee to solicit any gift, gratuity or other item, 
service or product of monetary value from any other person in connection with his/her 
employment with MCWD.  Such actions will be subject to discipline up to and including 
termination.  An employee having any questions concerning this policy, or concerning 
specific instances, should direct them to his/her immediate supervisor or HR.the 
Management Services Administrator. 
 
5.13 Visitors 

 
All visitors must enter MCWD facilities at the main entrance and must not enter work 
areas without specific management permission.  Any unauthorized person or persons 
on MCWD property will be asked to leave immediately.  Those employees who allow 
unauthorized visitors to enter the premises in any way may be subject to corrective 
action.  
 
5.14 Separation of Employment 

 
Separation of employment can be either voluntary or involuntary and may be initiated 
either by the employee or MCWD.   
  
Voluntary Separation –  
When an employee resigns, the separation is considered voluntary.  Employees are 
requested to give advance written notice, to his/her immediate supervisor.  Generally, at 
least two (2) weeks’ notice is expected in order to commence the recruitment process 
for replacement of a departing employee. 

 
Involuntary Separation/Termination –  
An involuntary separation/termination is one that is initiated by MCWD for any reason 
including a reduction in force.   
 
Job Abandonment –  
An employee who has been absent for three (3) consecutive scheduled workdays 
without notification to his/her immediate supervisor, and without legitimate extenuating 
circumstances that can be verified, will be considered to have abandoned his/her job 
and the employee will be terminated pursuant to this Handbook.  The last day worked 
will be the date of separation.   

 
Failure to return from an approved leave of absence or vacation within the time limits 
established also will be considered as a voluntary termination of employment without 
notice.  The date of the expiration of the leave or vacation will be the separation date. 
 
Exit Interviews –  



 

 55  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Whenever possible and appropriate, exit interviews normally will be conducted by HR or 
designeethe Management Services Administrator for all separating employees.  This 
interview allows the separating employee to communicate his/her views on working at 
MCWD as well as the job requirements, operations, and training needs of the position.   

 
Final Pay –  
A terminated employee shall receive his/her final pay on the his/her last day of work.  
Employees who voluntarily resign will receive his/her final pay no later than three (3) 
days after his/her last day of workregular payroll cycle. [LTR31] 
 
Return of MCWD Property –  
It is the responsibility of any separating employee to return all property issued by 
MCWD at any time during employment.  All such property, including any keys, 
identification badge, laptop computer, cell phone, pager, manuals, documents, and 
other items that the employee may have in his/her possession, must be returned on or 
before the last day of work.   
 
5.15 Reduction in Force/Layoff and Re-Employment 
 
A layoff is normally an involuntary termination that is initiated by MCWD as a result of 
reorganization, position elimination, declining operations/lack of work, or lack of funds 
and not otherwise caused by the affected employee.   
 
Layoff of employees within each category of employment status and within a targeted 
job classification shall be based on seniority unless the employee’s past job 
performance or disciplinary record justifies an exception to seniority ranking.  For 
purposes of layoff, seniority shall be defined as length of continuous service while an 
employee of MCWD. 
 
Authorization –  
The General Manager or designee may lay off any employee because of lack of 
appropriate funds, curtailment or lack of work, reorganization, abolition of position, or 
other reasons.  Such lay-off shall take effect fourteen (14) working days after the receipt 
by the employee of a notice in writing of the proposed layoff action. The decision of the 
General Manager or designee to lay off employees is not subject to the grievance 
process in Section 12. 
 
Order of Layoff –  
When it becomes necessary because of lack of work, lack of funds or other reasons to 
reduce the number of employees within a given department or job classification, the 
General Manager or designee will prepare a lay-off list and/or notice. 
 
Lay-offs shall be made among all employees in the same job classification within 
MCWD in the following order: 

 
1. Temporary employees. 



 

 56  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

2. Employees in an initial introductory probationary period. 
3. Regular employees. 

 
Order of Re-employment –  
For each classification in which lay-offs occur, MCWD will maintain a list.  The list shall 
order the employees by position title, date of lay-off from first employee laid off to most 
recent employee laid off. Generally, any employee laid off shall be given preference 
over external applicants in the event the same position, or substantially similar position 
having reasonably similar requirements, becomes available during the reemployment 
period. 
 
An employee appearing on the layoff list shall be eligible for re-hire for one (1) year 
following lay-off, provided the employee is qualified to perform the essential functions of 
the position offered.  Employees appearing on the list will be offered re-employment in 
the inverse order of lay-off. If more than one (1) employee was terminated on the same 
day, the employee with the greatest seniority will be offered re-employment first.  

 
It is the responsibility of the employee to keep MCWD advised of his/her availability to 
work, including a current address and telephone number(s) at which the employee may 
be reached. 

 
Notice of Re-Employment –  
MCWD shall notify the laid off employee of the opportunity for re-employment by 
certified mail, return receipt requested. The Notice of Re-employment shall be sent to 
the address provided to MCWD by the employee.  The notice will specify the date and 
time the employee’s re-employment is scheduled to begin. The notice shall provide that 
the employee must notify MCWD of his/her intent to accept re-employment within 
seventy-two (72) hours of receiving the Notice of Re-employment. Failure to accept the 
offer of re-employment within seventy-two (72) hours, and/or failure to report for work on 
the date and time specified in the Notice of Re-employment shall be considered as the 
employee’s waiver of reemployment consideration by MCWD. 
 
Benefits for Employees Re-hired After Lay-Off –  
An employee re-hired following a lay-off will retain the level of seniority and benefits that 
were in effect at the time of the employee’s layoff.  
 
 



 

 57  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Section 6. Classification and Compensation Plan  
 

The Board of Directors of MCWD establishes, by resolution, a classification and 
compensation plan.  The classification plan provides a complete and continuous 
inventory of all classifications as well as job descriptions and specifications for each 
position.  Positions having similar duties and responsibilities shall be classified and 
compensated on a uniform basis.  The compensation plan creates the salary ranges 
and steps or rates of pay for positions within each bargaining unit.  The Board of 
Directors shall administer the compensation plan for the General Manager.  HRThe 
Management Services Administrator shall administer the compensation plan for all other 
MCWD employees. 
 
Classification Plan –  
The classification plan shall consist of groupings of positions which are approximately 
equal in difficulty and responsibility, consisting of the same general qualifications, and 
which can be compensated with the same range of pay for similar working conditions. 
 
Each classification specification shall include the title, a description of duties and 
responsibilities of the work, and minimum qualification criteria of the person who 
performs the work.  Classification specifications may, from time to time, be reviewed 
and updated at the direction of HRthe Management Services Administrator.  The 
General Manager or designee shall make the final determination on all actions arising 
under this provision, subject to approval by the Board of Directors where appropriate. 
 
Compensation Plan –  
The basic compensation plan of MCWD consists of a progression of salary ranges, 
each containing six (6) steps.  Upon original appointment with MCWD, an employee will 
normally be placed in the first step of the salary range.  In cases where it is difficult to 
secure qualified personnel, or if a person of higher qualifications is engaged, the 
General Manager or designee may authorize a higher initial step. 
 
Merit Increase –  
Increases in compensation within an employee’s range are not automatic, but are based 
on merit.  Performance evaluations are conducted annually on the anniversary date for 
each employee.  Based on the evaluation, an employee may be eligible for a merit or 
step increase within the position’s pay range.  All merit increases must be approved by 
the General Manager or designee.  
 
Demotion –  
In the case of a demotion after a promotion, employees will return to the step in the 
salary range held prior to promotion.  An employee who is demoted to a job 
classification with a lower salary range shall be placed in the salary step for the new 
classification closest to that received by the employee prior to demotion. 
 
 
 



 

 58  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

6.0 Longevity Steps 
 
The longevity pay plan recognizes the long-term service of regular, full-time MCWD 
employees.  Longevity pay is based on total service and computed as a percentage of 
the employee’s base rate of pay at the date of eligibility.  Service toward longevity is 
credited for each month in which an employee is in pay status for one-half or more of 
the regularly scheduled work days and paid holidays in the month. 

 
The increase will become effective on the anniversary date.  If an employee goes on 
leave in an unpaid status, longevity will be pro-rated.  Employees on paid disability 
leave are an exception.   

 
Upon reaching the following anniversaries, employees shall receive longevity pay 
increases as follows: 
 
 10 years of service   5% pay increase 
 15 years of service   5% pay increase 
 20 years of service   5% pay increase 
 25 years of service   2.5% pay increase 
 30 years of service   2.5% pay increase 



 

 59  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Section 7. General Work Conditions 
 
7.0 Overtime 
 
Employees whose positions do not meet certain legal requirements necessary for 
exemption from applicable overtime laws are classified “non-exempt.”  Non-exempt 
employees are paid overtime rates for each hour of weekly overtime work performed, as 
requested and approved in advance by his/her immediate supervisor.  Federal wage 
and hour laws and MOU’s govern overtime rates and conditions.  Non-exempt 
employees may be paid either on a salaried or an hourly basis. 
 
Any questions regarding exemption status should be directed to HR.the Management 
Services Administrator. 
 
All non-exempt employees who are eligible for overtime shall be paid in accordance with 
applicable federal regulations and as provided in this policy[GCD32].  Overtime shall be 
defined as time actually worked in excess of forty (40) hours in a workweek or over eight 
(8) or nine (9) hours in a workday, depending upon the employee’s regularly scheduled 
shift.  All overtime work shall be authorized by the appropriate representatives of 
management and be paid at time and a half (1.5) for all hours worked in excess of his/her 
regularly scheduled daily hours or may be credited with the equivalent compensatory time 
off at the option of the affected employee. Time worked in excess of twelve (12) hours in 
one (1) work day shall be paid at double (2) time.   
 
For the purpose of this section, paid holiday, vacation, and compensatory time off hours 
shall be considered as hours worked for the purpose of determining overtime.  This does 
not apply to sick leave.   
 
Employees who are statutorily non-exempt from state and federal overtime 
requirements and who may be required to work on a holiday will be permitted to choose 
compensatory time off  at double time and one half (2.5) the regular salary rate for the 
holiday worked, or monetary payment for the day.  If the monetary payment is selected, 
it will result in the employee being paid for the holiday at the regular salary rate. If the 
monetary payment is selected by the employee and the total credited hours for that 
week exceed forty (40), the employee will be paid for the hours in excess of forty (40) as 
overtime at a salary rate of double the regular salary rate.  
 
7.1 Compensatory Time 
 
Non-exempt employees working overtime shall elect whether to receive overtime pay at 
one and one-half hours (1.5) for each hour of overtime worked, or compensatory time 
hours at the same conversion rate[GCD33].  Compensatory time is capped at 240 
hours.unlimited, but must be used within ninety (90) days of accrual.   
 
Payment for compensatory time at termination shall be for all available compensatory time 
at the employee’s prevailing hourly rate of pay. 



 

 60  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

 
7.2 Overtime Exemption Status 
 
Employees classified as exempt from overtime under the FLSA (for purposes of this 
policy, such employees shall be called “Management Employees”) will be considered 
salaried or exempt.  In consideration of unusual hours worked routinely in excess of 
forty (40) hours per week, the Board of Directors has authorized a Management Leave 
provision as provided in Section 10.14. 
 
A management employee is normally expected to be present during the hours of his/her 
department and devote all of the hours necessary to fulfill his/her duties.  It is 
recognized that the number of hours actually worked in a particular week may be 
greater or less than forty (40) depending on job demands or time off for holidays, 
vacation, management leave or sick leave. 
 
Because management employees receive additional leave in recognition of the job 
demands of his/her respective positions, principles of public accountability prohibit 
Flexible Scheduling to be a substitute for using management or sick leave.  Accordingly, 
except as otherwise provided in a current MOU, any time off, for any purpose in excess 
of three (3) hours in any one day, shall be charged as vacation, management leave or 
sick leave, as appropriate.  Management employees are responsible for notifying his/her 
immediate supervisor when taking time off in a manner that is acceptable to the 
supervisor.  
 
The appropriate management employee's supervisor is responsible to monitor the 
performance and attendance of management employees to prevent abuse of this policy.  
Bona fide abuses may be subject to disciplinary action in accordance with MCWD 
policy.  The General Manager or designee shall be responsible to ensure uniform 
implementation of this policy. 
 
Overtime and/or compensatory time off, or cash conversions of same, shall not accrue 
for management employees. 
 
Timesheet Policy – Pursuant to the FLSA, management employees are not required to 
complete an accounting of his/her time for pay purposes.  However, because MCWD is 
reimbursed for some of its personnel costs pursuant to grant programs and various 
agreements, it must maintain a record of the amount of time spent on each project.  
Therefore, timesheets shall be completed by all management employees.  Timesheets 
completed by management employees shall be used strictly for staffing level evaluation 
and accounting as required by grant programs and other agreements. 
 
7.3 Work Week and Hours 
 
The regular work week shall be Monday to Friday, eight (8) or nine (9) hours per day 
depending upon the employee’s regularly scheduled shift.  In an emergency or in 
unusual circumstances the work week may be changed. 



 

 61  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

 
Beach Office: 
Regular hours of operation are 7:30 am to 5:30 pm.  Lunch periods shall be 
staggered so that continuous coverage of the office is provided.  The hours of 
management personnel may vary from time to time according to the workload. 
 
Ord Office: 
Regular hours of operation are 6:30 am to 5:30 pm with thirty (30) minutes or one (1) 
hour for lunch.  The hours of management personnel may vary from time to time 
according to the workload.   
 

Alternative Work Week – 
The alternative work week addresses the need for flexibility for both the employer and 
employee.  It allows employers to better utilize facilities and equipment by reducing idle 
time, enhances customer service due to potential for expanded service hours, and 
maximizes the value of employee compensation and benefit expenses.  In addition, the 
alternative work week can improve the ability to recruit and retain workers and decrease 
tardiness and absenteeism.  Employees can benefit from less time commuting, 
reduction in transportation costs, childcare or other daily work-related expenses, and 
possible increased morale and productivity. 
 
A 9/80 compressed workweek is available for employees who elect this option.  Managers 
will have the discretion to consider and implement this schedule based on the operational 
and managerial needs of MCWD.  A compressed workweek is one in which employees 
work the same amount of hours in fewer days than the customary number of days per 
week.  Nothing shall preclude MCWD from changing the hours of operation to better 
meet the needs of MCWD. 
 
All employees of MCWD can request such schedule and MCWD agrees that the requests 
will not be unreasonably denied.  Participation in the alternative work week affects the 
schedules of others; therefore, once established, changes can only be approved by the 
department head and General Manager or designee. 
 
Each employee requesting to work an alternative work week must complete an 
Alternative Schedule Authorization form before participating in the plan and submit the 
form to Payroll one (1) full pay period prior to beginning any alternative work schedule.   
 
Work Week Established[GCD34] –  
The FLSA workweek for all MCWD employees shall be 168 regularly recurring hours. 
For employees working the 5/8 work schedule, it shall begin on Sunday at 12:00 a.m. 
and end at 11:59 p.m. the following Saturday. For employees working a 9/80 alternative 
work week schedule, each employee's designated FLSA workweek (168 hours in 
length) shall begin exactly four hours after the start time of his/her eight hour shift on the 
day of the week that corresponds with the employee's alternating regular day off.In 
order to uniformly administer the alternative work week, and regular five (5)-day/forty 



 

 62  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

(40) hour work week schedules, MCWD has established the work week as follows:  
Friday 12:01 pm to Friday 12:00 pm.   
 
For those employees working an alternative work week, the following work hours have 
been established:  Confidential and Laboratory personnel, the normal working hours are 
between 7:30 am to 5:30 pm  For Operations and Maintenance personnel the normal 
working hours are between 6:30 am to 5:30 pm depending upon job assignment, except 
for regularly assigned stand-by and weekend duty.  For Water Conservation and 
Engineering, normal working hours are 7:30 am to 5:30 pm.  For Engineering and 
Accounting staff, normal working hours are between 7:00 am to 5:30 pm. 
 
Administration office hours are from 7:00am to 5:30pm Monday through Friday, while 
the Ord office hours are from 6:30am to 5:30pm Monday through Friday, however, work 
schedules for employees vary throughout our District.  Staffing needs and operational 
demands necessitate variations in starting and ending times. 
 
Leave While Working an Alternative Work Week Schedule –  
If the employee is working an alternative work week schedule and takes sick, vacation, 
compensatory, or management leave time on a regularly scheduled nine (9)-hour day, 
he/she must take nine (9) hours of leave.   
 
For further clarification, please contact HRthe Management Services Administrator for 
further clarification. 
 
7.4 Meal Break 
 
All employees shall be entitled to a duty-free, unpaid meal period of a minimum of thirty 
(30) minutes, which  and should be taken no more than five (5) hours after the 
beginning of the employee’s shift.[GCD35]  The length and the time of the meal period 
taken shall be determined by the immediate supervisor consistent with the employee’s 
established work schedule.  Employees are required to take this break; however, an on-
duty meal period may occur due to the nature of the work being performed.  In this 
case, the meal period will be paid.  
 
7.5 Rest Period 
 
Employees are provided two (2) fifteen (15) minute rest periods for each daily work shift 
worked.  Rest periods are considered paid work time.  Rest periods may not be added 
to meal breaks and are not to be used at the beginning or end of a daily work shift. 
 
Administrative personnel are expected to remain on MCWD premises during his/her rest 
periods.   
 
7.6 Pay Periods and Paydays 
 
Pay Periods –  



 

 63  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

MCWD pays all employees for time worked on a bi-weekly basis.  Each pay period 
contains fourteen (14) consecutive calendar days.  Pay periods begin at 12:01 pm on 
every other Friday and end at 12:00 pm every other Friday. 
 
Pay Days –  
MCWD paydays occur on the Friday following the end of the pay period.  Every effort 
will be made to distribute pay checks on the Thursday before pay day, but pay checks 
may not be cashed until Friday.   

 
Employees are expected to report any errors in a paycheck to his/her immediate 
supervisor who will coordinate any appropriate corrections with the Accounting 
Department.   
 
7.7 Timesheets and Recordkeeping 

 
In accordance with applicable federal and state wage and hour laws, MCWD is required 
to maintain records for all hours worked by non-exempt employees.  To comply with 
these laws, non-exempt employees are given a timesheet.  A timesheet is an official, 
legal document and therefore must be accurately maintained.  Timesheets should be 
kept on a daily basis and turned in to the employee’s immediate supervisor/manager for 
approval prior to the end of each pay period.   

 
Completed, signed and approved timesheets are to be forwarded to the Accounting 
Department no later than the Monday following the end of the pay period. 
 
It is the responsibility of every non-exempt employee to accurately record time worked.  
Federal and state laws require MCWD to keep an accurate record of time worked in 
order to calculate employee pay and benefits.  Time worked is the time actually spent 
on the job performing assigned duties. 
 
It is the employee’s responsibility to sign his/her timesheet certifying the accuracy of all 
time recorded and that meal periods have been made available.  Employees are 
responsible for the accuracy of his/her own timesheet.  Altering, falsifying, tampering 
with timesheets, or recording time on another employee's time record is a serious 
violation of MCWD rules and may result in corrective action, up to and including 
termination.  
 
Employees may report in no earlier than ten (10) minutes before the start of his/her shift 
and clock out no later than ten (10) minutes after completion of the shift, unless 
overtime work has been authorized by an immediate supervisor.  Overtime work must 
always be approved in advance before it is performed.  In accordance with federal law, 
MCWD rounds this time to the nearest one-quarter hour/fifteen (15) minutes. 
 
7.8 Direct Deposit 
 



 

 64  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

MCWD offers direct deposit of paychecks for employees who select this service and 
who bank with institutions who are members of the Automated Clearing House.  Net pay 
for employees participating in direct deposit will be available at the start of the banking 
business day on each designated payday.   
 
To begin direct deposit, employees must complete a designation form including account 
number(s), bank routing number(s) (ABA), financial institution name(s), amount(s) 
desired, and provide a voided check.  As required by the Federal Reserve, the first 
direct deposit normally takes place after an initial “test” pay period to assure all 
information provided is accurate.   
 
Each payday, employees enrolled in direct deposit will receive a direct deposit pay stub 
stating all payroll deduction information, and the net deposit made.  Employees should 
not call Payroll with questions regarding the deposit until the actual payroll date has 
passed.  If there is a question, it is recommended the employee call the banking 
institution directly. 
 
7.9 Pay Advances 
 
MCWD does not allow pay advances on either earned or scheduled but not yet worked 
hours.  Employees are therefore not eligible to receive manually processed paychecks 
for hours worked through an existing pay period in advance of MCWD’s normal payday 
regardless of the reason for such request. 
 
Employees, may, however, elect to cash out accumulated vacation, compensatory or 
management leave provided the employee maintains at least forty (40) hours of accrued 
vacation credit.  Cash out must be done in conjunction with a regular paycheck and 
requested no less than five (5) days before the end of a pay period.   
 
7.10 Garnishments 
 
A garnishment is a legal levy by a creditor against an employee’s pay.  MCWD expects 
all employees to manage his/her personal finances so as not to involve the MCWD.  All 
garnishments and other attachment orders that are required by law will be honored.  An 
employee who suspects this may happen to him/her should review the situation with 
HRthe Management Services Administrator immediately.  Sometimes arrangements 
can be made to resolve the situation before it becomes costly and embarrassing. 
 
7.11  Meal Allowance 
 
If a non-exempt employee is unexpectedly ordered to work due to an emergency that 
occurs at least two (2) hours immediately preceding or following his/her normal work 
shift and conditions do not allow the employee to go home for a meal, MCWD will either 
provide a meal, or the employee may submit a receipt and be reimbursed for food and 
non-alcoholic beverages.  Meal reimbursements will be paid at the rates designated in 
the MCWD Expense Reimbursement and Travel Policy dated March 2017June 2006.  
 



 

 65  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

For the purpose of this provision, "unexpectedly ordered" means the order was given on 
the same day the employee had to perform the work. 
 
 
 



 

 66  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Section 8. Special Pay Practices 
 
8.0 Show-Up or Reporting Pay[GCD36] 
 
Non-exempt, full and part-time employees who report for work on his/hertheir regularly 
scheduled shift and are not assigned work or are furnished less than one-half (.5) the 
usual scheduled day’s work will be paid for one-half (.5) the usual scheduled day’s 
work, or for two (2) hours, whichever is greater, at the regular rate of pay.  At MCWD’s 
option, employees in these circumstances may be assigned to other work not normally 
performed by the employee, instead of being sent home.  
 
8.1 Call-Out Pay 
 
Responding to call-outs is mandatory.  Non-exempt employees who are called back to 
work outside his/her normally scheduled workweek and/or normally scheduled working 
hours will be paid at time and one-half (1.5) his/her regular pay rate for actual time 
worked but not less than two (2) hours, whichever is greater.   
 
Once an employee has initially been called back to duty under call-out conditions, no 
subsequent call-outs which occur within the initial call-out minimum period of two (2) 
hours will be credited.  
 
Since call-out time is paid at the normal overtime rate, such hours will not be included 
as hours worked for purposes of determining overtime pay eligibility over forty (40) 
hours in the work week.  This is referred to as a “no pyramiding” rule in calculating 
overtime under the federal forty (40) hours worked standard. 
 
8.2 On-Call/Standby Pay 
 
Due to certain classification responsibilities, MCWD may require employees to be 
assigned to on-call or standby duty.  On-call or standby duty refers to a situation where 
an non-exempt, off duty employee, holds hishim/herself available to immediate 
response as directed by management.  Assigned standby shall be on an as-needed 
basis and compensated at the rate of pay in the applicable MOU.  Additionally, the call-
out payment as described in Section 8.1 above will apply.   
 
On-call or standby duty shall be defined as that circumstance that requires an employee 
to: 
 

1. Be ready to respond within thirty (30) minutes immediately to a call for 
service; 

2. Be readily available at all hours by telephone or other agreed-upon 
communication equipment; and 

3. Not engage in activities that might impair assigned duties upon call.  Use 
of alcohol, illegal drugs, and/or any substance that would affect duty 
performance is prohibited while on standby duty. 



 

 67  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

 
On-call/standby pay is compensation given to an employee for hours in which he/she 
agrees to respond should there be a requirement to report for work.  If an on-
call/standby employee is called to respond to a telephone advisory situation, no 
additional pay is warranted, whereas if the on-call/standby employee is required to 
respond to an on-site operational need, then the employee will be paid under the Call-
Out provisions in Section 8.1.  In that instance, the employee will resume his/her on-
call/standby pay rate upon completion of the call-back work. 
 
8.3 Shift Differential Pay 
 
Employees whose assigned work shift includes the hours between 6 pm and 11 pm, 
(and who work a minimum of four (4) hours between 6 pm and 11 pm) shall be paid a 
shift differential premium of five percent (5%) per hour above the regular rate of pay for 
all hours worked during the assigned shift.  Any unit member whose assigned shift 
includes the hours between 11 pm and 5 am, (and who works a minimum of four (4) 
hours between 11 pm and 5 am) shall be paid a shift differential premium of ten percent 
(10%) per hour above the regular rate of pay for all hours worked during the assigned 
shift. 
 

8.34 Seminar Attendance and Education Reimbursement 
 
It may be necessary for employees to attend training programs, seminars, conferences, 
lectures, meetings or other outside activities for the benefit of MCWD or the individual 
employee.  Attendance at such activities may be required by MCWD or requested by 
individual employees.  However, attendance will not be considered an officially 
authorized activity, subject to the policies on reimbursement and compensation, unless 
prior written approval has been given by the General Manager or designee.   
 
To obtain approval, employees wishing to attend an activity must submit a completed 
Request for Training/Travel Form to his/her immediate supervisor, department head, 
and, if approved, to the General Manager or designee detailing all relevant information, 
including date, hours, location, cost, expenses, nature, purpose and justification for 
attendance. 
 
Seminar Attendance –  
Where attendance is required or authorized by MCWD, MCWD will reimburse 
reasonable expenses that generally include registration fees, materials, meals 
(excluding alcoholic beverages), transportation and parking.  Reimbursement policies 
regarding these expenses should be discussed with the employee’s immediate 
supervisor or the Management Services Administrator in advance. Employee 
attendance, when required, will be considered time worked in accordance with 
applicable state law and the FLSA. 

 



 

 68  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Seminars, conference attendance and other training programs in which an employee’s 
participation would be beneficial to MCWD may be approved by the General Manager 
or designee on an individual discretionary basis, and based on available funding. 
 
For more information, please refer to the MCWD Expense Reimbursement and Travel 
Policy dated June 2006. 
 
Education Reimbursement –  
The Employee Tuition Reimbursement Program is intended to reimburse out-of-pocket 
expenses for tuition, books, supplies and other incidental expenses specifically 
associated with an employee’s course of study and encourage employees to continue 
his/her education in order to meet present and future MCWD needs to: 

 
• increase effective work performance and employee efficiency; 
• facilitate MCWD promotion from within; and, 
• attract and retain individuals having superior ability and potential for 

advancement. 
 

Eligible Courses/Tuition and Book Reimbursement -  
Based on an employee’s advance submission of a completed Education 
Reimbursement request form, including the supervisor and department head’s 
recommendation and General Manager or designee’s approval, a regular full-time 
employee will be reimbursed for books and tuition for a job-related course of study.  In 
order to assure that the particular educational program is authorized, the employee is 
required to submit a course/class description along with the reimbursement form.  The 
supervisor shall evaluate the job relationship to the course of study based on the 
employee's current or potential future job description. 

 
The employee will receive reimbursement of the course if he/she receives a grade of 
"C" or higher. Confirmation transcripts or evidence which verifies the student's grade or 
“pass/fail” completion must be submitted to the Management Services Administrator 
upon completion of the course and prior to receiving reimbursement. 
 
Courses must be taken on the employee's own time unless otherwise authorized by the 
General Manager or designee. 
 

8.54 Certification Incentive Bonus 
•  
Certain personnel holding positions in the Operations and Maintenance (O&M) and 
Laboratory Departments are required to obtain certification commensurate with his/her 
position from the California Department of Public Health (CDPH), California Water 
Environment Association (CWEA), the American Water Works Association 
California/Nevada Section (AWWA CA/NV), State Water Resources Control Board 
(SWRCB), or other certifying boards.   
 



 

 69  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Those who become employed by MCWD in positions requiring certification and whose 
employment commences after the effective date of this certification requirement, must 
obtain the specified grade of certification within one (1) year following the date upon which 
they have fulfilled the experience requirement.  However, employees must obtain the 
required level of certification before he/shethey can be promoted to any other position for 
which he/she they appliesy.  For more information on what type of certification is required, 
employees should refer to the classification job description and discuss with his/her 
immediate supervisor. 
 
MCWD shall pay one-time bonuses of two hundred fifty dollars ($250) per certificate for 
employees who obtain the following certificates from the SWRCB: Wastewater Treatment 
Operator II, III, IV, V; from the CDPH: Water Distribution Operator II, III, IV, V, and Water 
Treatment Operator II, III, IV, V; CWEA: Collection System Maintenance II, III, IV, V; 
Laboratory Analyst II, III, IV, V; AWWA CA-NV: Water Quality Analyst II, III, IV; Backflow 
Prevention Assembly Tester, Cross Connection Control Specialist, Water Conservation 
Practitioner I, II, III; and, any other pertinent certifications on which the parties may agree. 
 
After providing proof of completion of a course of study or passing of a certification or 
licensing exam, employees will be reimbursed for the cost of licenses, certificates and 
renewals which are required to perform his/her job duties.  
 
8.65 Certification Pay 
 
As an incentive to encourage employees to acquire knowledge in areas related to current 
or future position(s), MCWD provides a one-time, ongoing, salary increase based on 
certification at a higher level than what is required for the current classification, provided 
the classification is maintained. 
 
Probationary employees are not eligible to receive certification bonuses or certification pay 
until he/shethey completes the initial MCWD probationary period and satisfy the current 
job specification certification for new employees. 
 
Only one (1) certification incentive will be approved above the requirement of the current 
classification.  To avoid confusion as to which certifications are authorized, the employee 
should request approval from his/her immediate supervisor and the General Manager or 
designee before beginning this program. 
 
System Operator II 
Collection Operator II 
Laboratory Analyst II 
Water Quality Analyst II 

Obtains Grade III 
certification from CWEA, 
CDPH, SWRCB, AWWA 
CA-NV 

Receives 5% ongoing 
increase (as long as 
certification is maintained) 

System Operator III 
Collection Operator III 
Laboratory Analyst III 
Water Quality Analyst III 

Obtains Grade IV 
certification from CWEA, 
CDPH, SWRCB, AWWA 
CA-NV 

Receives a 5% ongoing 
increase (as long as 
certification is maintained 
and not a requirement of 
the position) 



 

 70  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

System Operator IV 
Collection Operator IV 
Laboratory Analyst IV 
Water Quality Analyst IV 

Obtains Grade V 
certification from CWEA, 
CDPH, SWRCB, AWWA 
CA-NV 

Receives 5% ongoing 
increase (as long as 
certification is maintained 
and not a requirement of 
the position) 

 
The maximum amount allowable is five percent (5%) and certifications cannot be 
“stacked”.  
 
Certification for positions not listed above will also be considered.  The level of bonus will 
be set after evaluation of the program and with respect to the above specified bonuses. 
Management employees are not eligible for this certification pay incentive. 
 
 



 

 71  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Section 9. Absenteeism  
 
9.0 Attendance  
 
Employees of MCWD are expected to be punctual and maintain regular attendance. 
Tardiness and absenteeism place an additional burden on fellow employees and cause 
the rescheduling of work assignments.  Good attendance is an essential element in 
determining satisfactory job performance.  An unsatisfactory attendance record can 
result in corrective action, up to and including termination. 
 
Occasionally, it may be necessary for an employee to be absent from work as a result 
of illness, injury, or other personal reasons.  In such cases, employees are expected to 
give his/her supervisor as much advance notice as possible before the beginning of 
his/her scheduled starting time, but no later than one (1) hour after the start of the 
scheduled shift.  Failure to provide this notification within one (1) hour may result in the 
unreported period of absence being considered as leave without pay. 
 
Reporting an Absence/Tardy Tardiness –  
For any absence or tardiness, an employee shall speak or leave a message with his/her 
immediate supervisor or department head.  Speaking or leaving a message with anyone 
else does not meet MCWD’s reporting requirements.  Emails are not acceptable for this 
purpose.  If an employee expects to be late or is unable to appear show up for work, the 
employee shall call his/her immediate supervisor, when possible, at least one (1) hour in 
advance.   
 
Tardiness occurs when an employee arrives late at the required workstation and/or is 
not dressed and ready to work.  Excessive tardiness occurs when an employee is late 
more than ten (10) minutes on more than three (3) occasions within any thirty (30) day 
period.  The immediate supervisor will advise the employee when excessive tardiness 
has occurred. 
 
Excessive absenteeism occurs when the number of accumulated absences exceeds 
twelve (12) days in any twelve (12) month period and/or three (3) separate days in a 
one (1) month period prior to the most recent absence.   
 
In order to protect the health of other employees, MCWD may also require a health 
care provider’s verification that an employee who has been absent for health-related 
reasons is capable of resuming his/her job responsibilities before being permitted to 
return to work. 
 
Any falsification, misrepresentation, or other violation of this attendance policy can 
result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination. 
 
Approved Time Off –  
Employees who know in advance he/shethey will be absent or late are required tomust 
make the necessary arrangements with his/hertheir immediate supervisor or department 



 

 72  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

head.  If time off from work is needed, please schedule and obtain prior approval for any 
intended absence by submitting a written request for time off in accordance with the 
applicable procedures in this Handbook.  
 
Planned time off includes any situation that prevents an employee from reporting to 
work on time for any scheduled workday or time off that needs to be scheduled (e.g., 
vacations, doctor’s appointments, personal obligations, leaves of absence, etc.). If prior 
arrangements have not been made, employees must discuss an absence or inability to 
be at work on time directly with his/her immediate supervisor. 
 
MCWD recognizes that it is sometimes necessary for employees to take care of 
personal business during the workday.  However, personal business should be kept to a 
minimum and should be conducted during break times whenever possible. 



 

 73  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Section 10. Employee Benefits 
 
This section of the Handbook is intended to provide a general overview of the benefits 
currently available to eligible employees of MCWD.  State and/or federal laws govern 
some of these benefits, while others are determined by MCWD or governed by a benefit 
provider.  Should there be a discrepancy between the contents of this Handbook and a 
provision of an applicable law, summary plan document (SPD) or contract, then the law, 
SPD, or contract will prevail. 
 
All eligible employees shall be provided information regarding benefit plans during 
his/her probationary period.  This information includes SPD’s, which are detailed benefit 
documents.  It is recommended that employees understand fully all costs and insurance 
coverage prior to obtaining care.  Employees are responsible for being familiar with the 
provisions and limitations of the health care insurance, as detailed in the SPD provided 
at the time of orientation. 
 
MCWD has the right and the obligation to administer the various insurance programs.  
These rights and obligations include, but are not limited to, the right to select the 
carriers and insurance claims administrators after consideration of the 
recommendations of the health insurance labor-management committee and prior 
meeting and consultation with the appropriate employee groups.  In the event a change 
in insurance carriers is made, an open enrollment period will be authorized. 
 
Eligibility –  
Regular full-time employees working thirty two (32) or more hours per week are eligible 
to enroll in the group benefit plans.[LTR37]  Effective dates of coverage may vary 
depending upon the carrier(s).   
 
NOTE: It is the employee’s responsibility to notify the Management Services 

AdministratorHR/Risk Administrator upon divorce, termination of Domestic 
Partnership, over-age dependent, or any event that changes the status of 
dependency within 31 days from the date of event. 

 
Payment of Premiums –  
Depending upon the type of coverage selected, the monthly insurance premiums for 
eligible employees may be partially or fully paid by MCWD in accordance with the 
applicable MOU and/or authorizing Resolution by the Board of Directors.  Presently, 
MCWD pays the entire premium cost for employee benefit coverage of medical, dental, 
vision, life, accidental death and dismemberment, and short term and long-term 
disability insurance. Employees always pay the monthly insurance premiums for any 
voluntary insurance coverage elected for themselves and/or dependents through 
authorized pre-tax payroll deductions. 

 
Enrollment in MCWD’s health plans is not automatic.  Each new regular, full-time, 
employee will need to complete the appropriate Enrollment Form(s).   
 



 

 74  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

10.0 Medical 
 

MCWD provides medical insurance through a Preferred Provider Organization (PPO).  
Eligibility to enroll is available during the thirty-one (31)-day period after a regular 
employee is hired or a new dependent is acquired, during the annual open-enrollment 
period, after a ninety (90)-day waiting period as a “late enrollee”, or during special 
enrollment circumstances.   
 
If an employee enrolls during the thirty-one (31) days after employment begins, the 
effective date of coverage is the first of the month following date of hire. 
 
10.1 Retiree Health Benefits[GCD38] 
 
At the option of the employee, MCWD will provide continued medical benefits for retired 
MCWD employees provided the minimum requirements established by MCWD are met.  
The requirements shall be as follows:    
            

A. The employee shall be at least fifty-five (55) years of age and have a total of 
twenty (20) years of service with MCWD.  

B. MCWD will pay fifty percent (50%) of the medical insurance cost for the 
employee at retirement who meets the requirements stated in item A above. 

C. All employees who exercise this option and who retire with twenty (20) years 
of service are required to pay fifty percent (50%) of the cost of medical 
insurance and shall make his/her payments on the first of each month after 
retirement.  Any retired employee who fails to make the required payment to 
MCWD shall have all benefits cancelled if not paid within thirty (30) days of 
the due date. 

D. Retirees shall be notified in writing of the amounts owed to MCWD at the time 
of retirement.  The amount paid shall be calculated based on fifty percent 
(50%) of the rates charged by MCWD's insurance carrier at the time of 
retirement.  The employee shall be notified in writing of any changes in the 
amount owed each year. 

 
In the event costs are increased by a carrier, the MCWD will notify the bargaining units 
and will meet and confer on the proposed change. 

 
10.2 Dental 
 
All eligible employees are enrolled in MCWD’s dental plan.  Dependent coverage is 
optional.  This dental program covers several categories of benefits, when the services 
are provided by a licensed dentist and when they are necessary and customary under 
the generally accepted standards of dental practice. 
 



 

 75  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

10.3 Vision 
 
All eligible employees are enrolled in MCWD’s vision plan.  Dependent coverage is 
optional.  Benefits for examination, lenses, frames or contact lenses are provided based 
upon the restrictions of the plan. 
 
10.4 Term Life Insurance and Accidental Death and Dismemberment (AD&D) 
 
MCWD pays the full cost of the premium for term life and AD&D insurance coverage for 
all regular full-time and eligible employees effective on the date of hire.  The face 
amount of life insurance for each eligible employee under the age of seventy (70) shall 
be equal to two (2) times his/her normal gross annual salary up to a maximum of three 
hundred thousand ($300,000).  Accidental death is covered by double indemnity 
(AD&D).  At age seventy (70), Life and AD&D benefits reduce to sixty-seven percent 
(67%) and at age seventy-five (75) are reduced to fifty percent (50%).   

 
10.5 Short-Term Disability (STD)/Long-Term Disability (LTD) 
 
In addition to State Disability Insurance (SDI), MCWD provides, at no cost to the 
employee, a short-term/long-term disability plan that supplements SDI and covers up to 
two-thirds (2/3) of the employee’s base annual salary, subject to provisions of the 
contract with the carrier.  
 
Employees with a non-occupational related illness or injury are eligible for income 
replacement benefits under these plans for the duration of the illness or injury, as 
provided in the policy provisions, however, MCWD will maintain the employee’s position 
for a period not to exceed twelve (12) months. 
 
The terms and conditions of this policy are subject to the provisions of the Family 
Medical Leave Act (FMLA) and the California Family Rights Act (CFRA).  
 
10.6 Continuation of Group Health Insurance (COBRA) 
 
COBRA (the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act) is a federal law that 
requires most employers sponsoring group health plans to offer covered employees and 
qualified beneficiaries the opportunity for a temporary extension of health coverage 
(called “continuation coverage”) in certain instances where coverage under the plan 
would otherwise end.  This extension of coverage is offered at group rates plus an 
administrative fee, the cost of which is fully borne by the employee or beneficiary. 
 
Employees and dependents covered by MCWD’s health insurance plan may have the 
right to choose continuation coverage if they lose group health coverage for certain 
qualifying events which are:  termination of employment, reduction in hours or leave of 
absence, death, divorce or legal separation of an employee, employee’s entitlement to 
Medicare, termination of domestic partnership, or a dependent child who no longer 
meets eligibility requirements.  In order to ensure rights to benefit continuation, it is the 



 

 76  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

employee’s responsibility to notify HR/Risk Administratorthe Management Services 
Administrator in writing within thirty (30) days.  Questions concerning COBRA qualifying 
events and eligibility requirements should be addressed to HR/Risk Administratorthe 
Management Services Administrator. 
 
Certificate of Coverage –  
Under the Health Insurance Portability & Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA), MCWD or 
the benefit provider will provide a certificate of prior insurance coverage whenever an 
employee loses coverage; when a qualifying event occurs; when COBRA coverage 
begins or ends; or upon request by an employee within twenty-four (24) months after 
coverage ends under MCWD’s health insurance plan. 
 
10.7 IRS Section 125 – Flexible Benefits Plan 
 
MCWD sponsors a Section 125 “Flexible Benefits Plan”.  This Plan has three (3) 
components.  As part of the Salary Redirection Plan, employees may use pre-tax 
dollars to pay for all of the employee-paid health premiums.  Employees may also 
choose to direct a portion of salary into an Unreimbursed Medical Expenses Plan and/or 
a Dependent Care Expense Reimbursement Plan.  The Unreimbursed Medical 
Expenses Plan allows employees to redirect up to two thousand five hundred ($2,500) 
each year into a pre-tax account which can be used to reimburse qualified medical 
expenses not covered by the healthcare provider.  Through the Dependent Care 
Expense Reimbursement Plan, employees may elect to receive tax-free 
reimbursements for qualified work-related dependent care expenses regarding the care 
of children age twelve (12) and under and/or elderly or incapacitated dependents to a 
maximum of five thousand dollars ($5,000). 
 
10.8 Retirement Plan 

 
CalPERS Retirement Tiers[GCD39] 
MCWD participates in the California Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS) 
which is a defined benefit retirement program.  MCWD provides the following retirement 
benefits: 
 

Classic Members:  2%@60 
 
New Members:  2%@62 

 
Under the Public Employees’ Pension Reform Act (PEPRA), New Members include: 

• A member who first established CalPERS membership prior to January 1, 2013, 
and who is rehired by a different CalPERS employer after a break in service of 
greater than six months 

• A new hire who is brought into CalPERS membership for the first time on or after 
January 1, 2013, and who has no prior membership in any California public 
retirement system 



 

 77  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

• A new hire who is brought into CalPERS membership for the first time on or after 
January 1, 2013, and who is not eligible for reciprocity with another California 
public retirement system 

 
Enrollment in the CalPERS Plan is automatic for those employees who work a minimum 
of one thousand (1,000) hours per fiscal year.  Vesting in the Plan occurs after five (5) 
years of participation in CalPERS, either with MCWD or based on bridged service from 
another CalPERS participating organization. 
 
Additional information concerning this Plan can be obtained from HR/Risk Administrator. 
 
CalPERS Employee Contributions 
MCWD currently pays one hundred (100)% of employer and employee contributions for 
Classic Members only. 
 
Under Public Employees’ Pension Reform Act (PEPRA), non-Classic Members are 
employees hired after January 1, 2013 and must pay the entire 7% New Members are 
required under PEPRA to pay 50% of normal cost of their CalPERS contribution of their 
CalPERS contribution: 
 
As defined by PEPRA, a new member includes: 

 A member who first established CalPERS membership prior to January 1, 2013, 
and who is rehired by a different CalPERS employer after a break in service of 
greater than six months 

 A new hire who is brought into CalPERS membership for the first time on or after 
January 1, 2013, and who has no prior membership in any California public 
retirement system 

 A new hire who is brought into CalPERS membership for the first time on or after 
January 1, 2013, and who is not eligible for reciprocity with another California 
public retirement system 

 
Social Security/Medicare 
MCWD participates in Social Security and Medicare and pays the employer portions.  
The employee pays the employee cost through payroll deductions, as required by the 
Social Security Administration. 
 
Enrollment in the CalPERS Plan is automatic for those employees who work a minimum 
of one thousand (1,000) hours per fiscal year.  Vesting in the Plan occurs after five (5) 
years of participation in CalPERS, either with MCWD or based on bridged service from 
another CalPERS participating organization. 
 
Additional information concerning this Plan can be obtained from HR/Risk 
Administratorthe Management Services Administrator. 



 

 78  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

 
10.9 Deferred Compensation Plan 
 
MCWD makes available to all regular and probationary employees the opportunity to 
voluntarily participate in a deferred compensation plan which is established in 
accordance with the provisions of Section 457 of the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) 
Code.  Employees may choose from a variety of plans and MCWD retains the right to 
choose which plan or plans will be offered. Under the "savings account" plan, the 
minimum interest rate is negotiated by contract.  Monthly deferrals from the employee's 
pay and all interest earned remain tax deferred until commencement of withdrawal of 
funds.  Funds may be withdrawn at the time of (a) retirement, (b) termination of 
employment, (c) severe, unforeseeable financial hardship, or (d) death.  In addition, a 
loan provision of the plan allows for participants to borrow funds from his/her accounts.   
 
Employees having questions or interest in learning more about the eligibility, investment 
options, contribution limits, loan options, and other features of MCWD’s Deferred 
Compensation Plan should contact the Management Services AdministratorHR/Risk 
Administrator for Plan materials and further information. 
 
10.10 Workers’ Compensation Insurance 
 
All employees are covered by Workers’ Compensation Insurance, effective the first day 
of employment.  Workers’ Compensation Insurance provides employees and/or his/her 
beneficiaries with certain benefits in the event of job-related illness, injury or accidental 
death.  
 
MCWD pays the full cost of this insurance.  If an employee sustains a job-related illness 
or injury, he/she should report the illness or injury to his/her immediate 
supervisor/department head or the Management Services AdministratorHR/Risk 
Administrator the day it occurs or not later than 24 hours after the occurrence.  Failure 
to do so could result in a delay of benefits by the insurance carrier.  
 
All payments for lost wages or salary due to a legitimate job-related illness or injury, 
medical treatment, and any other benefits will be made by the Workers’ Compensation 
Insurance carrier as required by law.  Workers’ Compensation Insurance payments are 
coordinated with any accrued sick, vacation, compensatory or management leave taken 
as part of a medical or disability leave of absence.  Contact the Management Services 
Administrator for more information about Workers’ Compensation Insurance benefits. 
 
MCWD Provided Physician  –  
MCWD provides medical treatment for work-related illnesses or injuries through a pre-
determined clinic that provides medical care to employees.   

 
Employees who are injured in a work-related accident will be referred to the clinic 
assigned for the location, unless MCWD has received a written notice that the 
employee wishes to be treated by his/her own health care provider.  This notification 
must have been submitted to HR/Risk Administratorthe Management Services 



 

 79  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Administrator prior to any illness or injury.  In all cases, an employees may seek 
treatment from his/her own health care provider after thirty (30) days, should he/she so 
desire. 
 
Workers’ Compensation in Coordination with FMLA/CFRA –  
Employees An employee who are is ill or injured as a result of a work-related incident 
and who are is eligible for family and medical leave under state and federal law (Family 
Medical Leave Act and the California Family Rights Act) will be placed on FMLA/CFRA 
during the time the employee is disabled and not released to return to work.  The leave 
under these laws runs concurrently, and eligible employees will be on FMLA/CFRA for a 
maximum of twelve (12) weeks in a continuous twelve (12)-month period. 
 
Workers’ Compensation Fraud –  
California law makes it a crime to knowingly file a false or fraudulent claim for Workers’ 
Compensation benefits, or to knowingly submit false or fraudulent information in 
connection with any Workers’ Compensation claim.  Violation of this law is punishable 
by imprisonment of up to five (5) years, a fine of up to one hundred and fifty thousand 
dollars ($150,000), or both.  Filing a false or fraudulent Workers’ Compensation claim is 
also a violation of MCWD policy, and will result in corrective action, up to and including 
termination. 
 
MCWD’s policy is to investigate all questionable Workers’ Compensation claims and to 
refer them to the Bureau of Fraudulent Claims. 
 
10.11 Unemployment Insurance 
 
MCWD pays the entire cost of this benefit to a State unemployment compensation 
reserve account in accordance with State laws and regulations.  Unemployment 
compensation provides a weekly benefit for a specified period due to a qualifying 
condition of unemployment.  These benefits, and MCWD’s costs, change periodically as 
determined by State law. 
 
Unemployment insurance benefits are not available to employees who voluntarily quit 
without good cause or who are terminated for misconduct.  At the time of employment 
separation, employees will be provided with a booklet published by the Employment 
Development Department (EDD) explaining benefits, eligibility, and claim filing 
procedures. 
 
10.12 Holidays 
 
Regular, full-time employees are eligible for holiday pay from his/herthe date of hire.  
Eligible employees also receive holiday pay, without deduction of a vacation day, 
whenever he/shethe employee is on an approved vacation during which MCWD 
observes a holiday. 
 



 

 80  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Employees who are on an unpaid leave of absence as of the date MCWD observes a 
holiday are not eligible for holiday pay.   
 

• New Year’s Day 
• Martin Luther King Jr. Day 
• Presidents’ Day  
• Memorial Day  
• Independence Day 
• Labor Day 
• Veteran’s Day 
• Thanksgiving Day 
• Day after Thanksgiving Day 
• Working day immediately preceding Christmas Day 
• Christmas Day 
• Floating Holiday – taken at employees’ option with supervisor’s approval 
• Employee’s Birthday – taken at employee’s option within the calendar year 

 
Observed holidays falling on Saturday will be celebrated on Friday; those falling on 
Sunday will be celebrated on Monday.   
 
Employees who work a holiday should refer to Section 7.0 for holiday pay.  
 
Religious Holiday Accommodation – In order to reasonably accommodate the religious 
needs of employees, time off for religious observances that are not scheduled paid 
holidays observed by MCWD may be taken, without pay or through use of accrued 
vacation, compensatory or management leave hours.  Employees must give reasonable 
advance notice to his/hertheir immediate supervisor.  Reasonable notice is considered 
to be a minimum of fourteen (14) consecutive calendar days.   
 
 
10.13 Vacation  
 
MCWD offers paid vacation benefits that, in addition to enjoying opportunities for leisure 
time away from work, may also be used for personal time off due to personal 
appointments, family matters, school activities, religious observances, and other 
personal obligations.  All employees are encouraged and expected to take no less than 
one (1) week or forty (40) hours of vacation annually for rest and relaxation. 
 
Eligibility –  
All regular, full-time employees are eligible to accrue paid vacation leave.  Employees 
who are serving in an initial six (6) month probationary introductory period accrue paid 
vacation but are not eligible to take paid time off unless prior authorization has been 
received from the General Manager or designee. Vacation leave is accrued each pay 
period.  Thereafter, eligible employees accrue vacation benefits to his/hertheir 
anniversary date of in each succeeding year based upon length of continuous service 
with MCWD.  Vacation benefit hours may be discontinued or suspended during certain 



 

 81  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

types and durations of leaves of absence including Military Leave in excess of thirty (30) 
calendar days. 
 
Accrual –  
Based on the length of continuous service, the following vacation accrual schedule shall 
apply.  To be eligible, regular full-time employees must be scheduled to work at least 
thirty- two (32) hours per week.   
 

Length of Service  
(From Employee’s Hire Date) 

Vacation Days Accrued Per Benefit 
Year 

Date of hire through first year  
Beginning of 2nd year – end of 3rd year  
Beginning of 4th year – end of 10th 
year 
Beginning of 11th year onward 

10 days 
11 days 
16 days 
20 days 

 
Maximum Accrual and Unused Vacation –  
Employees are encouraged to use his/her accrued vacation benefits each calendar 
year.  Vacation time is accrued throughout the year and is pro-rated and credited at the 
end of each pay period. Full-time employees may accrue up to a maximum of two 
hundred sixty (260) hours.  Vacation time earned in excess of two hundred sixty (260) 
hours shall be paid during the next following pay period.   
 
Cash-Out –  
Employees may elect to cash out accumulated vacation time provided that the 
employee maintains forty (40) hours of accrued vacation credit.  Cash-out must be done 
in conjunction with a regular paycheck and requested no less than five (5) days before 
the end of a pay period.   
 
Holidays During Vacation –  
If an observed holiday occurs during a scheduled vacation and employees are 
otherwise eligible for holiday pay; such employees will be paid for the holiday rather 
than a vacation day. 
 
Scheduling a Vacation –  
The time at which a regular employee shall take vacation leave shall be determined with 
due regard for the employee’s wishes and particular regard to the service needs of the 
department.  Vacations will be approved if the appropriate section supervisor can 
demonstrate to the department head that sufficient coverage can be maintained during 
the absence.  It is the department head's task to determine the base level of service 
required to meet MCWD’s goals and objectives.  Under extraordinary circumstances, 
MCWD reserves the right to cancel previously approved vacations, unless doing so 
would prove to be an extreme financial hardship to the employee.  In such cases, 
MCWD will reimburse the employee for any committed and non-refundable expenses 
incurred by the employee. 
 



 

 82  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Employees planning vacations exceeding three (3) weeks should give his/hertheir 
immediate supervisor as much advance notice as possible. Under emergency situations 
exceptions may be made with the written endorsement of the appropriate supervisor.  
All vacation leave must be approved by the immediate supervisor prior to use. 
 
Vacation time may be coordinated with other approved absences such as disability, 
family leave, or in observance of a religious holiday.  Vacation pay will be based on the 
employee’s base pay rate in effect at the time such vacation is taken.  It does not 
include overtime or any special forms of compensation such as shift differential, standby 
or other forms of pay otherwise available during normal work schedules.  Payment for 
vacation time will be made on an employee’s regularly scheduled payday. 

 
MCWD reserves the right, if necessary, to designate vacation periods during which 
employees are expected to schedule his/her vacations in order to accommodate overall 
work schedules and/or to ensure employees actually use his/her accrued vacation 
benefits.  MCWD may also direct an employee to take mandatory time off for a specified 
period if conditions warrant. 
 
10.14 Management Leave 
 
Represented employees who are exempt from state and federal overtime requirements 
shall be permitted to take management leave in recognition of the special requirements 
of his/hertheir jobs.  Effective July 15, 2009, management leave shall be accrued on a 
bi-weekly basis at the rate of 3.077 hours per pay period.  The maximum accrual 
allowance for management leave will be eighty (80) hours per fiscal year.  Management 
leave earned by the end of each fiscal year shall be taken within the first quarter of the 
following fiscal year or the leave will be forfeited.[GCD40] 
 
Accrued management leave can be cashed out at the regular rate of pay[GCD41]. 
 
   
 
Any employee with more than eighty (80) hours of earned management leave prior to 
July 15, 2009, will be capped at his/her higher accrued amount and must, by June 30, 
2012, either use or cash out management leave above the maximum accrual. 



 

 83  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Section 11. Leaves of AbsenceLeave (Paid/Unpaid) 
 
11.0 General Information 
 
In accordance with State and Federal regulationsTo the extent required by law, MCWD 
will continue to pay MCWD’s normal employer contribution of the employee employee-
only an employee’s health benefits during any leave of absence protected for the first 
twelve (12) weeks of a disability-related leave of absence under the Family Medical 
Leave Act (FMLA), the California Family Rights Act (CFRA), and or the Pregnancy 
Disability Leave law (PDL) Pregnancy Disability Act (PDA).  [LTR42]The normal MCWD-
paid premiums for benefits for all other unpaid[GCD43] leaves of absence will continue 
only through the end of the month in which the leave begins.  Subject subject to the 
terms, conditions and limitations of the applicable plans for which the employee is 
otherwise eligible, and except where otherwise mandated by State or Federal law.  
Where an employee’s health benefits have been discontinued as a result of an unpaid 
leave of absence, an employee may elect to continue such health benefits under 
COBRA as provided in Section 10.6 of this Handbook.In these cases, if an employee 
wishes to continue health benefits, he/she must elect to continue them under COBRA. 
 
When the employee returns from leave, MCWD will again provide benefits according to 
the applicable plans. 
 
It is the employee's responsibility to ensure that MCWD receives all necessary 
documentation regarding the leave and any subsequent requests for extension.  
Employees absent without leave and those who fail to return to work promptly at the 
end of a leave are considered to have voluntarily resigned his/her positions. 
 
Benefit accruals, such as sick, vacation, management and holiday benefits, will be 
suspended during unpaid leaves, and will resume upon the employee's return to active 
employment.  Employee performance and wage and salary review dates will also be 
adjusted by the total amount of time taken for leaves of absence exceeding thirty (30) 
consecutive calendar days. 
 
MCWD will attempt to accommodate employees returning to work from injuries, 
illnesses or other disabilities with short-term “modified duty” assignments when 
practical.  Please refer to Section 17 for accommodation process. Such 
accommodations may be made depending upon the extent and nature of the work 
restrictions imposed by the health care provider, the anticipated duration of the 
restrictions, the availability of modified duty assignments, and other relevant 
considerations.  
 
Instances may exist where two (2) or more leave of absence policies provide 
overlapping protection for eligible employees.  It is the intention of MCWD’s policies to 
limit employees to the time available under the single most favorable leave of absence 
policy and to prevent employees from exceeding the limitations of that policy.  This 
means that all leaves of absence run concurrently as to the extent provided by law. 



 

 84  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

 
The leave shall be unpaid except that an employee may elect to be paid by using any 
accrued sick leave, compensatory, vacation, or management leave benefits.  The 
substitution of paid leave does not extend the total duration of FMLA/CFRA/PDL to 
which an employee is entitled beyond twelve (12) weeks in a twelve (12)-month 
period.[LTR44] 
 
Accordingly, any leave of absence that is taken by an employee under any policy that 
could have been taken under any other policy of MCWD (if the employee had requested 
to do so) shall be credited against the maximum limit on leaves established in each of 
the policies that provided the employee a basis to request a leave of absence. 
 
All leave requests should be submitted and approved in advance.  See the 
Management Services AdministratorHR/Risk Administrator for appropriate forms and 
specific information.  When leaves are foreseeable, the employee must provide at least 
thirty (30) days advance notice.  If the leave is not foreseeable, the employee must 
provide notice as soon as practicable.   
 
11.1 Family and Medical Care Leaves (FMLA/CFRA) 

Policy Statements  

To the extent not already provided for under current leave policies and provisions, the 
Marina Coast Water District (District) will provide family and medical care leave for 
eligible employees as required by State and Federal Law.  The following provisions set 
forth certain of the rights and obligations with respect to such leave.  Rights and 
obligations which are not specifically set forth below are set forth in the Department of 
Labor regulations implementing the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 
(“FMLA”), and the regulation of the California Family Rights Act (“CFRA”).  Unless 
otherwise provided by this article, “Leave” under this article shall mean leave pursuant 
to the FMLA and CFRA.  

Definitions  

A. “12‐Month Period” means a 12‐month period measured backwards from the date 
FMLA leave begins.  

B. “Single 12-month period” means a 12-month period which begins on the first day 
the eligible employee takes FMLA military caregiver leave and ends 12 months 
after that date. 

C. “Child” means a biological, adopted, foster or step‐child, legal ward, or a child of 
a person standing in “loco parentis” (in place of a parent) who is a child under the 
age of 18 years of age, or 18 years of age or older who is incapable of self‐care 
because of a mental or physical disability (there is no age limit for military 
family/qualifying exigency leave).  



 

 85  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

D. A child is “incapable of self‐care” if he/she requires active assistance or 
supervision to provide daily self‐care in three or more of the activities of daily 
living or instrumental activities of daily living, such as, caring for grooming and 
hygiene, bathing, dressing, eating, cooking, cleaning, shopping, taking public 
transportation, paying bills, maintaining a residence, using telephones and 
directories, etc.  

E. “Parent” means the biological parent of an employee or an individual who stands 
or stood in loco parentis (in place of a parent) to an employee when the 
employee was a child.  This term does not include parents‐in‐law.   

F. “Spouse” means a husband or wife as defined or recognized under California 
State Law for purposes of marriage.  “Spouse” also includes registered domestic 
partners and same-sex partners in marriage. 

G. “Domestic Partner” is defined by the California Domestic Partner Rights and  

H. Responsibilities Act (Family Code §§ 297 and 299.2) and shall have the same 
meaning as “Spouse” for purposes of CFRA Leave..  

I.  “Serious health condition” means an illness, injury impairment, or physical or 
mental condition that involves:  

1. Inpatient Care (i.e., an overnight stay) in a hospital, hospice, or residential 
medical care facility, including any period of incapacity (i.e., inability to work, 
or perform other regular daily activities due to the serious health condition, 
treatment involved, or recovery therefrom); or any subsequent treatment in 
connection with such inpatient care; A person is considered an “inpatient” 
when a health care facility formally admits him or her to the facility with the 
expectation that he or she will remain at least overnight, even if it later 
develops that such person can be discharged or transferred to another 
facility, and does not actually remain overnight; or   

2. Continuing treatment by a health care provider: A serious health condition 
involving continuing treatment by a health care provider includes any one or 
more of the following:  

a. A period of incapacity (i.e., inability to work, attend school or perform other 
regular daily activities due to the serious health condition, treatment or 
recovery) of more than three full consecutive calendar days, and any 
subsequent treatment or period of incapacity relating to the same 
condition, that also involves:  

i. Treatment two or more times within 30 days of the first day of 
incapacity, unless extenuating circumstances exist, by a health 
care provider, by a nurse or physician’s assistant under direct 
supervision of a health care provider, or by a provider of health care 
services (e.g., a physical therapist) under orders of, or on referral 



 

 86  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

by, a health care provider.  The first in-person treatment visit must 
take place within seven days of the first day of incapacity; or  

ii. Treatment by a health care provider on at least one occasion which 
results in a regimen of continuing treatment under the supervision 
of the health care provider.  This includes for example, a course of 
prescription medication or therapy requiring special equipment to 
resolve or alleviate the health condition.  If the medication is over 
the counter, and can be initiated without a visit to a health care 
provider, it is not, by itself, sufficient to constitute a regimen of 
continuing treatment. 

b. Any period of incapacity due to pregnancy or for prenatal care. (This 
entitles the employee to FMLA Leave, but not CFRA Leave.) (The right to 
take Family & Medical Care Leave is separate from the right to take 
pregnancy disability leave.  State law allows an employee to take up to 
four months of pregnancy disability leave. If an employee exhausts her 
pregnancy disability leave prior to the birth of the child, and her physician 
certifies that continued leave is medically necessary, the employee may 
use Family & Medical Care Leave prior to the birth of the child.  The 
maximum possible combined leave for pregnancy disability/CFRA/FMLA 
is four months and 12 workweeks.)    

c. Any period of incapacity or treatment for such incapacity due to a chronic 
serious health condition.  A chronic serious health condition is one which:  

i. Requires periodic visits for treatment by a health care provider, or 
by a nurse or physician’s assistant under direct supervision of a 
health care provider; 

ii. Continues over an extended period of time (including recurring 
episodes of a single underlying condition); and 

iii. May cause episodic rather than a continuing period of incapacity 
(e.g., asthma, diabetes, epilepsy, etc.).  Absences for such 
incapacity qualify for leave even if the absence lasts less than one 
day. 

d. A period of incapacity which is permanent or long‐term due to a condition 
for which treatment may not be effective.  The employee or family member 
must be under the continuing supervision of, but need not be receiving 
active treatment by a health care provider. Examples include Alzheimer's 
disease, a severe stroke or the terminal stages of a disease.   

e. Any period of absence to receive multiple treatments (including any period 
of recovery therefrom) by a health care provider or by a provider of health 
care services under orders of, or on referral by, a health care provider, 



 

 87  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

either for restorative surgery after an accident or other injury, or for a 
condition that would likely result in a period of incapacity of more than 
three consecutive calendar days in the absence of medical intervention or 
treatment, such as cancer (chemotherapy, radiation, etc.), severe arthritis 
(physical therapy) or, kidney disease (dialysis).  

J. “Health Care Provider” means:  

1. A doctor of medicine or osteopathy who is authorized to practice medicine or 
surgery (as appropriate) by the state in which the doctor practices; or  

2. Any other person determined by the U.S. Secretary of Labor to be capable of 
providing health care services.  

3. Others "capable of providing health care services" as determined by the U.S. 
Secretary of Labor include only:  

a. Podiatrists, dentists, clinical psychologist, optometrists, and chiropractors 
(limited to treatment consisting of manual manipulation of the spine to 
correct a subluxation as demonstrated by X‐ray to exist) authorized to 
practice in the state and performing within the scope of their practice as 
defined under state law;  

b. Nurse practitioners, nurse‐midwives, physician’s assistants and clinical 
social workers who are authorized to practice under state law and who are 
performing within the scope of their practice as defined under state law;  

c. Christian Science practitioners listed with the First Church of Christ, 
Scientist in Boston, Massachusetts.  Where an employee or family 
member is receiving treatment from a Christian Science practitioner, an 
employee may not object to any requirement from an employer that the 
employee or family member submit to examination (though not treatment) 
to obtain a second or third certification from a health care provider other 
than a Christian Science practitioner except as otherwise provided under 
applicable state or local law or collective bargaining agreement.   

d. Any health care provider from whom an employer or the employer's group 
health plan's benefits manager will accept certification of the existence of 
a serious health condition to substantiate a claim for benefits; and  

e. A health care provider listed above who practices in a country other than 
the United States, who is performing within the scope of his or her practice 
as defined under such law and who is authorized to practice in 
accordance with the law of that country.  

f. The phrase "authorized to practice in the state" as used in this section 
means that the provider must be authorized to diagnose and treat physical 



 

 88  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

or mental health conditions without supervision by a doctor or other health 
care provider.  

K. “Qualifying Exigency” means a need to take military family leave arising out of 
the fact that the spouse, son, daughter, or parent of the employee is on active 
duty (or has been notified of an impending call or order to active duty) in the 
Armed Forces in support of a contingency operation.  This is intended to assist 
families with non‐medical needs such as:  

1. Short‐notice deployment  

2. Military events and related activities (before or during deployment)  

3. Childcare and school activities (e.g., arrange for alternate childcare)  

4. Financial and legal arrangements  

5. Counseling (non‐medical for oneself, the service member, or child)  

6. Rest and recuperation (up to 5 days for each)  

7. Post‐deployment activities (ceremonies or briefings)  

8. Additional activities agreed to by the employer and employee  

L. “Covered active duty” means:   

1. In the case of a member of a regular component of the Armed Forces, duty 
during the deployment of the member with the Armed Forces to a foreign 
country, or  

2. In the case of a member of a reserve component of the Armed Forces, duty 
during the deployment of member of the Armed Forces to a foreign country 
under a call or order to active duty under certain specified provisions. 

M. “Covered Servicemember” means  

1. A current member of the Armed Forces, including a member of the National 
Guard or Reserves, who is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation, or 
therapy, is otherwise in outpatient status, or is otherwise on the temporary 
disability retired list, for a serious injury or illness; or  

2. A veteran who is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy, for 
a serious injury or illness and who was a member of the Armed Forces, 
including a member of the National Guard or Reserves, at any time during the 
period of five years preceding the date on which the veteran undergoes that 
medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy. 



 

 89  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

N. “Outpatient Status” means, with respect to a covered servicemember, the status 
of a member of the Armed Forces assigned to either:   

1. A military medical treatment facility as an outpatient; or  

2. A unit established for the purpose of providing command and control of 
members of the Armed Forces receiving medical care as outpatients. 

O. “Next of Kin of a Covered Servicemember” means the nearest blood relative 
other than the covered servicemember’s spouse, parent, son, or daughter, in the 
following order of priority:  Blood relatives who have been granted legal custody 
of the covered servicemember by court decree or statutory provisions, brothers 
and sisters, grandparents, aunts and uncles, and first cousins, unless the 
covered servicemember has specifically designated in writing another blood 
relative as his or her nearest blood relative for purposes of military caregiver 
leave under the FMLA. 

P. “Serious Injury or Illness” means:   

1. In the case of a member of the Armed Forces, including a member of the 
National Guard or Reserves, means an injury or illness that was incurred by 
the member in the line of duty on active duty in the Armed Forces (or existed 
before the beginning of the member’s active duty and was aggravated by 
service in the line of duty on active duty in the Armed Forces) and that may 
render the member medically unfit to perform the duties of the member’s 
office, grade, rank, or rating; or  

2. In the case of a veteran who was a member of the Armed Forces, including a 
member of the National Guard or Reserves, at any time during the period of 
five years preceding the date on which the veteran undergoes that medical 
treatment, recuperation, or therapy, means a qualifying injury or illness that 
was incurred by the member in the line of duty on active duty in the Armed 
Forces (or existed before the beginning of the member’s active duty and was 
aggravated by service in the line of duty on active duty in the Armed Forces) 
and that manifested itself before or after the member became a veteran. 

Reasons for Leave  

Leave is only permitted for the following reasons:  

A. The birth of a child or to care for a newborn of an employee;  

B. The placement of a child with an employee in connection with the adoption or 
foster care of a child;  

C. Leave to care for a child, parent, spouse, or domestic partner who has a serious 
health condition; or  



 

 90  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

D. Leave because of a serious health condition that makes the employee unable to 
perform the functions of his/her position.  

E. Leave due to a qualifying exigency arising out of the fact that an employee’s 
spouse/domestic partner, son/daughter, or parent is a covered military member 
on active duty or has been notified of an impending call or order to active duty 
status (under FMLA only, not CFRA).  

F. Leave to care for an employee’s spouse/domestic partner, son/daughter, parent, 
or next of kin who is a covered service member with a serious injury or illness 
incurred in the line of duty while on active military duty or existed before the 
beginning of the member’s active duty and was aggravated by service in the line 
of duty on active duty in the Armed Forces (“Military Caregiver Leave”).  This 
leave can run up to 26 weeks of unpaid leave during a single 12-month period.  
(under the FMLA only, not the CFRA). 

Employees who misuse or abuse FMLA leave may be disciplined up to and including 
termination.  An employee who fraudulently obtains or uses CFRA leave is not 
protected by the CFRA’s job restoration or maintenance of health benefits provisions. 

Employees Eligible for Leave  

An employee is eligible for leave if the employee:  

A. Has been employed for at least 12 months; and   

B. Has been employed for at least 1,250 hours during the 12‐month period 
immediately preceding the commencement of the leave.  

Amount of Leave  

Eligible employees are entitled to a total of 12 workweeks (or 26 weeks for military 
caregiver leave) of leave during any 12‐month period.  Where FMLA leave qualifies as 
both military caregiver leave and care for a family member with a serious health 
condition, the leave will be designated as military caregiver leave first. 

A. Minimum Duration of Leave  

If leave is requested for the birth, adoption or foster care placement of a child of 
the employee, leave must be concluded within one year of the birth or placement 
of the child.  In addition, unless otherwise approved by the employee's 
department head, the basic minimum duration of such leave is two weeks.  
However, an employee is entitled to leave for one of these purposes (e.g., 
bonding with a newborn) for a duration of at least one day but less than two 
weeks on any two occasions.  

If leave is requested to care for a child, parent, spouse, domestic partner or the 
employee him/herself with a serious health condition, there is no minimum 



 

 91  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

amount of leave that must be taken.  However, the notice and medical 
certification provisions of this policy must be complied with.  

B. Parents Both Employed by the District  

In any case in which both parents are both employed by the District are entitled 
to leave, the aggregate number of workweeks of CFRA leave to which both may 
be entitled may be limited to 12 workweeks during any 12‐month period if leave 
is taken for the birth or placement for adoption or foster care of the employees’ 
child (i.e., bonding leave).   

In any case in which a husband and wife both employed by the District are 
entitled to leave, the aggregate number of workweeks of leave to which both may 
be entitled may be limited to 26 workweeks during any 12-month period if leave 
is taken for military caregiver leave under FMLA. 

Except as noted above, this limitation does not apply to any other type of leave 
under this policy.  

Employee Benefits While on Leave  

Leave under this policy is unpaid.  While on leave, employees will continue to be 
covered by the District’s group health insurance to the same extent that coverage is 
provided while the employee is on the job for up to 12 weeks each leave year (or 26 
weeks for military caregiver leave).  If the employee is disabled by pregnancy, coverage 
will continue to be covered for up to 4 months each leave year.  In the event an 
employee is disabled by pregnancy and also uses CFRA leave, District will maintain the 
employee’s health benefits while the employee is disabled by pregnancy (up to four 
months or 17 weeks) and during the employee’s CFRA leave (up to 12 weeks). 
Employees are responsible for group health insurance benefit premiums on the same 
basis as employees not on leave.   

However, employees will not continue to be covered under the District’s non-health 
benefit plan while on leave.  Employees may make the appropriate contributions for 
continued coverage under the preceding non‐health benefit plans by payroll deductions 
or direct payments made to these plans.  Depending on the particular plan, the District 
will inform you whether the premiums should be paid to the carrier or to the District.   

Your coverage on a group health insurance plan may be dropped if you are more than 
30 days late in making a premium payment.  However, you will receive a notice at least 
15 days before coverage is to cease, advising you that you will be dropped if your 
premium payment is not paid by a certain date.  Employee contribution rates are subject 
to any change in rates that occurs while the employee is on leave.   

If an employee fails to return to work after his/her leave entitlement has been exhausted 
or expires, the District shall have the right to recover its share of health plan premiums 
for the entire leave period, unless the employee does not return because of the 
continuation, recurrence, or onset of a serious health condition of the employee or his/ 



 

 92  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

her family member which would entitle the employee to leave, or because of 
circumstances beyond the employee’s control.  The District shall have the right to 
recover premiums through deduction from any sums due the employee (e.g. unpaid 
wages, sick, vacation pay, etc.).  

Substitution of Paid Accrued Leaves  

While on leave under this policy, as set forth herein, an employee may elect to 
concurrently use paid accrued leaves.  Similarly, the District may require an employee 
to concurrently use paid accrued leaves after requesting FMLA and/or CFRA leave, and 
may also require an employee to use Family and Medical Care Leave concurrently with 
a non‐FMLA/CFRA leave which is FMLA/CFRA qualifying.   

If an employee is receiving a paid benefit (e.g., State Disability Insurance or workers’ 
compensation), the employee is not considered to be on an unpaid leave, and an 
employee may, at his/her option, coordinate the use of paid time off, sick leave, or 
accrued vacation up to his/her regular salary amount. 

A. Employee Right to Use Paid Accrued Leaves Concurrently with FMLA/CFRA 
Leave  

Where an employee has earned or accrued vacation, management leave, 
floating holidays, or compensatory time, that paid leave may be substituted for all 
or part of any (otherwise) unpaid leave under this policy. 

As for sick leave, an employee may elect or the District may require an employee 
to use accrued sick leave only if: 

1. The leave is for the employee’s own serious health condition; or 

2. The leave is for another reason mutually agreed upon between the District 
and the employee. 

If the District and the employee do not “mutually agree” to allow use of accrued 
sick leave to care for a family member, the District may still be required to allow 
the employee to use some sick leave for the employee to care for a family 
member with a serious health condition pursuant to the Protected Sick Leave law 
under Labor Code section 233 and the California Paid Sick Leave Law. 

An employee receiving Paid Family Leave to care for the serious health condition 
of a family member or to bond with a new child is not on “unpaid leave.”  
Therefore the District may not require the employee to use the paid time off, sick 
leave, or accrued vacation. 

B. The District’s Right to Require an Employee to Use Paid Leave When Using 
FMLA/CFRA Leave   



 

 93  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Employees who otherwise would be on an unpaid leave of absence must 
exhaust their accrued leaves (including accrued vacation, management leave, 
sick leave, floating holidays, and compensatory time) concurrently with 
FMLA/CFRA leave to the same extent that employees have the right to use their 
accrued leaves concurrently with FMLA/CFRA leave as noted above.  

Medical Certification  

Employees who request leave for their own serious health condition or to care for a 
child, parent, spouse, or domestic partner who has a serious health condition, must 
provide written certification from the health care provider of the individual requiring care 
if requested by the District.  

If the leave is requested because of the employee’s own serious health condition, the 
certification must include a statement that the employee is unable to work at all or is 
unable to perform the essential functions of his/her position.  

Employees who request military caregiver leave for a child, spouse, parent, or “next of 
kin” of the employee must provide written certification from a health care provider 
regarding the injured servicemember’s serious injury or illness. 

The first time an employee requests leave because of a qualifying exigency, an 
employer may require the employee to provide a copy of the military member’s active 
duty orders or other documentation issued by the military which indicates that the 
military member is on covered active duty or call to active duty status in a foreign 
country, and the dates of the military member’s active duty service.  A copy of new 
active duty orders or similar documentation shall be provided to the employer if the 
need for leave because of a qualifying exigency arises out of a different active duty or 
call to active duty status of the same or a different military member. 

A. Time to Provide a Certification  

When an employee’s leave is foreseeable and at least 30 days’ notice has been 
provided, if a medical certification is requested, the employee must provide it 
before the leave begins.  When this is not possible, the employee must provide 
the requested certification to the District within the time frame requested by the 
District (which must allow at least 15 calendar days after the employer’s request), 
unless it is not practicable under the particular circumstances to do so despite 
the employee’s diligent, good faith efforts.  

B. Consequences for Failure to Provide an Adequate or Timely Certification  

If an employee provides an incomplete medical certification, the employee will be 
given a reasonable opportunity to cure any such deficiency.  

However, if an employee fails to provide a medical certification within the time 
frame established by this policy, the District may delay the taking of FMLA/CFRA 
leave until the required certification is provided.   



 

 94  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

C. Second and Third Medical Opinions  

If the District has reason to doubt the validity of a certification for an employee’s 
serious health condition, the District may require a medical opinion of a second 
health care provider chosen and paid for by the District.  If the second opinion is 
different from the first, the District may require the opinion of a third provider 
jointly approved by the District and the employee, but paid for by the District.  
The opinion of the third provider will be binding.  An employee may request a 
copy of the health care provider’s opinions when there is a recertification.  

D. Intermittent Leave or Leave on a Reduced Leave Schedule  

If an employee requests leave intermittently (a few days or hours at a time) or on 
a reduced leave schedule to care for an immediate family member with a serious 
health condition, the employee must provide medical certification that such leave 
is medically necessary.  “Medically necessary” means there must be a medical 
need for the leave and that the leave can best be accomplished through an 
intermittent or reduced leave schedule.   

Employee Notice of Leave and District Designation of Leave  

Although the District recognizes that emergencies arise which may require employees 
to request immediate leave, employees are required to give as much notice as possible 
of their need for leave.  If leave is foreseeable, at least 30 days’ notice is required.  In 
addition, if an employee knows that he/she will need leave in the future, but does not 
know the exact date(s) (e.g. for the birth of a child or to take care of a newborn), the 
employee shall inform his/her supervisor as soon as possible that such leave will be 
needed.  Such notice may be given orally. If the District determines that an employee’s 
notice is inadequate or the employee knew about the requested leave in advance of the 
request, the District may delay the granting of the leave up to 30 days until it can, in its 
discretion, adequately cover the position with a substitute.  Calling in “sick” without 
providing the reasons for the needed leave will not be considered sufficient notice for 
FMLA leave under this policy.  

If an employee takes a leave of absence for any reason which is FMLA/CFRA-
qualifying, the District may designate that non-FMLA/CFRA leave as running 
concurrently with the employee’s 12-week FMLA/CFRA leave entitlement.   

If an employee requests to utilize accrued vacation leave or other accrued paid time off, 
other than accrued sick leave, without reference to a FMLA/CFRA-qualifying purpose, 
the District may not ask the employee if the leave is for a FMLA/CFRA-qualifying 
purpose.  However, if the District denies the employee’s request and the employee 
provides information that the requested time off is for a FMLA/CFRA-qualifying purpose, 
the District may inquire further into the reason for the absence.  If the reason is 
FMLA/CFRA-qualifying, the District may require the employee to exhaust accrued leave 
as described above. 

Reinstatement Upon Return From Leave  



 

 95  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

A. Right to Reinstatement  

Upon expiration of leave, an employee is entitled to be reinstated to the position 
of employment held when the leave commenced, or to an equivalent position 
with equivalent employment benefits, pay, and other terms and conditions of 
employment.  Employees have no greater rights to reinstatement, benefits and 
other conditions of employment than if the employee had been continuously 
employed during the FMLA/CFRA period.  

If a definite date of reinstatement has been agreed upon at the beginning of the 
leave, the employee will be reinstated on the date agreed upon.  If the 
reinstatement date differs from the original agreement of the employee and 
District, the employee will be reinstated within two business days, where feasible, 
after the employee notifies the employer of his/her readiness to return.  

B. Employee’s Obligation to Periodically Report on His/Her Condition  

Employees may be required to periodically report on their status and intent to 
return to work.  This will avoid any delays to reinstatement when the employee is 
ready to return.   

C. Fitness for Duty Certification  

As a condition of reinstatement of an employee whose leave was due to the 
employee’s own serious health condition, which made the employee unable to 
perform his/her job, the employee must obtain and present a fitness‐for‐duty 
certification from the health care provider that the employee is able to resume 
work.  This requirement does not apply to employees returning from an 
intermittent leave.  Failure to provide such certification will result in denial of 
reinstatement.  

D. Reinstatement of “Key Employees”  

The District may deny reinstatement to a “key” employee (i.e., an employee who 
is among the highest paid 10 percent of all employed by the District) if such 
denial is necessary to prevent substantial and grievous economic injury to the 
operations of the District, and the employee is notified of the District’s intent to 
deny reinstatement on such basis at the time the employer determines that such 
injury would occur.  

Worker's Compensation and Family And Medical Care Leave Coordination  

Family and Medical Care Leave will be designated by the District when an employee 
qualifies for such leave as a result of a District work‐related injury or illness.    

Required Forms  



 

 96  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Employees must fill out the applicable forms in connection with leave under this policy, 
and may receive all applicable forms through the District’s HR department. 
MCWD provides family leave time to eligible employees as required under the federal 
Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) and the California Family Rights Act (CFRA).  To 
be eligible, employees must: 
 

• Have more than twelve (12) months of service 
• Have worked at least one thousand two hundred-fifty (1,250) hours during 

the previous twelve (12)-month period before the date the leave is to begin 
• Exceptions to these eligibility standards include, at the employer’s choice, 

the five (5) most highly compensated employees in the covered 
organization 

 
An eligible employee is entitled to up to a total of twelve (12) workweeks of unpaid leave 
during any twelve (12)-month period for the following reasons: 
 

• Birth of the employee’s child, or placement of a child with the employee for 
adoption or foster care (FMLA/CFRA); 

• To care for the employee’s spouse, child or parent who has a serious 
health condition (FMLA/CFRA); 

• To care for the employee’s registered domestic partner (CFRA only); 
• For a serious health condition that makes the employee unable to perform 

his/her job (FMLA/CFRA); 
• For any “qualifying exigency” (defined by federal regulation) because the 

employee is the spouse, son, daughter, or parent of an individual on active 
military duty (or has been notified of an impending call or order to active 
duty) in the Armed Forces in support of a contingency operation (FMLA 
only); or 

• An employee who is the spouse, son, daughter, parent or next of kin of a 
covered military service member who is undergoing medical treatment, 
recuperation therapy, or is on the temporary disability list for a serious 
illness or injury, shall be entitled to a total of twenty-six (26) workweeks of 
leave during a twelve (12)-month period. 

  
11.2 Calculating the 12-month period 
 
The twelve (12)-month period is measured forward from the date the leave begins.  
Successive twelve (12)-month periods commence on the date of an employee’s first use 
of such leave after the preceding twelve (12)-month period has ended. 
 
Under most circumstances, leave under federal and state law will run at the same time 
and the eligible employee will be entitled to a total of twelve (12)-weeks of family and 
medical leave in the designated twelve (12)-month period. 
 



 

 97  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

For a qualifying exigency or leave to care for a covered military service member, the 
twelve (12)-month period begins on the first day of the leave, regardless of how the 
twelve (12)-month period is calculated for other leaves.   
 
Employees are not required to provide private health information and/or diagnoses, but 
must provide satisfactory documentation as to the need for the leave.   
 
11.32 Pregnancy/Childbirth (Pregnancy Disability Leave - (PDL)[GCD45] 
 
Pregnancy Disability Leave and Accommodations Available 
 
Any employee with appropriate doctor certification may request accommodations, up to 
and including an unpaid leave of absence for up to four months (defined as 17 and 1/3 
weeks), due to conditions related to pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions.  
The District will provide such accommodations unless the requested accommodations 
would constitute an undue hardship. 
 
Upon the request of an employee and recommendation of the employee’s physician, the 
employee’s work assignment may be changed if necessary to protect the health and 
safety of the employee and her child.  Requests for transfers of job duties will be 
reasonably accommodated if the job and security rights of others are not breached.  
Temporary transfers due to health considerations will be granted when possible.  
However, the transferred employee will receive the pay that accompanies the job, as is 
the case with any other temporary transfer due to temporary health reasons. 
 
The duration of a pregnancy disability leave will be determined by the advice of the 
employee’s physician, but employees disabled by pregnancy may take up to four 
months.  Any additional leave needed by an employee beyond the four months provided 
under Pregnancy Disability Leave will only be provided as a reasonable accommodation 
of the individual’s disability as required otherwise under state and federal laws. The four 
months of leave includes any period of time for actual disability caused by the 
employee’s pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical condition.  This includes leave for 
severe morning sickness and for prenatal care. 
 
Leave taken under the pregnancy disability policy runs concurrently with family and 
medical leave under federal law (FMLA), but not family and medical leave under 
California law (CFRA).   
 
Required Procedures for Requesting PDL Leave 
 
Any female employee planning to take pregnancy disability leave should advise the 
personnel department as early as possible.  The individual should make an appointment 
with the HR Department to discuss the following conditions: 
 

• Employees who need to take pregnancy disability leave must inform District 
when a leave is expected to begin and how long it will likely last.  If the need for a 



 

 98  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

leave or transfer is foreseeable, employees must provide notification at least 30 
days before the pregnancy disability leave or transfer is to begin.  Employees 
must consult with the HR Department regarding the scheduling of any planned 
medical treatment or supervision in order to minimize disruption to the operations 
of the District.  Any such scheduling is subject to the approval of the employee’s 
health care provider; 

 
• If 30 days’ advance notice is not possible, notice must be given as soon as 

practical; 
 

• Pregnancy leave usually begins when ordered by the employee’s physician.  The 
employee must provide District with a certification from a health care provider.  
The certification indicating disability should contain: 

 
o The date on which the employee became disabled due to pregnancy; 

 
o The probable duration of the period or periods of disability; and 

 
o A statement that, due to the disability, the employee is unable to perform 

one or more of the essential functions of her position without undue risk to 
herself, the successful completion of her pregnancy, or to other persons 

 
• Leave does not need to be taken in one continuous period of time and may be 

taken intermittently, as needed; 
 
Compensation During PDL Leave 
 
PDL leave provided by the District is an unpaid leave of absence.  A pregnant employee 
may be entitled to disability insurance payments through the California Employment 
Development Department (EDD) depending on their evaluation of your medical 
condition.  A pregnant employee should contact the local EDD office for more 
information on eligibility for pregnancy disability insurance.   
 
An employee will be required to use accrued sick time during an eligible pregnancy 
disability leave unless the employee is receiving paid disability benefits from a third 
party at the same time (such as the EDD), therefore allowing the employee the option of 
using accrued sick time benefits concurrently.  An employee will be allowed to use 
accrued vacation, management leave, floating holidays, or compensatory time 
(separate from the use of any sick leave) during an eligible pregnancy disability leave; 
 
Benefits During PDL Leave 
 
If you take pregnancy disability leave , the District will maintain group health insurance 
coverage for up to a maximum of four (4) months if such insurance was provided before 
the leave was taken on the same terms as if you had continued to work.  In some 
instances, the District may recover premiums it paid to maintain health coverage for you 



 

 99  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

if you fail to return to work following pregnancy disability leave.  Employees should 
contact the HR Department for further information.  
 
Job Reinstatement Following PDL Leave 
 
Under most circumstances, upon submission of a medical certification that an employee 
is able to return to work from a pregnancy disability leave, an employee will be 
reinstated to her same position held at the time the leave began or to an equivalent 
position, if available.  An employee returning from a pregnancy disability leave has no 
greater right to reinstatement than if the employee had been continuously employed.  
Leave returns will be allowed only when the employee’s physician sends a release 
allowing the employee to return to work. 
 
Leave because of the employee’s disability for pregnancy, childbirth or related medical 
condition is not counted as time used under California law (CFRA).  Time off because of 
pregnancy disability, childbirth or related medical condition does count as family and 
medical leave under federal law (FMLA).  Employees who take time off for pregnancy 
disability and who are eligible for family and medical leave will also be placed on family 
and medical leave that runs at the same time as the PDL.  Once the pregnant employee 
is no longer disabled, she may apply for leave under the CFRA, for purposes of baby 
bonding. 
 
Duration of the leave will be determined by the advice of the employee’s health care 
provider, but employees disabled by pregnancy may take up to seventeen and a third 
(17 1/3) weeks)four (4) months.  The four (4) months of leave includes any period of 
time for actual disability caused by the employee’s pregnancy, childbirth, or related 
medical condition.  This includes leave for severe morning sickness,  and prenatal care, 
postnatal care, post partum depression, and disability due to the loss or end of 
pregnancy.  If you have any questions or concerns as to whether a condition falls under 
the PDL, please contact the Management Services AdministratorHR/Risk 
Administrator... 
 
 
Any leave taken for the birth, adoption, or foster care placement of a child does not 
have to be taken in one (1) continuous period of time.  CFRA leave taken for the birth or 
placement of a child will be granted in minimum amounts of two (2) weeks.  However, 
MCWD will grant a request for a CFRA leave (for birth/placement of a child) of less than 
two (2) weeks’ duration on any two (2) occasions.  Any leave taken must be concluded 
within one (1) year of the birth or placement of the child with the employee. 
 
Upon the request of an employee and documented recommendation of the employee’s 
health care provider, an employee’s work assignment may be changed if necessary to 
protect the health and safety of the employee and her child.  Requests for transfers of 
job duties will be reasonably accommodated, if possible, if the job and security rights of 
others are not breached.  Temporary transfers, due to health considerations will be 
granted when possible.  However, the transferred employee will receive the pay that 



 

 100  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

accompanies the job, as is the case with any other temporary transfer due to temporary 
health reasons.   
 
MCWD will notify an employee in writing when a medical certification is required for the 
reasonable accommodation or transfer.  The notification should contain: 
 

 A description of the requested reasonable accommodation or transfer. 
 A statement that describes the medical advisability of the reasonable 

accommodation or transfer because of pregnancy. 
 The date on which the need for reasonable accommodation or transfer 

became/will become medically advisable and the estimated duration of the 
reasonable accommodation or transfer. 

 
Employees will be allowed to use accrued sick, vacation, compensatory or management 
leave during a PDL.   
 
Employees may return from a PDL only when the employee’s health care provider 
endorses a release that must be submitted to HR/Risk Administratorthe Management 
Services Administrator. 
 
11.43 Requesting a Leave[GCD46] 
 
The following applies when an employee makes a request for FMLA/CFRA or PDL: 
 
Employees should contact the Management Services AdministratorHR/Risk 
Administrator as soon as he/she becomes aware of the need for leave.  If the leave is 
based on the expected birth, placement for adoption or foster care, or planned medical 
treatment for a serious health condition of the employee or a family member, the 
employee must provide at least thirty (30) days notice before the leave is to begin.  The 
employee should consult with his/her immediate supervisor regarding scheduling of any 
planned medical treatment or supervision.  Any such scheduling is subject to the health 
care provider of the employee or the health care provider of the employee’s child, 
parent, or spouse.  If the employee cannot provide thirty (30) days’ notice, MCWD 
should be informed as soon as practical. 
 
Employees are expected to provide certification of the need for leave from the health 
care provider within fifteen (15) days of any request for FMLA/CFRA/PDL. If certification 
is not received, the leave may be delayed or denied according to the state and federal 
rules of FMLA/CFRA/PDL.  Certification should contain the following information: 
 

● Date of commencement of the serious health condition; 
● Probable duration of the condition; 
● Inability of the employee to work at all or perform any one (1) or more of 

the essential functions of his/her position because of the serious health 
condition; 

● Estimated amount of time for care by the health care provider; 



 

 101  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

● Confirmation that the serious health condition of a family member warrants 
the participation of the employee. 

 
Before an employee is allowed to return to duty, a release from the health care provider 
is required.  Failure to provide this information will result in denial of reinstatement for 
the employee until the certificate is obtained. 
 
Leave Related to Military Service – A leave taken due to a “qualifying exigency” related 
to military service must be supported by a certification of its necessity.  A leave taken 
due to the need to care for a service member shall be supported by a certification from 
the service member’s health care provider. 
 
Reinstatement – Under most circumstances, upon return from family/medical leave, an 
employee will be reinstated to his/her original job or to an equivalent job with equivalent 
pay, benefits, and other employment terms and conditions.  However, an employee has 
no greater right to reinstatement than if he/she had been continuously employed rather 
than on leave.   
 
Employees on PDL are guaranteed reinstatement to the same or similar job with the 
same or similar duties, pay, and location.  Employees on PDL will be credited with all 
service prior to the commencement of the disability, but not for the period of the 
disability. 
 
Time Accrual – Employees on FMLA/CFRA will not continue to accrue paid time off 
during unpaid leave.  If an employee is using accrued sick, vacation, compensatory or 
management leave, he/she will continue to accrue paid time off. 
 
Intermittent Leave – Employees may take FMLA/CFRA leave intermittently if the leave 
is for the serious health condition of the employee’s child, parent, spouse, or of the 
employee and the reduced leave schedule is medically necessary as determined by the 
health care provider of the person with the serious health condition. 
 
11.53 Voluntary Furlough Without Pay Plan 
 
The following shall apply to the “Voluntary Furlough Without Pay Plan”: 
 

A. No form of salary compensation may be taken (i.e. vacation, sick, 
compensatory time, or management leave).  Paid holidays which occur 
during the furlough period will continue to be paid as usual. 

B. All existing benefits that have been paid by MCWD shall continue to be 
paid by MCWD and all deductions previously paid by the employee shall 
continue to be taken out of the employee’s check when a check has been 
issued with sufficient funds.  In other cases, it shall be the employee’s 
responsibility to make arrangement to pay his/her portion of benefits or 
other payroll deductions.  These include, but are not limited to, health, 
union dues, court ordered payments, voluntary supplemental life 



 

 102  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

insurance premiums and voluntary supplemental health insurance such as 
AFLAC.  

C. No loss of seniority or break in service will be suffered by the employee. 
D. All benefits shall accrue as if the employee were working (i.e., sick, 

vacation, or management leave). 
E. An employee may take up to forty (40) hours of voluntary furlough without 

pay leave at any one time in a fiscal year.  A written request must be 
approved, in advance, by the employee’s immediate supervisor.  Shorter 
increments of time (no less than four (4) hours) may be requested .  The 
immediate supervisor may accept or reject a request for furlough after 
consideration of the employee’s position and department workload. 

F. Employees with accrued vacation, compensatory and/or management 
leave in excess of MCWD maximum may not participate in this plan until 
he/she isthey are in compliance with the maximum hours allowed. 

G. Taking unpaid furlough should not result in the need for any other 
employee to work overtime. 

 
For further clarification, please contact the Management Services Administrator. 
 
11.4 Personal Leave of Absence/Leave Without Pay 
 
The MCWD General Manager or designee may grant a regular, full-time employee a 
leave of absence without pay for a definite period of time, .  generallyGenerally, such 
personal leave of absence will not be granted for no more than ninety (90) days, except 
in the case of a personal leave for a disability or medical condition that can be 
reasonably accommodated further in accordance with state and federal disability laws 
based on a written certification of the need for leave from a qualified medical care 
provider.[GCD47]   
 
Requests for personal leaves may be considered on a case-by-case basis supported by 
factors related, but not limited to, staffing levels in the department among similar jobs, 
existing or projected workload demands, the requesting employee’s work record, and 
the basis of the request.  Personal leaves are generally considered for reasons such as 
a verifiable family or personal emergency not provided for by legally mandated leaves of 
absence, to complete a short-term educational requirement not associated with a 
condition of the employee’s present job, or to attend to a medical condition not 
otherwise eligible or qualified under legally mandated leaves of absence. 
 
The personal leave of absence shall be without pay unless the employee specifically 
requests and is granted the use of available vacation, compensatory time off or 
management leave.  Available sick, vacation, and management leave balances shall be 
calculated as of the preceding pay period.  Sick, vacation, and management leave 
accruals will stop immediately upon entering personal leave without pay status.   
 
If personal leave without pay status exceeds one (1) full daily shift for the employee, the 
employee may maintain health insurance benefits during the remainder of the personal 



 

 103  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

leave of absence by paying his/her portion of the normal premium contribution to 
MCWD for such coverage prior to commencement of the leave.  For leaves of longer 
than one (1) month, premiums must be paid no later than the fifteenth (15th) of the 
month prior to the month being covered.  If premiums have not been received by the 
deadline, coverage will be terminated for all unpaid months and continuation or 
reinstatement of coverage must be made in accordance with COBRA guidelines.  If an 
employee wishes to continue coverage, the employee must pay all employer-paid and 
employee-paid premiums for the duration of the personal leave of absence. 
 
Any employee desiring a personal leave of absence must submit a written request and 
attach any supporting documentation as to the nature of the leave.  The request should 
be submitted to the employee’s department head before being forwarded to the 
Management Services AdministratorHR/Risk Administrator. The Management Services 
AdministratorHR/Risk Administrator will review the request and submit it to the General 
Manager or designee for approval. 
 
Failure by the employee to return to work on the designated date shall mean MCWD 
may fill the position.  If an employee's position is filled while he/she is off on an 
approved personal leave of absence, the employee may, at the conclusion of his/her 
scheduled leave, apply for any open MCWD position for which he/she is qualified.  
However, if no such position is available, the employee's employment will be 
terminated.  In the event the employee is terminated, MCWD will provide the employee 
with COBRA eligibility information within thirty (30) calendar days following employment 
separation, provided the employee is otherwise qualified for continuation of the 
healthcare insurance under MCWD’s group plans. 
 
If a position is available, an employee is expected to return to work at the scheduled 
conclusion of his/her personal leave of absence. If the employee fails to do so, the 
employee will be treated as having voluntarily resigned his/her employment with 
MCWD. 
 
11.75 Sick Leave 
 
Regular Full-Time Employees 
 
Regular full-time employees who work at least thirty- two (32) hours per week are 
eligible for paid sick leave benefits which accrue at the rate of one (1) day per calendar 
month for each full month of employment from his/her date of hire.  Since MCWD 
provides for CalPERS sick leave credit, and that because employees are encouraged to 
conserve sick leave should it be needed for an unexpected personal illness or disability, 
there is no limit on the maximum number of hours an employee can accumulate.  
 
Employees who are absent from work due to illness or injury must notify his/her 
immediate supervisor as stated in Section 9.0 of this Handbook. 
 
Sick Leave Use –  



 

 104  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Sick leave is to be used for absences due to the following reasons[GCD48]: medical or 
doctor appointments, personal illness or injury, specific legally protected absences such 
as time off for crime victims, or to attend to an illness of a child, parent, spouse, or a 
registered domestic partner of the employee.   
 

• For the employee’s own diagnosis, care, or treatment of an existing health 
condition or preventative care. 

 
• For the diagnosis, care, or treatment of an existing health condition or 

preventative care for an employee’s family member, including: 
 

o Child (including a biological, adopted, or foster child, stepchild, legal ward, or 
a child to whom the employee stands in loco parentis.)   

 
o Spouse or Registered Domestic Partner 
 
o Parent (including biological, adoptive, or foster parent, stepparent, or legal 

guardian of an employee or the employee’s spouse or registered domestic 
partner, or a person who stood in loco parentis when the employee was a 
minor child.) 

 
o Grandparent 
 
o Grandchild. 
 
o Sibling.  

 
• To obtain any relief or services related to being a victim of domestic violence, 

sexual assault, or stalking including the following with appropriate certification of 
the need for such services: 

 
o A temporary restraining order or restraining order. 

 
o Other injunctive relief to help ensure the health, safety or welfare of 

themselves or their children. 
 

o To seek medical attention for injuries caused by domestic violence, sexual 
assault, or stalking. 

 
o To obtain services from a domestic violence shelter, program, or rape crisis 

center as a result of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking. 
 

o To obtain psychological counseling related to an experience of domestic 
violence, sexual assault, or stalking. 

 



 

 105  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

o To participate in safety planning and take other actions to increase safety 
from future domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking, including temporary 
or permanent relocation. 

 
All sick leave payments will be based on an employee’s regular pay rate in effect at the 
time such payments are made.  These payments will be coordinated with applicable 
disability insurance payments or Workers’ Compensation Insurance benefit payments, 
so that all such payments will not exceed the employee’s normal weekly gross earnings. 

 
Full or partial days off due to illness or injury in excess of accrued sick leave by non-
exempt employees will be taken without pay.  Exempt employees who have used all of 
his/her accrued sick leave benefits continue to receive his/her salary for an occasional 
illness that is less than a full day under this sick leave policy.  The salary of exempt 
employees who have exhausted his/her sick leave will be deducted for absences of a 
full day or more due to illness or disability.   

 
Sick Leave Certification –  
Employees who are absent for three (3) or more consecutive workdays due to illness or 
injury,  will be required to submit a health care provider's certification to substantiate the 
use of sick leave.  In addition, before an employee may return to work, MCWD may 
require a health care provider's written certification that the employee is capable of 
resuming his/her job responsibilities.  Employees are not expected to disclose any 
diagnosis or private health information, but any material misrepresentations regarding 
the use of sick leave (e.g., using sick leave for an unqualified absence) may result in 
corrective action, up to and including termination. 
 
Pay-Out –  
Employees who use two (2) days or less of his/her annual sick leave entitlement will be 
given the opportunity at the end of the calendar year to convert two (2) days of the 
remaining sick leave into vacation, or let the sick leave accumulate.  Sick leave used for 
doctor/dentist appointments, of four (4) hours or less, during work hours will not be 
subject to this provision.  Appointments of over four (4) hours require a doctor’s note. 
 
Retirement Payoff –  
After ten (10) years of continuous service, or at age sixty (60) years or above, upon 
termination or retirement, an employee shall be paid for sixty percent (60%) of his/her 
accumulated sick leave up to a maximum of two hundred forty (240) hours.  All 
payments will be made at the current rate of pay.  Employees hired after January 1, 
2013 are not eligible for this benefit. 
 
All Other District Employees[GCD49]Part-Time employees and paid Interns -  
 
Employees who are not regular full-time employees will be provided sick leave in 
accordance with California’s Paid Sick Leave law under the following conditions: 
 



 

 106  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

• An employee begins to accrue paid sick leave at the rate of one (1) hour of paid 
sick leave for every thirty (30) hours worked beginning on the first day of 
employment.  An employee is not eligible to begin using any accrued paid sick 
leave until the 90th day of employment with the District. 

 
• An employee is only allowed to use up to a maximum of 3 days or 24 hours of 

paid sick leave in a 12-month period. 
 

• An employee can only accrue paid sick leave up to a cap of 6 days or 48 hours 
ongoing.  Any unused accrued paid sick leave does carry over year to year while 
continuously employed. 
 

• Sick leave can be taken for one of the reasons noted in the policy above for 
Regular Full-Time Employees under “Sick Leave Use”. 
 

• An employee shall provide reasonable advance notification of their need to use 
accrued paid sick leave to their supervisor if the need for paid sick leave use is 
foreseeable (e.g., doctor’s appointment scheduled in advance).  If the need for 
paid sick leave use is unforeseeable, the employee shall provide notice of the 
need for the leave to their supervisor as soon as is practicable.   
 

• An employee who uses paid sick leave must do so with a minimum increment of 
two hours of sick leave. 
 

• An employee will not receive compensation for unused accrued paid sick leave 
upon termination, resignation, retirement or other separation from employment 
from the District.   
 

• If an employee separates from District employment and is re-hired by the District 
within one year of the date of separation, previously accrued and unused paid 
sick leave hours shall be reinstated.  However, if a rehired employee had not yet 
worked the requisite 90 days of employment to use paid sick leave at the time of 
separation, the employee must still satisfy the 90 days of employment 
requirement collectively over the periods of employment with the District before 
any paid sick leave can be used. 
 

• Paid sick leave will not be considered hours worked for purposes of overtime 
calculation.   

 
Employees who are not regular full-time employees will accrue paid sick leave at the 
rate of one hour for every 30 hours workedemployees and paid interns may accrue up 
to 48 hours and may request and use up 24 hours per year.   
 
 
11.86 School Activity Leave 
 



 

 107  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Any employee who is the parent or guardian of a child in kindergarten through grade 
twelve (12) may request up to forty (40) hours of leave per school year for the purpose 
of participating in school activities.  This time will be unpaid unless the employee elects 
to use vacation, compensatory time off, or management leave time off for this purpose.  
The employee will be limited to no more than eight (8) or nine (9) hours off depending 
upon the regularly scheduled work shift for this purpose in any one (1) calendar month.  
Upon request, MCWD reserves the right to require documentation from the school as 
proof that the employee has participated in the school activity.  This request should be 
made with as much advance notice as possible. 
 
 
11.97 Bereavement Leave 
 
Employees shall be entitled to up to three (3) days of paid leave for the death of a family 
member. A family member includes the employee’s spouse or State-registered 
domestic partner and the following persons related to the employee or spouse or State-
registered partner: mother, father, brother, sister, child, step-parent, step-child, 
grandparents, grandchild, or legal guardian.  Such leave shall be separate from sick, 
vacation, compensatory, and management leave and is to be used within two (2) weeks 
upon the death of the family member or at the discretion of the General Manager or 
designee.  Up to five (5) days may be granted for exceptional circumstances approved 
by the General Manager or designee. 
 
Upon approval, employees may use either accumulated sick, vacation, compensatory, 
or management leave if more time off is necessary. 
 
11.108 Jury Duty 
 
Jury duty shall be considered leave with pay provided the employee submits a copy of 
the jury summons and documentation indicating the dates and times of jury service to 
his/her immediate supervisor.  An employee, while serving on jury duty will receive pay 
in the amount of the difference between the employee’s regular earnings and any 
amount received for jury service.  The employee may retain any fee paid as travel 
allowance. 
 
If an employee desires to serve on the Grand Jury, he/she shall submit a leave of 
absence request and will serve without MCWD salary and benefits. 
 
Within three (3) days of receiving a jury duty summons, or as soon as reasonable, 
employees should provide a copy of the notice that specifies the date(s) the employee 
will be reporting for jury duty or serving as a juror to his/her immediate supervisor.  
Employees are required to provide a copy of the jury duty notice to the Management 
Services AdministratorHR/Risk Administrator for retention in his/hertheir personnel file 
before reporting for jury duty service. 
 



 

 108  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

While on jury duty, employees shall report for work whenever his/hertheir presence is 
not required at court, including during “phone in” or “on call” status, or if released by the 
court early enough to return to work for at least two (2) hours.  Employees who cannot 
report to work due to jury duty will be required to show proof of jury service or 
appearance for each such workday absence.   MCWD may submit a request for a 
postponement in the event that compelling business reasons make postponement of 
jury duty necessary. 
 
11.119 Witness Duty and Subpoenas 
 
MCWD Business Related Court Appearance – Employees will be paid his/hertheir 
normal wage or salary if required to be a witness or required by a subpoena to appear 
in court on or related to MCWD business.  An employee who serves as an MCWD-
related business witness, or on a case related to the employee's job, on a day that is a 
regularly scheduled day off, he/she shall be paid at the employee's regular base rate of 
pay or at time and one-half (1.5), if the employee otherwise qualifies for overtime 
compensation, for all hours the employee actually is required to be in Court. 
 
Personal Business Court Appearance – Employees may be allowed unpaid time off if 
summoned to appear in court as a witness or because of a subpoena related to 
personal business or those matters occurring outside the course and scope of MCWD 
employment.  Use of any available paid time off may be used for this purpose with 
reasonable advance notice, and proof of subpoena service, from the employee to 
his/her immediate supervisor or department head. 
 
11.1210 Domestic Violence and Sexual Assault Leave 
 
Employees who are victims of domestic violence or sexual assault are eligible for 
unpaid leave to the extent provided under California law.  Leave may be requested if an 
employee is involved in a judicial action, such as obtaining restraining orders, or 
appearing in court to obtain relief to ensure the health, safety or welfare of the employee 
or the employee’s child(ren). 
 
Notice and certification of the need to take leave under this policy must be provided to 
the Management Services AdministratorHR/Risk Administrator.  Certification may be 
any of the following: 
 

● A police report indicating that the employee was a victim of domestic 
violence, or documentation from legal counsel or attorney. 

● A court order protecting or separating the employee from the perpetrator 
of an act of domestic violence, or other evidence from the court of 
prosecuting attorney that the employee appeared in court. 

● Documentation from a medical professional, domestic violence services 
advocate, health care provider, or counselor that the employee was 
undergoing treatment for physical or mental injuries or abuse resulting in 
victimization from an act of domestic violence. 



 

 109  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

 
MCWD will, to the maximum extent possible and as required by law, maintain the 
confidentiality of an employee requesting leave under this provision.  The length of 
unpaid leave an employee may take is twelve (12) weeks as is provided for in the 
Federal Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993. 
 
11.11 Victims of Crime Leave 
 
An employee who is a victim or who is the family member of a victim of a violent felony 
or serious felony may take time off from work under the following circumstances: 
 

● The crime must be a violent or serious felony, as defined by law; and, 
● The employee must be the victim of a crime, or an immediate family 

member of a victim, a registered domestic partner of a victim, or the child 
of a registered domestic partner of a victim. 

 
An immediate family member, as defined by this law, includes a spouse, child, 
stepchild, brother/sister, stepbrother/sister, mother, father, or stepmother/father.  
MCWD further extends this leave to include a grandparent, grandchild, niece, nephew, 
registered domestic partner, child of a domestic partner, or parent of a registered 
domestic partner. 
 
The absence from work should be in order to attend to judicial proceedings related to a 
crime listed above.  Before an employee is absent for such a reason, documentation of 
the scheduled proceeding must be provided to the Management Services Administrator.  
Such notice is typically given to the victim of a crime by a court or government agency 
setting the hearing, an attorney or prosecuting attorney office or a victim/witness office. 
 
If advance notice is not possible, employees must provide appropriate documentation 
within a reasonable time after the absence.  Any absence from work to attend judicial 
proceedings will be unpaid unless an employee chooses to take paid time off, such as 
accrued vacation, compensatory, sick, or management leave. 
 
11.1412 Military Leave 
 
Employees will be granted military leave in accordance with Division II, Part I, Chapter 
VII of the Military and Veteran’s Code of the State of California and the Uniformed 
Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994 (USERRA), for a period of 
up to five (5) years to engage in ordered military duty, military training, encampment, 
naval cruises, special exercises or like activity, as a member of the reserve corps or 
force of the Army, Navy, Marine Corps, Air Force, Coast Guard, National Guard, or Air 
National Guard. 
 
Military leave is generally unpaid.  However, an employees who have has been 
employed with MCWD for a period of not less than one (1) year immediately prior to the 
day which the leave of absence begins, shall be entitled to receive his/her full salary or 



 

 110  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

compensation when he/she is ordered to active military duty, training, encampment, 
naval cruises, special exercises or like activity, up to a maximum of thirty (30) calendar 
days in any one (1) fiscal year.  Paid leave is not available for periods when an 
employee is required to attend inactive military training such as weekend reserve drill 
periods during a time when the employee would not be employed in a regular shift.  If 
the employee desires to be paid for this unpaid temporary military leave of absence,  
vacation, management or compensatory time may be used.  During paid portions of 
temporary military leave of absence, employees shall continue to receive the same 
vacation, sick, management leave and holiday privileges as if he/she were actively at 
work.   
 
Employees shall notify MCWD, whenever possible, at least sixty (60) calendar days 
prior to the commencement of the temporary military leave of absence.  Employees 
shall furnish the immediate supervisor with a copy of his/hertheir military orders, or other 
written verification from the appropriate military authority, for inclusion in his/hertheir 
personnel file.  The immediate supervisor will forward a copy to the Management 
Services Administrator and Payroll. 
 
A "Request for Leave" form shall be submitted to the General Manager or designee for 
any requested leave in excess of thirty (30) days.  The written request form will indicate 
appropriate arrangements have been made regarding health insurance coverage and 
other pertinent issues should the leave exceed sixty (60) days. 
 
Upon return from military leave, employees shall have the same rights and privileges of 
employment, re-employment, seniority and promotion had he/shethey not been absent.  
Any uncompleted probationary period must be satisfied upon completion of the 
temporary military leave of absence.  An employee returning from military duty shall be 
offered re-employment in accordance with USERRA.  If an employee fails to notify 
MCWD of his/her intent to return to work within the time period allowed by law, the 
employee will be considered to have resigned. 
 
11.1513 Time Off to Vote 
 
MCWD encourages employees to fulfill his/her civic responsibilities by participating in 
elections.  Generally, employees are able to find time to vote either before or after 
his/her regular work schedule.  If employees are unable to reach a polling place during 
his/her non-working hours, MCWD will grant up to two (2) hours of paid time off to vote. 
 
Employees must request time off to vote from his/her supervisor at least two (2) working 
days prior to the Election Day.  Advance notice is required so that the necessary time 
off can be scheduled at the beginning or end of the work shift, whichever provides the 
least disruption to the normal work schedule.  Employees must submit documentation of 
his/hertheir polling place and a voter's receipt on the first working day following the 
election to qualify for paid time off. 
 
11.1614 Volunteer Firefighters and Peace Officers 



 

 111  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

 
No employee shall be disciplined for taking time off to perform emergency duty as a 
volunteer firefighter, peace officer or emergency rescue worker.  Such employees are 
also allowed to take temporary leaves of absence without pay, up to a total of fourteen 
(14) days per calendar year, to engage in fire or law enforcement training.  If an 
employee is an official registered volunteer firefighter, peace officer, or emergency 
rescue worker, he/she should inform his/her immediate supervisor that time off for 
emergency duty is necessary.  In the event the emergency or disaster directly affects 
MCWD operations, the services of such employees may be required to assist with 
MCWD operations.   
 
11.1715 Terminal Leave 
 
Terminal leave is that period during which an employee remains on the payroll beyond 
his/her last working day until all of his/her accrued vacation, compensatory, and/or 
management leave  has been exhausted.  Terminal leaves are beneficial to the MCWD 
and its programs since they may provide a means to reallocate positions and other 
resources from low demand to high demand programs.  The General Manager or 
designee may grant a terminal leave, upon written application by the employee, in 
accordance with the following provisions: 
 

A. Only regular, full-time employees with a performance evaluation of 
satisfactory or above, shall be eligible for terminal leave;  

B. The employee shall not be required to perform duties of any kind during 
the period of leave unless otherwise stipulated; 

C. The employee shall agree, in writing, to the conditions of the leave, 
waiving all claims arising out of his/her employment; 

D. The discretion to determine the employee’s last working day is reserved 
by the General Manager or designee.  The employee retains the right to 
make his/her last working day prior to the date established by the General 
Manager or designee;   

E. During a period of terminal leave, an employee shall continue to be 
eligible for group health insurance coverage as long as he/she are is in a 
paid status; 

F. During a period of terminal leave, an employee shall not be eligible for any 
salary increases; however, he/she shall receive credit for any official 
holiday occurring during a period of terminal leave; and, 

G. Once notice of leave is submitted and approved, an employee must cease 
work and the terminal leave cannot be revoked. 



 

 112  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Section 12. Grievance Procedure 
 
MCWD has an established informal grievance procedure to resolve issues and 
concerns.  This informal procedure should not be used to resolve disciplinary actions, 
OSHA, performance evaluation, workers’ compensation issues, bargaining disputes or 
any exercise of MCWD’s normal discretionary rights and obligations.  The purpose of 
this procedure is to identify and resolve differences between employees and 
management regarding this agreement and general working conditions. 
 
MCWD encourages employees to use this process to resolve problems and will not 
discriminate against any employee for using this procedure. 
 
The employee shall raise the grievance as soon as possible but no later than thirty (30) 
calendar days after learning of the act or issue causing the grievance. 
 

A. Immediate Supervisor – The employee should raise any problem with 
his/her immediate supervisor.  The immediate supervisor will respond 
within fifteen (15) calendar days.  (Harassment grievances may start at 
Step B.)  Every effort will be made to resolve the grievance at this stage 

 
B. General Manager/HR/Risk AdministratorManagement Services 

Administrator – If the employee is not satisfied with the result reached in 
Step A, he/she may file a written grievance to the Management Services 
AdministratorHR/Risk Administrator within ten (10) calendar days of the 
immediate supervisor’s response. The Management Services 
AdministratorHR/Risk Administrator will meet with the employee and the 
immediate supervisor to resolve the problem.  If necessary, the General 
Manager or designee will be consulted.  The Management Services 
AdministratorHR/Risk Administrator, the General Manager, or designee  
will make a decision within ten (10) calendar days of receipt of the 
grievance and notify the employee of such decision either verbally or in 
writing. 

 
C. Appeal – Any employee who is not satisfied with the decision reached in 

Step B may file a written appeal to the MCWD Board within ten (10) 
calendar days of the Step B decision.  The appeal shall contain all 
documents and arguments necessary to resolve the matter.  The appeal 
will be reviewed by the Board.  The Board, at its discretion, may allow a 
short oral presentation in a closed session of the next regular Board 
meeting.  The Board may affirm or change the decision of the General 
Manager or designee.  The Board’s decision shall be given to the 
employee and shall be final and binding. 

 
For more detailed information, represented employees should refer to the appropriate 
MOU. 



 

 113  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Section 13. Employee Relations 
 
Standards of Conduct –  
The following examples are given in order to provide the employees guidance 
concerning unacceptable behavior.  If the MCWD chooses to correct an employee who 
engages in unacceptable behavior, the employee may be subject to corrective discipline 
up to and including termination.  Please note that it is impossible to provide an 
exhaustive list of behaviors that are not acceptable.  The following is therefore intended 
to simply provide some examples: 

 
A. Failure to meet job standards as described in the job description or as 

determined by the immediate supervisor, including becoming uninsurable 
based upon the driving standards of MCWD’s insurance carrier. 

B. Failure to observe or comply with the provisions of the Employee 
Handbook. 

C. Insubordination. 
D. Abusive or vulgar language, or causing disruption to the work place or to 

fellow employees or visitors. 
E. Theft or unauthorized removal of MCWD property from MCWD premises. 
F. Misuse of MCWD’s monies. 
G. Harassment, including but not limited to unlawful sexual harassment or 

gender-based or racial remarks. 
H. Excessive absenteeism or tardiness. 
I. Using, possessing, or being under the influence of (including as a result of 

prior indulgence) alcohol or illegal drugs while on MCWD premises or on 
duty, including while on-call. 

J. Job abandonment. 
K. Carelessness or negligence when performing duties or failure to follow 

health and safety regulations while on MCWD premises or while on duty.  
L. Unauthorized possession or removal of property, records, or other MCWD 

materials. 
M. Release of confidential information about the MCWD or its members. 
N. Altercations with or threats to fellow employees or the public. 
O. Possession of firearms on MCWD property or within MCWD vehicles. 
P. Gambling while on the job or on MCWD time. 
Q. Eavesdropping.  Under California state law the consent of all parties 

participating in a call must be obtained before any person may record a 
telephone conversation or before a person who is not a party to a call may 
eavesdrop on or wiretap a call. 

R. Failure to report involvement in an accident occurring on the MCWD’s 
premises, or involving MCWD’s equipment, or giving false information in 
accident or insurance reports. 

S. Failure to immediately report the loss of a California driver’s license due to 
suspension, withdrawal, forfeiture or confiscation by any court of law or by 
the California Division of Motor Vehicles.  This rule applies only to those 



 

 114  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

employees who must maintain such a license as a condition of his/her 
employment. 

 
T. Installing unauthorized software on MCWD’s computer system and/or 

misuse of electronic systems (email, internet, fax) per policy. 
 
Progressive Discipline –  
As a general policy, MCWD follows a progressive discipline policy for regular full-time 
employees to ensure a fair method of correcting employee conduct.  The progressive 
discipline policy is intended to give employees advance notice of problems with 
his/hertheir conduct or performance in order to provide him/her them with an opportunity 
to correct any problems through the use of disciplinary actions less severe than 
termination.  Normally, progressive discipline involves verbal counseling and one or 
more written warnings, however, exceptions or deviations from progressive discipline 
may occur whenever MCWD deems that circumstances warrant that one or more steps 
in the process be skipped.  However, progressive discipline is not mandatory.  
Accordingly, circumstances may sometimes warrant immediate termination. 
 
The progressive discipline policy and the disciplinary process outlined herein do not 
apply to at-will, part-time, or contract employees, or full-time employees during their 
introductory period.  Such employees are at-will and may be terminated with or without 
cause at any time. 
 
Disciplinary Actions –  
The objective of any disciplinary action is to correct less than satisfactory performance 
and to bring a worker's performance up to MCWD standards.  Disciplinary action is not 
primarily punitive in intent, but is intended to be corrective action. 
 
The appointing authority may take disciplinary action against any employee, provided 
that the rules and regulations prescribed herein are followed and that regular full-time 
employees who is not on probationary status has have the right to appeal pursuant to 
this section, except as herein provided.  As used in this section, "disciplinary action" 
shall mean formal written reprimand, suspension, disciplinary demotion, disciplinary 
probation, or dismissal.  No regular full-time employee shall be terminated or disciplined 
without just cause and the principles of progressive discipline shall be followed unless 
circumstances warrant immediate termination. Regular full-time employees shall be 
subject to disciplinary action by the General Manager or designee only in accordance 
with the procedures set forth below. 
 
As part of MCWD's progressive disciplinary process, an employee may be placed on 
disciplinary probation for a specified period of time not to exceed four (4) months for 
each instance, with the understanding that should the causes for such action not be 
satisfactorily corrected or remedied during the period, subsequent disciplinary action 
may be taken, up to and including termination. 
 



 

 115  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Notice of Disciplinary Action –  
In order to institute disciplinary action, the appointing authority shall serve notice of the 
proposed disciplinary action in accordance with the following procedures: 
 
Except as otherwise provided herein or when emergency or other special circumstances 
require immediate action, a notice of proposed disciplinary action (other than for formal 
reprimand) shall be delivered to the employee, either personally or by the US Postal 
Service, to the current address listed on the employee's most recent personnel action 
form, no less than five (5) calendar days prior to the effective date of any punitive action 
against the employee. 
 
The notice of proposed disciplinary action shall include the following: 
 

A. The nature of the disciplinary action; 
B. The effective date of the action; 
C. The causes for the action in ordinary, concise language with the dates and  
 places thereof, when known; 
D. A statement that identifies the material or documents upon which the 

action is based and states that it is available for inspection; and 
E. A statement advising the employee of his/her right to respond either 

verbally or in writing to the appointing authority or his/her designee 
imposing the disciplinary action prior to the effective date and the right to 
be represented in that response. 

 
Pre-Disciplinary Due Process Meeting –  
If the employee does not waive his/her right to a Skelly meeting, the General Manager 
or designee shall conduct an informal meeting to allow the employee to respond to the 
charges made. 
 
The employee may present information and respond to questions personally or through 
his/her representative. 
 
The General Manager or designee shall give the employee written notice of the decision 
which shall be reached within five (5) working days after said meeting. 
 
Implementation of Discipline –  
In the case of a suspension without pay of one (1) working day or less, or a suspension 
with pay of twenty (20) working days or less, the suspension may be imposed by a 
single notice containing items A, B, C, D & E above. This notice shall be delivered to the 
employee on or as soon after the effective date of the suspension as possible. 
 
Except as provided above, in order to implement the proposed disciplinary action of a 
lesser disciplinary action based on the same cause(s), a notice of disciplinary action 
shall be delivered to the employee, either personally or by the US Postal Service to the 
current address listed on the employee's most recent Personnel Action form, on or 
before the effective date of the disciplinary action. 



 

 116  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

 
The notice of disciplinary action shall contain the information in items A, B, C, D & E 
above and, in addition, shall include a statement as to the right to appeal and 
representation by a party of his/her own choice and shall include a referral to the section 
of this agreement concerning appeals from disciplinary action. 
 
Reprimand –  
An appointing authority may reprimand an employee by furnishing him/her with a 
statement, in writing, of the specific reasons for such reprimand.  A copy of notice of the 
reprimand shall be given to HR/Risk Administrator the Management Services 
Administrator for inclusion in the employee's personnel file and shall not be subject to 
appeal, but the employee and/or his/her representative shall have the right to discuss 
the reprimand, or notice of reprimand during normal business hours, with the supervisor 
issuing the reprimand within three (3) working days of receipt of reprimand. 
 
Disciplinary reprimands shall be removed from the employee's personnel file after the 
second (2nd) year of their issuance, upon the employee's request, and if the employee 
does not receive any further disciplinary action in the two (2) year period. 
 
Appeal of Disciplinary Action 
 

A. Appeal 
 
 If an employee who has had a pre-disciplinary due process (Skelly) 

meeting wishes to appeal the decision of the General Manager or 
designee further, and who has completed his/her six (6) months 
probationary status, he/she shall file with the MCWD Board of Directors no 
later than the fifteenth (15th) day after receipt of said notice of disciplinary 
action. 

 
 Should said fifteenth (15th) day fall on a day in which offices of the MCWD 

are not open for business, the time within which said notice of appeal may 
be filed shall be extended until 5:30 p.m. of the next following day when 
MCWD offices are open for business. 

 
B. Time of Hearing - Notice 
 
 A hearing by the MCWD Board of Directors or by a Hearing Officer 

appointed by the Board, relating to the validity of the charges upon which 
the disciplinary action was based shall commence not later than thirty (30) 
days after the date of the filing of the notice of appeal. 

 
 The appellant employee shall be given not less than ten (10) days written 

notice of the date, time, and place of said hearing of the Directors or the 
Hearing Officer.  Said notice of the date, time, and place of hearing shall 
be effective upon its deposit in the US mail, postage prepaid with return 



 

 117  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

receipt requested, and addressed to the last known address of the 
appellant as set forth in the appellant employee's personnel file. 

 
C. Conduct of Hearing 
 
 At the time and place designated, the MCWD Board of Directors or 

Hearing Officer shall hold a hearing for the purpose of determining the 
validity of the charges brought against the appellant employee and of the 
reasonableness of the discipline imposed pursuant to said charges.  Such 
hearing shall be closed to the public unless otherwise requested by the 
appellant employee.  The appellant employee may be present and have 
the right to be represented by counsel.  

 
The hearing may be continued from time to time and at the end of such 
presentation the MCWD Board of Directors or Hearing Officer may take 
the evidence under consideration for a reasonable period of time before 
announcing its decision in the matter. 

  
D. Hearing 

 
The General Manager or designee and the appellant employee may call 
witnesses, shall have the right of cross-examination and may present 
documentary and demonstrative evidence. 

 
E. Recommendation of Hearing Officer 
 
 If a Hearing Officer is appointed by the MCWD Board of Directors, a 

non-binding advisory opinion or recommendation shall be presented in 
writing to the MCWD Board of Directors no later than ten (10) days after 
the hearing is complete. 

 
F. Decision of MCWD Board of Directors 
 
 The decision of the MCWD Board of Directors shall designate express 

findings of the charges upon which the disciplinary action was based and 
may wholly reverse or affirm the disciplinary action imposed by the 
General Manager or designee or modify the severity of the same. 

 
G. Loss of Salary 
 
 If the discipline action of the General Manager or designee is wholly 

reversed by the MCWD Board of Directors, or the severity of discipline 
imposed is partially reversed, the appellant employee shall be entitled, 
upon the decision of the Board of Directors or Hearing Officer, to complete 
the partial reinstatement, as the case may be, and shall be entitled to 
reimbursement from MCWD funds of that salary forfeited by virtue of that 



 

 118  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

portion of the disciplinary action which was overruled by the MCWD Board 
of Directors. 

 
H. Appeals of Decision 
 
 The findings and decision of the MCWD Board of Directors on appeal shall 

be final and conclusive on all parties, and not subject to the grievance 
procedures provided for in this handbook.  Any employee whose 
termination for violation of MCWD rules is upheld by the MCWD Board of 
Directors shall not be eligible for rehire. 

 



 

 119  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Section 14. Employee Service Awards Program 
 
Each employee plays an important role in the efficient operation of MCWD; therefore, 
we feel it is important to recognize each employee's long-term service contribution to 
MCWD.  Each employee completing five (5) years of service and additional five (5)-year 
increments, thereafter, will receive a gift certificate and recognition item. 
 

5 years $  50.00 gift certificate 
10 years $100.00 gift certificate 
15 years $150.00 gift certificate 
20 years $200.00 gift certificate 
25 years $250.00 gift certificate 
30 years $300.00 gift certificate 
 

Employees may select gift certificates from various local businesses. 
 
14.0 Retiree Recognition Program 
 
In order to recognize the years of service to MCWD, employees with twenty (20) years 
or more of employment, will, upon retirement, receive fifty dollars ($50), after taxes, for 
each year of service. 



 

 120  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Section 15. Employee Health and Safety 
 
15.0 Injury & Illness Prevention Program  
 
The MCWD greatly values the safety and health of all its employees and is committed 
to providing a safe and healthful workplace.  This will be accomplished through the 
maintenance of an effective Injury & Illness Prevention Program (IIPP).  
 
All managers and supervisors are responsible for adhering to the IIPP in his/her 
respective departments and for answering worker questions regarding the IIPP. 
 
 A. Compliance 
 

Management is responsible for ensuring that all safety and health policies 
and procedures are clearly communicated and understood by all 
employees.  Managers and supervisors will enforce the rules fairly and 
uniformly. 

 
All employees are responsible for using safe work practices, for following 
all directives, policies and procedures, and for assisting in maintaining a 
safe work environment. 

 
The MCWD’s system of ensuring that all employees comply with the rules 
and maintain a safe work environment include: 

 
• All employees will be annually evaluated on his/hertheir safety 

performance; 
• Employees who do not exercise safe and healthful work practices 

will be trained or retrained; and, 
• An employee that does not comply with or intentionally ignores 

safe and healthful work practices will be subject to appropriate 
corrective action, up to and including termination. 

 
 B. Communication of Safety and Health Information 
 

The MCWD recognizes that open, two-way communication between 
management and staff on health and safety issues is essential to an 
injury-free, productive workplace. 

 
The MCWD will provide employees with up-to-date safety and health 
information that is readily understandable.  Generally, this information is 
provided by: 
 
• New employee orientation 
• Department meetings  
• Posters and/or bulletin boards 



 

 121  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

• Safety Committee meetings 
• Emails/Memorandums 
 
The information provided will include the MCWD’s safety and health 
policies, rules and regulations, and new work procedures.  Employees are 
encouraged to share safety and health ideas, information, and concerns 
with the MCWD management.   

 
 C. Safety and Healthful Work Practices 
 

MCWD recognizes its responsibility to create a safe and healthful 
workplace for all employees.  However, each employee must also share 
in this responsibility.  Specifically, every employee: 

 
● Is responsible for the safe operation of all MCWD’s equipment, 

tools, machinery, vehicles, or other MCWD property in his/her 
charge; 

● Must not remove or inactivate any established safeguards.  
Mechanical safeguards must be in place at all times; 

● Is expected to report any machine, tool, or equipment malfunctions 
to his/her manager.  Managers shall investigate and take the 
necessary steps to correct the malfunction as soon as possible; 

● Must wear appropriate personal protective equipment (PPE) when 
required.  All PPE shall be provided and maintained by MCWD.  
Failure to wear the required PPE is cause for disciplinary action; 

● Shall follow the beneficial ergonomic criteria and adjustments; 
● Will utilize defensive driving techniques supported by the MCWD 

while driving a MCWD or personal vehicle while on MCWD 
business; and, 

● Must immediately report all accidents, injuries, exposures, and 
“close call” incidents to his/her manager. 

 
•  D. Emergency Action 
 

Employees are required to know the location of all emergency exits in 
his/her their work area and the routes to these exits.   

 
Employees are to know the location of all alarms and fire extinguishers 
and become familiar with the proper use of emergency equipment should 
the need ever arise.  Employees are also to review and become familiar 
with MCWD’s emergency evacuation plan and to clarify any unclear 
aspect of our emergency procedures with his/her their immediate 
supervisor. 

 
  



 

 122  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

E. Hazard Assessment 
 

Semi-annual inspections to identify and evaluate workplace hazards will 
be conducted by a member of the Safety Committee and with assistance 
from a Risk Management Consultant from MCWD’s liability carrier. 

 
Periodic inspections consist of identification and evaluation of workplace 
hazards utilizing a checklist contained in the IIPP.  

 
 F. Hazard Correction 
 

Unsafe or unhealthy work conditions, practices or procedures will be 
corrected in a timely manner based on the severity of the hazards.  The 
inspection checklist will be presented to management and the hazards will 
be corrected in accordance with the following: 

 
● When observed or discovered; 
● When an imminent hazard exists which cannot be immediately 

abated without endangering employees or property, all exposed 
workers will be removed from the department except those 
necessary to correct the existing condition, who are trained to 
handle the condition and have the appropriate PPE; and, 

● All corrective actions taken and the dates they are completed will 
be documented on the checklist inspection form and maintained by 
the Operations & Maintenance Superintendent. 

 
 G. Training 
 

All employees, including managers and supervisors, shall have training 
and instruction on general and job-specific safety and health practices.  
Training and instruction will be provided as follows: 

 
  ● When the IIPP is changed; 
  ● During new-hire orientations; 

● To all employees given new job assignments for which training has 
not been previously provided; 

● Whenever new substances, processes, procedures or equipment 
are introduced to the workplace and represent a new hazard; 

● To all supervisors to familiarize him/her them with the safety and 
health hazards to which workers under his/hertheir immediate 
direction and control may be exposed; and, 

● To all employees with respect to hazards specific to each 
employee’s job assignment. 

 
 
 



 

 123  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

H. Recordkeeping 
 
  The following procedures are taken to maintain the MCWD IIPP: 
 

● Records of hazard assessment inspections, including the names of 
persons conducting the inspection, the date and unsafe work 
conditions and practices that have been identified and the action 
taken to correct the identified unsafe work conditions and work 
practices, will be recorded on a hazard assessment and correction 
form; and, 

● Documentation of safety and health training for each employee, 
including the employee’s name, training date(s), and type of 
training will be recorded on a worker training and instruction form. 

 
 I. Safety and Health Committee 
 
  The MCWD Safety Committee will: 
 
  ● Meet quarterly each calendar; 

● Provide action items to management and post for employees via 
email or bulletin boards; 

● Review results of semi-annual or other periodic worksite 
inspections; 

● Review investigations of occupational accidents, close calls, or 
reported unsafe incidents without violating the privacy of the 
individual involved; 

● Review investigations of alleged hazardous conditions brought to 
the attention of any committee member; 

● Assist in the evaluation of employee safety suggestions; and, 
● Submit its own recommendations to management for 

consideration. 
 
 J. Ergonomics 
 

It is the intention of MCWD to reduce exposure to ergonomic hazards 
through modifications to equipment, processes and employee training.  
Any necessary, reasonable adjustments to minimize workplace repetitive 
motion injuries will be considered and made.  If an employee requires any 
adjustments or has any concerns or questions about ergonomics, he/she 
is encouraged to discuss these issues with his/her immediate supervisor, 
department head, or Management Services Administrator.   

 
K. Bomb Threats and/or Threatening Calls 

 
Should an employee receive an emergency or threatening phone call, it is 
important to remain calm and try to write down the exact wording of the 



 

 124  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

emergency/threat.  Employees should notify a manager immediately, and 
if appropriate, phone 9-1-1. 

 
15.1 Wellness Program 
 
MCWD recognizes its employees are its greatest asset and encourages all staff to 
participate in a Wellness Program.  Wellness Programs have been proven to lower 
stress, reduce absenteeism, and improve morale.  However, participation is voluntary 
and employees do so at his/hertheir own risk.  To further encourage the wellness of its 
employees, MCWD authorizes employees (upon approval of theirhis/her immediate 
supervisor) who participate in aerobic physical exercise (walking, jogging, etc.) to use 
up to thirty (30) minutes of regular work time for this purpose two (2) days per week. 
 
Exercise is normally done over the lunch break, with an extension of thirty (30) minutes.  
This amount of time is intended to allow the exercising employee the opportunity to 
receive a thorough aerobic workout and time to return to work refreshed and relieved of 
stress. 
 
In addition to the physical activity of the Wellness Program, MCWD will, from time to 
time, offer employees information on nutrition, disease prevention and management, 
smoking cessation, obesity, etc. through posters, flyers and brown bag lunches. 
 
15.2 Uniforms and Safety Equipment 
 
MCWD shall provide and maintain appropriate safety clothing and equipment for 
Laboratory and Operations and Maintenance staff.  Such items may include, depending 
upon assigned duties, coats, dust masks, non-prescription safety glasses, pants, shirts, 
all-weather items, and MCWD hats. Hats with logos from vendors, or wearing of 
personal hats, are not acceptable.  Uniforms shall be cleaned weekly and worn clothing 
replaced by MCWD.   
 
MCWD will provide up to two-hundred dollars ($200) credit for the initial purchase of 
safety-toed boots or safety shoes for the appropriate personnel and up to one hundred 
dollars ($100) for the cost of prescription safety glasses. 
 
Replacement boots or shoes will be provided on an as-needed basis.  Wearing of 
uniforms, safety boots, and, if appropriate, safety glasses is mandatory for all 
employees provided with or eligible for reimbursement of same.  
 
Uniforms and boots are to be worn for MCWD purposes only.  Obscene or excessive 
adornment may not be worn.   
 
Tools and Equipment –  
When using equipment or tools in performing tasks, employees are expected to 
exercise care and follow all operating and maintenance instructions, safety standards, 
and guidelines.  No employee is to attempt to repair any equipment without the express 



 

 125  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

authorization of the department head.  Use equipment and tools only for the purpose for 
which they were designed.  Do not attempt to operate any equipment or machine until 
properly trained on the correct use. 
 
If any MCWD equipment, machine, or tool is broken, damaged, defective, or in need 
repair, employees should notify theirhis/her immediate supervisor.  Prompt reporting of 
damage, defects, and need for repairs could prevent deterioration of equipment and 
possible injury to employees or others.   
 
The improper, careless, negligent, destructive, or unsafe use or operation of tools or 
equipment, including the removal from MCWD premises, can result in corrective action 
up to and including termination. 



 

 126  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Section 16. Risk Management 
 
16.0 DMV Pull Notice Program[GCD50] 
 
MCWD participates in the California Department of Motor Vehicles (DMV) Pull Notice 
Program.  This is a service for public agencies that provides driver record reports on 
employees.  
 
A. Procedures 
 
MCWD obtains from the DMV a copy of the driving record of all employees that are 
authorized to operate vehicles (MCWD or personal) on MCWD’s business. 
 

1. If an employee’s duties require driving a MCWD vehicle, he/she must 
maintain a driving record that will not cause the MCWD’s insurance rate to 
increase or for the employee to become uninsurable.  Any such actions 
could lead to disciplinary action. 

2. If an employee elects to drive a personal vehicle, he/she will be asked to 
provide proof of insurance on an annual basis. 

 
16.01 Respiratory Protection 
 
In order to protect employees from respiratory hazards and comply with OSHA 
regulations, employees who are required to work in confined spaces and hazardous 
atmospheres must be tested annually for medical fitness for wearing personal 
respiratory protection equipment.  These employees must ensure theirhis/her personal 
grooming, such as facial hair (including sideburns and mustaches) is kept in the 
condition that was certified.   
 
This policy applies to any employee required to perform confined space entries and/or 
emergency work in hazardous atmospheres, except those employees with a valid and 
current written waiver on file. 
 
Temporary Waivers -  
A temporary waiver may be granted to employees whose long-term assignments 
adequately restrict their his/her work in hazardous atmospheres and confined space 
entries to planned and scheduled projects, and, that provided that the employee agrees 
to meet all of the respiratory fit test requirements for those planned and scheduled 
projects.  The employee must complete a Temporary Waiver Request form and have 
received written approval by his/her immediate supervisor and/or department head. 

 
The waiver may be revoked at any time at the discretion of the Operations & 
Maintenance Superintendent, General Manager, or designee.  The employee must 
continue to successfully fit test under the MCWD annual respiratory protection program 
protocol to retain this accommodation.  Employees with a valid waiver may grow a 



 

 127  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

beard, mustache and sideburns provided that a neat and well-groomed appearance is 
maintained.  
 
16.1 Drug and Alcohol Conditions Related to “Safety Sensitive” Positions[GCD51] 

 
The Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) of the Department of Transportation 
(DOT) has enacted 49 CFR Part 382 that mandates random urine drug testing and 
breathalyzer alcohol testing without notice for safety-sensitive positions and prevents 
performance of safety-sensitive functions when there is a positive test result. 
 

A. Applicability: This policy applies to all safety-sensitive employees and 
contract employees hired by MCWD when he/she is on MCWD property or 
when performing any MCWD -related business.  It also applies to off-site 
lunch periods and breaks when a safety-sensitive employee is scheduled 
to return to work and when on-call.  Visitors, vendors, and contracted 
employees are governed by this policy while on MCWD premises, and 
he/she will not be permitted to conduct business if found to be in violation 
of this policy. 

 
A safety-sensitive position is defined as any position requiring the use of a 
Class “A” or Class “B” commercial drivers license.   

 
B. Compliance with Testing Requirements:  All safety-sensitive employees 

are subject to random controlled-substance testing and breath alcohol 
testing.  Any safety-sensitive employee who refuses to comply with a 
request for testing, who provides false information in connection with a 
test, or who attempts to falsify test results through tampering, 
contamination, adulteration, or substitution shall be removed from duty 
immediately.  Refusal to submit to a test can include an inability to provide 
a urine specimen or breath sample without a valid medical explanation, as 
well as a verbal declaration, obstructive behavior or physical absence 
resulting in the inability to conduct the test. 

 
An employee with a controlled substance and/or alcohol problem will be 
afforded an opportunity for treatment in accordance with the following 
provisions: 

 
1. Positive test result (one time only) – Completion of a recognized 

rehabilitation program at the expense of the employee.  Failure to 
complete the program will result in termination. 

2. Voluntary admittance – paid for by the employee.  Failure to 
complete the program will result in termination. 

 
C. Testing:  Employees in safety-sensitive positions may be tested under any 

of the following circumstances: 
 



 

 128  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

• Pre-employment testing; 
• Reasonable suspicion testing; 
• Post-accident testing; 
• Random testing; 
• Return-to-duty testing; and, 
• Employee requested testing. 

 
D. Employee Assessment:  Any safety-sensitive employee who tests positive 

for the presence of controlled substances or whose breath alcohol is 
above the minimum thresholds set forth in the Department of 
Transportation guidelines will be assessed by a Substance Abuse 
Professional (SAP).  A SAP is a licensed physician, psychologist, social 
worker, employee assistance professional, or addiction counselor with 
knowledge of and clinical experience in the diagnosis and treatment of 
alcohol and substance abuse-related disorders.  The SAP will evaluate 
each employee to determine what assistance, if any, the employee needs 
in resolving problems associated with prohibited substance abuse or 
misuse. 

 
If a safety-sensitive employee is returned to duty following rehabilitation, 
he/she must agree to sign a Return-to-Duty Agreement[RG52], pass a 
return-to-duty controlled substance and/or alcohol test and be subject to 
unannounced follow-up tests for a period of one (1) to five (5) years, as 
determined by the SAP.  The cost of any rehabilitation and subsequent 
controlled substance and/or alcohol testing is borne by the safety-sensitive 
employee and is on a one-time basis only.  Employees will be required to 
first use accumulated sick, vacation, compensatory, or management 
leave, and then leave without pay in order to participate in the prescribed 
rehabilitation program. 

 
Any questions regarding this policy should be directed to the Management Services 
Administrator. 
 
16.2 Fitness For Duty 
 
As conditions warrant, and based on documented reasonable suspicion of an 
employee’s questionable fitness for duty, MCWD reserves the right as a condition of 
employment to refer an employee for professional evaluation of his/her fitness for duty.  
Such evaluations may include drug and/or alcohol testing, a medical examination by a 
qualified occupational health physician, referral for evaluation by a duly licensed SAP, 
or such other professional sources as may be considered by MCWD to be appropriate 
to prevailing conditions. 
 
Employees so referred,  must comply with instructions, dates, times and locations of the 
referred source as a condition of continued employment.  Failure to cooperate and/or 
participate in such referrals may be considered grounds for termination. 



 

 129  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

 
All information pertaining to a fitness for duty referral shall be regarded and held in the 
strictest confidence by the employee’s department head, Management Services 
Administrator and the General Manager or designee.  Only the General Manager or 
designee shall have the authority to receive information from referred sources regarding 
the conditions surrounding the nature of the referral and resultant outcomes from the 
referral source. 
 
 



 

 130  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Section 17. Return To Work Program 
 
MCWD recognizes that our employees are a critical part of our operation, and even if an 
employee becomes injured, on or off the job or has a temporary disability as a result of 
surgery or an illness , he/she remains a valuable part of the our staff.  A Return to Work 
Program (RTWP) is a proven essential cost containment element of our overall risk 
management program.  In conjunction with our Safety Program, it is an effective tool in 
returning employees to productive work in the shortest time possible, while maintaining 
high morale and keeping costs to a minimum.  
 
It is MCWD’s goal to bring an employee back to work in a useful capacity as soon as 
possible.  We are looking at transitional duty from the positive point of view that our 
employees want to work and should recognize this practice as a benefit.   
 
If you are injured on or off the job, or have a temporary disability as a result of surgery 
or illness, the RTWP looks at ways to bring you back to work as soon as the doctor 
determines you are medically ready.  This may mean making temporary modifications to 
your job duties or work hours to accommodate your recovery.   
 
If the employee does not report to work (modified duty or regular work) when the doctor 
releases the employee or leave has expired, the employee may not be eligible for 
temporary disability payments, workers’ compensation payments, or regular wages, and 
the employee could be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination. 
 
The Management Services Administrator (MSA)HR/Risk Administrator will act as a 
liaison between the employee, supervisor, doctor, and the JPIA Claims representative 
(if workers’ compensation is involved). 
 
Modified or Alternate Duty 
 
MCWD will consider the following when attempting to identify alternative duties: 
 

• The first priority should be to return the employee to the same job, if possible, 
based on the medical restrictions, as prescribed by the treating physician.  
Building on existing work experience and working relationships avoids adding 
stresses of adjusting to new tasks and surroundings. 

• If this is not possible, the returned employee should be provided modified work in 
the same department.  Job or work site modifications may include a temporarily 
reduced work schedule, changed duties, trading heavier parts of the job with co-
workers, altering the way duties are performed, making physical changes in the 
workstation, and providing the employee with specialized tools or adaptive 
devices. 

• As a last alternative, the employee may be returned to work in a different 
department.  Transferable employment skills will be emphasized and on-the-job 
training will be provided to supplement these skills. 

 



 

 131  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Regardless of the accommodations made, we want our transitional employment to be 
productive and will be tailored to the employee’s individual abilities in order to facilitate 
recovery.  The duties will be flexible so that they can be easily altered to meet the 
requirements of the employee’s medical program or our internal needs. 
 
We must remember that oOur RTWP is designed to accommodate temporary disability.  
The time in the program should typically not exceed ninety (90) calendar days.  As 
healing occurs, the employee’s work duties will be changed and frequently modified to 
reflect increased work capacity of the recovering employee, as dictated by the 
physician’s restrictions. 
 
For workers’ compensation claims, if the employee is not going to reach full duty within 
the ninety (90) calendar-day period, HR/Risk Administrator the MSA will work with the 
JPIA Claims representative and the doctor on an alternative plan of action.  In the case 
of a non-industrial claim or disability, the MSA will contact the doctor to discuss an 
alternative plan of action. 
 
Designated Industrial Medical Provider for on the Job injuries/illnesses 
 
For workers’ compensation, the MSAHR/Risk Administrator will meet with the doctor to 
discuss the RTWP.  The success of the program will depend on good communication 
between the MSAHR/Risk Administrator, the doctor, the injured worker and the JPIA 
claims representative.   
 
When an injury occurs, we want to get immediate medical attention for our injured 
worker.  Depending on the seriousness of the injury, 911 will be contacted or the 
employee’s supervisor will drive the employee to our industrial medical provider.  If the 
employee has to go to the hospital, the ambulance should be directed to take the 
employee to: 
 

• Community Hospital of the Monterey Peninsula (CHOMP)/Salinas Valley 
Memorial Hospital (SVMH) (depending upon the employee’s location at the time 
of the emergency). 

 
Once the employee is released from the hospital, he/she may be redirected to the 
MCWD industrial medical clinic, Doctors on Duty.  The MSAHR/Risk Administrator will 
ensure that Doctors on Duty has a copy of the employee’s job description.   
 
In the event a supervisor accompanies an employee to the clinic, the supervisor will 
take a copy of the job description.  A discussion should be held between the supervisor 
and the physician at the conclusion of the appointment regarding what restrictions will 
be placed on the employee’s job duties.  Once determined, HR/Risk Administrator the 
MSA will contact the physician. 
 
 
 



 

 132  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

 
Employee Eligibility 
 
All regular full-time employees are eligible to participate in the RTWP, however, under 
certain situations, it may not be offered. 
 
Management Orientation 
 
The management team will be held accountable for the effective implementation of the 
RTWP.   
 
The management team plays an essential role in helping an injured or ill employee 
transition back to work.  Training, dedication, and commitment are essential to the 
success of our RTWP. 
 
If an injured worker is not released to return to full or modified duty, the employee’s 
supervisor will make regular calls to the employee to review his/her health and recovery.  
The supervisor should let the employee know that he/she is missed and that MCWD is 
looking forward the employee’s early recovery and quick return.  The supervisor should 
determine when the employee’s next doctor’s appointment is scheduled.  This 
information should be communicated to the MSAHR/Risk Administrator. 
 
The injured employee and his/her supervisor will meet with the MSAHR/Risk 
Administrator when the employee returns with restrictions from the physician.  A 
determination will be made regarding job duties based on the physician’s restrictions.  A 
Transitional Duty Assignment form will be completed and signed by the employee, 
supervisor, and the MSA. 
 
Employee Orientation 
 
All employees will be notified of the RTWP at the time it is implemented.  New hires will 
be informed of the RTWP at his/her employee orientation.  All employees will be held 
accountable for providing assistance with the RTWP if called upon.  The success of this 
program will be judged on the collective effort of all of our employees. 
 
Monitoring an Injury/Illness 
 
The MSAHR/Risk Administrator will give the injured/ill worker all the pertinent forms and 
information, as well as reviewing with the employee his/her responsibilities. 
 
If an employee is not returned to full or modified duty immediately, the MSAHR/Risk 
Administrator may need to follow-up with the physician to determine if there are any 
restrictions that could be imposed which might allow the worker to return.  The 
MSAHR/Risk Administrator will ask the physician to complete a Physician’s 
Report/Employee Work Status form.  The MSAHR/Risk Administrator will meet with the 
employee’s supervisor and the employee to determine what modifications can be made 



 

 133  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

to meet the doctor’s restrictions.  For non-workers’ compensation cases, a Fitness for 
Duty Exam may be warranted.  The District will coordinate this and inform the employee 
once an appointment has been secured. 
 
Employee’s Responsibilities 
 
If the physician releases the employee to full duty with no restrictions, the employee will 
provide his/her supervisor with a copy of the Physician’s Report/Employee Work Status 
form and return to full duty. 
 
If the employee is not released to return to work, it is the employee’s responsibility to 
attend each scheduled doctor’s appointment. 
 
If the physician releases the employee with restrictions, the employee will provide a 
copy of the Physician’s Report/Employee Work Status form to his/her supervisor.  The 
employee will then participate in a meeting with the supervisor and MSA HR/Risk 
Administrator regarding how the employee’s job duties will be modified to meet the 
restrictions.  A Transitional Duty/Assignment form will be completed at this time and 
signed by the employee, supervisor, and the MSAHR/Risk Administrator.  Once this 
form has been signed, it will be the employee’s responsibility to: 
 

• Work within the physical limitations set by the physician at all times, and perform 
only those temporary duties assigned to the employee by their supervisor.  

• Advise his/her supervisor if he/she is having difficulties performing the assigned 
tasks. 

• Provide advance notice to the supervisor if he/she must miss work for a medical 
appointment.   

• On future visits to the physician, ensure that his/her supervisor is advised of any 
changes to the work restrictions and provide the supervisor with an updated copy 
of the Physician’s Report/Employee Work Status form. 

 
It is the supervisor’s responsibility to ensure the employee is following the restrictions 
and directions provided.  If the employee is not, then appropriate action will be taken 
after consultation with the MSA.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 134  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

 
17.0 Request for Reasonable Accommodation – Interactive Process 
 
MCWD is committed to assuring equal employment opportunity and equal access to 
services, programs and activities for persons with disabilities or religious creeds.  It is 
the policy of MCWD to provide reasonable accommodation to a qualified person with a 
disability and to enable such person to perform the essential functions of the position for 
which he/she is applying or in which he/she is employed.  The Americans with 
Disabilities Act (ADA) of 1990, and The Americans with Disabilities Amendments Act 
(ADAAA), Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and the California Department of Fair 
Employment and Housing Act (FEHA) effective January 1, 2009, requires employers to 
provide reasonable accommodation for the known disability or religious creed of a 
qualified applicant or employee unless it would impose undue hardship on an 
employer’s business, or unless the applicant or employee would cause a direct threat to 
other workers.  In California, the Fair Employment and Housing Act (The FEHA) 
coincides with the ADAAA, however, it extends some of the requirements of the 
ADAAA. 
 
This reasonable accommodation policy applies to all employment practices and actions.  
It includes, but is not limited to, recruitment, the job application process, examination 
and testing, hiring, training, disciplinary actions, rates of pay or other compensation, 
advancement, classification, transfers and reassignment, and promotions. 
 
While immediate supervisors/department heads are encouraged to continue responding 
directly to requests from individuals with disabilities, there may be occasions when 
making a decision about accommodations is complicated by other factors.  For 
instance, the need for an accommodation may be obvious, or it may be difficult to 
determine what constitutes a reasonable accommodation, or a department’s budget 
may be unable to absorb the total cost of providing the accommodation requested.  The 
following procedure has been developed to ensure that a request for reasonable 
accommodation is treated as consistently and equitably as possible. 

 
The requestor should meet with his/her department head and/or MSA HR/Risk 
Administrator to discuss the situation.  If the request is within his/her scope of authority 
and meets the legal requirements for accommodation, the request may be approved.  
Alternatively, the MSAHR/Risk Administrator may forward the request for 
accommodation to the General Manager or designee for review and determination. 

  
Disability Accommodation 
 
If a review by the General Manager or designee is determined to be appropriate, the 
requestor should submit a written request that includes the following: 
 

A. Name, address, and phone number of the requestor; 
B. The specific limitation, the type of accommodation requested, with an 

explanation of how the accommodation will allow the performance of the 



 

 135  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

essential functions of the position or the participation in a program or 
activity; and, 

C. Verification of a the disability by the requestor’s medical physician or 
provider or vocational/rehabilitation counselor may be required.  (If 
medical verification is required, the requestor must sign a release form 
authorizing release of this information).  A copy of the job description shall 
be provided to the medical provider to assist in the determination of the 
requested accommodation as it relates to performing the essential 
functions of the position. 

 
Religious Creed Accommodation 
 
If a review by the General Manager or designee is determined to be appropriate, the 
requestor should submit a written request that includes the following: 
 

A. Name, address, and phone number of the requestor; 
 

B. The specific type of accommodation requested, with an explanation of how 
the accommodation will allow the performance of the essential functions of 
the position or the participation in a program or activity. 
 
Examples of reasonable accommodation for religious creed: 
 
1. Religious dress practice – includes the wearing or carrying of religious 

clothing, head or face coverings, jewelry, artifacts and any other item that 
is part of the observance by an individual of his/her religious creed. 

 
2. Religious grooming practice includes all forms of head, facial and body 

hair that are part of the observance by an individual of her/her religious 
creed.   

 
3. Religious holidays. 

 
4. Interview and examination times and schedules. 

 
An accommodation of a religious dress or grooming practice does not require MCWD to 
segregate an individual from other employees or the public. 
 
Determination of Reasonable Accommodation-  
 
The determination of providing a reasonable accommodation is made on a case-by-
case process, known as the “interactive process”.  This is a timely individual process 
where appropriate management and the individual discuss the request and effective 
reasonable accommodation(s). 
 
If the request is approved, management will notify and meet with the requestor to make 
necessary arrangements.  If the request is denied, management will notify and meet 



 

 136  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

with the requestor to explain the decision, elicit other possible solutions and determine 
the outcome.  The decision of the General Manager or designee is final. 
 



 

 137  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Section 18. General Housekeeping 
 
MCWD wants to provide an attractive and pleasant atmosphere for its employees and 
customers.  All employees are expected to keep his/hertheir work area clean, 
organized, and uncluttered.  It is important that employees understand and fulfill 
responsibilities to the MCWD and to fellow employees when it comes to housekeeping.   
 
It is every employee’s responsibility to keep all work areas clean and trash free.  This 
includes such items as the refrigerator, microwave and coffee maker.  Please help in 
this regard by cleaning up and disposing of food, drink and trash properly at the end of 
each rest or meal period.  Employees are responsible for the cleaning of the mugs, 
glasses, dishes and utensils that he/shethey uses.  In general, it is for the safety and 
benefit of everyone that we keep our facilities and workstations clean and orderly.  The 
result will be a work environment in which we all can take pride. 



 

 138  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

Section 19. Miscellaneous Policies 
 
19.0 Social Events  
 
Employees are not required to attend or participate in any off-duty party or recreational, 
social, or athletic activity.   
 
Participation in any off-duty MCWD-sponsored social activity is strictly voluntary and is 
at the employee’s own risk.  MCWD assumes no liability for any injury or accident 
arising out of any off-duty party, social event or recreational activity.  It is important to 
note that participation in any MCWD recreational, athletic or social activity is not 
covered by Workers’ Compensation Insurance.  
 
Employees are advised and expected to refrain from drinking alcoholic beverages or 
engaging in any other activity to the extent that it would cause him/herthem to be unfit 
for the safe operation of a motor vehicle, or to behave in an intoxicated or disorderly 
manner.  Any employee who feels his/her driving skills or reaction times might be 
impaired, even a little, should not drive.  Safe options include but are not limited to: 
taking a cab home, calling a friend or relative for a ride, asking another employee who 
has not been drinking alcohol for a ride home, or requesting any supervisor or manager 
to arrange transportation.   
 
The behavior of all employees and respective guests attending a MCWD-sponsored 
social event is expected to conform to the provisions in the Conduct Guidelines section 
in this Handbook. 
 
19.1 Lactation Accommodation  
 
MCWD provides sufficient break time for employees who are breast-feeding to express 
milk at work.  When possible, this need should coincide with the employee’s paid rest 
time.  Any additional time that is needed will be unpaid.  When possible, supervisors will 
consider flexible schedules to accommodate an employee’s needs.  In addition, the 
MCWD will provide a private room or space, close to an employee’s work area, to 
express milk whenever possible.   
 
19.2 Anti-Fraud  
 
The MCWD and its employees must, at all times, comply with all applicable laws and 
regulations.  Employees uncertain about the application or interpretation of any legal 
requirements should refer the matter to his/hertheir immediate supervisor.  
 
The MCWD expects its employees to conduct themselves in a businesslike manner and 
perform duties conscientiously, honestly, and in accordance with the best interests of 
MCWD.  Employees are expected to take great care when working with MCWD 
suppliers or contractual contacts and members.  Employees should respect the 
confidentiality of information acquired in the course of his/hertheir work.  Regardless of 



 

 139  
8669607.6 MA132-006  

circumstances, if an employee believes that a course of action may involve a conflict of 
interest, fraud, financial impropriety, and/or dishonesty, he/she should immediately 
communicate the facts to his/her immediate supervisor, General Manager, designee, or 
member of the Board. 
 
The General Manager, designee, or Board President will promptly investigate any such 
report and retaliation against a MCWD employee or other person for reasonable, good 
faith reporting under this policy will not be tolerated and subject to appropriate 
disciplinary action. 
 
19.3 Falsification of Records  
 
MCWD strictly and expressly prohibits the falsification of employment application, 
personnel, timekeeping, work orders, customer account information, injury report, or any 
other report, document or record pertaining to MCWD employment, operations or 
compliance with any applicable laws.  Any employee found guilty of this form of 
misconduct, by a preponderance of evidence, shall be subject to immediate termination 
and possible prosecution. 

 



 
Marina Coast Water District 

Agenda Transmittal 
 
 
Agenda Item: 10-D      Meeting Date: January 22, 2019 
 
Prepared By: Brian True      Approved By: Keith Van Der Maaten 
Reviewed By: Michael Wegley 
 
Agenda Title: Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 2019-10 to Accept the Infrastructure 

Improvements Installed Under a Water, Sewer, and Recycled Water Infrastructure 
Agreement between Marina Coast Water District and Marina Community Partners 
for the Dunes 1B Development Project 

 
Staff Recommendation: The Board consider adopting Resolution No. 2019-10 to accept the 
infrastructure improvements installed under the Water, Sewer, and Recycled Water Infrastructure 
Agreement between the Marina Coast Water District and Marina Community Partners for the 
Dunes 1B development project. 
 
Background: Five-year Strategic Plan, Strategic Element 2.0 Infrastructure – Our objective is to 
provide a high quality water distribution system and an efficiently operating wastewater collection 
system to serve existing and future customers.  Through the master planning process, our 
infrastructure strategy is to carefully maintain our existing systems and ensure future additions 
and replacements will meet District Standards. 
 
Marina Community Partners LLC (Developer), a Delaware limited liability company, entered into 
an Infrastructure Agreement (IA) with Marina Coast Water District upon adoption of Resolution 
2014-43 on October 20, 2014.  The infrastructure installations contemplated under that IA are now 
complete and the Developer requests that, consistent with the IA, MCWD accept the transfer of 
ownership of the water, sewer, and recycled water infrastructure within the project area. 
 
The Phase 1B project area is located between Highway 1 and Second Avenue, from General 
Stilwell Drive south to 9th Street.  The project area provides infrastructure connections between 
the existing shopping center, the University Villages apartments, the VA-DoD Health Care Center 
and the movie theater.  The road infrastructure, development lots, and parking areas are all planned 
for and the underground utilities to service all the parcels are in-place; however, the actual paved 
roads and parking areas are not yet constructed.  In place today is compacted gravel, rock, and 
sand all-weather utility roads and paths that allow MCWD unfettered access to all pieces of 
installed infrastructure.  
 
The Dunes on Monterey Bay master development has received from the City an allocation of 593-
AFY of potable water. Of that total allocated amount, the Dunes - Phase 1B development as 
proposed will use an estimated amount of at least 61.7-AFY of potable water.  There will be a 
broad mixture of probable land-uses within the currently proposed project area, including: the 
movie theater; commercial businesses (specifically restaurants and retail businesses); and live-
work residential units.  
 
Discussion/Analysis:  The infrastructure improvements made by the Developer for which 
acceptance of ownership is requested includes potable water pipelines and appurtenances, recycled 
water pipelines, and sanitary sewer pipelines and appurtenances.  The Developer installed all 



 
improvements on behalf of MCWD within the boundaries of the Dunes 1B project area; the best 
depiction of the infrastructure to be owned by MCWD may be found within the attached Bill of 
Sale document that includes Exhibits mapping the locations of the infrastructure.  The total value 
of the infrastructure to be transferred to MCWD for ownership totals approximately $842,311.  
 
Under the terms of the Infrastructure Agreement, MCWD requires the following items prior to 
final acceptance: 

• Final inspection and walk-through by MCWD to verify completion of all punch-list items 
• Completed easements for all pipelines outside of public rights-of-way or recorded public 

utility easements 
• Submission of As-Built drawings for the work 
• Conveyance of the property to MCWD by means of a Bill of Sale 
• Submission of a One-Year Warranty Bond 

 
The developer and MCWD conducted a punch-list walk-through and the associated corrective 
work was completed during the Winter of 2017.  The easements appropriate for this transfer-of-
ownership transaction were recorded in Monterey County during several stages of the 
development.  The latest easement recordation with Monterey County was complete in October, 
2018.  A Final Map of the area was recorded and provided to MCWD in the Spring of 2018.  All 
infrastructure/assets that are currently proposed for ownership by MCWD are located within the 
public right-of-way, within a public utility easement recorded on the subdivision’s Final Map, or 
a non-exclusive private easements in MCWD’s favor.  As-Built drawings for the improvements 
described above were received and accepted as adequate on January 10, 2019.  A Bill of Sale is 
prepared for execution and is awaiting this Board-action for Acceptance (see attached).  A draft 
Warranty Bonds has been provided (see attached); the value corresponds to 20% of the value of 
the installed infrastructure in accord with the Infrastructure Agreement.  This listing of actions 
fulfills the District’s requirements and conditions for accepting ownership of the installed 
infrastructure. 
 
Some water and sewer trunk main infrastructure were constructed by MCP in this Dunes 1B project 
area under both: 
• previous Infrastructure Agreements for the Dunes 1B project area; and, 
• previous Infrastructure Agreements with other non-MCP Dunes on Monterey Bay developers 

that installed infrastructure within the Dunes 1B project area. 
This made the final compilation of information extremely challenging for the Developer and led 
to the significant time delay between completion of construction and this transfer of ownership 
action.  Please note that the Warranty Bond covers all of the above work.   
 
Environmental Review Compliance:  None required. 
 
Financial Impact:     X     Yes        No    Funding Source/Recap:  There is no direct cost 
to MCWD in these transactions; however, a near-term future increase in operational and 
maintenance costs may be reasonably anticipated within the Ord Water and Ord Sewer cost centers 
as well as in increase in the Recycled Water cost center in the more distant future.  
 
Other Considerations: None recommended. 
 
Material Included for Information/Consideration: Resolution No. 2019-10; Phase 1B Area and 
Phasing Map; Bill of Sale prepared for execution; and draft Warranty Bond. 
 



 
Action Required:     X    Resolution             Motion           Review 
(Roll call vote is required.) 
              

 
Board Action 

 
Motion By: _____________Seconded By: ______________No Action Taken:_______________ 
 
Ayes:_________________________   Abstained:___________________________ 
 
Noes:_________________________   Absent:_____________________________ 



 
January 22, 2019 

 
Resolution No. 2018-10 

Resolution of the Board of Directors 
Marina Coast Water District  

Accepting the Infrastructure Improvements Installed Under a  
Water, Sewer, and Recycled Water Infrastructure Agreement  

Between Marina Coast Water District,  
Marina Community Partners for the 

Dunes 1B Development Project 
 

 
 RESOLVED by the Board of Directors (“Directors”) of the Marina Coast Water District 
(District, MCWD), at a regular meeting duly called and held on January 22, 2019. Hillcrest 
Avenue, Marina, California as follows: 
 

WHEREAS, Marina Community Partners LLC (Developer), a Delaware limited liability 
company, has constructed water, sewer and recycled water infrastructure for their Dunes on 
Monterey Bay (Dunes) Phase 1B development project in the Ord Community portion of the 
County of Monterey; and, 

 
 WHEREAS, the Developer entered into a Water, Sewer and Recycled Water Infrastructure 
Agreement (Infrastructure Agreement) with MCWD on October 20, 2014 by the adoption of 
Resolution No. 2014-43; and, 

 
 WHEREAS, construction of the water, sewer and recycled water infrastructure is complete 
and the Developer has now satisfied all of the close-out conditions required by MCWD in the 
Infrastructure Agreement for the Dunes Phase 1B development project; and, 
 

WHEREAS, the Developer requests that the District take ownership of the installed 
infrastructure in accord with the Infrastructure Agreement.   

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors of the Marina Coast 

Water District does hereby accept the transfer of ownership of the Water, Sewer, and Recycled 
Water Infrastructure for the Dunes Phase 1B development project and directs the General Manager 
and/or District Engineer to take all actions and execute all documents as may be necessary or 
appropriate to give effect to this resolution. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED on January 22, 2019 by the Board of Directors of the Marina 
Coast Water District by the following roll call vote:  
 

Ayes:  Directors               
 
 Noes:  Directors               
 
 Absent: Directors               
 
 Abstained: Directors               
 
  



 
______________________________ 
Thomas P. Moore, President 

 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Keith Van Der Maaten, Secretary 
 
 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SECRETARY 
 

 The undersigned Secretary of the Board of the Marina Coast Water District hereby certifies 
that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of Resolution No. 2019-10 adopted January 22, 
2019. 

 
______________________________ 
Keith Van Der Maaten, Secretary 

 
  



LEGEND  
----... ._ ... 

9TH STREET WEST OF SECOND AVENUE 

PHASE 18 NORTH-RETAIL CENTER 

UNIVERSITY VILLAGE PHASE 1 8 FAST TRACK 

UNIVERSITY VILLAGE PHASE 1 FAST TRACK 

UNIVERSITY VILLAGE APARTMENTS 

FUTURE 
RETAIL 

DEVELOPMENT 

' ' ~  

----- .. -, E:.··-··-··-·· .:-·· ··-··-c:= 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

[I ..S.j ··. L. ' 
•• I 

1 7 I 

EXISTING 8TH 
BRIDGE 

STREET 

FUTURE 
MST 

TRANSIT 
FACLITY 

I f 

THE DUNES ON MONTEREY BAY 
MARINA COMMUNITY PARTNERS 

c z 
N 

CJ z 
i= rn x w 

10TH ST. 

"------

EJ.SENOO KEY MAp EXHIBIT 

UNIVEBSJTY VIllAGE PHASE 18 FAST TRACK 
SHill 1 mu: SHEET 
SHEET 2 DETAILS 
SHEET 3 SEWER PUN 
SHill 4 OFFSITE SEWER 
SHEET 6 ROAD C 
SHEET 7 ROAD D AND ROAD 1 
SHEET 8 ROAD E (TRAFnC CIRCLE) 
SHEET 9 9TH STREET 
SHEET 10 ROAD 6 AND ROAD A 
SHEET 11 ROAD C STUBS 

9JH SJREET WEST Of SECOND AVENUE 
C--01 TITlE SHEET 
C--02 GENERAL NOTES o!: ABBREVIATIONS 
C--03 STANDARD DETAILS -- MCWD 

o· so· 1 oo· zoo· 

C--04 STANDARD DETAILS -- MCWD, TYPICAL SECTIONS o!: 
INfiLTRATION BLANKET DETAILS 

C--05 lfCWD STANDARD SEWER DETAILS 
PP- 01 PLAN AND PROfiLE 

9TH STREET -- STA. 10+00 TO STA. 20+00 
PP--02 PLAN AND PROfiLE 

9TH STEEr -- STA. 20+00 TO 2ND AVENUE 
PP--03 PLAN AND PROfiLE 

9TH STREET -- STA. 20+00 TO 2ND AVENUE 
WP-01 Off--SITE l/TIUTY PUN 

pHASE 18 HORIH- Rrn.Jt CENTER 
SHEET 1 TITlE 
SHEET 2 GENERAL NOTES AND VICINITY lfAP 
SHEET 3 SYSTEM lfAP AND SYSTEif INDEX 
SHEET 4 SYSTEif lfAP AND SYSTEif INDEX -- CINEifA 
SHEET 9 GRADING PLAN 
SHEET 10 GRADING PLAN 
SHEET 11 GRADING PLAN -- CINEMA 
SHEET 12 GRADING PLAN -- CINEMA 
SHEET 13 UTIUTY PUN 
SHEET 14 UTILITY PLAN 
SHEET 15 UTIUTY PLAN -- CINEifA 
SHEET 16 UTIUTY CROSSING INfORifATION 
SHEET 20 lfCWD WATER DETAILS 
SHEET 21 lfCWD WATER DETAILS 
SHEET 22 lfCWD SANITARY SEWER DETAILS 

UNIVEBSIJY YILU.GE pHASE 1 fAST TRACK 
G1 SANITARY SEWER PLANS TITLE SHEET 
G2 SANITARY SEWER PUNS KEY MAP AND HORIZONTAL CONTROL PLAN 
SS1 SANITARY SEWER llfPROVEifEHTS UNE 'X' UNE 'H' 
SS2 SANITARY SEWER llfPROVEifEHTS UNE 'X' UNE 'A' 
SS10 SANITARY SEWER llfPROVEifEHTS SANITARY SEWER LATERAL PROni£S 

UNIVERS[Y )'!LU.GE J.PARJMENJS 
C11 UTILITIES PLAN 

~ 
WOOD -RODGER:S 
BUILDING RELATIONSHIPS ONE PROJECT AT A TIME 

4670 WILLOW ROAD , STE 1 25 TEL 925.847.1 556 • 
PLEASANTON, CA 94588 FAX 925.847.1 557 ~ 

~==============================================================================================================================================~! 

JHollida
Text Box

JHollida
Text Box
AREA AND PHASING MAP



BOND NO.:  6395846 
PREMIUM:           

WARRANTY BOND 

KNOW ALL PERSON(S) BY THESE PRESENTS, that we Marina Community Partners 
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and Safeco Insurance Company of America, a 
corporation duly licensed to do business in the State of California, as Surety, are held and firmly 
bound unto Marina Coast Water District, as Obligee in the penal sum of One Hundred Sixty-
Eight Thousand, Four Hundred and Sixty-Two Dollars ($168,462) to which payment well and 
truly to be made we do bind ourselves, our and each of our heirs, executors, administrators, 
successors and assigns jointly and severally, firmly by these presents. 

WHEREAS, the said Principal provided Performance and Payment Bonds to the Obligee to 
guarantee completion of the following improvements:   

See list of improvements specified in Attachment A 

WHEREAS, the Obligee requires the Principal to furnish a bond conditioned to guarantee that 
said improvements shall be free of defects in workmanship and materials which may become 
apparent for a one-year period following the Obligee’s acceptance of the improvements. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CONDITION OF THIS OBLIGATION IS SUCH that, If the 
Principal shall indemnify the Obligee for all loss that the Obligee may sustain by reason of any 
defective materials or workmanship which become apparent during the said period then this 
obligation shall be void, otherwise to remain in full force and effect. 

SIGNED AND SEALED This ____  day of March, 2019. 

Principal 

By  ______________________________ 
Name: ________________________ 
Its: ________________________ 

By ______________________________ 
Name: ________________________ 
Its: ________________________ 

Surety 

By _______________________________ 
Edward C. Spector, Attorney-in-Fact 





Prepared by Wood Rodgers
KMosca

10/2/2016

UNIT
ITEM DESCRIPTION QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL

Cinema / Retail Site
Domestic Water

1. 8" PVC Water Pipe 1,528 LF $36.00 55,008$  
2. 12" PVC Water Pipe 974 LF $54.00 52,596$  
3. 2" Water Service 5 EA $3,000.00 15,000$  
4. 3" Water Service 1 EA $5,000.00 5,000$  
5. Fire Service 6 EA $3,500.00 21,000$  
6. Fire Hydrants 7 EA $5,000.00 35,000$  

Water Supply Subtotal 183,604$

Recycled Water
1. 4" PVC Reclaimed Water Pipe 904 LF $28.00 25,312$  
2. 2" Irrigation Service 2 EA $1,500.00 3,000$  

Recycled Water Subtotal 28,312$
Total Cinema / Retail Site Construction Cost 211,916$

9th Street
Domestic Water

1. 8" PVC Water Pipe 950 LF $36.00 34,200$
2. 12" PVC Water Pipe 1,220 LF $54.00 65,880$
3. 4" Water Service 3 EA $3,000.00 9,000$
4. Fire Hydrants 2 EA $5,000.00 10,000$

Water Supply Subtotal 119,080$

Recycled Water
1. 4" PVC Reclaimed Water Pipe 540 LF $28.00 15,120$
2. 2" Irrigation Service 1 EA $1,500.00 1,500$
3. 4" Recyled Water Connection 1 EA $20,000.00 20,000$

Recycled Water Subtotal 36,620$
Total 9th Street Construction Cost 155,700$             

Total Water System Construction Costs 367,616$

Engineer's Estimate of Construction Costs
WATER SYSTEMS

PHASE 1B
THE DUNES ON MONTEREY BAY

MARINA, CA

J:\Jobs\3089_Dunes at Monterey Bay\3089.001_DMB-MMC\Civil\Docs\Estimates\Est - Phase 1B-W-SS 2016-9-29.xls\Phase 1B-Water

Attachment A



Prepared by Wood Rodgers
KMosca

10/2/2016

UNIT
ITEM DESCRIPTION QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL

Sanitary Sewer - Cinema/Retail Site
1. 8" PVC Sanitary Sewer Pipe 467 LF $40.00 18,680$  
2. Sanitary Sewer Manhole 5 EA $5,500.00 27,500$  
3. Sanitary Sewer Service 5 EA' $1,175.00 5,875$  

Sanitary Sewer Cinema/Retail Site - Subtotal 52,055$

Sanitary Sewer - Fast Track
1. 8" PVC Sanitary Sewer Pipe 1,479 LF $40.00 $59,160
2. 15" PVC Sanitary Sewer Pipe 655 LF $70.00 $45,850
3. 30" PVC Sanitary Sewer Pipe 1,080 LF $150.00 $162,000
4. Sanitary Sewer Manhole 21 EA $5,500.00 $115,500

Sanitary Sewer Fast Track Subtotal 382,510$

Sanitary Sewer - 9th Street
1. 8" PVC Sanitary Sewer Pipe 352 LF $40.00 14,080$  
2. 15" PVC Sanitary Sewer Pipe 215 LF $70.00 15,050$  
3. Sanitary Sewer Manhole 2 EA $5,500.00 11,000$  

Sanitary Sewer 9th Street Subtotal 40,130$

Total Sanitary Sewer Construction Costs 474,695$

Engineer's Estimate of Construction Costs
SANITARY SEWER

PHASE 1B
THE DUNES ON MONTEREY BAY

MARINA, CA

J:\Jobs\3089_Dunes at Monterey Bay\3089.001_DMB-MMC\Civil\Docs\Estimates\Est - Phase 1B-W-SS 2016-9-29.xls\Phase 1B-Sewer



1

BILL OF SALE

SEWER SYSTEM FACILITIES – Approximately 2,298 LF of 8-inch sewer main; 
approximately 870 LF of 15-inch sewer main; approximately 1,080 LF of 30-inch sewer 
main;  approximately 28 sanitary sewer manholes; and approximately 5 sewer service 
laterals (the “Sewer System Facilities”)
For good and valuable consideration, receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, Marina 
Community Partners, LLC, a Delaware limited liability (“Grantor”),  does hereby transfer and 
convey to the Marina Coast Water District (the “District”), a County Water District organized 
under the laws of the State of California, and its successors and assigns, without recourse, covenant 
or warranty, express or implied, other than those contained herein and in that Infrastructure 
Agreement dated November 5, 2014 between Grantor and Grantee.  (“Infrastructure Agreement”), 
all right, title, and interest in and to the sewer installation, including mains, manholes, laterals, and 
other appurtenances to said sewer installation, constructed and installed in accepted and recorded 
easements per Final accepted As-Built Plans dated July 2018 and title “Phase 1B As Built 
Drawings” as depicted on Exhibit A attached hereto.  The fair market value of the Sewer System 
Facilities transferred to the District is $474,695.

WATER SYSTEM FACILITIES – Approximately 2,478 LF of 8-inch water main; 
approximately 2,194 LF of 12-inch water main; approximately 9 fire hydrants; 
approximately 5 - 2 inch water service lines; approximately 1 – 3-inch water service lines; 
and approximately 3 – 4-inch water service lines; and approximately 6 – fire service lines 
(the “Water System Facilities”)
For good and valuable consideration, receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, Grantor does 
hereby transfer and convey to the District, and its successors and assigns, without recourse, 
covenant or warranty, express or implied, other than those contained herein and in the 
Infrastructure Agreement, all right, title, and interest in and to the water installation, including 
mains, hydrants, laterals, valves, PRV’s, and other appurtenances to said water installation, 
constructed and installed in accepted and recorded easements per Final accepted As-Built Plans 
dated July 2018 and title “Phase 1B As Built Drawings” as depicted on Exhibit B attached hereto.  
The  fair  market  value  of  the  Water  System  Facilities  transferred  to  the  District  is
$302,684.00.

RECYCLED WATER SYSTEM FACILITIES – Approximately 1,440 LF of 4-inch recycled 
water main; approximately 3 - 2-inch irrigation service line (the “Recycled Water System 
Facilities”; 1 recycled to domestic water connection and, together with the Sewer System 
Facilities and the Water System Facilities, the “Facilities”)
For good and valuable consideration, receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, Grantor does 
hereby transfer and convey to the District, and its successors and assigns, without recourse, 
covenant or warranty, express or implied, other than those contained herein and in the 
Infrastructure Agreement, all right, title, and interest in and to the recycled water installation, 
including mains, laterals, valves, PRV’s, and other appurtenances to said recycled water 
installation, constructed and installed in accepted and recorded easements per Final accepted As- 
Built Plans dated July 2018 and title “Phase 1B As Built Drawings” as depicted on Exhibit C 
attached hereto. The fair market value of the Recycled Water System Facilities transferred to the 
District is $64,932.00.



2

This Bill of Sale is in accordance with and subject to the Infrastructure Agreement.  Grantor 
represents and warrants that, to the knowledge of Grantor, Grantor has title to and the legal right 
to transfer and dispose of the Facilities. The transfer evidenced by this Bill of Sale is subject to the 
following conditions:

1. District represents and warrants to Grantor that, prior to its execution and delivery 
of this Bill of Sale, District has been given a sufficient opportunity to inspect and investigate the 
Facilities. Except as expressly set forth in the Infrastructure Agreement, District acknowledges 
that there are no other implied or express warranties regarding the Facilities.

2. By signing below, Grantor and District hereby further agree that nothing herein 
shall be construed as a sale, conveyance, transfer or assignment of any other equipment other than 
the Facilities.

3. If either party brings suit against the other to enforce or interpret this Bill of Sale, 
the prevailing party shall be entitled to reasonable attorneys’ fees and such other relief as may be 
awarded by the court.

4. This Bill of Sale shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws 
of the State of California without regard to its choice of law or conflict of law principles.

5. If any provision of this Bill of Sale to any extent is found by a court of competent 
jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Bill of Sale shall not be affected 
thereby.

6. This Bill of Sale constitute the entire agreement between the parties concerning the 
subject matter hereof and has been entered into in reliance solely on the contents hereof and 
thereof. This Bill of Sale may not be amended or modified except in writing signed by both parties. 
This Bill of Sale supersede any previous agreements concerning the subject matter hereof, written 
or oral, between the parties hereto.

7. This Bill of Sale shall be binding upon the successors and assigns of the parties 
hereto. All representations, warranties, acknowledgments, covenants, releases, and waivers made 
by District in this Bill of Sale, and all disclaimers made by Grantor in this Bill of Sale, and all 
provisions of this Bill of Sale shall survive the execution and delivery of this Bill of Sale.

8. Grantor and District each warrant to the other that it is duly authorized to execute 
this Bill of Sale, and that such execution is binding upon it without further action or ratification. 
The parties acknowledge their intent that this Bill of Sale and any related signature or record shall 
be binding whether created, transmitted or effected by traditional or electronic means. This Bill of 
Sale may be executed in one or more identical counterparts, each of which when taken together 
will constitute one and the same instrument.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]



3

SIGNATURE OF Grantor:

SHEA HOMES LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
a California limited partnership

By:  
Name:  
Title:     

By:  
Name:  
Title:     

DATED:  

A notary public or other officer completing this 
certificate verifies only the identity of the 
individual who signed the document to which this 
certificate is attached, and not the truthfulness, 
accuracy, or validity of that document.

STATE OF CALIFORNIA )
) ss.

COUNTY OF MONTEREY )

On , before me, , a Notary Public, personally appeared
 , who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence, to be the 
person whose name is subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that he 
executed the same in his authorized capacity, and that by his signature on the instrument, the 
person,  or  the  entity  upon  behalf  of ,  a     
which the person acted, executed the instrument.

I certify under PENALTY OF PURJURY under the laws of the State of California that the 
foregoing paragraph is true and correct.

WITNESS my hand and official seal.

Notary Public in and for said State



4

CERTIFICATE OF ACCEPTANCE

As per Resolution No. 2018-    as set forth in the minutes of a meeting of the Board of Directors 
of the Marina Coast Water District   held on , the above Bill of Sale   for Sewer 
System, Water System and Reclaimed Water     System Facilities, dated , is hereby 
accepted by order of the Board of Directors of the Marina Coast Water District, a County Water 
District organized under the laws of the State of California.

Date of Acceptance:   
By:  

General Manager
MARINA COAST WATER DISTRICT

A notary public or other officer completing this 
certificate verifies only the identity of the 
individual who signed the document to which this 
certificate is attached, and not the truthfulness, 
accuracy, or validity of that document.

STATE OF CALIFORNIA )
) ss.

COUNTY OF MONTEREY )

On ,  2018,  before  me,   Paula  Riso  , a Notary  Public, personally appeared 
Keith Van Der Maaten , who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence, to be the person 
whose name is subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that he executed the 
same in his authorized capacity, and that by his signature on the instrument, the person, or the 
entity upon behalf of MARINA COAST WATER DISTRICT, a county water district and political 
subdivision of the State of California which the person acted, executed the instrument.

I certify under PENALTY OF PURJURY under the laws of the State of California that the 
foregoing paragraph is true and correct.

WITNESS my hand and official seal.

Notary Public in and for said State



C
C

C
C

C
C

C

C
C

C

C
C

C
C

C
C

C
C

C
C

C
C

C
C

C

C
C

C

C

C
C

DEVELOPING  INNOVATIVE  DESIGN  SOLUTIONS

4670 WILLOW ROAD, STE 125 TEL 925.847.1556
FAX 925.847.1557PLEASANTON, CA 94588



DEVELOPING  INNOVATIVE  DESIGN  SOLUTIONS

4670 WILLOW ROAD, STE 125 TEL 925.847.1556
FAX 925.847.1557PLEASANTON, CA 94588



DEVELOPING  INNOVATIVE  DESIGN  SOLUTIONS

4670 WILLOW ROAD, STE 125 TEL 925.847.1556
FAX 925.847.1557PLEASANTON, CA 94588



 
Marina Coast Water District 

Agenda Transmittal  
 
 
Agenda Item: 10-E      Meeting Date: January 22, 2019 
 
Prepared By: Paula Riso     Approved By: Keith Van Der Maaten 
 
Agenda Title: Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 2019-11 Placing a Director in Nomination as 

a Member of the Association of Califonia Water Agencies Region 5 Position 
 
Staff Recommendation: The Board of Directors adopt Resolution No. 2019-11 placing a Director 
in nomination as a member of the Association of Califonia Water Agencies (ACWA) Region 5 
Position. 
 
Background: 5-Year Strategic Plan, Mission Statement – We Provide high quality water, 
wastewater collection and conservation services at a reasonable cost, through planning, 
management and the development of water resources in an environmentally sensitive manner.  
 
Discussion/Analysis: The ACWA Region 5 Board is looking for ACWA members who are 
interested in leading the direction of ACWA Region 5 for the remainder of the 2018-2019 term.  
There is one Board Member vacancy.  The Chair and Vice Chair of Region 5 serve on ACWA’s 
Statewide Board of Directors and recommend all committee appointments for Region 5.  The 
members of the Region 5 Board determine the direction and focus of region issues and activities, 
and support the fulfillment of ACWA’s goals on behalf of members. 
 
The nomination form and Resolution must be submitted to ACWA by February 15, 2019.  The 
Region 5 will make their appointment shortly thereafter and will inform the region of the results. 
 
Environmental Review Compliance: None required. 
 
Financial Impact: _____Yes      X     No Funding Source/Recap: None 
 
Other Considerations: The Board can elect to not nominate a Director to the ACWA Region 5 
Board. 
 
Material Included for Information/Consideration: Resolution No. 2019-11; ACWA Region 5 
Rules & Regulations; and, Nomination Form. 
        
Action Required:      X      Resolution              Motion             Review 
(Roll call vote is required.) 
              

 
Board Action 

 
Motion By______________ Seconded By________________ No Action Taken    
 
Ayes       Abstained      
 
Noes       Absent                                                   
  



 
June,18 2018 

 
Resolution No. 2019 - 11 

Resolution of the Board of Directors 
Marina Coast Water District 

Placing in Nomination __________________ as a Member of the  
Association of California Water Agencies Region 5 Board  

 
 

 RESOLVED by the Board of Directors (“Directors”) of the Marina Coast Water District 
(“District”), at a regular meeting duly called and held on January 22, 2019 at 211 Hillcrest Avenue, 
Marina, California as follows: 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Marina Coast Water District does encourage 
and support the participation of its members in the affairs of the Association of California Water 
Agencies (ACWA); and, 

 
WHEREAS, _______________ has indicated a desire to serve as a Board Member of 

ACWA Region 5. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors of the Marina Coast 
Water District does place its full and unreserved support in the nomination of ________________ 
as a Board Member of ACWA Region 5. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the expenses attendant with the service of 
______________ in ACWA Region 5 shall be borne by the Marina Coast Water District. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED on January 22, 2019, by the Board of Directors of the Marina 
Coast Water District by the following roll call vote:  

 
Ayes:  Directors          
 

 Noes:  Directors          
 
 Absent: Directors          
 
 Abstained: Directors          
 

 
______________________________ 

        Thomas P. Moore, President 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________ 
Keith Van Der Maaten, Secretary 
 
 
  



 
CERTIFICATE OF SECRETARY 

 
 The undersigned Secretary of the Board of the Marina Coast Water District hereby certifies 
that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of Resolution No. 2019-11 adopted January 22, 
2019. 

 
 
      
Keith Van Der Maaten, Secretary 

  



 

 

Region 5  

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
Date: December 12, 2018  
 
To: ACWA Region 5 Member Agency Presidents and General Managers 
 (sent via e-mail) 
 
From: ACWA Region 5 Board  
 
The Region 5 Board is looking for ACWA members who are interested in leading 
the direction of ACWA Region 5 for the remainder of the 2018-2019 term. The 
Board is seeking candidates to fill one Board Member vacancy.   
 
The leadership of ACWA’s ten geographical regions is integral to the leadership 
of the Association as a whole. The Chair and Vice Chair of Region 5 serve on 
ACWA’s Statewide Board of Directors and recommend all committee 
appointments for Region 5. The members of the Region 5 Board determine the 
direction and focus of region issues and activities. Additionally, they support the 
fulfillment of ACWA’s goals on behalf of members.  
 
If you, or someone within your agency, are interested in serving in a leadership 
role within ACWA by becoming a Region 5 Board Member, please familiarize 
yourself with the Role of the Regions and Responsibilities; and the Region 5 
Rules and Regulations (attached) and complete the following steps:   
 
 Complete the attached Nomination Form 
 Obtain a Resolution of support from your agency’s Board of Directors  
 Submit the requested information to ACWA by February 15, 2019 

 
The Region 5 Board will make their appointment shortly thereafter and will inform the 
region of the results. 
 
If you have any questions, please contact ACWA Regional Affairs Representative 
Brian Sanders at brians@acwa.com, or Regional and Member Services Specialist II 
Ana Javaid at anaj@acwa.com, or call (916) 441-4545.  
 

mailto:brians@acwa.com
mailto:anaj@acwa.com


 

 

THE ROLE OF THE REGIONS 
  
Mission:  
ACWA Regions will provide the grassroots support to advance ACWA's legislative and 
regulatory agenda. 

 
Background: 
As a result of ACWA's 1993 strategic planning process, known as Vision 2000, ACWA 
modified its governance structure from one that was based on sections to a 
regional-based configuration. Ten regions were established to provide geographic 
balance and to group agencies with similar interests. 
 
The primary charge of regions: 
 To provide a structure where agencies can come together and discuss / resolve 

issues of mutual concern and interest and based on that interaction, provide 
representative input to the ACWA board. 

 To assist the Outreach Task Force in building local grassroots support for the 
ACWA Outreach Program in order to advance ACWA's legislative and regulatory 
priorities as determined by the ACWA Board and the State Legislative, Federal 
Affairs or other policy committees. 

 To provide a forum to educate region members on ACWA's priorities and issues 
of local and statewide concern. 

 To assist staff with association membership recruitment at the regional level. 
 To recommend specific actions to the ACWA Board on local, regional, state and 

federal issues as well as to recommend endorsement for various government 
offices and positions. 

o Individual region boards CANNOT take positions, action or disseminate 
communication on issues and endorsements without going through the 
ACWA Board structure. 

 
Region chairs and vice chairs, with support from their region boards, provide the 
regional leadership to fulfill this charge.  
 

GENERAL DUTIES / RESPONSIBILITIES FOR REGION OFFICERS 
 

Region Chair: 
 Serves as a member of the ACWA Board of Directors at bimonthly meetings at 

such times and places as the Board may determine. The Chair will also call at 
least two Region membership meetings to be held at each of the ACWA 
Conferences and periodic Region Board meetings. 

 Is a member of ACWA's Outreach Program, and encourages region involvement. 



 

 

o Appoints Outreach Captain to help lead outreach effort within the region. 
 Presides over all region activities and ensures that such activities promote and 

support accomplishment of ACWA's Goals. 
 Makes joint recommendations to the ACWA President regarding regional 

appointments to all ACWA committees. 
 Appoints representatives in concurrence of the region board, to serve on the 

region's nominating committee with the approval of the region board. 
 Facilitates communication from the region board and the region membership to 

the ACWA board and staff. 
 
Region Vice Chair: 
 Serves as a member of the ACWA Board of Directors at bimonthly meetings at 

such times and places as the Board may determine. The Vice Chair will also 
participate in at least two Region membership meetings to be held at each of the 
ACWA Conferences and periodic Region Board meetings. 

 In the absence of the chair and in partnership with the chair, exercises the 
powers and performs duties of the region chair. 

 Is a member of ACWA's Outreach Program, and encourages region involvement. 
 Makes joint recommendations to the ACWA president regarding regional 

appointments to all ACWA committees. 
 
Region Board Member: 
 May serve as alternate for the chair and/or vice chair in their absence (if 

appointed) to represent the region to the ACWA Board. 
 Will participate in at least two Region membership meetings to be held at each 

of the ACWA Conferences and periodic Region Board meetings. 
 Supports program planning and activities for the region. 
 Actively participates and encourages region involvement in ACWA's Outreach 

Program. 



 

 
ACWA Region 5 

Rules & Regulations 
 

Each region shall organize and adopt rules and regulations for the conduct of its meetings and affairs not 
inconsistent with the Articles of Incorporation or bylaws of the Association (ACWA Bylaw V, 6.). 
 
Officers 
Region officers must be a local agency board member. 
The chair shall appoint a secretary to the Board if one is deemed necessary. 
 
Attendance 
 If a region chair or vice chair is no longer allowed to serve on the Board of Directors due to his / her 
attendance, the region board shall appoint from the existing region board a new region officer. (ACWA 
Policy & Guideline Q, 1.) 
 
If a region chair or vice chair misses three consecutive region board / membership meetings, the same 
process shall be used to backfill the region officer position. (ACWA Policy & Guideline Q, 1.) 
 
If a region board member has three consecutive unexcused absences from a region board meeting or 
general membership business meeting, the region board will convene to discuss options for removal of 
the inactive board member. If the vacancy causes the board to fail to meet the minimum requirement of 
five board members, the region must fill the vacancy according to its rules and regulations. (ACWA 
Policy & Guideline Q, 3.) 
 
Vacancy 
The vice chair position shall automatically ascend to the chair position in the event that a vacancy occurs 
in the chair position during the regular term cycle. 
 
Elections 
All nominations received for the region chair, vice chair and board positions must be accompanied by a 
resolution of support from each sponsoring member agency, signed by an authorized representative of 
the Board of Directors. Only one individual may be nominated from a given agency to run for election to 
a region board. Agencies with representatives serving on the nominating committees should strive not 
to submit nominations for the region board from their agency. (ACWA Policy & Guideline P, 2.) 
Election ballots will be e-mailed to ACWA member agency general managers and presidents. 
 
The nominating committee shall consist of three to five members. 
 
In an effort to preserve objectivity during the nominating committee process, candidates other than 
nominating committee members shall be nominated for election. 
 
The nominating committee should pursue qualified members within the region to run for the region 
board, and should consider geographic diversity, agency size and focus in selecting a slate. 
 
See the current region election timeline for specific dates. 



 

 
Endorsements 
ACWA, as a statewide organization, may endorse potential nominees and nominees for appointment to 
local, regional, and statewide commissions and boards. ACWA’s regions may submit a recommendation 
for consideration and action to the ACWA Board of Directors to endorse a potential nominee or 
nominee for appointment to a local, regional or statewide commission or board. (ACWA Policy & 
Guideline P, 3.) 
 
Committee Recommendations & Representation 
All regions are given equal opportunity to recommend representatives of the region for appointment to 
a standing or regular committee of the Association. If a region fails to provide full representation on all 
ACWA committees, those committee slots will be left open for the remainder of the term or until such 
time as the region designates a representative to complete the remainder of the term. (ACWA Policy & 
Guideline P, 4. A.) 
 
At the first region board / membership meeting of the term, regions shall designate a representative 
serving on each of the standing and regular committees to serve as the official reporter to and from the 
committee on behalf of the region to facilitate input and communication. (ACWA Policy & Guideline P, 4. 
B.) 
 
Tours 
ACWA may develop and conduct various tours for the regions. All tour attendees must sign a “release 
and waiver” to attend any and all region tours. Attendees agree to follow environmental guidelines and 
regulations in accordance with direction from ACWA staff; and will respect the rights and privacy of 
other attendees. (ACWA Policy & Guideline P, 6.) 
 
Finances 
See “Financial Guidelines for ACWA Region Events” document. 
 
Amending the Region Rules & Regulations 
ACWA policies and guidelines can be amended by approval of the ACWA Board of Directors. 
The Region 5 Rules & Regulations can be amended by a majority vote of those present at any Region 5 
meeting as long as a quorum is present. 
 



Name of Candidate:  _________________________________________________________________________________

Agency:  ____________________________________________  Title: ________________________________________

Agency Phone: _______________________________________   Direct Phone: _________________________________

E-mail: _________________________________   ACWA Region:_______ County:  _______________________________

Address:  __________________________________________________________________________________________

Agency Function(s): (check all that apply)

   Wholesale   Sewage Treatment   Flood Control 
   Urban Water Supply   Retailer   Groundwater Management / Replenishment
   Ag Water Supply   Wastewater Reclamation   Other:       

Describe your ACWA-related activities that help qualify you for this office:

In the space provided, please write or attach a brief, half-page bio summarizing the experience and 
qualifications that make you a viable candidate for ACWA Region leadership. Please include the number of 
years you have served in your current agency position, the number of years you have been involved in water 
issues and in what capacity you have been involved in the water community.

I acknowledge that the role of a region board member is to actively participate on the Region Board during my term, including 
attending region board and membership meetings, participating on region conference calls, participating in ACWA’s Outreach 
Program, as well as other ACWA functions to set an example of commitment to the region and the association. 

I hereby submit my name for consideration by the Nominating Committee.  
(Please attach a copy of your agency’s resolution of support/sponsorship for your candidacy.)

___________________________________   __________________________________   ________________________
 Signature Title Date

Submit completed form to Ana Javaid at anaj@acwa.com.

REGION BOARD CANDIDATE 
NOMINATION FORM



 

 
April 2017 

 
 

RESOLUTION NO. _______ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
(DISTRICT NAME) 

PLACING IN NOMINATION (NOMINEE NAME) 
AS A MEMBER OF THE ASSOCIATION OF CALIFORNIA WATER AGENCIES 

REGION ___ (POSITION) 
 
 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF (DISTRICT NAME) AS FOLLOWS: 
 
A. URecitals 
 

(i) The Board of Directors (Board) of the (District Name) does encourage and support the 
participation of its members in the affairs of the Association of California Water Agencies 
(ACWA). 

 
(ii) (Nominee Title), (Nominee Name) is currently serving as (Position) for ACWA Region ___ 

 
and/or 
 

(iii)  (Nominee Name) has indicated a desire to serve as a (Position) of ACWA Region ____. 
 
B. UResolves 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF (DISTRICT NAME), 
 

(i) Does place its full and unreserved support in the nomination of (Nominee Name) for the 
(Position) of ACWA Region ____. 

 
(ii) Does hereby determine that the expenses attendant with the service of (Nominee Name) 
in ACWA Region ____ shall be borne by the (District Name). 

 
Adopted and approved this ____ day of ____ (month) 2018. 
 
 
 
         ___________________________ 
  (Nominee Name), (Title) 
 (SEAL) (District Name) 
 
 



 

 
April 2017 

 
 

 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 
(Secretary Name), Secretary 
 
 
 

I, (SECRETARY NAME), Secretary to the Board of Directors of (District Name), hereby certify that 
the foregoing Resolution was introduced at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of said District, 
held on the ____ day of ____ (month) 2018, and was adopted at that meeting by the following role call 
vote: 
 

AYES: 
 

NOES: 
 

ABSENT: 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
(Secretary Name), Secretary to the 
Board of Directors of 
(District Name) 
 



 
Marina Coast Water District 

Staff Report 
 
 

Agenda Item: 11-A      Meeting Date:  January 22, 2019 
 
Prepared By: Kelly Cadiente  Approved By: Keith Van Der Maaten 
 
Agenda Title: 4th Quarter 2018 MCWD Water Consumption and Sewer Flow Reports 
 
Summary: The Board of Directors is requested to receive the 4th Quarter 2018 District Water 
Consumption and Sewer Flow Report.  Quarterly water consumption reports of the Ord 
Community have been submitted to the Board since 2006 and are organized by land-use 
jurisdiction.  Reports submitted since 2016 include the consumption information for Central 
Marina as well as an analysis of variances between current-year projected consumption and prior-
year consumption.   
 
This staff report normally includes tracking information on sewer flows through the Monterey One 
Water Agency’s (M1W) Fort Ord and Marina pump stations. However, flow data was not available 
at time of publication of the staff report.  
 
The Ord Community’s sanitary sewer flow to the M1W interceptor system is measured by a 
District flume structure located adjacent to the retired Main Garrison wastewater treatment plant.   
 
Below are informational annotations for the data included in the report: 

 
• The rainfall total for the 4th quarter of 2018 (October, November, December) in Marina 

was 5.27” inches.  
 

• Marina’s 2018-19 rain-year (July-June) total through December was 5.44” inches, 122% 
of normal. 
 

• The calendar year 2018 rainfall of 15.58” inches was 104% of normal. 
 

• The reference evapotranspiration rate in South Salinas for the 4th quarter of 2018 was 7.65” 
inches. This measurement was .72” inches above the historic quarterly average reading of 
6.93” inches. 
 

 



Marina Coast Water District
Consumption Report Variances as of December 31, 2018

Subdivision
2017

Consumption
2018 

Consumption 2018 vs. 2017 % Explanation

MB Estates II 9.61               10.66               1.05                      10.9%

Over half of subdivision had increased use 
- speculate that it is due to dry summer 
months

MB Estates III 2.95                 3.46                 0.51                      17.3%

Over half of subdivision had increased use 
- speculate that it is due to dry summer 
months

Total FOArmyArmy-unmetered 190.94           52.17               (138.77)                -72.7%
Decrease due to metering flat rate 
accounts

Army 21.95             24.34               2.39                      10.9%
A few of the larger accounts had high use 
in Aug.

Hayes Park 53.24             59.12               5.88                      11.0%
Increase due to metering of flat rate 
accounts

Marshall Park 5.66               56.28               50.62                    894.9%
Increase due to metering of flat rate 
accounts

Ord Kidney 70.14             83.33               13.20                    18.8%
Increase due to metering of flat rate 
accounts

Stilwell Park 21.47             32.21               10.73                    50.0%
Increase due to metering of flat rate 
accounts

County 4.30               4.99                 0.69                      16.0% Account subdivision correction
Total FOMarinaEastGarrison 136.90           175.54             38.64                    28.2% Increase due to development

Frederick Park 63.52             56.50               (7.02)                     -11.1%
Toilet/Shower heads/Aerators Retrofit 
Spring 2018

Schoonover II 23.84             26.73               2.89                      12.1% Increase in irrigation due to dry months
Abrams HAuthor 10.77             12.02               1.25                      11.6% Increase in irrigation due to dry months

Abrams Interim 4.12               5.08                 0.96                      23.3%
Staff to investigate increase usage 
September - November

Dunes CHOMP 5.41               6.88                 1.47                      27.2%
Had repairs to swimming pool and locker 
rooms in 2017-pool was not in use

Dunes on MB Res 45.20             63.76               18.55                    41.0% Increase due to development
Dunes UVSpecPlan 2.95               1.93                (1.01)                     -34.4% Reduction in Consumption

Dunes VA DOD 5.42               2.08                (3.34)                     -61.6%
Constructed in 2017. Had several 
temporary meters duirng construction

Imjin Office Park 4.61               2.47                (2.13)                     -46.3% Leak in 2017.

Marina 31.54             36.69              5.16                      16.4%
Staff to investigate increase usage 
September - October

MarinaAirport 2.77               7.50                 4.73                      170.8% Increase due to identified accounts
Total FOUCMBESMarinaConstruction 42.83             25.28               (17.55)                  -41.0% amount varies with construction activity
School 1.95               2.27                 0.32                      16.5% Increase in irrigation due to dry months
SeaHaven 23.37             38.02               14.65                    62.7% Increase due to development
School 22.87             32.76               9.89                      43.2% Increase in irrigation due to dry months
Seaside 5.97               8.06                 2.08                      34.9% Increase in irrigation due to dry months
Seaside Resort 0.98               1.23                 0.25                      25.5% Increase in irrigation due to dry months
UCMBest 1.30               1.80                 0.50                      38.5% Increase in irrigation due to dry months



Marina Coast Water District
10 Year Annual Consumption as of December 31, 2018

Note: Boundary = Jurisdiction

Criteria: Group = Boundary; Aggregate = Boundary,SubDiv; Compare = Reading_Year_AF; Account Status = *; Read Year = 2009..2018; Subdivision = *

Boundary Subdivision
2009

Consumption
2010

Consumption
2011

Consumption
2012

Consumption
2013

Consumption
2014

Consumption
2015

Consumption
2016

Consumption
2017

Consumption
2018

Consumption
 Annual Water 

Allocation 

% of 
Allocation 

Used
Boundary: Central Marina

Central Marina 1,830.70         1,712.61         1,619.38         1,683.93         1,695.96         1,599.54         1,389.33         1,327.55         1,350.67         1,400.36             
East Ridge 12.53             11.75             10.54             11.04             11.40             10.26             8.16               7.92               8.20               8.53                    
MB Estates II 15.05             13.54             13.00             13.67             14.48             12.27             9.74               9.40               9.61               10.66                  
MB Estates III 5.19               3.85               3.99               5.29               4.47               3.86               3.17               2.73               2.95               3.46                    
Sea Breeze 12.20             10.54             9.76               10.65             11.24             10.27             9.02               8.81               8.80               8.91                    

Total Central Marina 1,875.66         1,752.29         1,656.67         1,724.57         1,737.56         1,636.19         1,419.42         1,356.41         1,380.22         1,431.92             

Boundary: FOArmy
Army-unmetered 410.00           410.00           410.00           377.00           377.00           200.75           205.80           224.64           190.94           52.17                  
Army 41.24             42.97             33.53             22.26             24.96             20.33             16.82             23.03             21.95             24.34                  
ArmyConstruction 40.48             2.73               0.13               - - - - - - -
Fitch Park 75.03             73.39             78.02             70.23             80.05             66.31             60.20             56.97             97.06             101.85                
Hayes Park 87.52             75.30             78.31             74.79             77.32             71.18             53.40             46.78             53.24             59.12                  
Marshall Park - - - - - - - - 5.66               56.28                  
Ord Kidney 0.50               72.91             83.39             95.54             104.17           80.47             71.44             70.02             70.14             83.33                  
Stilwell Park - 0.02               0.82               26.65             44.01             28.44             33.74             23.91             21.47             32.21                  

Total FOArmy 654.78           677.32           684.20           666.47           707.50           467.49           441.40           445.35           460.46           409.31                1,577.00        25.95%

Boundary: FOCounty
County 2.07               2.80               1.72               3.65               2.10               2.74               1.78               3.97               4.30               4.99                    
CountyConstruction 0.73               0.17               4.33               1.71               0.57               - - 0.68               - 0.86                    
EastGarrison 0.70               0.06               1.13               2.80               5.56               35.21             71.62             65.92             136.90           175.54                

Total FOCounty 3.50               3.03               7.18               8.16               8.24               37.95             73.40             70.57             141.20           181.39                710.00           25.55%

Boundary: FOCSUMB
CSUMB 157.89           126.83           149.75           155.52           176.12           152.22           103.60           97.19             128.21           130.50                
Frederick Park 16.63             100.99           109.95           93.13             93.21             63.02             65.91             67.34             63.52             56.50                  
Schoonover I 67.25             137.36           140.73           127.43           123.49           105.32           102.44           97.96             98.39             103.96                
Schoonover II 28.97             33.74             33.73             28.88             32.10             23.92             20.69             20.15             23.84             26.73                  

Total FOCSUMB 270.74           398.92           434.16           404.97           424.92           344.48           292.64           282.65           313.95           317.68                1,035.00        30.69%



Marina Coast Water District
10 Year Annual Consumption as of December 31, 2018

Note: Boundary = Jurisdiction

Criteria: Group = Boundary; Aggregate = Boundary,SubDiv; Compare = Reading_Year_AF; Account Status = *; Read Year = 2009..2018; Subdivision = *

Boundary Subdivision
2009

Consumption
2010

Consumption
2011

Consumption
2012

Consumption
2013

Consumption
2014

Consumption
2015

Consumption
2016

Consumption
2017

Consumption
2018

Consumption
 Annual Water 

Allocation 

% of 
Allocation 

Used
Boundary: FOMarina

Abrams HAuthor 16.51             16.10             13.49             10.31             12.14             8.98               8.39               9.43               10.77             12.02                  
Abrams Interim 6.09               5.77               5.33               5.12               5.42               4.92               3.89               3.75               4.12               5.08                    
Abrams Park 60.87             50.40             51.56             62.12             56.35             56.92             44.20             39.54             50.92             54.50                  
Dunes CHOMP - - 11.04             8.19               7.14               9.12               8.58               6.77               5.41               6.88                    
Dunes Comm 13.82             20.18             14.28             15.12             16.81             14.28             12.71             14.06             30.12             32.89                  
Dunes on MB Res - - - - - 0.10               4.69               24.69             45.20             63.76                  
Dunes UV Apts 28.70             21.37             23.69             10.76             9.13               28.85             33.97             20.23             23.56             23.86                  
Dunes UVSpecPlan 2.30               2.78               2.73               2.93               4.53               3.11               1.68               2.17               2.95               1.93                    
Dunes VA DOD - - - - - - - 0.09               5.42               2.08                    
Imjin Office Park 0.00               1.85               1.81               2.30               1.28               1.60               2.03               4.89               4.61               2.47                    
Marina 13.77             11.70             10.60             11.78             17.81             13.80             16.99             31.61             31.54             36.69                  
MarinaAirport 7.94               9.76               6.90               5.26               4.08               2.75               2.30               2.03               2.77               7.50                    
MarinaConstruction 18.48             17.25             7.26               8.56               16.55             35.13             25.33             39.64             42.83             25.28                  
MarinaRecreation - - - - - - - - 0.05               -
Preston Park 105.57           98.63             95.49             103.14           101.17           83.30             51.93             51.63             56.31             61.29                  
Preston Shelter 5.92               5.54               7.70               6.39               6.63               5.85               5.43               6.63               5.83               5.92                    
School 0.01               0.00               3.88               3.23               4.26               3.34               4.54               1.93               1.95               2.27                    
SeaHaven 8.34               8.70               9.41               8.97               13.61             7.49               7.34               10.02             23.37             38.02                  

Total FOMarina 288.31           270.03           265.18           264.17           276.91           279.56           233.98           269.12           347.73           382.45                1,325.00        28.86%

Boundary: FOSeaside
Bay View 74.98             70.89             65.41             85.15             91.10             79.48             44.24             46.43             57.97             56.83                  
GolfCourse 1.05               349.23           429.66           265.42           457.47           524.88           139.06           1.18               1.11               1.21                    
School 68.13             83.20             62.66             64.81             72.38             25.99             40.55             39.10             22.87             32.76                  
Seaside 6.03               5.10               4.69               13.38             5.65               4.17               3.91               7.08               5.97               8.06                    
Seaside Resort - - 0.13               0.31               0.45               0.63               0.51               0.89               0.98               1.23                    
Seaside Soper 10.82             9.14               11.15             6.86               11.38             12.70             9.58               9.30               8.50               9.12                    
SeasideConstruction 26.79             52.84             24.23             13.38             10.00             11.39             18.86             14.39             13.41             13.65                  
SeasideHighland 166.67           156.70           154.51           146.57           158.76           134.27           123.69           109.28           114.89           126.20                
Sun Bay 59.83             60.25             69.17             66.54             64.40             44.95             48.70             57.89             58.66             54.20                  

Total FOSeaside 414.31           787.36           821.62           662.42           871.59           838.46           429.10           285.54           284.36           303.25                1,012.50        29.95%

Boundary: FOUCMBES
FOUCMBES UCMBest 1.61               2.43               1.12               2.57               1.29               1.11               0.94               0.75               1.30               1.80                    
Total FOUCMBES 1.61               2.43               1.12               2.57               1.29               1.11               0.94               0.75               1.30               1.80                    230.00           0.78%

Total Ord Community 1,223.27         1,729.09         1,803.45         1,631.76         1,913.45         1,768.30         1,265.65         1,129.35         1,358.06         1,543.71             5,889.50        26.21%

Grand Total 3,508.93         3,891.39         3,870.12         3,733.33         4,028.01         3,605.24         2,890.87         2,710.40         2,929.22         3,027.81             

Run: 1/16/2019 8:22 AM


	Item 10-D - Phase 1B MCP Warranty Bond Form.pdf
	Pages from Phase 1B warranty bond (Updated).pdf
	4-Engineer's Estimate of Construction Costs.pdf
	Phase 1B MCP warranty bond form 6395846.pdf
	WARRANTY BOND


	Item 10-D - Phase IB MCWD Bill of Sale.pdf
	SEWER SYSTEM FACILITIES – Approximately 2,298 LF of 8-inch sewer main; approximately 870 LF of 15-inch sewer main; approximately 1,080 LF of 30-inch sewer main;  approximately 28 sanitary sewer manholes; and approximately 5 sewer service laterals (the “Sewer System Facilities”)
	WATER SYSTEM FACILITIES – Approximately 2,478 LF of 8-inch water main; approximately 2,194 LF of 12-inch water main; approximately 9 fire hydrants; approximately 5 - 2 inch water service lines; approximately 1 – 3-inch water service lines; and approximately 3 – 4-inch water service lines; and approximately 6 – fire service lines (the “Water System Facilities”)
	$302,684.00.
	SIGNATURE OF Grantor:
	CERTIFICATE OF ACCEPTANCE


	Title: 
	Agency Phone: 
	Direct Phone: 
	ACWA Region: 
	undefined: 
	County: 
	email: 
	undefined_2: 
	Address: 
	Wholesale: Off
	Urban Water Supply: Off
	Ag Water Supply: Off
	Sewage Treatment: Off
	Retailer: Off
	Wastewater Reclamation: Off
	Flood Control: Off
	Groundwater Management  Replenishment: Off
	Other: Off
	undefined_3: 
	Describe your ACWArelated activities that help qualify you for this office 1: 
	Describe your ACWArelated activities that help qualify you for this office 2: 
	Describe your ACWArelated activities that help qualify you for this office 3: 
	issues and in what capacity you have been involved in the water community 1: 
	issues and in what capacity you have been involved in the water community 2: 
	issues and in what capacity you have been involved in the water community 3: 
	issues and in what capacity you have been involved in the water community 4: 
	issues and in what capacity you have been involved in the water community 5: 
	Title_2: 
	Date: 
	submit: 
	Return to Agenda: 


